SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 20-F

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003 Commission File No. 0-11456

ELRON ELECTRONIC INDUSTRIES LTD.

(Exact name of Registrant as specified in its charter and translation of Registrant's name into English)

ISRAEL

(Jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)

3 Azrieli Center, 42nd Floor, Tel-Aviv, Israel 67023

(Address of principal executive offices)

Securities registered or to be registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Not Applicable

(Title of Class)

Securities registered or to be registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act:

Ordinary Shares, nominal value $0.003~\mathrm{New}$ Israeli Shekels per share

(Title of Class)

Securities for which there is a reporting obligation pursuant to Section 15(d) of the Act:

Not Applicable (Title of Class)

Indicate the number of outstanding shares of each of the issuer's classes of capital or common stock as of the close of the period covered by the Annual Report: 29,206,845

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant: (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 of 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days:

Yes [x] No []

Indicate by check mark which financial statements the registrant has elected to follow:

Item 17 [] Item 18 [x]

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
PART I		
Item 1.	Identity of Directors, Senior Management and Advisers	3
Item 2.	Offer Statistics and Expected Timetable	3
Item 3.	Key Information	3
Item 4.	Information on the Company	26
Item 5.	Operating and Financial Review and Prospects	57
Item 6.	Directors, Senior Management and Employees	93
Item 7.	Major Shareholders and Related Party Transactions	106
Item 8.	Financial Information	110
Item 9.	The Offer and Listing	112
Item 10.	Additional Information	113
Item 11.	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk	130
Item 12.	Description of Securities other than Equity Securities	130
PART II		
Item 13.	Defaults, Dividend arrearages and Delinquencies	130
Item 14.	Material Modifications to the Rights of Security Holders and Use of Proceeds	130
Item 15.	Controls and Procedures	130
Item 16.	[Reserved]	130
Item 16A.	Audit Committee Financial Expert	130
Item 16B.	Code of Ethics	131
Item 16C.	Principal Accountant's Fees and Services	131
Item 16D	Exemptions from the Listing Standards for Audit Commitees	
Item 16E	Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers	131
		132
PART III		
Item 17.	Financial Statements	132
Item 18.	Financial Statements	132
Item 19.	Exhibits	132

Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 20-F includes certain "forward-looking" statements within the meaning of Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. The use of the words "projects," "expects," "may," "plans" or "intends," or words of similar import, identifies a statement as "forward-looking." There can be no assurance, however, that actual results will not differ materially from our expectations or projections. Factors that could cause actual results to differ from our expectations or projections include the risks and uncertainties relating to our business described in this Annual Report under Item 3 titled "Risk Factors" as well as those discussed elsewhere in this Annual Report and in our other filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Any forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report speak only as of the date of this Annual Report, and we caution investors and potential investors not to place undue reliance on these statements. We undertake no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements. All subsequent written or oral forward-looking statements attributable to us or persons acting on our behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by the Risk Factors.

For the purpose of this Annual Report on Form 20-F, the terms "group companies" and "companies in our group" collectively refer to subsidiaries, affiliated and other companies in which we have direct or indirect holdings through our wholly-owned subsidiaries, Elbit Ltd., or Elbit, and DEP Technology Holdings Ltd., or DEP, including DEP's subsidiary, RDC Rafael Development Corporation Ltd., or RDC. Our ownership interests in our group companies reflected in this Annual Report represent our beneficial ownership interests in these companies as of May 31, 2004 unless otherwise expressly indicated. We have also indicated our direct holding and our share in the holding of RDC in a group company where applicable. The references in this Annual Report to balance sheet items are as of December 31, 2003.

PART I

Item 1. <u>Identity of Directors, Senior Management and Advisers</u>

Not Applicable.

Item 2. Offer Statistics and Expected Timetable

Not Applicable.

Item 3. Key Information

A. Selected Financial Data

The following selected financial data for the years ended December 31, 1999, 2000, 2001, 2002 and 2003 are derived from our audited consolidated financial statements of which the financial statements as of December 31, 2002 and 2003, and for each of the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003 appear later in this Form 20-F. The audited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States, or U.S. GAAP.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(In thousands of U.S. Dollars, except per share data)

	1999*	2000*	2001*	2002*		2003
Income:						
Net revenues	\$ 27,750	\$ 27,018	\$ 23,782	\$ 15,179	\$	16,547
Equity in earnings (losses) of affiliated						
companies	693	(11,159)	(28,787)	(24,189)		(8,698)
Gain from disposal of business and affiliated						
companies and changes in holdings in						
affiliated companies, net	32,522	26,819	3,179	6,888		25,754
Other income (expenses), net	28,211	43,464	(4,888)	(748)		14,665
	89,176	86,142	(6,714)	(2,865)	-	48,268
Costs and Expenses:						
Cost of revenues	18,393	25,292	21,059	10,716		10,198
Research and development costs, net	845	2,553	3,801	3,418		3,787
Marketing and selling expenses, net	709	2,571	2,496	6,412		7,763
General and administrative expenses	8,183	9,629	9,390	9,658		13,923
Restructuring costs			1,192	1,747		_
Amortization of intangible assets	2,597	2,649	2,448	1,044		1,073
Financial expenses (income), net	(4,850)	(2,984)	(1,708)	81		753
Retirement compensation	5,000	_		_		
•	30,877	39,710	38,678	33,076		37,497
Income (loss) before tax benefit (taxes on income)	58,299	46,432	(45,392)	(35,941)		10,771
Tax benefit (taxes on income)	(12,342)		2,985	2,862		(6,834)
Income (loss) from continuing operations after				 -	-	
taxes on income	45,957	38,371	(42,407)	(33,079)		3,937
Minority interest in losses (income) of	,	,	, , ,	(,
subsidiaries	_	_	438	2,823		(10,907)
Income (loss) from continuing operations	45,957	38,371	(41,969)	(30,256)		(6,970)
Loss from discontinued operations	(4,636)	(11,531)	, ,			(235)
Net Income (loss)	\$ 41,321		\$(52,359)		\$	(7,205)
Income (loss) per share:	+ 11,011	+ ==,===	+ (= =,===)	+(,,-		(1,4=00)
Basic -						
Income (loss) from continuing operations	\$ 2.18	\$ 1.81	\$ (1.98)	\$ (1.15)	\$	(0.24)
Loss from discontinued operations	(0.22)	(0.54)	(0.49)	(0.43)	Ψ	(0.21)
Net income (loss)	\$ 1.96	\$ 1.27			\$	(0.25)
Weighted average number of ordinary	Ψ 1.70	ψ 1.27	Ψ (2.47)	φ (1.50)	Ψ	(0.23)
shares used in computing basic net						
income (loss) per share (thousands)	21,112	21,172	21,191	26,272		29,194
Diluted -	21,112	21,172	21,171	20,272	_	27,174
	¢ 216	¢ 1.70	¢ (1.00)	¢ (1.15)	¢	(0.24)
Income (loss) from continuing operations	\$ 2.16	\$ 1.79			\$	(0.24)
Loss from discontinued operations	(0.22)	(0.54)	$\frac{(0.49)}{(0.49)}$	(0.43)	ф	(0.01)
Net income (loss)	\$ 1.94	\$ 1.25	\$ (2.48)	\$ (1.58)	\$	(0.25)
Weighted average number of ordinary						
shares used in computing diluted net	01 174	21 446	21 101	26.272		20.104
income (loss) per share thousands)	21,174	21,446		26,272	_	29,194
Dividend per share	\$ 1.46	\$ 2.62	<u>\$</u>	<u>\$</u>	\$	

		1999*		2000*		2001*	2002*	2003	
Balance Sheet Data		(U.S. Dollars in thousands)							
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term									
cash investments	\$	144,342	\$	118,280	\$	90,668	71,081	121,064	
Long-term assets		335,830		197,183		190,379	255,518	290,333	
Working capital		138,968		91,666		75,909	31,791	57,032	
Short-term debt		5,328		16,458		16,617	32,999	56,007	
Long-term debt		42,582		42,797		51,808	49,389	17,221	
Shareholders' equity		450,510		273,720		233,915	259,441	296,130	
Total assets		527,621		364,022		321,512	394,253	450,704	

^{*} Restated (see Item 18, Consolidated Financial Statements, Note 7(d)(7)).

B. Capitalization and Indebtedness

Not Applicable.

C. Reasons for the Offer and Use of Proceeds

Not Applicable.

D. Risk Factors

General Risks Affecting us and the Companies in our Group

Our assets mostly consist of investments in our group companies. As of December 31, 2003, our holdings in group companies represented approximately 63% of our total assets. If our group companies experience difficulties in the future, or if there are adverse changes in their market price or fair value, the value of our assets will be adversely affected and we may need to write-down or write-off the carrying value of our holding. In particular, as of December 31, 2003, the carrying value of Elbit Systems Ltd. (Nasdaq: ESLT) represented approximately 19% of our total assets, the carrying value of our holdings in Given Imaging Ltd. (Nasdaq: GIVN) represented approximately 5% of our total assets, the carrying value of our holding (equal to its market value) in Partner Communications Company Ltd. (Nasdaq: PTNR) represented approximately 28% of our total assets and the carrying value of our holding in Oncura, Inc., through our subsidiary, Galil Medical Ltd., represented approximately 7% of our total assets. Any adverse change in the financial condition and results of operations of Elbit Systems, Given Imaging, Partner or Oncura may have a substantial negative impact on our assets.

Our performance significantly depends on the results of operations of companies in our group. Our results of operations are directly impacted by the results of operations of those companies whose financial results we report on an equity basis or which we consolidate. To the extent any of these companies have poor financial results our financial results will be negatively impacted. Many of these companies have not yet generated significant revenues, have incurred losses and have invested heavily in research, development and marketing of their products. We anticipate that the majority of these companies will continue to record losses in the future.

Our results may be affected by volatility in the securities markets. Securities markets in general are volatile, and in particular, with respect to high-technology companies, including

companies that have a significant presence in Israel. Although the volatility of these companies' securities has often been unrelated to their operating performance, these companies may experience difficulties in raising additional financing required to effectively operate and grow their businesses. These difficulties and the volatility of the securities markets in general may also affect our and our group companies' ability to realize investments, such as by selling holdings in these companies. Our financial results are directly impacted by our ability to conclude profitable "exit" transactions regarding certain of the companies in our group. If worldwide market conditions in the technology industry do not permit us to conclude these types of transactions, our results will be adversely affected.

Our market value significantly depends on the market values of publicly-traded companies in our group. Our market value is directly impacted by the market values of those companies in our group with shares traded in the public markets. To the extent that the share prices of any of these companies decline, our market value will be negatively impacted. In particular, we are affected by the price of shares of Elbit Systems, of which we hold approximately 20% of the outstanding shares, Partner, of which we hold approximately 9% of the outstanding shares, and Given Imaging, of which we beneficially own, as of June 23, 2004, approximately 20% of the outstanding shares, or approximately 15%, representing our direct holding and our share in the holding of RDC. If any of these companies experience difficulties in the future and their share prices decline, our market value could be adversely affected.

We may face difficulties in our ability to dispose of our shares in publicly traded companies in our group. Due the limitations of Rule 144 under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, material non-public information to which we may become exposed due to our representation on the boards of directors of companies in our group, and contractual and legal limits on the tradability of the shares, we may face difficulties in our ability to dispose of our shares in publicly traded companies in our group at a time and in a manner we deem suitable.

The market price of our ordinary shares is subject to fluctuations. The market value of our ordinary shares has fluctuated over time. The following factors may significantly impact the market price of our ordinary shares:

- the market price of our group companies which are publicly traded, in particular Elbit Systems, Partner and Given Imaging, which represent a substantial portion of our total assets;
- our group companies, their competitors or other third parties announcing technological innovations, new products or earnings or losses;
- periodic variations in results of operations and stock prices of our group companies;
- factors that generally affect the market for stocks of medical device, defense, communications, semiconductor, software and advanced materials companies;
- political, economic or other developments affecting Israel;
- global economic and other external factors; and
- quarter-to-quarter fluctuations in our financial results.

Many of our group companies may be unable to obtain future financing on favorable terms or at all. Many of our group companies have extensive research and development and

marketing costs and limited revenues, if any. In order to succeed, these companies may require additional capital to fund these costs. If these companies are unable to obtain financing from their current shareholders, which may also include additional investments by us in these companies, or from new financing sources, their continued operations may be at risk. This would adversely affect our financial performance and results of operations.

New Bank of Israel regulations limit the ability of us and our group companies to borrow from Israeli banks. The Bank of Israel recently issued regulations regarding the lending limits of Israeli banks to companies and individuals considered to be in an affiliated group, which limits the amount available to us and to our group companies to borrow from such banks. We are part of the IDB affiliated group of companies which includes many Israeli companies, including our group companies, which require or which hold ownership interests in companies which require, extensive credit facilities from Israeli banks for the operation of their businesses. These new regulations result in difficulties for us and our group companies to operate our respective businesses as we have in the past.

The main technology markets, in which our group companies operate, have experienced a prolonged and severe downturn and although these markets are showing signs of recovery, it is difficult to predict the strength of the recovery or whether the downturn will re-occur. Our group companies are affected by the demand for the technologies and technology products they produce. The technology sector has experienced a prolonged and severe downturn, reflected in a steep decline in technology spending. As a result, the more mature companies in our group have experienced revenue declines, longer sales cycles and longer accounts receivable payment cycles and our early stage companies have experienced difficulties in raising the financing necessary for their development and growth. In addition, our group companies' ability to reduce expenses during any period of a downturn in demand is limited because of the need for significant ongoing expenditures related to engineering, research and development and marketing. Although the technology markets are showing signs of recovery, it is difficult to predict the strength of the recovery and whether the downturn will re-occur. If the recovery of the technology markets does not continue or if the downturn re-occurs, our and group companies operations will be adversely affected.

We compete with other entities for acquisition and investment opportunities. As part of our overall strategy, we pursue acquisitions of, and investments in, Israeli companies and Israel-related technology companies. The success of a number of Israeli companies, particularly information technology, communication and medical device companies, has prompted potential investors to seek investment opportunities in Israel allowing many Israeli high-technology companies to gain direct access to Israeli and foreign public securities markets. We compete for acquisition and investment opportunities with other established and well-capitalized entities. There can be no assurance that we will be able to locate acquisition or investment opportunities upon favorable terms. Our failure to consummate further acquisitions or investments in the future may hinder our ability to grow and could seriously harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.

There is no assurance that our subsidiary, RDC, or Rafael Armaments Development Authority will identify existing technology, or that Rafael Armaments Development Authority will develop new technologies for commercial exploitation in non-military markets. Our wholly-owned subsidiary, DEP Technology Holdings Ltd., or DEP, holds approximately 49.6%

of the outstanding shares and effectively controls a majority of the voting power of RDC Rafael Development Corporation Ltd., or RDC, a joint venture between DEP and Rafael Armaments Development Authority Ltd., or Rafael. RDC has first rights to exploit commercially, technologies of Rafael for the development of products for use in non-military markets, which rights are dependent primarily upon RDC's or Rafael's identification of existing technologies, or the development by Rafael of new technologies, Rafael's willingness to transfer the necessary human resources to develop and exploit commercially its technology in non-military markets, and RDC reaching agreement on the terms of any commercial exploitation. If Rafael or RDC do not identify existing technology, or Rafael does not develop new technology, for commercial exploitation in non-military markets, or if Rafael does not transfer the necessary human resources to develop and exploit commercially this technology in non-military markets, or if RDC does not reach agreement on the terms of any commercial exploitation, then we will not realize the full potential value of the joint venture agreement with Rafael, which could harm our ability to continue to grow and develop RDC.

Product liability claims could adversely affect the business results of our group companies operating in the medical device industry. Product liability is an inherent risk for our group companies operating in the medical device industry. A product liability claim, regardless of its merit or eventual outcome, could result in substantial costs to a group company and a substantial diversion of management attention. A product liability claim or any product recalls could also harm a group company's reputation and result in a decline in revenues. Substantial damages awards have been made in some jurisdictions against medical device companies based upon claims for injuries allegedly caused by the use of their products. Although our group companies mitigate some of this risk through insurance, there can be no assurance that a future product liability claim or series of claims brought against our group companies would not have an adverse effect on their business or the results of operations.

Product regulation may adversely affect the ability of our medical device group companies to bring new products to market or to continue to supply existing products to the market. Our medical device group companies are subject to strict government controls on the development, manufacture, labeling, distribution and marketing of products. They must obtain and maintain regulatory approval for their products from regulatory agencies before products may be sold in a particular jurisdiction. Each regulatory authority may impose its own requirements and delay or refuse to grant approval, even though a product has been approved in another country. Regulatory delays, the inability to successfully complete clinical trials, claims and concerns about safety and efficacy, new discoveries, patents and products of competitors and related patent disputes and claims about adverse side effects are only a few of the factors that could adversely affect the realization of product registration. Noncompliance with applicable regulatory requirements can result in enforcement action which may include recalling products, ceasing product marketing, paying significant fines and penalties, and similar regulatory actions which could limit product sales, delay or halt product shipment, delay new product clearance or approval, and adversely affect such group companies' results of operations.

Because the medical device industry is litigious, our medical device group companies are susceptible to intellectual property suits that could cause the company to incur substantial costs or pay substantial damages or prohibit it from selling its product. There is a substantial amount of litigation over patent and other intellectual property rights in the medical device industry. Whether a product infringes a patent involves complex legal and factual issues, the

determination of which is often uncertain. Infringement and other intellectual property claims, with or without merit, can be expensive and time-consuming to litigate and can divert management's attention from the company's core business.

If our medical device group companies are unable to obtain reimbursement coverage from third-party healthcare payors for procedures using their products, or if reimbursement is insufficient to cover the costs of purchasing their products, demand for their products may be adversely affected. If physicians, hospitals and other healthcare providers are unable to obtain sufficient coverage and reimbursement from third-party payors for products produced by our medial device group companies, or if reimbursement is insufficient to cover the costs of purchasing our medical device group companies' products or does not adequately compensate physicians and health care providers compared to alternative procedures, our medical device group companies may be unable to generate sufficient sales to support their businesses.

Most of our group companies are dependent upon proprietary technology which may be infringed upon or may infringe upon the proprietary technology of others. Most of our group companies greatly depend on their proprietary technology for their success. Like other technology companies, most of these companies rely on a combination of patent, trade secret, copyright and trademark laws, together with non-disclosure agreements, confidentiality clauses in their agreements, including employment agreements, and technical measures to establish and protect proprietary rights in their products. These companies may not be able to enforce their proprietary rights under the laws of certain jurisdictions. Our group companies may not successfully protect their technology because:

- some foreign countries may not protect their proprietary rights as fully as do the laws of the United States;
- enforcing their rights may be time consuming and costly, diverting management's attention and company resources;
- measures such as entering into non-disclosure agreements afford only limited protection;
- unauthorized parties may attempt to copy aspects of their products and develop similar software or to obtain and use information that they regard as proprietary; and
- competitors may independently develop products that are substantially equivalent or superior to their products or circumvent intellectual property rights.

In addition, others may assert infringement claims against our group companies. The cost of responding to infringement claims could be significant, regardless of whether the claims are valid.

Many of our group companies experience intense competition. Many of our group companies experience competition from companies with significantly greater financial, technical, marketing and public relations resources, who have easier market access, better operational infrastructure, longer operating histories, larger installed client bases, greater name recognition, more established relationships and alliances in their industries and offer a broader range of products and services. As a result, these competitors may be able to respond more quickly to new or emerging technologies or changes in clients' requirements, benefit from greater purchasing economies, offer more aggressive product and services pricing or devote

greater resources to the promotion of their products and services. If our group companies are unable to successfully compete, their businesses, financial condition and results of operations could be seriously harmed, which would in turn negatively affect our financial condition and results of operations.

Our group companies may experience delays in product development. Companies in our group involved in technology product development may experience delays in development which may result in loss of, or delay in, market acceptance. Delays and difficulties associated with new product introductions or product enhancements could negatively impact the business, financial condition, prospects and results of operations of these companies and, as a result, our financial results.

Israeli government programs in which certain of our group companies part may be terminated or reduced in the future. In addition, the terms of such programs restrict the ability of our group companies to manufacture products and/or transfer technologies outside of Israel. Certain of our group companies participate in programs of the Israeli Chief Scientist's Office and the Israel Investment Center, for which they receive grants and tax related and other benefits. The benefits available under these programs depend on our group companies meeting specified conditions. If our group companies fail to comply with these conditions, they may be required to pay additional taxes and penalties and be denied future benefits. We cannot assure you that these benefits will be available in the future at their current levels or at all.

In addition, the terms of the government research and development grants which many of our group companies have received from the Israeli Chief Scientist's Office and the laws applicable to such grants restrict their ability to manufacture products and/or transfer technologies outside of Israel. These restrictions may limit the ability of our group companies to conclude transactions with international companies including "exit" transactions which may affect our results of operations.

We and our group companies may have difficulty retaining key employees. Our success and the success of our group companies depend, in large part, on a limited number of key management, scientific and technical personnel. In addition, future success will depend upon, in part, attracting and retaining highly qualified personnel. There can be no assurance that we or our group companies will be able to either retain present personnel or acquire additional qualified personnel as and when needed. The loss of the services of our key personnel or those of our group companies and the failure to attract highly qualified personnel may have a negative impact on our business.

Many of our group companies depend on international operations. Many of our group companies depend on sales to customers outside Israel. We expect that international sales will continue to account for a significant portion of these companies' revenues for the foreseeable future. As a result, changes in international, political, economic or geographic events could result in significant shortfalls in orders or revenues. These shortfalls could cause the business, financial condition and results of operations of these companies to be harmed. Some of the risks of doing business internationally include:

- unexpected changes in regulatory requirements;
- the inability of our group companies, their subsidiaries and subcontractors to obtain export licenses;

- imposition of tariffs and other barriers and restrictions;
- burdens of complying with a variety of foreign laws;
- political and economic instability;
- changes in diplomatic and trade relationships; and
- acts of terror.

Some of these factors, such as the ability to obtain export licenses and changes in diplomatic relations, may be affected by Israel's overall political situation. See "Conditions in Israel may affect our operations and the operations of our group companies." In addition, the economic and political stability of the countries of the major customers and suppliers of our group companies may also impact their business.

Conditions in Israel may affect our operations and the operations of our group companies. We and most of our group companies conduct our principal operations in Israel, and therefore are directly affected by the political, economic, and military conditions affecting Israel and the Middle East. In particular, we could be adversely affected by:

- any major hostilities involving Israel;
- a full or partial mobilization of the reserve forces of the Israeli army;
- the interruption or curtailment of trade between Israel and its present trading partners;
- a significant increase in inflation;
- a significant downturn in the economic or financial condition of Israel;
- a significant downgrading of Israel's international credit rating; and
- labor disputes and strike actions.

Israel's economy has been subject to numerous destabilizing factors, including a period of rampant inflation in the early to mid-1980's, low foreign exchange reserves, fluctuations in world commodity prices, military conflicts and civil unrest. Since the establishment of the State of Israel in 1948, a state of hostility has existed, varying in degree and intensity, between Israel and the Arab countries. In addition, Israel and companies doing business with Israel have been the subject of an economic boycott by the Arab countries since Israel's establishment. Israel has entered into peace agreements with Egypt and Jordan, various agreements with certain Arab countries and the Palestine Liberation Organization and the Palestinian Authority, and various declarations have been signed in connection with efforts to resolve some of the economic and political problems in the Middle East. Nevertheless, it cannot be predicted whether or in what manner these problems will be resolved.

Since September 2000, there has been a significant increase in violence, civil unrest and hostility, including armed clashes, between the State of Israel and the Palestinians, and acts of terror have been committed inside Israel and against Israeli targets in the West Bank and Gaza including armed hostilities between Israel, the Palestinian Authority and other groups in the West Bank and Gaza Strip. There is no indication how long the current hostilities will last or whether there will be any further escalation. Any further escalation in these hostilities or any future armed

conflict, political instability or violence in the region could have a negative effect on our business condition, harm our results of operations and adversely affect our share price.

Our and our group companies' operations could be disrupted as a result of the obligation of key personnel in Israel to perform military service. All non-exempt male adult permanent residents of Israel under a specified age, as a general rule, are obligated to perform military reserve duty and may be called to active duty under emergency circumstances. Our operations and those of our group companies could be disrupted by the absence for a significant period of one or more of our or our group companies' officers or employees. While we and our group companies have operated effectively despite these conditions in the past, we cannot assess what impact these conditions may have in the future, particularly if emergency circumstances arise.

The results of operations of our group companies may be harmed by foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations. To the extent that our group companies are based in Israel and have international operations, or operate only in Israel but conduct their business in different currencies, their revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, are not necessarily in the same currency and therefore they are exposed to foreign exchange rate fluctuations. These fluctuations may negatively affect their results of operations. Some of our group companies may attempt to hedge their foreign currency exposure from time to time; however, we cannot assure you that they will be successful.

Our group companies may not be able to enforce covenants not to compete. Some of our group companies currently have non-competition agreements with substantial numbers of their employees who are involved in research and development. In many cases, these employees are located primarily in Israel. These agreements prohibit the company's employees, if they cease working for the company, from directly competing with the company or working for its competitors. Israeli courts have required employers seeking to enforce non-compete undertakings of a former employee to demonstrate that the competitive activities of the former employee will harm one of a limited number of material interests of the employer which have been recognized by the courts, such as the secrecy of a company's confidential commercial information or its intellectual property. If any of our group companies cannot demonstrate that harm would be caused to it, the company may be unable to prevent its competitors from benefiting from the expertise of its former employees.

It may be difficult to serve process or to enforce a U.S. judgment against us, our directors and our officers. Since substantially all of our directors and officers reside outside the United States, it may be difficult to effect service of process on us, our directors or officers within the United States. Furthermore, because most of our assets are located outside the United States, it may not be possible to enforce any judgment obtained in the United States against us or the aforementioned individuals in the United States. There is doubt as to the enforceability of civil liabilities under the Securities Act of 1933 and Securities Exchange Act of 1934 in original actions instituted in Israel.

Risks Affecting Elron

We may be deemed to be an investment company under the Investment Company Act of 1940. Generally, a company must register under the Investment Company Act of 1940 and comply with significant restrictions on operations and transactions with affiliates if its investment securities exceed 40% of the company's total assets, or if it holds itself out as being

primarily engaged in the business of investing, owning or holding securities. The 1940 Act provides for various exemptions from the obligation to register thereunder, and in 1980 we received an order from the SEC declaring that we are not an investment company under the 1940 Act. If certain of our investments were to adversely affect our status under the 1940 Act, we might need to dispose of or acquire investments to avoid the requirement to register as an investment company on terms that may not be favourable to us. In addition, if we were deemed to be an investment company and therefore required to register as such under the 1940 Act, we would be unable to continue operating as we currently do, as a result of which our market value would be severely harmed.

If we are characterized as a passive foreign investment company for U.S. federal income tax purposes, our U.S. shareholders may suffer adverse tax consequences. Generally, if for any taxable year 75% or more of our gross income is passive income, or at least 50% of our assets are held for the production of, or produce, passive income, we may be characterized as a passive foreign investment company for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

If we are characterized as a passive foreign investment company, our U.S. shareholders may suffer adverse tax consequences, including having gains realized on the sale of our shares taxed at ordinary income rates, rather than the capital gain rate. In addition, both gains upon disposition and amounts received as distributions could be subject to an additional interest charge by the Internal Revenue Service. A determination that we are a passive foreign investment company could also have an adverse effect on the price and marketability of our shares.

We do not believe that we were a passive foreign investment company for 2003. However, since the determination of whether we are a passive foreign investment company is based upon such factual matters as the valuation of our assets and, in certain cases, the assets of companies held by us, there can be no assurance with respect to the position of the Internal Revenue Service on our status as a passive foreign investment company. Our analysis related to 2003 is based, among others, upon certain assumptions and methodologies with respect to the values that we have used, the appropriate value of our ownership interest in companies we held, and the manner in which we have allocated the value among our active assets and passive assets.

We cannot assure you that the Internal Revenue Service will not challenge our assumptions and methodologies. If there were such a challenge, we could be classified as a passive foreign investment company for 2003.

With respect to 2004 and subsequent years, the tests for determining passive foreign investment company status are applied annually and it is difficult to make accurate predictions of future income and assets, which are relevant to this determination. The tests are impacted by changes in value of our group companies which are difficult to predict. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that we will not become a passive foreign investment company in 2004 or subsequent years. (See "Item 10. Additional Information – Taxation – Federal Income Tax Considerations - Tax Consequences if we are a Passive Foreign Investment Company".)

U.S. holders of our shares are urged to consult their tax advisors regarding the application of the passive foreign investment company rules.

One of our shareholders beneficially owns a substantial amount of our ordinary shares and may therefore, influence our affairs. As of May 31, 2004, Discount Investment

Corporation Ltd., or DIC, beneficially owned an aggregate of approximately 38.5% of our ordinary shares and has the ability, in effect, to elect the members of our board of directors and to influence our business. In addition, Mr. Ami Erel, our Chairman, serves as President and Chief Executive Officer of DIC.

Risks Related to Our Holdings in Group Companies Representing the Largest Portion of Our Assets.

The carrying value of our holdings in our group companies, Given Imaging, Elbit Systems, Partner and Oncura, comprised in the aggregate approximately 59% of our assets as of December 31, 2003. The sections below summarize the main risks, the occurrence of which could materially adversely affect the results of operations, financial condition and business of these companies. With respect to our publicly traded companies, Given Imaging, Elbit Systems and Partner, the risk factor sections below have been condensed for the purposes of this Annual Report and the risks associated with these companies are more fully described in documents filed by Given Imaging, Elbit Systems and Partner respectively, with the SEC.

Risks Affecting Our Holdings in Given Imaging

As of December 31, 2003, the carrying value of our holding in Given Imaging represented approximately 5% of our assets. The following are risk factors associated with our holdings in Given Imaging and are in addition to the risk factors applicable to our medical device group companies and generally to our group companies:

Given Imaging's experience to date, it believes that many of its customers delay purchasing systems until the end of the fiscal quarter because they believe this will enable them to negotiate a more favorable price. Therefore, revenues from system sales may be concentrated at the end of each fiscal quarter making it difficult for Given Imaging to determine the success of each quarter until its end and resulting in lower than expected quarterly revenues if external or other events cause a large number of potential customers to defer their purchasing decisions even for a short period of time. Furthermore, Given Imaging believes that demand for systems and capsules may be affected by seasonal factors during the summer months when physicians and administrators are more likely to postpone purchasing decisions relating to systems due to summer vacations and patients are more likely to postpone non-essential diagnostic procedures until later in the year. Both of these factors may result in fluctuations in Given Imaging's quarterly operating results.

Future sales of Given Imaging's ordinary shares in the public market and low trading volume could adversely affect its share price. As of June 23, 2004, Given Imaging had approximately 27.3 million ordinary shares outstanding. Approximately 49% of these shares are available for resale subject, however, to volume limitations under Rule 144. Future sales of these shares, or the perception that these sales could occur, could adversely affect the market price of Given Imaging's ordinary shares.

Given Imaging may incur future losses and be unable to achieve long-term profitability.

Given Imaging was formed in 1998 and recorded initial sales of the Given System in the third quarter of 2001. It has generated losses each year since inception and as of March 31, 2004, had accumulated losses of \$59.2 million. Given Imaging has significant operating expenses and

it anticipates that its operating expenses will continue to increase as it expands its sales, marketing and manufacturing capabilities, increases its research and development activities, conducts further clinical trials and seeks regulatory clearances to market and sell the Given System for use in other parts of the gastrointestinal tract and for new products.

Given Imaging is currently dependent on the Given System and the M2A Small Bowel Capsule for substantially all of its revenues. Sales of the Given System and the M2A Small Bowel Capsule currently account for substantially all of Given Imaging's revenues and Given Imaging expects this trend to continue for the immediate future. As a result, if Given Imaging is unable to manufacture market or sell the Given System and the M2A Small Bowel Capsule, its financial condition and results of operations would be materially adversely affected.

If Given Imaging is unable to achieve broad penetration of the Given System among gastroenterologists, it will not be able maintain its current growth rate. Given Imaging commenced marketing the Given System in the United States and Europe in the second half of 2001 and as of March 31, 2004 sold a total of 1,771 systems worldwide. Given Imaging believes that the majority of its sales to date of the Given System were to physicians receptive to new technologies. In order for revenues from the Given System to continue to grow, Given Imaging must sell the Given System to other physicians who may be less inclined to adopt new technologies, and there must be an increased reimbursement for expanded indications.

Given Imaging's future growth depends in part on its ability to market the Given System for a variety of disorders of the small intestine. The Given System has been cleared by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, for the detection of abnormalities of the small intestine. Use of the Given System is highly dependent on the availability of third party reimbursement. All of the reimbursement approvals that Given Imaging has received in the United States only cover use of the Given System for detection of suspected bleeding in the small intestine which represents a small part of the total population with suspected disorders of the small intestine. Given Imaging's ability to expand the use of the Given System to other disorders of the small intestine depends substantially on its ability to demonstrate to additional governmental and private third-party payors the diagnostic and cost-effectiveness of the Given System for other disorders of the small intestine.

Given Imaging's future growth also depends in part on its ability to expand the use of the Given System to, or introduce other products for use in, other parts of the gastrointestinal tract. The Given System is currently used to detect disorders in the small intestine. Given Imaging's objective is to expand the use of the Given System to be used in the detection of abnormalities in other parts of the gastrointestinal tract, including the esophagus, the stomach and the colon. There can be no assurance of widespread market acceptance of the Given System as superior to existing technologies for detection of abnormalities in other parts of the gastrointestinal tract or that new capsule endoscopes will succeed in marketing and selling capsules for use in other parts of the gastrointestinal tract. Given Imaging recently developed an additional capsule endoscope for use with the Given System for detection of disorders in the esophagus. Given Imaging will be required to obtain FDA clearance in the United States and other regulatory approvals outside the United States before distributing this capsule for use in other parts of the gastrointestinal tract. If future clinical trials indicate that the Given System is not as clinically or cost-effective in these parts of the gastrointestinal tract as current methods, or that it causes unexpected complications or other unforeseen negative effects, Give Imaging may not obtain regulatory clearance to market and sell the Given System for use in other parts of the gastrointestinal tract or obtain reimbursement coverage, and its growth would be adversely affected.

Changes in healthcare system policies may make it difficult for physicians, hospitals and other healthcare providers to obtain full reimbursement for the purchase of, and procedures using, the Given System, which could adversely affect demand for the Given System. Many healthcare payors have adopted a managed care system in which they contract to provide comprehensive healthcare for a fixed cost per person, irrespective of the amount of care actually provided. Therefore, the amount of reimbursement provided may not be sufficient to encourage physicians to purchase or utilize the Given System. Given Imaging is unable to predict what changes will be made in the reimbursement policies of third-party payors. Given Imaging could be adversely affected by changes in reimbursement policies of governmental or private healthcare payors to the extent any such changes affect reimbursement amounts or methods for procedures in which the Given System is used.

Given Imaging will be required to increase manufacturing quantities of the Given System and could encounter manufacturing problems or delays that could result in lost revenue. If demand for the M2A Small Bowel Capsule continues to grow, Given Imaging may have to manufacture M2A Small Bowel Capsules in quantities exceeding its current manufacturing capacity. Given Imaging may be unable to establish or maintain reliable, high-volume manufacturing capacity and may encounter difficulties in scaling up production of the M2A capsules. If demand for the Given System exceeds its manufacturing capacity, Given Imaging could develop a substantial backlog of customer orders and its ability to generate revenues will be limited and its reputation in the marketplace may be harmed.

If Given Imaging or its distributors do not obtain and maintain the necessary regulatory approvals in a specific country or region, it will not be able to market and sell the Given System in that country or region. While the regulations of some countries do not impose barriers to marketing and selling the Given System or only require notification, others require that Given Imaging or its distributors obtain the approval of a specified regulatory body. Obtaining regulatory approvals is expensive and time-consuming, and Given Imaging cannot be certain that it or its distributors will receive regulatory approvals in each country or region in which it plans to market its product.

Given Imaging has experienced rapid growth and its failure to manage this growth could harm its business. Given Imaging's revenues have grown rapidly, and it faces significant challenges and risks in building and managing its sales and marketing team, including managing geographically dispersed sales efforts and adequately training its sales people in the use and benefits of the Given System and managing its growth by implementing effective planning.

Given Imaging relies on local distributors to market and distribute its products. With the exception of Australia, France, Germany, Israel and the United States, Given Imaging relies on distributors for the marketing and distribution of the Given System. Given Imaging's success in generating sales in countries or regions where it has engaged local distributors depends in part on the efforts of others whom it does not control. If a distributor is terminated by Given Imaging or goes out of business, Given Imaging's ability to sell the Given System in that distributor's country or region could be adversely affected. Following an agreement signed in May 2004, Given Imaging will now rely on InScope, a business division of Ethicon Endo-Surgery, a Johnson & Johnson company, to which Given Imaging has granted exclusive marketing rights, to

market the M2A Esophageal Capsule following clearance from the FDA. The alliance is initially worldwide, excluding Japan but territories other than the United States may subsequently be excluded if InScope so elects by end of 2004, or if the parties have not agreed to commercial terms relating to such territories by the end of March 2005.

Given Imaging's reliance on sole source suppliers could harm its ability to meet demand for the Given System in a timely manner or within budget. Given Imaging depends on sole source suppliers for some of the components necessary for the production of the Given System. Specifically, Micron Technology, Inc., through its Micron Imaging Group and other whollyowned subsidiaries, is currently the sole supplier of the imaging sensor and the packaging for the sensor, and Asicom Technologies Ltd. is currently the sole supplier of the transmitter that is integrated into the M2A capsule. If the supply of these components is disrupted or terminated, or if these suppliers are unable to supply the quantities of components that Given Imaging requires, it may not be able to find alternative sources for these key components. Furthermore, in the event that the manufacturer of a key component of Given Imaging's product ceases operations or otherwise ceases to do business with Given Imaging, it may not have access to the information necessary to enable another supplier to manufacture the component.

Risks Affecting Our Holdings in Elbit Systems

As of December 31, 2003, the carrying value of our holdings in Elbit Systems represented approximately 19% of our assets and a significant source of income for the year then ended. The following are risk factors associated with our holdings in Elbit Systems and are in addition to the risk factors applicable generally to our group companies:

Elbit Systems' revenues depend on a continued level of government business. A significant portion of Elbit Systems' revenues come from contracts or subcontracts with domestic and foreign government agencies. A reduction in the level of the purchase of Elbit Systems' systems, products, services and upgrade projects by these agencies, mainly the Israeli Ministry of Defense, or IMOD, and the U.S. Department of Defense, would have a material adverse effect on Elbit Systems' business.

The level of Elbit Systems' contracts may be reduced due to changes in governmental priorities. The risk that governmental purchases of Elbit Systems' systems, products, services and upgrade projects may decline is affected by the possibility that government purchasing agencies may:

- terminate, reduce or modify contracts or subcontracts if their requirements or budgetary constraints change;
- cancel multi-year contracts and related orders if funds become unavailable;
- shift spending priorities into other areas or for other products; and
- adjust contract costs and fees on the basis of audits.

Elbit Systems depends on governmental approval of its exports. Many of Elbit Systems' exports and the receipt of technology and components from suppliers depend on receipt of export license approvals from the Israeli government, the United States government and other governments. There is no assurance that such approvals will be given in the future, current approvals will not be revoked or governmental export policies will remain unchanged.

Elbit Systems' revenues depend on obtaining follow-on business. Follow-on orders are important because Elbit Systems' contracts are for fixed terms. These terms may be up to five years or more, particularly for contracts where the customer has options to purchase additional items. In addition, when Elbit Systems has supplied a system for a defense platform, it often has the potential to supply other items for that platform. If a customer is dissatisfied with Elbit Systems' performance on a particular program or if the customer's priorities change, it could negatively effect Elbit Systems' ability to receive follow-on business. The inability to obtain follow-on business could result in a loss of revenues if revenues from the award of new contracts do not offset the loss of follow-on business.

Elbit Systems' contracts may be terminated for convenience of the customer. Elbit Systems' contracts with the government of Israel and other governments often contain provisions permitting termination for convenience of the customer. Elbit Systems' subcontracts with non-governmental prime contractors sometimes contain similar provisions. In general, in order to reduce risks of financial exposure resulting from the early termination of a contract, Elbit Systems attempts to flow down these requirements to its subcontractors and expend funds for projects according to the contract performance schedule. If the customer were to make an early termination for convenience, in most cases Elbit Systems would be entitled to reimbursement for its incurred contract costs and a proportionate share of its fee or profit for work actually performed. If, however, Elbit Systems is not entitled to such compensation, it could cause Elbit Systems' to suffer corresponding losses.

Elbit Systems faces risks of changes in costs under fixed price contracts. Most of Elbit Systems' contracts are fixed-price contracts, as opposed to cost-plus or cost-share type contracts. Generally, a fixed-price contract price is not adjusted as long as the work performed falls within the original contract scope. Under these contracts, Elbit Systems often assumes the risk that increased or unexpected costs may reduce profits or generate a loss. However, long-term contracts sometimes allow for price escalations based on specific labor and material indices. The risk can be particularly significant under a fixed-price contract involving research and development for new technology. The frequent need to bid on fixed price programs before completing the necessary design may result in unexpected technological difficulties and cost overruns. In addition, although Elbit Systems has extensive experience in these types of programs, there is difficulty in forecasting long-term costs and schedules and the potential obsolescence of products or components related to long-term fixed price contracts.

Elbit Systems faces fluctuations in revenues and profit margins. The level of Elbit Systems' revenues may fluctuate over different periods. These fluctuations may not relate directly to changes in pricing or sales volume. Instead they may be dependent on Elbit Systems' mix of projects during any given period. In addition, since project revenues generally are recognized in connection with achievement of specific milestones, Elbit Systems may experience significant fluctuations in year-to-year and quarter-to-quarter financial results. Similarly, Elbit Systems' profit margins may vary significantly from project to project. As a result, the overall profit margin in a particular period is influenced by a number of conditions. These include the types, size and stage of projects, the percentage of work performed by subcontractors and the timing of the recognition of revenue.

Elbit Systems sometimes has risks relating to financing for its programs. A number of Elbit Systems' major projects require it to arrange, and sometimes to provide guarantees in connection with, the customer's financing of the project. These include guarantees of Elbit

Systems as well as guarantees provided by financial institutions relating to advance payments received from customers.

Elbit Systems may experience production delays or liability if suppliers fail to make timely deliveries. The manufacturing process for some of Elbit Systems' products consists in large part of the assembly, integration and testing of purchased components. Although Elbit Systems generally can obtain materials and purchase components from a number of suppliers, some components are available from a small number of suppliers. In a few cases, Elbit Systems works with effectively sole source suppliers. If a supplier should stop delivery of such components, Elbit Systems would probably be able to find other sources, however, this could result in added cost and manufacturing delays. Moreover, if Elbit Systems' subcontractors fail to meet their design, delivery schedule or other obligations Elbit Systems could be held liable by its customers and therefore Elbit Systems attempts to impose liability on its subcontractors on a "back-to back" basis. There is no assurance Elbit Systems would be able to obtain full recovery from its subcontractors for those liabilities. In addition, when Elbit Systems acts as a subcontractor, the failure or inability of the prime contractor to perform its contract with the customer may affect Elbit Systems' ability to obtain payments under its subcontract.

Elbit Systems' industry has experienced significant consolidation. As the number of companies in the overall defense industry has decreased in recent years, the industry has experienced substantial consolidation, increasing the market share of some prime contractors. Failure to maintain its relationships with these major contractors could negatively impact Elbit Systems' future business. In addition, some of these companies are vertically integrated with inhouse capabilities similar to those of Elbit Systems in certain areas.

Elbit Systems faces acquisition and integration risks. Over the past several years Elbit Systems has made a number of acquisitions and investments in companies that complement its business. Elbit Systems intends to continue to acquire businesses that complement its operations. Elbit Systems' growth may place significant demands on its management and its operational, financial and marketing resources. In connection with acquisitions and the opening of new facilities Elbit Systems has increased and may continue to increase the number of its employees. In addition, Elbit Systems has expanded and may continue to expand the scope and geographic area of its operations. Elbit Systems believes this growth will increase the complexity of its operations and the level of responsibility exercised by both existing and new management personnel. Failure to successfully integrate and manage its growth may have a material adverse effect on Elbit Systems' business, financial condition, results of operations or prospects.

Reduction in Israeli Government spending or changes in priorities for defense products may adversely affect Elbit Systems' earnings. The Israeli Government may reduce its expenditures for defense items or change its defense priorities in the coming years. Over the last year, the Israeli Government budget approval process has been extended. Also, the overall budget as well as the IMOD NIS budget, have been subject to overall reductions as part of an economic reform initiative. To date, Elbit Systems' current programs have not been impacted by such reductions, however, there is no assurance that its programs will not be affected in the future. If there is a reduction in Israeli Government defense spending for Elbit Systems' programs or a change in priorities to products other than those of Elbit Systems, its revenues and earnings could be reduced.

Risks Affecting Our Holdings in Partner

As of December 31, 2003, the carrying value of our holding in Partner equal to the then market value of our holdings in Partner represented approximately 28% of our assets. The following are risk factors associated with our holdings in Partner and are in addition to the risk factors applicable generally to our group companies:

We may be forced to reduce our indirect ownership percentage in Partner under terms that may not be optimal to us. The Israeli Ministry of Communications has imposed limitations on the disclosure of information concerning Partner to certain of our direct and indirect shareholders that also have an interest in Cellcom Israel Ltd., another Israeli cellular operator. The Ministry of Communications has also required that certain individuals who hold offices associated with Cellcom resign as directors in Elbit and us. In addition, the Ministry of Communications has required all of our officers and employees to sign non-disclosure undertakings regarding the transfer of information relating to Partner. In the event that these requirements are not complied with at any future time, the Ministry of Communications is entitled to require that our beneficial ownership in Partner be reduced to below 5%. The price of Partner's ordinary shares is subject to fluctuation, and, therefore, there can be no assurance that the possible sale of certain of our holdings in Partner at the request of the Ministry of Communications will be on terms beneficial to us.

We are restricted in our ability to freely dispose of our holdings in Partner. All of our shares of Partner are pledged in favor of a consortium of banks as security by us and Partner's other original shareholders for Partner's obligations under its credit facility with the banks, each pro rata to its respective holding at that time. As of December 31, 2003, the total amount of Partner's facility with the banks was \$683 million of which \$282 million was available for future drawdown. Should Partner default on its obligations to the banks, the banks would be entitled to exercise their rights against us under the pledge and seize our shares of Partner in satisfaction of Partner's obligations under its credit facility, which would severely harm the value of our assets.

Partner's license requires that, at a minimum, 20% of the economic and voting interest, and certain other defined means of control, of Partner be owned by Israeli citizens and residents. In addition, no transfer or acquisition of 10% or more of any of such means of control, or the acquisition of control of Partner, may be made without the consent of the Israeli Ministry of Communications. Partner's license also restricts cross-ownership and cross-control among competing mobile telephone operators, including the ownership of 5% or more of the means of control of both Partner and of a competing operator, without the consent of the Ministry of Communications, which may limit certain persons from acquiring Partner shares.

Pursuant to the relationship agreement between the original shareholders of Partner, each Israeli party to the relationship agreement, including us, has undertaken to maintain such portion of the shares as is necessary to ensure that at least 20% of the shares are held by citizens and residents of Israel. The relationship agreement requires that the original shareholders continue to hold an aggregate of at least 51% of Partner's ordinary shares.

These restrictions limit our ability to freely dispose of our shares in Partner, as a result of which our results of operations may be negatively affected.

Partner operates in a highly regulated telecommunications market which limits its flexibility to manage its business. In particular, the regulator's decisions, including those

relating to tariffs, may materially adversely affect its results of operations. Partner's business is subject to government regulation regarding licensing, competition, frequency allocation and costs and arrangements pertaining to interconnection and leased lines. Partner's business and operations could be adversely affected by changes in laws, regulations or government policy affecting its business activities, such as decisions by the regulator increasing the rate of royalties to be paid to the State of Israel, enlarging the types of revenues which the royalties apply to, setting policies and imposing new regulations governing electronic trade and m-commerce, or further reducing call or Short Message Service, or SMS, termination tariffs, as well as the amendment or revocation of its license.

Partner expects its subscriber growth rate, and consequently its revenue growth rate, to slow because Israel's mobile telephone market is highly penetrated, making it difficult to obtain new subscribers. At December 31, 1998, prior to Partner's full commercial launch, approximately 35% of the Israeli population had mobile telephones. At December 31, 2003, that percentage was estimated to be 99%, although this includes dormant subscribers as well as other subscribers who are not included in the Israeli population figures, such as Palestinians, new immigrants, and foreign workers. Because the Israeli market for mobile telephones is highly penetrated, future demand for Partner's services may not develop at the same rate as it has in the past, and depends largely on Partner's ability to retain existing subscribers in its network and to attract subscribers from the other mobile telephone network operators. While Partner's market share, based on internal estimates, has increased from approximately 13% of Israeli mobile subscribers at December 31, 1999 to approximately 31% at December 31, 2003, Partner's market share growth was slower during 2003 than in 2002 and Partner expects this trend to continue into 2004.

Competition from existing competitors may require Partner to reduce its tariffs, increase its subscriber acquisition costs and customer retention costs and increase its churn rate.

Partner was the only GSM network operator in Israel until the second half of 2002. Cellcom then began providing GSM 1800 services. As a result of the increased competition, Partner has lost and does not expect to regain a material part of its revenues from roaming services offered to GSM subscribers visiting from abroad and Israelis traveling abroad. In addition, because of the relative ease of switching between GSM network operators, Partner has already faced and may continue to face an increase in our churn rate and may be forced to increase its customer retention costs, including subsidies towards upgrades of subscribers' handsets, in order to retain its subscribers. These developments may adversely affect its market share, financial condition and results of operations.

During 2003, Cellcom and Pelephone Communications Ltd., or Pelephone, launched new technologies enabling faster transfers of data. If Cellcom or Pelephone successfully maximizes the potential of these technologies before Partner successfully launches Universal Mobile Telecommunications System, or UMTS, third generation technology, or if any of Partner's competitors successfully launches third generation services before Partner does, Partner will be at a competitive disadvantage.

Partner also competes with Bezeq, which is the only incumbent public fixed-line operator in Israel. In addition, a company jointly owned by the three cable companies in Israel recently received a fixed-line telephone service license. Partner may also face competition from additional fixed-line operators, if additional fixed-line licenses are granted. If any of Partner's existing competitors is granted a fixed-line telephone service license or acquires or cooperates

with a fixed-line operator, Partner may be at a competitive disadvantage relative to those operators who may be able to offer combined packages of fixed-line, mobile telephone and other telecommunication services. The Ministry of Communications may also choose to grant additional mobile telephone operator licenses, which may further intensify competition in the mobile market in Israel.

Increased competition may require Partner to increase its subscriber acquisition costs and customer retention costs. Competition may also limit Partner's ability in the future to increase tariffs, or cause Partner to reduce tariffs.

Risks and uncertainties in connection with UMTS third generation technology mean that Partner may not make an economic return on its investment in acquiring UMTS third generation spectrum, establishing a UMTS third generation network, or developing UMTS third generation services. The technology for new UMTS third generation services has not yet been fully developed by the limited number of suppliers of the handsets, network equipment and software to be used by Partner and its competitors in providing UMTS third generation services. Partner has selected Nortel Networks to supply the infrastructure necessary to build out its UMTS third generation network. If Nortel or other suppliers do not provide reasonably priced devices, technologically proven network equipment and software with sufficient functionality or speed or if they experience delays in the delivery or functional deployment of such devices and related network equipment or software, Partner's ability to develop its UMTS third generation network and its customers' ability to access it, will be impaired. There is no assurance that subscribers will adopt UMTS third generation services or that the revenue generated from these services will justify the costs involved in establishing and operating Partner's UMTS third generation network.

A deterioration in the economic conditions in Israel may adversely affect Partner's financial condition and results of operations. Partner is incorporated and based in, and currently derives almost all its revenues from markets within, the State of Israel. Deterioration in the economic conditions in Israel may adversely affect usage patterns of Partner's services and the ability of its customers to pay for its services, which would adversely affect its financial condition and results of operations. Such deterioration may also cause Partner to delay its future investments and its launch of UMTS third generation technology, also known as Wideband Code Division Multiple Access, or W-CDMA technology. In addition, deterioration in the economic conditions in Israel may also affect the ability of Israeli banks to provide Partner with financing under its current credit facility and additional financing on reasonable terms and conditions, should the company need it in the future.

The telecommunications industry is subject to rapid and significant changes in technology which could reduce the appeal of Partner's services. The effect of emerging and future technological changes on the viability or competitiveness of Partner's network cannot be accurately predicted. Partner cannot assure you that the technologies it employs or intends to employ, including UMTS third generation technology, will not become obsolete or subject to competition from new technologies in the future.

If Partner does not implement successfully a new national mobile phone numbering plan, which came into effect in April 2004, it may experience a failure or disruption of its critical information technology, core network or value added services systems, including its

billing system, which could adversely affect its operations and our financial results. The Ministry of Communications has instructed all mobile network operators to implement a new national numbering plan, which gives each mobile network operator a single prefix, and adds a new digit to the beginning of each subscriber's current number. The new plan came into effect on April 20, 2004. Implementing the new numbering plan involves changes in most of Partner's information technology, core network and value added services systems. A failure or disruption of any critical information technology, core network or value added services system, including Partner's billing system, may adversely affect its financial and operational performance.

Partner's credit facility and its indenture each contain a number of restrictions and obligations that limit its operating and financial flexibility. Partner's credit facility and the indenture governing its notes each contain a number of financial, operating and other obligations that limit its operating and financial flexibility. There can be no assurance that such obligations will not materially adversely affect Partner's ability to finance its future operations, or the manner in which Partner operates its business. In particular, any non-compliance with performance-related covenants and other undertakings under Partner's credit facility or indenture could result in an acceleration of its outstanding debt under the credit facility and the indenture and restrict its ability to draw additional funds.

Partner's substantial leverage could adversely affect its financial health. Partner is highly leveraged. At December 31, 2003, its total long-term indebtedness was approximately NIS 2,454 million (\$560 million). This debt represented approximately 69.5% of Partner's total capitalization (bank loans plus notes payable, net of capital deficiency) at December 31, 2003. Partner's substantial debt could adversely affect its financial health by, among other things:

- increasing its vulnerability to adverse economic conditions or increases in prevailing interest rates;
- limiting its ability to obtain the additional financing it needs to operate, develop and expand its business;
- requiring it to dedicate a substantial portion of its cash flow from operations to service its debt; and
- exposing it to the effects of foreign exchange fluctuations on its obligations under its notes.

Partner may not be able to make its debt payments in the future. If Partner is unable to generate sufficient cash flow from operations to meet principal and interest payments on its debt, it may have to refinance all or part of its indebtedness. Partner cannot ensure that any such refinancing would be possible on terms that it could accept or that it could obtain additional financing.

Partner has had difficulties obtaining some of the permits for which it has applied, and has not yet applied for other permits that are required for the erection of its antenna sites. These difficulties could continue and therefore affect Partner's ability to erect or maintain antenna sites. This could have an adverse effect on the extent, quality and capacity of its network coverage which could prevent it from achieving or maintaining the network coverage and quality requirements contained in its license and adversely affect its business.

There are alleged health risks related to antenna sites and the use of mobile telecommunications devices, including handsets, which could expose us to liability and lead to reduced usage of mobile phones or increased difficulties in obtaining sites or permits to erect sites for base stations. Partner is aware of recent allegations that there may be health risks associated with the effects of electromagnetic signals from antenna sites and from mobile telephone handsets and from other mobile telecommunications devices. In the construction and operation of Partner's base stations, Partner observed the standards established by the International Radiation Protection Agency, which sets guidelines for the safe exposure level for all uses of radio spectrum. These standards have been adopted by the Israeli Ministry of the Environment. Partner has received type approval from the Israeli Ministry of Communication for all of the handsets and other terminal equipment it sells. The Israeli Ministry of the Environment also has authority to regulate the sale of handsets in Israel. However, in accordance with the current practice among mobile telephone operators in Israel, Partner has not obtained approvals or exemptions from the Israeli Ministry of the Environment for the handsets it provides because, to date, neither the Israeli Ministry of the Environment nor the Ministry of Health has issued standards for the permitted level of radiation emissions from handsets.

While there is currently no substantiated link between exposure to electromagnetic signals at the level transmitted by Partner's base transceiver stations and its mobile telephone handsets and long-term damage to health, the actual or perceived health risks of mobile telephone communications devices could adversely affect Partner through a reduction in subscribers, reduced usage per subscriber, increased difficulty in obtaining sites for base stations, and exposure to potential liability. Furthermore, Partner is unable to obtain insurance with respect to such liability.

Partner is dependent upon its ability to interconnect with other telecommunications carriers. It also depends on Bezeq for transmission services. The failure of these carriers to provide these services on a consistent basis could have a material adverse effect on Partner.

Partner may be required in the future to offer access to its network infrastructure to other operators. This may lower the entry barriers for potential new competitors and adversely affect Partner's financial condition and its ability to provide services to its subscribers. Under the Communications Law (Telecommunications and Broadcasting), 1982, the Ministry of Communications has the power to require Partner, like the other telephone operators in Israel, to offer access to its network infrastructure to other operators, although the Ministry of Communications has not required Partner to do so yet.

Partner can only operate its business for as long as it has a license from the Ministry of Communications. Partner conducts its operations pursuant to a general license granted to it by the Ministry of Communications on April 7, 1998. Partner's license has been extended until February 2022. Partner has provided a bank guarantee to the Ministry of Communications in the amount of \$10 million to guarantee its performance under its license. If Partner are found to be in material breach of its license, the guarantee may be forfeited and its license may be revoked.

Partner's telecommunications license imposes certain restrictions on who can own its shares. If these restrictions are breached, Partner could lose its license. As with other companies engaged in the telecommunications business in Israel, Partner's license requires that, at a minimum, 20% of the economic and voting interest, and certain other defined means of control, of the company be owned by Israeli citizens and residents.

There is a risk that Partner's investment in Matav may not happen. On March 15, 2004, Partner announced that it had entered into a non-binding memorandum of agreement with Matav Cable Systems Media Ltd., or Matav, and its shareholders, to invest \$137 million in Matav for approximately 40% share of Matav's equity. The memorandum of agreement was subject to approval of the parties' respective boards of directors, as stipulated in the memorandum of agreement, and other necessary corporate approvals. On May 14, 2004, Partner announced that, the time framework set for the execution of a definitive agreement to acquire holdings of Matav had expired. There can be no assurance that the transaction will be completed. In that event the transaction may not be completed, and the anticipated benefits of the transaction will not be realized, Partner may be at a competitive disadvantage to any competitor that is able to offer both the mobile telephone and fixed line services. Further, if a definitive agreement is ultimately signed, its terms may be materially different from those set out in the memorandum of agreement.

Risks Affecting Our Holdings in Oncura

As of December 31, 2003, the carrying value of our holdings in Oncura, through our subsidiary, Galil Medical, represented approximately 7% of our assets. The following are the most significant risk factors associated with our holdings in Oncura and are in addition to the risk factors applicable to our medical device group companies and generally to our group companies:

Oncura may face integration risks. Oncura was formed as the result of the merger completed on July 1, 2003 between the urology business of Galil Medical, and the brachytherapy urology business of Amersham, plc, a subsidiary of General Electric Company (NYSE: GE) conducted through Mediphysics, or MPI, a wholly owned subsidiary of Amersham. Galil Medical and MPI hold 25% and 75% respectively of Oncura. At the time of its formation and through the present, Oncura has placed significant reliance on its shareholders and their affiliates for the provision of certain manufacturing, customer service, research and development and other administrative services. Although Oncura has long-term services agreements with its shareholders, it is in the process of creating its own management and information systems infrastructure to perform these services internally. Failure to successfully establish, integrate and manage these services internally could have a material adverse effect on Oncura's business, financial condition and results of operations and on our results of operations.

Oncura expects to derive a significant portion of its future revenues from its cryotherapy products, which could fail to achieve broad market acceptance or generate significant revenue growth. Oncura expects that revenues from its cryotherapy products will grow significantly over time. Accordingly, Oncura's success is in large part dependent on acceptance by physicians and patients of its cryotherapy products. Although cryotherapy has existed for many years, it has not been widely accepted due to a variety of factors including concerns over the safety and efficacy of the technology and the availability of alternative therapies. If Oncura's cryotherapy products do not achieve broad market acceptance, Oncura may not be able to achieve the revenue growth necessary to achieve and maintain profitability.

Oncura is dependent on its two shareholders, MPI and Galil Medical to manufacture a majority of its products and the loss of either of these suppliers could harm its business. Oncura depends primarily on MPI and Galil Medical for manufacturing its products. Although Oncura has long-term supply agreements with each of MPI and Galil Medical, its business could

be seriously harmed if it were unable to maintain these relationships or if MPI or Galil Medical were unable to continue to manufacture the company's products.

Oncura relies on MPI and its affiliates to market and distribute its products in certain markets. Oncura is currently heavily dependent on MPI to distribute its products in many of its markets. It is in the process of establishing its own, independent distribution network in most of its major markets. However it may take time in certain markets to establish necessary legal entities and to obtain trading and regulatory licenses required to independently distribute its products. Although Oncura has long-term distribution agreements with MPI its business could be adversely affected if it were unable to maintain these relationships or if MPI was unable to continue to distribute Oncura's products.

Item 4. Information on the Company

A. History and Development of the Company

We are a multi-national high technology operational holding company that operates through our group companies in two reportable segments namely: (i) the systems and projects segment through Elron TeleSoft; and (ii) other holdings and our corporate operations, which includes our holdings in our group companies, engaged in various fields of advanced technology, and our corporate operations, which provide strategic and operational support to our group companies. Founded in 1962, we have been a major force in the development of the Israeli high technology industry by building Israeli and Israel-related companies with technologies in the fields of medical devices, advanced defense electronics, communications, semiconductors, software products and services and advanced materials. Historically, most of our group companies were established together with entrepreneurs or started as activities within Elron and were subsequently spun-off. Our group companies include both publicly traded and privately held companies.

In addition, some of our group companies grew out of our subsidiary, RDC, a joint venture with Rafael, the largest research and development organization of Israel's Ministry of Defense. RDC was established pursuant to a joint venture agreement entered into in July 1993 for the purposes of exploiting Rafael's technology in non-military markets. RDC has first rights to exploit commercially technologies of Rafael in non-military markets, which rights are dependent primarily upon RDC's identification of new and existing military technology developed by Rafael, for commercial exploitation in non-military markets. Potential projects and opportunities are identified through mutual cooperation and ongoing liaison between RDC and their professional advisors and members of Rafael's research and development team. Following the identification of a project, RDC commercially exploits the project, initially using its own finance and management resources and thereafter obtains external financing. Given Imaging (Nasdaq:GIVN) and Galil Medical are examples of companies that grew out from this cooperation with Rafael.

We expect to continue to build and realize value for our shareholders through the sale of a portion or all of our holdings in, or the issuance of shares by any of our group companies to third parties, while simultaneously pursuing the acquisition of, or investment in, new and existing companies and building our group companies. We believe that this strategy provides the ability to increase shareholder value as well as capital to support the growth of our group companies.

During May 2002, we completed our merger with Elbit and the purchase of the remaining shares of DEP, a technology holding company, from DIC, our controlling shareholder. Following the merger with Elbit and the share purchase of DEP, Elbit and DEP became our wholly-owned subsidiaries and our holdings include direct and indirect holdings through Elbit, DEP and DEP's subsidiary, RDC, in which DEP holds approximately 49.6% of the outstanding shares and is entitled to appoint the majority of the members of RDC's board of directors and effectively controls the majority of the voting power of RDC.

Our activities range from complete operational control over the business of our group companies to involvement in the management of our group companies in which we maintain controlling or significant holdings, and, in a limited number of cases, minority holdings. We participate in the management of most of our group companies by means of active membership on their boards of directors and board committees. As a result, we are involved in matters of policy, strategic planning, marketing, selecting and manning senior management positions, approving investments and budgets, financing and the overall ongoing monitoring of our group companies' performance. In addition to our representation on the boards of directors of our group companies, we provide hands-on assistance to the group companies' management in support of their growth. We view our hands-on involvement in the operations of our group companies as a key element of our business. Our group companies therefore benefit from the experience of our management team in various areas in which they need support and leadership, including, but not limited to, market analysis, risk management, identifying joint venture opportunities, introductions to potential customers and investors, business plan preparation, budgetary control and strategic planning and research and development guidance.

Both our legal name and our commercial name is Elron Electronic Industries Ltd. We were incorporated in Israel in 1962 under the name of Elron Electronic Industries Ltd. The principal legislation under which we operate is the Israeli Companies Law, 1999. Our shares are publicly traded on Nasdaq National Market under the symbol "ELRN" and on the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange. Elron's corporate headquarters and registered office is located at 3 Azrieli Center, 42nd Floor, Tel-Aviv 67023, Israel, Tel. 972-3-607-5555, Fax. 972-3-607-5556, e-mail: elron@elron.net. Our web site address is www.elron.com. Information contained on our web site is not part of this Annual Report.

The following are significant transactions and events which we and our group companies have completed or which took place since January 1, 2003:

• New Investment in Notal Vision

In January 2003, we completed a new investment of \$2.0 million in Notal Vision, an Israeli medical device company operating in the field of early detection of Age Related Macular Deterioration (AMD) for an approximately 24% ownership interest. Our investment formed part of an aggregate investment by other investors in Notal of approximately \$4.5 million, including an investment by an existing shareholder, Innomed Ventures (Israel) L.P., in which we also hold an interest.

In June 2004, we invested an additional amount of \$0.4 million as part of an aggregate follow on investment in Notal by existing shareholders in the aggregate amount of approximately \$1.0 million. Following this transaction, our ownership interest in Notal increased to approximately 26%.

• Galil Medical and Amersham Health Plc merge urology therapy units

On July 1, 2003, the merger between the urology business of our subsidiary, Galil Medical, and the brachytherapy business of Amersham plc (LSE, NYSE, OSE: AHM), a subsidiary of General Electric Company (NYSE:GE), was completed. According to the merger agreement, a new company, Oncura, Inc., was incorporated. Oncura provides minimally invasive treatment options for prostate cancer using brachytherapy (radio-active seeds) and cryotherapy (hyper-cooling) technologies. At the closing, Amersham, through its subsidiary, MPI, and Galil Medical each contributed the related operations and assets necessary for Oncura to conduct the brachytherapy business and the cryotherapy business, respectively, in the urology field, and in exchange for such assets, MPI received 78% and Galil Medical received 22%, of the outstanding shares of Oncura. In addition, at the closing, Galil Medical purchased 3% of Oncura from MPI in consideration for \$4.5 million in cash, which was paid in full as of April 26, 2004, resulting in Galil Medical's aggregate ownership interest of 25% of Oncura. In addition, Galil Medical has an option to purchase an additional 3% of Oncura from MPI in consideration for \$5.4 million, exercisable until 45 days following the closing of an initial public offering of Oncura. As a result of the transaction, a gain in the amount of \$21.2 million was recorded in 2003. Our share in this gain (net of minority interest and income taxes) amounted to \$4.4 million.

Sale of Shares of Given Imaging by RDC

In 2003, RDC sold, in a series of transactions, 753,600 shares of Given Imaging for a total consideration of approximately \$7.8 million, resulting in a gain of approximately \$4.4 million (\$0.1 million net of tax and minority interest).

Purchase of Shares of Given Imaging from RDC

On May 12, 2003, a Share Purchase Agreement was signed between RDC, Elron and Rafael, according to which, RDC sold two million unregistered shares of Given Imaging to Elron and Rafael (one million each) for a total consideration of \$12.2 million. RDC used \$5.0 million of the proceeds to repay shareholders' loans to Rafael and Elron. This transaction did not have any effect on our consolidated results of operations.

As a result of both the sale of shares of Given Imaging by RDC and our purchase of shares of Given Imaging described above, our beneficial holding in Given Imaging was reduced from approximately 30% to approximately 23% as of December 31, 2003.

• Sale of approximately 6.3 million Shares of Partner

In the second and third quarters of 2003, we sold, in a series of transactions, an aggregate amount of approximately 6.3 million shares of Partner to Israeli institutional investors for approximately \$29.3 million, as a result of which we recorded in 2003, an aggregate gain, net after tax, of approximately \$7.1 million. As a result of the above sales, Elron's beneficial holding in Partner was reduced from approximately 12% to approximately 9%.

• Investment in Oren Semiconductor

In July 2003, we invested \$3.0 million in Oren Semiconductor, as part of an aggregate investment of \$8.0 million from existing shareholders and from Zoran Corporation (Nasdaq: ZRAN). In addition to this investment, we and other existing shareholders converted all the loans previously granted to Oren, in the amount of approximately \$8.4 million, of which our part was approximately \$4.4 million. Following the investment and the loan conversion, our interest in Oren increased from 17% to approximately 41%.

• Investment in Wavion, Inc.

During 2003, we invested \$3.0 in Wavion in consideration of Series B preferred shares, out of an aggregate amount of \$12.5 million raised by Wavion in a private placement from us and new investors. In addition to this investment, we converted the loans previously advanced to Wavion in the aggregate amount of \$1.5 million into Wavion preferred stock. As a result, our ownership interest in Wavion decreased from 45% to approximately 38%.

• Sale of Elron SW (formerly Elron Software, Inc)

On September 2, 2003, our subsidiary, Elron SW Inc. ("ESW"), sold substantially all of its assets and business to Zix Corporation (Nasdaq: ZIXI) ("Zix"), a global provider of e-messaging protection and transaction services, in consideration for 1,709,402 shares of Zix's common stock, then with a market value of approximately \$6.0 million and a 5.75% convertible note ("the Note") of \$1.0 million. Of the 1,709,402 shares of Zix common stock, ESW undertook to grant a beneficial interest in approximately 85,000 common shares to certain of its former employees in recognition of services rendered to ESW. In addition, Zix assumed certain liabilities of ESW in the net amount of approximately \$1.0 million. Simultaneously with the closing of the sale, we purchased the 1,709,402 shares of Zix common stock and the Note from ESW for approximately \$6.2 million, based on the principal amount of the Note and the last closing sale price of the Zix Shares on the Nasdaq National Market prior to the closing. The transaction resulted in a gain of approximately \$4.1 million.

The Note was converted into 262,454 shares of Zix Common stock, in the fourth quarter of 2003.

As of June 21, 2004, we sold 1,751,383 shares of Zix (including 262,454 shares resulting from the conversion of the Note) in consideration of approximately \$16.0 million, and recognized an aggregate gain of approximately \$9.8 million (\$6.5 million net of tax). As of June 21, 2004, the remaining shares of common stock held by us constitute less than 1% of the outstanding share capital of Zix.

• Sale of MediaGate assets and business.

On January 28, 2004, our subsidiary MediaGate, completed the sale of its technology and related intellectual property assets to Telrad Networks Ltd. ("Telrad"). Telrad is an Israeli corporation providing telecommunications solutions in a wide range of areas to many countries in Latin America, Africa, Eastern Europe and Asia Pacific.

According to the agreement, the consideration for the technology is in the form of future royalties, up to a maximum of \$5.0 million, to be paid on future sales through December 31, 2009, of products that are based on MediaGate's technology. The royalties range from 5% of sales in 2004 to 15% of all sales in 2009 and are pledged in favor of MediaGate's lending bank up to an amount of \$2.6 million.

• Sale of KIT eLearning ("KIT").

In March 2004, KIT, a provider of online academic programs, in which we held a 45% ownership interest, was sold to Online Higher Education, a subsidiary of Laureate Education, Inc. (Nasdaq: LAUR) (Laureate) (formerly known as Sylvan Learning Systems, Inc.), a global leader in higher education, for an immediate cash payment of \$9.4 million and a future payment of up to an additional \$10.0 million based on future earnings of KIT in 2006 and 2007. The other selling shareholders of KIT are our controlling shareholder, DIC and Kidum IT Ltd., a privately held Israeli company. From the \$9.4 million immediate proceeds of the sale, we received an amount of approximately \$5.7 million and we recorded a gain of approximately \$5.3 million.

• NetVision Request for Public Offering.

On March 30, 2004, NetVision Ltd., one of Israel's largest Internet service providers (ISP), in which we hold approximately 46% of the outstanding shares , filed a request with the Israeli Securities Authority and the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange ("TASE") for a proposed public offering of its shares on the TASE. The other major shareholder of NetVision is our controlling shareholder, DIC, which also holds 46% of NetVision, following DIC's purchase of the NetVision shares from Tevel, in March 2004. The request is a preliminary step in the proposed offering and there is no assurance that the proposed offering will take place.

• Investment in ChipX (formerly Chip Express)

In March 2004, ChipX, a manufacturer of late-stage programmable application-specific integrated circuits, or structured ASICs, raised \$12.0 million in a private placement, in which we invested approximately \$2.6 million. Following the investment, our holding in ChipX decreased from approximately 36% to approximately 27%.

• Given Imaging Completes Secondary Offering

On June 23, 2004, Given Imaging completed its secondary public offering of 2,880,750 ordinary shares at \$32.00 per share of which 1,500,000 were sold by Given Imaging and 1,380,750 (including 375,750 in overallottments) were sold by selling shareholders including 300,000 ordinary shares by our 49.6% owned subsidiary, RDC. Given Imaging received net proceeds from the offering of approximately \$44.1 million. We also hold a direct interest in Given Imaging, but did not participate in the offering.

As a result of the sale of Given Imaging's shares by RDC and the decrease in our

direct and indirect interest (through our holdings in RDC) in Given Imaging from approximately 16% to approximately 15%, we will record a gain, net of tax and minority interest, in the second quarter of 2004, of approximately \$6.5 million.

The following are the significant investments and divestitures which we and companies in our group completed in 2001 and 2002:

Sale of the E-business Activity of Elron TeleSoft to Forsoft Multimedia

During the third quarter of 2001, Elron TeleSoft sold certain activities in its e-business field to Forsoft Multimedia Solutions Ltd. in consideration for \$3.4 million, resulting in no material effect on our consolidated results of operations.

Given Imaging Initial Public Offering

In October, 2001 Given Imaging completed its initial public offering of 5,000,000 shares at a price to the public of \$12.00 per share. Given Imaging's ordinary shares were listed on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol "GIVN".

Sale of 380,000 Shares of Elbit Systems

In the fourth quarter of 2001, we sold 380,000 shares of Elbit Systems for approximately \$6.6 million resulting in a gain of approximately \$3.0 million.

• Sale of the Government Activity of Elron TeleSoft to Elbit Systems

In January 2002, Elron TeleSoft completed the sale of its net assets and activities in the government field to Elbit Systems for approximately \$5.7 million, with no material effect on our consolidated results of operations.

• Merger with Elbit

On May 15, 2002, we completed our merger with Elbit Ltd., in which we previously held 44% of the outstanding shares. Pursuant to the Agreement and Plan of Merger signed on October 31, 2001, Elbit merged with us and we issued to Elbit's shareholders (other than us) approximately 5,617,601 of our shares, based on an exchange ratio of 0.45 of one of our ordinary shares for each ordinary share of Elbit. The value of our ordinary shares issued amounted to approximately \$70.2 million. The merger was approved by our and Elbit's shareholders, creditors and optionholders on April 28, 2002 and April 29, 2002, respectively, and by the District Court of Tel-Aviv-Jaffa. At the end of trading on May 15, 2002, Elbit's shares ceased trading on Nasdaq and the TASE.

• DEP Share Purchase

On May 6, 2002, we completed the share purchase of DIC's shares in DEP, a technology holding company in which we previously held 33% of the outstanding share capital. Pursuant to the share purchase agreement signed on November 19, 2001 with DIC, we issued 2,261,843 ordinary shares to DIC in exchange for all of the shares held by DIC in DEP, representing 67% of the outstanding share capital of DEP, and DIC's rights to loans provided by DIC to RDC. The aggregate value of our ordinary shares issued amounted to approximately \$29.5 million. The transaction was approved by our shareholders at a special meeting held on April 28, 2002.

• Acquisition of controlling interest in Galil Medical Ltd.

During 2002, we and RDC converted notes of Galil Medical Ltd. or Galil, in the amount of approximately \$3.2 million which were granted during November and December of 2001, into preferred shares.

In addition, we and RDC together invested in convertible notes of Galil an amount of approximately \$3.7 million and \$5.7 million in 2002 and 2003, respectively.

On June 27, 2002, we purchased an additional 10.75% of Galil's outstanding shares from Lumenis Ltd., in consideration for \$0.8 million. In the same transaction, DIC also purchased an additional 10.75% of Galil's outstanding shares from Lumenis under the same terms and conditions.

As a result of these transactions, our ownership interest increased to approximately 15% directly and approximately 37% indirectly through RDC, as of June 27, 2002, thereby giving us directly and indirectly, through RDC, a controlling voting interest in Galil. Accordingly, Galil's financial results were consolidated with our results of operations subsequent to June 30, 2002.

• Investment in A.M.T. Advanced Metal Technologies Ltd.

In August 2002, we completed a new investment of approximately \$5.0 million in convertible notes of AMT, an Israeli private company which develops, markets and licenses technologies, through its group companies, for amorphous and nanocrystalline advanced materials, as methods and solutions for a wide range of commercial applications. Currently, AMT is focusing on two of its group companies, A.H.T. Advanced Heating Technologies Ltd., which uses amorphous metals for heating products, and Confirm Technologies Ltd. (formerly A.C.S. Advanced Coding Systems Ltd.), which develops, markets and sells products using amorphous materials for brand protection against counterfeiting and anti-shoplifting electronic article surveillance. The investment formed part of an aggregate investment in AMT of approximately \$8.7 million, of which the existing shareholders of AMT invested \$3.7 million. The convertible notes are convertible into preferred shares of AMT or its group companies. As a result of the investment, Elron held approximately 28% of AMT on a fully diluted and as converted basis.

• Sale of Elbit Vflash

On September 23, 2002, Elbit VFlash, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Elbit, sold a significant portion of its assets to 24/7 Real Media Inc., or 24/7 (Nasdaq: TFSM), in exchange for 4,100,000 shares of common stock of 24/7. 24/7 provides marketing and technology solutions to online marketers and publishers. Of the 4,100,000 shares of common stock of 24/7 it received, Elbit Vflash undertook to grant a beneficial interest in approximately 725,000 shares of common stock to former employees in recognition of services they rendered to Elbit VFlash prior to the sale. Concurrently with the above sale, we invested \$1.0 million in consideration for 100,000 convertible preferred shares of 24/7 which were subsequently converted into 4,840,271 shares of common stock of 24/7. As a result of this transaction, we recorded a gain, net of tax, of approximately \$2.0 million.

As of December 31, 2003, we sold all of our shares of 24/7 for approximately \$5.2 million resulting in a gain of approximately \$0.8 million.

• Sale of 380,000 Shares of Elbit Systems

In the fourth quarter of 2002, we sold 380,000 shares of Elbit Systems for approximately \$5.9 million. As a result, we recorded a gain, before tax, of approximately \$1.8 million and our share in Elbit Systems decreased to approximately 20%.

• Transfer of Our Interests in Textology, Cellenium and I.C.C. Israel Commerce Community

During 2002 and at the beginning of 2003, we transferred all our shares in Textology, Inc., in which we held a 67.8% interest, to the other shareholder of Textology, all of our shares in Cellenium MCS Ltd., in which we held a 50% interest, to the other shareholder of Cellenium, and substantially all of the assets of I.C.C. Israel Commerce Community Ltd. to Yael Software & Systems Ltd., in each case for future consideration conditional upon the occurrence of certain events. During 2002 and 2003, we recorded a write down of \$2.9 million and \$3.3 million in respect of these companies.

Business Overview

The business overview discussed below is presented in accordance with our two reportable segments, the systems and projects segment and other holdings and corporate operations.

The Systems and Projects Segment - Elron TeleSoft, Inc.

Elron TeleSoft, Inc. develops and markets revenue assurance software products for telecom customers as well as providing network management system, IP solution products and professional services. Elron TeleSoft also distributes Agilent Technology's Signaling Systems number 7 or SS#7, based products in the Israeli market.

During 2001 and through the beginning of 2002, Elron TeleSoft sold its activities in the e-business and government fields and since then has been focused exclusively on the telecommunications service provider market. This mainly accounts for the decrease in Elron TeleSoft's annual revenues in 2002 as compared to 2001 presented below.

Elron TeleSoft's annual revenues amounted to \$7.4 million in 2003 (\$5.7 million in Israel and \$1.7 million in the rest of the world); \$10.1 million in 2002 (\$8.0 million in Israel and \$2.1 million in the rest of the world) and \$23.8 million (including \$11.0 million in the telecommunications service provider market) in 2001 (\$21.7 million in Israel and \$2.1 million in the rest of the world). Elron TeleSoft's customers in the telecommunications service provider market consist of Israeli operators (Bezeq, Cellcom, Partner and Pelephone, Bezeq International, Barak and Mirs) and international operators either directly (such as MobilTel Bulgaria and Cyta Cyprus) or indirectly through its partners Agilent Technologies (such as NTT) and ECtel (such as Cable & Wireless Panama and Cable & Wireless Barbados).

Products

Elron TeleSoft's product portfolio consists of three product lines: revenue assurance solutions (Process Control – including data-base conformity and Switch-to-Bill reconciliation), Internet Access Management and Network Management Systems, or NMS. Elron TeleSoft's main products are:

<u>RAP – Revenue Assurance Process Control</u>

The RAP continuously identifies revenue leaks in order to provide telecommunication companies with automatic and systematic tools in order to monitor its processes. Risk points are identified, monitored and managed and leaks are sealed. By exercising greater control, telecommunication companies can improve both revenue and income levels. The RAP provides functionality and methodology to build, control and validate processes within both wireline and wireless operators.

ESSB - Switch-to-Bill Reconciliation Tool

The ESSB collects different formats of unbilled and incorrect data records from various sources such as switches, billing, mediation and signaling systems. Using special algorithms and filters, ESSB compares the various sources of with different multi-cycled keys, analyzes the discrepancies and fixes them by adding the relevant (missed or mistaken) information.

Call Performance Management

Call Performance Management, or CPM, works in conjunction with Agilent Technology's SS#7 surveillance systems to resolve telecommunications carrier needs. CPM analyzes, in real time, network traffic and quality of service on the telephone network.

Competition

As Elron TeleSoft is in the process of transitioning its business from a pure systems integration company operating mainly in Israel into a more international telecommunications software product and system integration company focusing on revenue assurance (Process Control and Switch-to-Bill reconciliation) it faces competition from both Israeli and global system integrators and software vendors such as ECtel and TTI Telecom, ConneXn, Visualwireless, Wedo, Vibrant, Sotas, Cerebrus and local in-country software houses and consulting competitors which operate in these fields.

Sales and Marketing

Elron TeleSoft's sales and marketing activities include the following steps:

• Early contacts and discussions with potential customers and partners directly or through resellers or agents;

- Understanding the customer's needs and constructing the installation, customization and implementation plan;
- Solutions may incorporate the licensing of Elron TeleSoft's products, third party products and software development;
- Preparation of proposals and contract negotiations; and
- Case study publications.

Research and Development

While Elron TeleSoft's research and development team consists of teams for each product, its efforts are currently primarily directed toward revenue assurance products (RAP and ESSB), functionality enhancements and the development of new modules intended to broaden Elron TeleSoft's product portfolio in the telecommunications field.

Maintenance and Support

Elron TeleSoft provides maintenance services packages to its customers adjusted to the specific needs and requirements of each customer in accordance with Elron TeleSoft's standard terms and with the applicable terms of its suppliers/subcontractors. Such maintenance packages vary among customers and may include working hours coverage, 24 hours a day - seven days a week coverage, bug fixing, updates, upgrades, third party coverage including updates/upgrades and consultation.

Other Holdings and Corporate Operations

This segment includes holdings in other companies in our group and our corporate operations, which provides strategic and operational support to the group companies. Through our corporate operations, we are involved in our group companies regarding matters of policy, strategic planning, marketing, selecting and manning senior management positions, approving investments and budgets, financing and the overall ongoing monitoring of our group companies' performance. In addition to our representation on the boards of directors of our group companies, we provide hands-on assistance to the group companies' management in support of their growth.

Our group companies are engaged in five main fields of advanced technology, namely: (i) medical devices; (ii) defense electronics; (iii) communications; (iv) semiconductors and (v) advanced materials. The business overview of this reportable segment is presented, for the purposes of convenience only, according to the six main fields listed above, none of which is considered a separate reportable segment.

1. Medical Devices

Our activities in the field of medical devices consist mainly of our holdings in the following companies:

- Given Imaging Ltd., in which we beneficially own as of June 23, 2004, approximately 20% of the outstanding shares representing all shares owned by us and RDC, or approximately 15% representing our direct holding and our share in the holding of RDC;
- Galil Medical Ltd., in which we beneficially own approximately 59% of the outstanding shares representing all shares owned by us and RDC, or approximately 39%, representing our direct holding and our share in the holding of RDC;
- Oncura, Inc. in which we beneficially own approximately 25% of the outstanding shares representing shares owned by Galil Medical, or approximately 10%, representing our share in the holding of Galil Medical; and
- Notal Vision, Inc., in which we hold approximately 26% of the outstanding shares.

Given Imaging Ltd.

Given Imaging is an Israeli company that develops, manufactures and markets innovative diagnostic products for disorders of the gastrointestinal tract. It pioneered capsule endoscopy, a proprietary approach to visual examination of the gastrointestinal tract through the use of a miniaturized video camera contained in a disposable capsule. Given Imaging was incorporated in Israel by RDC in January 1998. Its initial public offering and listing on the Nasdaq National Market occurred in October 2001 and its shares are traded under the symbol "GIVN". In March, 2004, Given Imaging also listed its shares on the TASE.

The M2A capsule is easily ingested by the patient and moves naturally through the gastrointestinal tract without discomfort to the patient while wirelessly transmitting high quality color images and data to a portable recorder. Given Imaging believes that capsule endoscopy provides a patient-friendly solution that addresses a significant market opportunity and overcomes many of the shortcomings of traditional diagnostic tools for gastrointestinal disorders.

In 2001, Given Imaging commenced marketing the Given System, its capsule endoscopy platform, with the M2A Small Bowel Capsule for detection of disorders of the small bowel. As of March 31, 2004, it had an installed base of 1,771 (including 40 workstations provided in connection with clinical trials) Given Systems and more than 100,000 disposable capsules have been sold in over 50 countries worldwide. Given Imaging recently developed the M2A Esophageal Capsule for use with the Given System for detection of disorders in the esophagus. In May 2004, Given Imaging formed a strategic marketing and sales alliance with Ethicon Endo-Surgery, a Johnson & Johnson company, to market the M2A Esophageal Capsule following clearance from the FDA. Given Imaging has also developed the Patency Capsule and system, which is a dissolvable capsule that enables physicians to determine whether there are obstructions or strictures in the gastrointestinal tract. It launched the Patency Capsule and system in Europe in November 2003 and are conducting clinical trials for the Patency Capsule and system in the United States and, if results are favorable, Given Imaging plans to pursue FDA clearance.

Given Imaging commenced sales in late 2001. Given Imaging recorded revenues of \$40.5 million in 2003, \$28.9 million in 2002 and \$4.7 million in 2001.

Given Imaging currently markets and sells the Given System through a combination of direct sales through its subsidiaries, and through independent distributors in over 50 jurisdictions.

The Given System consists of the M2A capsule, a portable data recorder and sensor array, and a dedicated computer workstation. Given Imaging currently assembles and tests each M2A Small Bowel Capsule capsule at its facilities in Yoqneam, Israel. The manufacturing process for the M2A Small Bowel Capsule consists primarily of assembling externally purchased components and sub-assemblies in an environmentally controlled area. In March 2002, Given Imaging completed installation of a semi-automated production line for the manufacture of the M2A Small Bowel Capsule. During the first quarter of 2003, Given Imaging installed an additional semi-automated production line in Yoqneam, Israel bringing its total manufacturing capacity of M2A capsules in Israel to 350,000 units a year and has also installed a third semiautomated production line with a capacity of 180,000 units a year outside of Israel for backup purposes. In June 2002, Given Imaging also entered into a one year non-exclusive technical services agreement with Pemstar, the supplier of the production line, pursuant to which Pemstar provided Given Imaging with technical services relating to the manufacture of the M2A Small Bowel Capsule. Given Imaging is currently negotiating the terms of the extension of this agreement. The portable data recorder and sensor array forming part of the Given System are manufactured externally and assembled tested at its facilities. The computer workstation is an off-the-shelf computer workstation pre-loaded with Given Imaging's RAPID software.

Given Imaging's research and development activities are conducted internally by its research and development staff, primarily at its facilities in Yoqneam, Israel. Given Imaging's research and development efforts are focused primarily on developing new capsules to be used in the detection of abnormalities in other areas of the gastrointestinal tract. Given Imaging holds one issued patent in the United States and Israel on an in vivo video camera system and one issued patent in France and Israel on an optical system for in vivo imaging. Given Imaging acquired the rights to its issued U.S. and Israeli patents in January 1998 under a technology purchase and license agreement with Rafael. Given Imaging's issued patents in the United States, Israel and France expire in January 2014, July 2014 and July 2015, respectively. Given Imaging holds eight additional issued patents in Australia, France, Israel and the United States covering different elements of its technology and expiring between July 2014 and August 2022. As of March 31, 2004, Given Imaging had 100 priority applications relating to various elements and functions of its product and enhancements.

Galil Medical Ltd.

Galil Medical Ltd., an Israeli company established by RDC in 1997, is a provider of minimally invasive temperature-based therapies for treatment of both benign and malignant diseases of the prostate and other urological diseases such as kidney tumors. Galil Medical's technology involves freezing and thereby ablating diseased tissue in a technique commonly referred to as cryotherapy. Since 1999, Galil was focused on developing products to address specific urologic diseases including prostate and kidney cancer, and currently, following the completion of the merger of its urology related cryotherapy business with Amersham Health's brachytherapy business, Galil Medical is developing its technology for application in other areas including women's health.

On July 1, 2003 Galil and Amersham merged Galil Medical's urology related cryotherapy business with Amersham Health's brachytherapy urology business conducted through its subsidiary, MPI, into a new company named Oncura, Inc. The new company provides minimally invasive treatment options for prostate cancer using Amersham's brachytherapy (radio-active seeds) and Galil Medical's cryotherapy (hyper-cooling) technologies. Amersham and Galil each contributed the assets necessary for Oncura to conduct the brachytherapy business and the cryotherapy business, respectively, in the urology field. In exchange therefor, MPI received 78% and Galil received 22%, of the outstanding ordinary shares of Oncura. At the closing date, Galil Medical purchased an additional 3% of Oncura's shares from MPI for consideration of \$4.5 million in cash, resulting in Galil Medical holding an aggregate ownership interest of 25% in Oncura. In addition, Galil Medical has an option to purchase an additional 3% of Oncura from MPI in consideration for \$5.4 million, exercisable until 45 days following the closing of an initial public offering of Oncura.

Galil Medical and MPI each entered, separately, into supply and R&D service agreements pursuant to which Galil Medical and MPI shall provide Oncura with certain exclusive supply, manufacturing and R&D services in the urology field, upon a cost plus basis.

Galil Medical's research and development and manufacturing facilities are based in Yokneam, Israel.

Galil Medical's intellectual property consists of a combination of the intellectual property which it received from Rafael and the intellectual property developed by Galil Medical's research and development team. Galil Medical has 12 patents and 12 new pending applications of which five patent applications were submitted in 2003. Certain of the patents were transferred to Oncura as part of the transaction with Amersham.

As of December 31, 2003, Galil Medical had over 220 SeedNetTM machines installed worldwide. Galil Medical recorded annual revenues of \$7.6 million in 2003, \$5.0 million in 2002 and \$2.8 million in 2001.

On January 31, 2004, Galil Medical and its shareholders, entered into an agreement to restructure the share capital of Galil Medical pursuant to which all outstanding preferred shares, notes convertible into preferred shares and a shareholders loan were converted into ordinary shares and all their associated rights were cancelled. As a result of the restructuring, Elron's and RDC's respective holdings in Galil increased to 20% and 39%.

Oncura, Inc.

Oncura, Inc., a Delaware corporation, markets and sells therapeutic device systems and related consumables used primarily in the performance of minimally-invasive, urologic cancer treatment. Oncura's products include implantable radioactive seeds and cryotherapy devices and related disposable kits used in the treatment of prostate and other urologic cancers.

Oncura's formation was the result of a merger, completed July 1, 2003, between the urology business of Galil Medical, and the urology brachytherapy business of Amersham, a subsidiary of General Electric Company (NYSE: GE) conducted through its subsidiary, MPI, in consideration for 78% and 22% of the issued and outstanding shares of Oncura. Galil purchased an additional 3% of Oncura from MPI in consideration for \$4.5 million resulting in Galil Medical's owning an aggregate interest of 25% in Oncura. In addition, Galil Medical has an

option to purchase an additional 3% of Oncura from MPI in consideration for \$5.4 million, exercisable until 45 days following the closing of an initial public offering of Oncura. Oncura is headquartered in Plymouth Meeting, Pennsylvania, a suburb of Philadelphia. In addition, Oncura has an international management office located in Amersham, United Kingdom.

Oncura does not manufacture any of the products it sells. The majority of these products are manufactured by its two shareholders, MPI and Galil Medical, and sold to Oncura under long-term supply agreements. Oncura also purchases certain products, principally a type of radioactive seed not manufactured by MPI, from a third-party supplier.

Oncura markets and distributes its products directly and indirectly to several international markets, including, the United States, Canada, Europe, Russia, Israel, Greece, Korea, Philippines, Hong Kong, Australia, New Zealand, and portions of South America. In the United States, Oncura sells principally through its direct sales force. Outside of the United States, Oncura sells primarily through a network of affiliated and independent distributors and agents. Outside of the United States, Oncura's products are distributed primarily under long-term distribution agreements with Amersham affiliates.

Oncura has also entered into services and research and developments agreements with its shareholders and affiliates for the provision of certain administrative and research and development services.

Oncura expects to terminate a majority of its existing arrangements with its shareholders under both the distributor agreements and service agreements during 2004 and 2005. Upon termination, the services currently provided by shareholders under these agreements will be performed by Oncura or will be provided by third-party vendors.

Oncura's intellectual property consists primarily of product brand names and product patented technology that it either owns or is licensed to Oncura by MPI and Galil Medical under exclusive licensing agreements.

As of April 30, 2004, Oncura has approximately 90 employees.

Oncura's activities in the marketing and distribution of cancer therapy products are subject to extensive laws, regulations, regulatory approvals and guidelines. Within the United States, the Company's products must comply with the U.S. Federal Food Drug and Cosmetic Act, which is enforced by the FDA. Oncura must also comply with the regulations of the Competent Authorities of the European Union for any products sold in the member nations of the European Union. Oncura is also subject to various other regulations, regulatory approvals and guidelines in other markets in which it distributes its products. Oncura is not presently licensed to handle radioactive materials. Oncura's radioactive seeds are manufactured by MPI and third-party vendors and physical handling and delivery of all radioactive seeds to customers, including those manufactured by third parties, is the exclusive responsibility of MPI.

Oncura's revenues since commencing operations in July 1, 2003 and through December 31, 2003 amounted to \$31.4 million.

Notal Vision

Notal Vision Inc. is a medical device company founded in 2001, operating in the field of early detection of Age Related Macular Deterioration (AMD). AMD is a common eye disease that gradually destroys central visual function, manifested in two forms: dry AMD, a mild form of the disease, and wet AMD, a progression of dry AMD, which often leads to rapid, severe visual deterioration and blindness. To address the growing need for early detection of wet AMD and for the continuous monitoring of patients with dry AMD, Notal Vision has developed the patented Preferential Hyperacuity Perimetry (PHP), designed to detect and monitor the progression of the disease in a non-invasive manner. Based on the PHP technology, Notal is launching, together with Carl Zeiss Meditech ("Zeiss"), the Preview PHP device, intended for professional use by ophthalmologists and optometrists in their clinics. The diagnostic device will enable early detection of the full spectrum of dry AMD within the population at risk (e.g., anyone over the age of 55) who may be unaware that they may have dry AMD, as well as within the population of patients already known to have dry AMD and Chroidal Neo-Vascularization (CNV) population. The device will enable early detection of AMD, detection of CNV and posttreatment follow-up. Post treatment follow-up is intended to identify the recurrence of the disease and confirm the stage of the disease. Sales of the Preview PHP device to end users are expected to begin in the third quarter of 2004.

Based on the PHP technology, Notal is also developing the "Home Device," a monitoring device intended for home use. The monitoring device will enable patients with dry AMD to monitor themselves at home on a frequent basis, ensuring timely intervention by a physician should the disease progress to the wet form.

In June 2004, Notal received an additional investment from its current shareholders, including us, in an aggregate amount of \$1.0 million as well as a convertible loan in the amount of \$2.0 million from Zeiss. The loan bears interest at 4% per annum and is repayable by December 31, 2006 subject to certain conditions specified in the loan agreement. Notal commenced sales in 2003 and recorded \$0.9 million in revenues. Notal's ability to generate significant revenues will depend largely on it obtaining and maintaining applicable regulatory approvals for its products, reimbursement of its products by healthcare payors and the success of its strategic alliance with Zeiss.

Other Holdings in Medical Devices

Our other holding in the medical devices field is in Innomed Ventures (Israel)L.P., which is a seed stage fund that initiates and invests in Israeli and Israeli related companies in the field of medical devices and life sciences. DEP holds approximately 14% of the partnership interest in Innomed. Innomed is a member of the Jerusalem Global Ventures Group of venture capital funds.

2. Defense Electronics

Our activities in the field of defense electronics consist of our holdings in Elbit Systems Ltd., in which we hold approximately 20% of the outstanding shares. We may also be deemed to share voting power of, and to beneficially own, an additional approximately 30% of Elbit Systems' outstanding ordinary shares, as a result of a shareholders agreement between us and certain members of the Federmann Group described below. Elbit Systems operates through a number of wholly-owned and partially-owned subsidiaries in Israel and the United States.

Elbit Systems Ltd.

Elbit Systems Ltd., an Israel-based company, was formed in 1996 as a result of the demerger of Elbit Ltd. into three independent publicly traded companies, Elbit Systems, Elbit Ltd. and Elbit Medical Imaging Ltd. Elbit Systems' shares are publicly traded on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol "ESLT" and on the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange.

Elbit Systems develops, manufactures and integrates advanced, high-performance defense electronic and electro-optic systems for customers throughout the world. Elbit Systems focuses on designing, developing, manufacturing and integrating command, control, communication, computer and intelligence surveillance and reconnaissance (C4ISR) systems for defense and homeland security applications. It also performs upgrade programs for airborne, ground and naval defense platforms, often as a prime contractor.

Elbit Systems' total annual revenues were approximately \$898 million in 2003, \$828 million in 2002 and \$765 million in 2001.

In July 2000, Elbit Systems and Electro-Optics Industries Ltd., or, El-Op merged, resulting in El-Op becoming a wholly-owned subsidiary of Elbit Systems. As part of this merger, the Federmann Group, the shareholders of El-Op, received 12,100,000 newly-issued shares of Elbit Systems, then representing approximately 32.3% of Elbit Systems' outstanding shares following the merger.

As part of this transaction, we entered into a shareholders agreement with the Federmann Group, which sets forth the relationship of the primary shareholders of Elbit Systems. The shareholders agreement includes limitation on the transfer of shares in Elbit Systems, including first refusal rights and tag along rights. The shareholders agreement also includes joint voting arrangements with respect to the election of an equal number of directors to Elbit Systems' board of directors. In addition, we, Elbit Systems and the Federmann Group entered into a registration rights agreement, pursuant to which Elbit Systems agreed to register our and the Federmann Group's shares in Elbit Systems for trade on a stock exchange in the United States under certain conditions.

Elbit Systems tailors and adapts its technologies, integration skills, market knowledge and battle-proven systems to each customer's individual requirements in both existing and new platforms. By upgrading existing platforms with advanced electronic and electro-optic technologies, Elbit Systems provides customers with cost-effective solutions enabling customers to improve their technological and operational capabilities within limited defense budgets.

The recent military actions in Iraq and Afghanistan and ongoing terrorist activities have caused a shift in the defense priorities for many of Elbit Systems' major customers. While Elbit Systems continues to perform platform upgrades, more emphasis is being placed on intelligence surveillance and reconnaissance (ISR), including information systems, intelligence gathering, border and perimeter security, unarmed air vehicles (UAVs), space and satellite based defense capabilities and homeland security issues. Elbit Systems has indicated that it believes its existing systems, products and capabilities place it in a position to meet emerging customer requirements in many of these areas. Elbit Systems has also indicated that it believes that some types of upgrade programs and electronic and electro-optic systems, particularly those that emphasize information gathering, analysis and distribution, will continue to be a significant portion of defense budgets in many countries.

Elbit Systems' major activities are:

Aircraft and Helicopter Programs and Systems. Elbit Systems supplies advanced airborne electronic and electro-optic systems and products to leading aircraft manufacturers and end users. Such airborne systems and products include weapons guidance and fire control systems, mission computers, cockpit management systems, display systems, head-up displays, digital maps, night vision systems, forward-looking infra-red (FLIR) systems, laser range finders and designators, airborne C4I systems, cockpit instruments, stabilized line-of-sight payloads, aerial reconnaissance systems, store management systems, digital video recording systems and virtual training aids. Elbit Systems is also a prime contractor for aircraft and helicopter upgrade programs. Elbit Systems acts as the upgrade integrator, and supplies systems and products, for airborne platforms including:

- fixed wing aircraft such as the F-4, F-5, F-15, F-16, F-18, T-38, T-45, MiG-21, SU-25, SU-30, C-130, A-4, A-10, Mirage, Kfir, AL-X, AM-X, IAR-99, AT-63 Pampa, Beachcraft and Gulfstream-550, MD-10, MD-11, Airbus A300 and A310; and
- helicopters such as the CH-47, CH-53, Cobra, Puma, Super Puma, OH-58 Kiowa Warrior, AH-64 Apache, H-60 Black Hawk, S-70 Black Hawk, MI8, MI-17, MI0-24, Linx, EC225 and EC725 and the V-22 Osprey tilt rotorcraft.

Helmet Mounted Systems. Elbit Systems designs and supplies advanced helmet mounted systems for fighter aircraft and helicopter pilots and land applications. These include tracking and display systems for target designation, weapon and sensor slaving and processing and display of tactical information for pilots, both for day and night flying. Its helmet mounted systems are supplied as part of its upgrade programs as well as on a stand-alone basis.

UAV Integrated Systems. Elbit Systems designs and supplies integrated UAV systems. Through its Silver Arrow subsidiary, Elbit Systems designs and manufactures a variety of UAV platforms, including the Hermes family of UAVs. Elbit Systems also designs and supplies C4I ground stations systems for UAVs.

Tactical and Security Systems. Elbit Systems designs, manufactures and integrates a range of tactical and security systems and products for airborne naval and homeland security applications. These include laser and infrared seeker kits for guided munitions, naval combat management systems, shipboard combat system integration, naval electro-optic observation systems, naval tactical trainers, submarine electronic warfare systems, shipboard decoy countermeasure launching systems, satellite communication systems, maritime and coastal control systems, facility perimeter security products, electronic fences and electro-optic warning systems for defense, police, border control and homeland security uses.

Battlefield Management and Government Information Systems. Elbit Systems designs, manufactures and integrates C4I systems for ground forces and battlefield management applications. These include artillery command and control systems, day-night observation systems, C4I battlefield management systems for headquarters command and for low-echelon armored formations, tactical communications systems, and tactical ground reconnaissance systems. Elbit Systems also designs and manufactures governmental information technology systems and integrated intelligence gathering systems for border control, crime prevention and other governmental applications.

Land Vehicle Programs and Systems. Elbit Systems upgrades and modernizes tanks and other combat vehicles both as a prime contractor and as a systems supplier to leading platform manufacturers. Its combat vehicle systems include fire control systems, electric gun and turret drive and stabilization systems, command and control systems, FLIRs, gunner's and commander's sights, lasers, laser warning systems, displays, life support systems and hydraulic systems for tanks, personnel carriers and other combat vehicles. Elbit Systems also supplies training systems for tanks and fighting vehicles. Tank and combat fighting vehicle programs containing its systems and products include the Merkava, M1 Abrams, Centurion, M-60, T-55, T-72, Bradley A-3, MLRS, HIMARS, AMX-30, SK-105, MK-109, ULAN and LAV.

Electro-Optic and Countermeasures Systems. Through El-Op, Elbit Systems wholly-owned subsidiary, Elbit Systems designs and manufactures a full range of electro-optics sensors and systems for space, air, land and sea applications. The range of electro-optics products includes space cameras and specialized sensors, airborne reconnaissance and observation systems, FLIRs for ground, naval and airborne applications, laser designators based on diode pumped technology used in manned and unmanned airborne vehicles and ground and naval platforms, including products for detection, identification and intelligence gathering as well as for ground vehicle upgrades. El-Op's ISR related business activities – space cameras, airborne reconnaissance and observation and surveillance – share a broad infrastructure of technologies that provide image intelligence, long range observation solutions for space, air, sea and ground based sources. In the space area, El-Op also maintains in-house Israel's national space electro-optics infrastructure and is currently a principal subcontractor for the Israeli Ofek satellites. In addition, El-Op supplies dedicated satellite payloads for space research and advanced multi-spectral and high resolution pan-chromatic cameras for commercial satellites.

Services. Elbit Systems provides a wide range of logistic support, training, simulation, maintenance and repair services for its customers around the world. These include cutting edge simulators for air, land and naval platforms; "power by the hour" flight training under private finance initiatives; and maintenance and repair centers.

Technology Spin-Offs. Elbit Systems is engaged in spin-offs of its defense technologies to commercial applications. Its spin-off activities to date are in the areas of medical equipment, optical communications, commercial satellites and satellite communication for commercial aircraft.

Governmental Regulation

Government Contracting Regulations. Elbit Systems operates under laws, regulations and administrative rules governing defense contracts, mainly in Israel and the United States. Some of these carry major penalty provisions for non-compliance, including disqualification from participating in future contracts. In addition, its participation in governmental procurement processes in Israel, the United States and other countries is subject to specific regulations governing the conduct of the procurement process.

Israeli Export Regulations. Israel's defense export policy regulates the sale of a number of Elbit Systems' systems and products. Current Israeli policy encourages exports to approved customers of defense systems and products such as those of Elbit Systems, as long as the export is consistent with Israeli Government policy. A permit is required for an export and must be obtained to initiate a sales proposal. Elbit Systems also must receive a specific export license for

any hardware eventually exported. In 2003, approximately 50% of Elbit Systems' revenue was derived from exports subject to Israeli export regulations.

U.S. and Other Export Regulations. The export of defense products, military technical data and technical services by Elbit Systems' U.S. subsidiary, EFW Inc. (EFW) (and EFW's subsidiaries) to Israel and other countries is subject to applicable approvals of the U.S. Government. Such approvals are typically in the form of an export license or a technical assistance agreement (TAA). Other U.S. companies wishing to export defense products or military related services and technology to Elbit Systems' Israeli entities are also required to obtain such licenses and TAAs. This applies to data required by Elbit Systems' Israeli entities to perform work for U.S. programs. An application for an export license, or a TAA, requires disclosure of the intended sales of the product and the use of the technology. The U.S. Government may deny the export license or TAA if it determines that a transaction is contrary to U.S. policy or national security. Other governments' export regulations also affect Elbit Systems' business from time to time, particularly with respect to end user restrictions of Elbit Systems' suppliers' governments. Recently, some European governments have indicated the possibility of limiting defense exports to Israel.

"Buy American" Laws. The U.S. "Buy American" laws impose price differentials or prohibitions on procurement of products purchased under U.S. Government programs. The price differentials or prohibitions apply to products that are not made in the United States or that do not contain U.S. components making up at least 50% of the total cost of all components in the product. However, a Memorandum of Agreement between the United States and Israeli Governments waives the Buy American laws for specified products, including almost all the products currently sold in the United States by Elbit Systems, El-Op and Elbit Systems' other Israeli subsidiaries.

Foreign Military Funding (FMF). EFW and its subsidiaries participate in United States FMF programs. These programs require countries, including Israel, receiving military aid from the United States to use the funds to purchase products containing mainly U.S. origin components. In most cases, subcontracting under FMF contracts to non-U.S. entities is not permitted. As a consequence, EFW and its subsidiaries generally either perform FMF contracts themselves or subcontract with U.S. suppliers.

Antitrust Laws. Antitrust laws and regulations in Israel, the United States and other countries often require governmental approvals for transactions that are considered to limit competition. Such transactions may include cooperative agreements for specific programs or areas, as well as mergers and acquisitions.

Buy-Back

As part of their standard contractual requirements for defense programs, several of Elbit Systems' customers include "buy-back" provisions. These provisions are typically best efforts obligations to make, or to facilitate third parties to make, specified transactions in the customer's country. Such transactions may include the purchase of local goods and services; cooperative ventures with, or investment in, local entities; and transfers of equipment, infrastructure or knowhow for the benefit of local parties. In most cases, the buy-back transactions are to be fulfilled over a multi-year period that extends after completion of deliveries under the contract.

Elbit Systems is required to make or facilitate local purchases or goods and services only if the local suppliers can meet the commercial and technical competitive terms of the specific procurement. Thus, the local industry must be able to meet the price of other international suppliers for the procurement in question as well as to meet the required delivery schedule and technical specifications. Typically, if the local supplier is unable to meet such conditions following the award of a purchase order, the buy-back credit is nonetheless granted. To date, Elbit Systems has not encountered significant difficulties in identifying qualified local suppliers and placing purchase orders.

Elbit Systems typically has the right to apply multiplier factors in calculating the amount of buy-back credit recognized, and certain types of investments and transactions receive buy-back credit of up to five or more times the value of the specific transaction. Therefore, even if the buy-back provisions apply in an aggregate amount of up to 100% of the price of the contract with its customer, the actual effective buy-back obligation amount is significantly less due to the application of the multiplier factors.

Although failure to meet a best efforts buy-back obligation may limit Elbit Systems' ability to be awarded future business from the applicable customer, buy-back generally is not linked to delivery payments or subject to specific contractual monetary penalties. The buy-back activities are a normal part of doing business in the defense industry with these customers. Over the number of years that Elbit Systems has been performing buy-back activities, Elbit Systems has not experienced significant difficulties in meeting its buy-back obligations, and therefore these buy-back activities are not believed to represent a material financial risk to Elbit Systems' operations. Elbit Systems' maximum aggregate buy-back undertakings as of December 31, 2003 were approximately \$630 million, to be fulfilled over an eleven-year period.

Financing Terms

Types of Financing. There are several types of financing terms applicable to Elbit Systems' defense contracts. In some cases, Elbit Systems receives progress payments according to a percentage of the cost incurred in performing the contract. Sometimes Elbit Systems receives advances from the customer at the beginning of the project and also receives milestone payments for achievement of specific milestones. In some programs, Elbit Systems extends credit to the customer, sometimes based on receipt of guarantees or other security. In other situations work is performed before receipt of the payment, which means that Elbit Systems finances all or part of the project's costs. Occasionally, Elbit Systems assists in arranging third party financing for its customers. Financing arrangements may extend beyond the term of the contract's performance. When Elbit Systems believes it is necessary, it seeks to protect all or part of its financial exposure by letters of credit, insurance or other measures, although in some cases such measures may not be available.

Advance Payment Guarantees. In some cases where Elbit Systems receives advances prior to incurring contract costs or making deliveries, the customer may require guarantees against advances paid. These guarantees are issued either by financial institutions or by Elbit Systems. Elbit Systems has received substantial advances from customers under some of its contracts. If a contract is canceled for default and there has been an advance or progress payment, Elbit Systems may be required to return payments to the customer as provided in the specific guarantee. As part of the guarantees, Elbit Systems provides to receive progress payments or advance payments, some of its customers require it to transfer to them title in inventory acquired

with such payments. In addition, Elbit Systems receives payments for some of its projects in currencies other than U.S. dollars. In such cases, Elbit Systems sometimes elects to adopt measures to reduce the risk of exchange rate fluctuations. As of December 31, 2003, the balance of customer advances that were covered by guarantees amounted to approximately \$183 million. While Elbit Systems attempts to obtain appropriate insurance regarding such guarantees, Elbit Systems sometimes is unable to fully insure all risks.

Performance Guarantees. A number of projects require Elbit Systems to provide performance guarantees in an amount equal to a percentage of the contract price. Some of its contracts contain clauses that impose penalties or reduce the amount payable to it if there is a delay or failure in completion of a phase of work, including in some cases during the warranty period. Elbit Systems provides these types of guarantees in the normal course of its business. As of December 31, 2003, the balance of performance guarantees for Elbit Systems' group companies amounted to approximately \$206 million.

Financial Risks Relating to Projects. The nature of Elbit Systems' projects and contracts creates some potential financial risks, including risks relating to dependence on governmental budgets, fixed price contracts for development effort, schedule extensions beyond Elbit Systems' control, termination for the customer's convenience, potential for monetary penalties for late deliveries and liability for subcontractors.

Audit Regulations. The IMOD audits Elbit Systems' books and records relating to its contracts with Elbit Systems. Elbit Systems books and records and other aspects of projects related to U.S. defense contracts are subject to audit by the U.S. Defense Contract Audit Agency. Such audits review compliance with applicable government contracting cost accounting and other applicable standards. If discrepancies were found this could result in a downward adjustment of the applicable contract's price. Some other customers obtain similar rights under specific contract provisions.

Intellectual Property

Patents, Trademarks and Trade Secrets. Elbit Systems holds more than 230 patents in Israel, the United States and other countries relating to approximately 90 different inventions. El-Op alone holds approximately 130 patents on some 55 different products or applications. Elbit Systems' technology spin-off companies often rely in part on Elbit Systems' patented technology. In a few cases, Elbit Systems holds trademarks relating to specific products. A significant part of Elbit Systems' intellectual property assets relates to unique applications of advanced software-based technologies, development process and production technologies. These applications are often not easily patentable, but are considered as Elbit Systems' trade secrets and proprietary information. Elbit Systems takes a number of measures to guard its intellectual property against infringement as well as to avoid infringement of other parties' intellectual property.

Government Rights in Data. The Israeli Government usually retains specific rights to technologies and inventions resulting from Elbit Systems' performance under Israeli Government contracts. This generally includes the right to disclose the information to third parties, including other defense contractors that may be Elbit Systems' competitors. Consistent with common practice in the defense industry, approximately 30% of Elbit Systems' revenues in 2003 were dependent on products incorporating technology that a government customer may

disclose to third parties. When the Israeli Government funds research and development, it usually acquires rights to data and title to inventions. Elbit Systems often may retain a non-exclusive license for such inventions. The Israeli Government usually is entitled to receive royalties on export sales to the extent that such sales result from government financed development. However, if only the end product is purchased, Elbit Systems normally retains the principal rights to the technology. Sales of Elbit Systems' products to the U.S. Government and some other customers are subject to similar conditions. Subject to applicable law, regulations and contract requirements, Elbit Systems attempts to maintain its intellectual property rights and provide customers with the right to use the technology only for the specific project under contract.

Licensing. In the relatively few cases where Elbit Systems manufactures under license, the licensor typically is entitled to royalties or other types of compensation. However, EFW's acquisition in 2000 of the display and orientation product business of Honeywell included an exclusive, royalty free license to use the applicable technology for defense applications. Occasionally, Elbit Systems licenses parts of its intellectual property to customers as part of the requirements of a particular contract. Elbit Systems also sometimes licenses technology to other companies for specific purposes or markets. Elbit Systems' technology spin-offs typically receive licenses to use relevant parts of Elbit Systems' intellectual property for their designated business purposes.

Research and Development

Elbit Systems invests in research and development (R&D) according to a long-term plan based on estimated market needs. Elbit Systems' R&D efforts focus on anticipating operational needs of its customers, achieving reduced time to market and increasing affordability. Elbit Systems emphasizes improving existing systems and products and developing new ones using emerging or existing technologies. Elbit Systems performs R&D projects to produce new systems for the IMOD and other customers. These projects give Elbit Systems the opportunity to develop and test emerging technologies. Elbit Systems developed new tools for fast prototyping for both the design and development process. This permits the operational team members to effectively specify requirements and to automatically transfer them into software code. Examples of Elbit Systems' ongoing defense-related R&D projects include those for night operation capabilities, laser systems, display systems, helmet mounted systems, C4I systems, electric tank turret drive systems and homeland security systems. Elbit Systems also performs R&D in the area of commercial aviation and through its technology spin-offs. Elbit Systems employs more than 1,600 software and hardware development and systems engineers engaged in advance programs for airborne, ground and naval defense, homeland security and space applications. Approximately 60% of Elbit Systems' total workforce is engaged in research, development and engineering.

3. Communications

Our activities in the field of communications consist of our holdings in the following main companies:

• Partner Communications Company Ltd., in which we hold, through Elbit Ltd., approximately 9% of the outstanding shares;

- NetVision Ltd., mainly an Internet service provider, in which we hold 50% of the outstanding voting shares which represents approximately 46% of all of NetVision's outstanding shares;
- Wavion, Inc., in which we hold approximately 38% of the outstanding shares;
- Starling Advanced Communications Ltd., in which we beneficially hold 50% of the outstanding shares representing all the shares owned by RDC or approximately 25% representing our share in the holding of RDC;
- Pulsicom Israel Technologies Ltd., in which we hold 18% of the outstanding shares; and
- CellAct Ltd., in which we hold 45% of the outstanding shares.

Partner Communications Company Ltd.

Partner is a publicly traded, Israel-based company. Its shares are traded on the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange under the symbol "PTNR". American Depositary Shares, or ADSs, each representing one of the Company's ordinary shares are quoted on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol "PTNR" and are traded on the London Stock Exchange under the symbol "PCCD". Partner was the first Global System for Mobile Communications, or GSM, mobile telephone network operator in Israel and one of four cellular service providers in Israel. We indirectly hold approximately 9% of Partner's share capital.

Elbit founded Partner in 1997 by forming a consortium of Israeli and foreign companies and successfully leading the consortium in the license auction held by the Minister of Communications to operate a GSM cellular network.

The structure and percentage of Elbit's ownership interest in Partner were specifically dictated by the Ministry of Communications in order to prevent our controlling shareholder, DIC and its affiliates (which have a significant influence over Cellcom, another cellular operator in Israel) from having a significant influence over Partner. Elbit further undertook not to enter into any agreement, or make any arrangement or other understanding with regard to budget approval and business plan approval, by which other veto rights would be exercised for Elbit's benefit. In addition, Elbit was prevented from appointing more than two of Partner's board members, which as of December 31, 2003 comprised 17 members. As part of the grant of the license to Partner to operate a cellular network in Israel, the Israeli Ministry of Communications imposed limitations on the disclosure of information concerning Partner to DIC and some of its affiliates. Pursuant to our merger with Elbit, the Ministry of Communications required all our officers and employees to sign non-disclosure undertakings regarding the transfer of information relating to Partner. These requirements have been complied with. In the event that those future requirements are not met at any time in the future, the Israeli Ministry of Communications is entitled to require Elbit to reduce its beneficial ownership in Partner to below 5%.

Partner's obligations under its senior credit facility are secured by a pledge of shares held by us and each of the other original shareholders of Partner, each pro rata to its respective holdings at that time. We have pledged our total holdings in Partner in favor of the consortium of banks. As of December 31, 2003, the amount of the facility was \$683 million of which \$282 million was available for future drawdown.

Partner's principal business is the provision of mobile telephone services in Israel. Partner currently operates in the 900 MHz and 1800 MHz bands. Its services include standard and enhanced GSM services, as well as value added services and products such as voice mail, voice messaging, color picture messaging, icon, ringtone and game downloads, information services, High Speed Circuit Switched Data or HSCSD, General Packet Radio Services, or GPRS, which enables the packet transfer of data in an "always on" mode at a speed of up to 20-30 Kbps, personal numbering and data and fax transmission services. Partner also offers its subscribers the ability to roam using their mobile phones outside Israel. At December 31, 2003, Partner offered international roaming through 281 operators covering 126 countries.

Partner distributes its services primarily through direct sales through Partner-owned sales centers and business sales representatives; and indirect sales through traditional networks of specialist dealers and non-traditional networks of retail chains and stores, which account for a majority of Partner's sales.

Partner also offers 24-hour, seven days a week customer service, as well as handset repair and replacement services, to subscribers who require these services.

Partner is subject to extensive regulation related to the spectrum and its ability to operate mobile telephone service in Israel. The Israeli Ministry of Communications controls the granting of licenses to operate mobile telephone service in Israel. It has granted licenses to several companies to operate such mobile networks, and may grant additional licenses in the future. Additionally, Partner must erect antennae that carry its network transmissions in order to maintain the coverage of the Israeli population required in its license agreement with the Ministry. These antennae must comply with local, regional and national regulations.

Partner is also dependent on a number of licenses and agreements with private companies to operate its mobile telephone network and Partner maintains contracts with a number of dealers through which its products are sold and has contracts with Nokia and Ericsson to provide it with equipment to run its network. Such equipment is available only through a limited number of suppliers. Partner also leases a substantial number of lines for its transmission network from Bezeq. Finally, Partner maintains agreements with several mobile telephone network operators in foreign countries through which it provides its customers with international service.

On March 15, 2004, Partner announced that it had entered into a memorandum of agreement with Matav Cable Systems Media Ltd., and its shareholders, Dankner Investments Ltd. and Delek Investments and Properties Ltd. to invest \$137 million in Matav for an approximate 40% share of Matav's equity. Matav is one of three operators of broadband cable television services in Israel and also one of Partner's principal shareholders, holding, as of December 31, 2003, approximately 5.3% of Partner's ordinary shares. If Partner consummates is investment in Matav, it intends, subject to regulatory and other approval procedures, to enhance its competitive position by leveraging synergies in marketing, sales, technology and other areas and by offering a variety of services to customers, including multi-channel cable television, broadband Internet transmission, fixed line telephony and cellular telephony. The acquisition is subject to a number of significant conditions precedent. Partner intends to finance the transaction from external sources. In May 2004, Partner announced the time framework set for the execution of a definitive agreement to acquire holdings of Matav, had expired but that the parties intend to continue discussions in an effort to reach an agreement.

As of December 31, 2003, Partner had approximately 2,103,000 subscribers, an increase of approximately 266,000 subscribers during 2003. According to its internal statistics, Partner believes that its market share rose to approximately 31% of the Israeli cellular market in 2003, from 29% in 2002.

Partner's revenues were approximately \$1.0 billion in 2003, \$925.9 million 2002, and \$742 million in 2001 based on the shekel-dollar representative rate of exchange on December 31, 2003 of NIS 4.379 equal to \$1.00.

NetVision Ltd.

NetVision Ltd. is a privately-held, Israel-based company. NetVision is one of the largest Internet service and solutions providers in Israel, as well as a developer of Internet solutions. NetVision's total revenues were \$64.6 million in 2003, \$59.8 million in 2002 and \$58.9 million in 2001 based on the shekel-dollar representative rate of exchange as of December 31, 2003 of NIS 4.379 equal to \$1.00.

NetVision's services utilize advanced technologies, including:

- high-speed modem dial-up (including integrated services digital network, or ISDN, asymmetric digital subscriber line, or ADSL, and cable);
- dedicated lines (using fiber, frame relay and asynchronous transfer mode, or ATM);
- communication servers (mail, web, proxy);
- data security installations and maintenance;
- private networks for multi-national corporations, commercial Web servers and application hosting, and
- custom on-line services.

NetVision's wholly-owned subsidiary, NetVision Internet Applications Ltd., develops software for e-commerce and sophisticated Internet systems and intranet applications.

NetVision's market is extremely competitive and, in particular, the broadband Internet market in which NetVision has invested substantial resources in order to increase the number of its broadband Internet subscribers. NetVision has approximately 357,000 subscribers as of December 31, 2003, out of which 146,000 are broadband connected. According to NetVision's internal statistics, NetVision's broadband Internet market share is approximately 25%. In 2003, NetVision experienced increased competition in gaining broadband communication market share and the process of the transition of customers to broadband communication from narrowband dial-up connections. Nevertheless, NetVision improved its operating results in 2003.

NetVision expects its revenue growth and its operating results to continue to be affected by the competitive broadband market environment, which will affect market prices and penetration costs.

In July 1999, NetVision launched the Nana, a portal which provides a variety of content and e-commerce services such as auctions, shopping and advertising. Nana's index and search applications can be operated in Hebrew.

NetVision has been involved in e-commerce activity since 1998, through Netaction, NetVision's on line auction site. Nana is Israel's second most popular portal according to both TGI (Target Group Index) and TIM (Teleseker Internet Monitor) surveys.

Based on the survey conducted by Geocartography, in January 2004, NetVision's customers are the most satisfied Internet customers in Israel. NetVision provides field support and on-site assistance as well as phone and web-based support. Technical support is provided free of charge to all customers by NetVision's technical call center, 24 hours a day, seven days a week.

NetVision is dependent on the communication services provided by Bezeq which has a monopoly for domestic telecommunications in Israel. NetVision is also dependent on maintaining its operating license granted by the Israeli Ministry of Communications. If NetVision loses its license, it will not be permitted to continue providing Internet services.

On March 15, 2004 Tevel International Communications Ltd. ("Tevel"), the other substantial shareholder of NetVision sold all of its shares to DIC as part of the recovery and settlement plan filed by Tevel's trustee with the court. As of March 31, 2004, NetVision is held equally by us and DIC (46% each) and the remaining shares are held by former employees.

On March 30, 2004, NetVision filed a request with the Israeli Securities Authority and the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange ("TASE") for a proposed public offering of its shares on the TASE. There is no assurance that the proposed offering will take place.

At March 31, 2004, the amount outstanding under NetVision's credit line with its lending banks was approximately \$16.2 million and NetVision's outstanding shareholder loans amounted to \$4 million.

On May 18, 2004, NetVision submitted an application to the Israeli Ministry of Communications for a license to provide international telephony services. NetVision intends providing such services through VoIP technology. There is no assurance that such a license will be granted or that the services will be provided.

Wavion, Inc.

Wavion is a Delaware corporation with research and development facilities in Israel. Wavion commenced development of its products in the second quarter of 2000. Wavion develops and delivers antenna array technology to all types of wireless systems. Wavion's proprietary signal processing algorithms provide significant performance gains in system capacity, operating range, data rate, interference mitigation, and multipath mitigation. The modular technology can be customized to meet the requirements of most equipment vendors and integrates easily into any wireless communication system.

In 2002, as a result of the downturn in the broadband wireless communications market, which delayed the release of Wavion's products, Wavion significantly reduced its research and development expenses and began to sell subcontracting services for the development of wireless sub-systems. Wavion recorded development service revenues of \$1.8 million in 2003 and \$1.7 million in 2002.

In 2003, Wavion completed a financing round led by Sequoia Seed Capital, raising \$12.5 million out of which we invested \$3 million. In addition, as part of this investment, we converted loans previously advanced to Wavion in the aggregate amount of \$1.5 million into Wavion

preferred shares. Wavion directed resources away from its subcontracting activities towards development of its technology. Following the financing, we hold approximately 38% of the outstanding shares of Wavion.

Wavion does not expect to commence product sales prior to the end of 2005.

Starling Advanced Communications Ltd.

Founded at the end of 2003 and headquartered in Yoqneam, Israel, Starling is a provider of innovative connectivity solutions for the broadband access market for aircraft. Its antenna and SATCOM (satellite communications) systems are based on proven technology developed at Rafael and Elbit Systems. Starling provides a unique connectivity solution that makes possible the delivery of advanced Internet services and applications for Voice over IP communication (VOIP), security, entertainment and operations on all three major categories of aircraft, namely, business jets, narrow-body and wide-body. The Starling MIJET product line incorporates a Kuband antenna with a proprietary SATCOM resource allocation system that effectively utilizes satellite transponder capacity. The solution enables the delivery of high speed Internet services on a broadband connection of up to 40 Mbps (megabits per second).

Starling does not expect to commence sales prior to the end of 2005.

Pulsicom Israel Technologies Ltd.

Pulsicom Israel Technologies Ltd. commenced operations in March 2001. It develops high accuracy, real time locating and tracking systems for confined spaces. Such systems can be operated alone or can complement closed-circuit television systems and bar code systems. Pulsicom's technology employs short-pulse technologies, including very-and ultra-wideband and sophisticated position-determination algorithms, and combines high performance with simple installation and affordable prices. Potential applications include logistics, hospitals and retail stores, enhancing efficiency, safety and security. Pulsicom is an early stage development company, which has not yet completed its commercial product development and does not expect to commence generating revenues from product sales before the end of 2005. In order to generate revenues, Pulsicom has commenced selling development services to different customers. Pulsicom has limited resources and its continued operations depend on its ability to raise additional capital. There is no assurance that Pulsicom will be successful in its efforts to raise additional capital.

Cellact Ltd.

Cellact Ltd. is an Israeli developer of cellular messaging technology, based on proprietary technology. Cellact's flagship product, Nimbus, was first commercially released in July 2001. Nimbus provides enterprises wireless solutions for interactive SMS communication with customers, employees and vendors. Cellact's customers are mobile operators and financial institutions.

In 2003, Cellact's revenues were \$1.0 million during 2001 and 2002, Cellact's revenues were not significant.

Cellact has limited resources and its continued operations are largely dependent upon its ability to generate sufficient revenues or raise additional capital to finance its continued operations and there is no assurance that Cellact will be able to do so.

4. Semi-Conductors

Our activities in the field of semi-conductors consist of our holdings in the following companies:

- ChipX Incorporated (formerly Chip Express Corporation), in which we hold approximately 27% of the outstanding shares;
- Oren Semiconductor, Inc., in which we hold approximately 41% of the outstanding shares:
- 3DV Systems Ltd., in which we beneficially own approximately 95% of the outstanding shares representing all shares owned by us and RDC, or approximately 71%, representing our direct holding and our share in the holding of RDC; and
- Semiconductor Engineering Laboratories Ltd. (SELA), in which we beneficially own approximately 49% of the outstanding shares representing all the shares owned by us and RDC, or approximately 25%, representing our share in the holding of RDC.
- Elbit Vision Systems Ltd. (EVS) [OTCBB: EVSNF.OB] in which we hold approximately 16% of the outstanding shares;

ChipX Incorporated

ChipX Incorporated, or ChipX, is a manufacturer of late stage programmable structured ASICs (Application Specific Integrated Circuits). ChipX's innovative, patented technology consolidates wafer manufacture tooling, reduces time-to-market and minimizes the cost of initial production. Headquartered in Santa Clara, California, ChipX was founded in 1989. ChipX's total revenues were \$13.7 million in 2003, \$16.5 million in 2002 and \$29.8 million in 2001. In 2002 and during the first half of 2003, ChipX was affected by the slowdown in the semiconductor industry as a result of which its revenues decreased and losses increased during these periods. In the second half of 2003, ChipX's revenues increased due to the recovery of the semi-conductor industry.

ChipX's Structured ASIC solution specifically addresses applications with low-to-medium production volumes. Along with standard cell ASIC vendors, ChipX primarily addresses the hard-wired ASIC market serving a wide variety of end markets, including automotive, computer, consumer, industrial and communications markets.

ChipX depends upon third-party manufacturers to manufacture its products. ChipX uses a wide range of parts and raw materials in the production of its semi-conductors, including silicon wafers, processing chemicals and electronic and mechanical components.

ChipX generally does not have guaranteed supply arrangements with its suppliers and does not maintain an extensive inventory of parts and materials for manufacturing.

ChipX's patented structured ASIC technology is protected by four core patents on its basic architecture, special logic cell and metal configurable memory. In addition, ChipX has internally developed routing software and metal programmable input/output cells to take advantage of its proprietary technology.

In March 2004, ChipX, raised \$12.0 million in a private placement, in which we invested approximately \$2.6 million. Following the investment, our holding in ChipX decreased from approximately 36% to approximately 27%.

Oren Semiconductor, Inc.

Oren Semiconductor, a privately held Delaware corporation, designs and markets integrated circuits for digital television reception. In particular, Oren designs and markets products that enable reception of rich digital media by consumer appliances, such as digital set-top boxes, digital televisions and personal computers. Oren has developed patented digital signal processing architecture that allows its products to handle the complexities of receiving radio frequency transmissions together with flexibility and programmability. This core technology enables the offering of digital television receiver integrated circuits that combine all the necessary front-end receiver functions to reproduce the digital data transmitted through the air or and by cable with the support of multiple transmission standards. Oren also has a product that eliminates ghosts generated by reflections from buildings, mountains and trees when receiving analog broadcasting using television equipment. Oren's total revenues were \$4.4 million in 2003, \$2.0 million in 2002 and \$2.5 million in 2001.

In July 2003, we invested \$3.0 million in Oren, as part of an aggregate investment of \$8.0 million from existing shareholders and from Zoran Corporation. In addition to this investment, we and other existing shareholders converted all the loans previously granted to Oren, in the amount of approximately \$8.4 million, of which our part was approximately \$4.4 million. Following the investment and the loan conversion, our interest in Oren increased from 17% to approximately 41%.

3DV Systems Ltd.

3DV Systems Ltd. designs and develops three dimensional image sensors chip sets that generate both color and depth information, for each object captured by the camera, in real time. 3DV's business is currently focussed on applications in the medical field.

On February 1, 2004, we and our subsidiary, RDC purchased approximately 47% of the outstanding share capital of 3DV, in which we previously held 48%, from the majority of the other shareholders of 3DV in consideration for an option to receive up to 40% of the share capital of a new company to be established by 3DV, upon the occurrence of certain events as specified in the agreement, for the purpose of developing certain technology separately from the other activities of 3DV. The remaining technology will be used mainly in the development of medical applications. Following the transaction, we and RDC together hold 95% of 3DV.

3DV is a development-stage company without any material revenues and with limited resources at its disposal. If the development of medical applications using 3DV's technology is not successful and no other feasible application is identified, 3DV may cease its operations.

Semiconductor Engineering Laboratories Ltd. (SELA)

SELA develops and manufactures yield enhancing and automation equipment for the semiconductor and optical component industries. SELA is dedicated to the development and marketing of solutions for failure analysis and process monitoring in the semiconductor industry. SELA's automated sample preparation systems are used primarily by semiconductor

manufacturers to prepare samples for scanning electron microscopy and transmission electron microscopy. SELA's revenues amounted to \$4.3 million in 2003, \$3.5 million in 2001 and \$3.5 million in 2001.

Elbit Vision Systems Ltd. (EVS)

Founded in 1992 and headquartered in Yoqneam, Israel, Elbit Vision Systems Ltd., or EVS, designs, develops, manufactures, markets and supports automatic visual inspection and quality monitoring systems for industrial fabrics mainly in the textile industry, for bare wafers (for use in semi-conductors), and for LCD displays. Its systems are designed to increase the accuracy, consistency and speed of the detection of defects in the manufacturing process of fabrics in order to reduce labor costs, improve product quality and increase manufacturing efficiency. EVS currently markets five product lines designed to address the quality monitoring needs of different sectors within the fabric manufacturing industry.

EVS is adapting its core visual interpretation technologies for the microelectronics industry and has recently launched three new products specifically for the inspection of bare wafers manufactured by semi-conductor industry, namely the Mounting Wax Monitoring System for monitoring the uniformity of the mounting wax, the Back Side Inspection System for the optical inspection of wafer surfaces and the Dynamic Roughness Monitoring System for the inline inspection of the roughness of the wafer surface at different stages of the manufacturing process. Additionally, EVS is developing technology for the automated visual inspection of liquid crystal display, or LCD, devices.

EVS' revenues were \$6.3 million in 2003, \$7.2 million in 2002 and \$9.4 million in 2001.

5. Advanced Materials

Our activities in the field of amorphous metals consist of our holding in A.M.T. Advanced Metal Technologies Ltd., or AMT, in which we hold approximately 28% of the outstanding shares on an as converted basis.

A.M.T. Advanced Metal Technologies Ltd.

AMT, while operating through its group companies, develops, markets and licenses technologies for amorphous and nano-crystalline advance materials, as methods and a solution for a wide range of commercial applications. Amorphous materials exhibit magnetic, electrical, mechanical and chemical properties that enable the enhancement of existing products and applications, as well as the introduction of new products and solutions for various industrial and high-tech applications and markets. AMT operates in four fields: heating, sensoring (authentication and anti-shop lifting), micro wires and electronic elements. AMT's current main focus is in the field of heating through A.H.T. Advanced Heating Technology Ltd., or AHT, and in the sensoring field (authentication and anti-shop lifting) through Confirm Technologies, or Confirm (formerly A.C.S. Advanced Coding Systems Ltd.). The continued operations of AMT's group companies are largely dependent upon their ability to generate sufficient revenues or raise additional capital to finance their continued operations.

A.H.T. Advanced Heating Technology Ltd.

AHT, in which AMT holds 72% of the outstanding shares, is engaged in the development and production of heating applications based on amorphous materials. AHT holds a global patent on using amorphous metals for heating products. AHT has developed a variety of innovative heating products for domestic, outdoor, agricultural and pipe heating markets. AHT's heating element enables the heating of very large surface areas at lower temperatures and higher efficiency and therefore at a lower cost and presents competitive advantages over other heating alternatives. AHT currently focuses on two principal markets: under floor heating and outdoor heating.

In 2003, AHT's revenues were \$0.8 million. During 2001 and 2002, AHT's revenues were not significant.

Confirm Technologies Ltd. (formerly A.C.S. Advanced Coding Systems Ltd.).

Confirm, in which AMT holds directly and indirectly 58% of the outstanding shares, develops, markets and sells products using amorphous material for brand protection against counterfeiting and theft and electronic article surveillance tags for anti-shoplifting. Pitkit Printing Enterprises Ltd., an Israeli public company has invested in Confirm through an affiliate and has a strategic relationship with Confirm. Confirm competes in the electronic article surveillance tags, data and authentication tags markets.

In 2003, Confirm's revenues were \$0.5 million. During 2001 and 2002, Confirm's revenues were not significant.

C. Organizational Structure

DIC, an Israeli company, holds approximately 38.5% of our total outstanding shares. For additional information about DIC, please see "Major Shareholders" in Item 7 below. For our holdings in our group companies, please see the discussion in this Item 4 above.

D. Property, plants and equipment

Our corporate headquarters and executive offices are located in Tel-Aviv, Israel. These offices, which measure approximately 980 square meters, are leased at an annual rent, including management fees, of approximately \$0.3 million.

We believe that the above facilities are adequate for our operations as currently conducted. In the event that additional facilities are required, we believe that we could obtain such additional facilities at commercially reasonable prices.

In addition, we have contractual rights to long-term leases in property located in Karmiel, in northern Israel, totaling approximately 15,760 square meters, consisting of building facilities. These premises are currently leased to Elbit Systems. (See "Item 7 – Related Party Transactions".)

Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects

OVERVIEW

We are a multi-national high technology operational holding company that operates through subsidiaries and affiliated companies, referred to as our group companies. Founded in 1962, we have been a major force in the development of the Israeli high technology industry by building Israeli and Israel-related companies with technologies in the fields of medical devices, advanced defense electronics, communications, semiconductors, software products and services and advanced materials. Historically, most of our group companies were established together with entrepreneurs or started as activities within Elron and were subsequently spun-off. In addition, some of our group companies grew out of our subsidiary, RDC, a joint venture with Rafael, the largest research and development organization of Israel's Ministry of Defense. RDC was established for the purposes of exploiting Rafael's technology in non-military markets. Our group companies include both publicly traded and privately held companies.

Technology industries are characterized by the high degree of risk inherent in their products, their continuous technological innovation and their penetration into world markets, which requires investment of considerable resources and continuous development efforts. The future success of our group companies is dependent upon their technological quality, prices and nature of their products in comparison to their competitors and their ability to introduce new products to the markets at the right time, while offering cost effective solutions suitable to their customers' needs as well as their ability to raise financing and the condition of the capital markets.

Our activities range from complete operational control over the business to involvement in the management of our group companies in which we maintain controlling or significant holdings, and, in a limited number of cases, minority holdings. We participate in the management of most of our group companies by means of active membership on their boards of directors and board committees. As a result, we are involved in matters of policy, strategic planning, marketing, selecting and manning senior management positions, approving investments and budgets, financing and the overall ongoing monitoring of our group companies' performance. In addition to our representation on the boards of directors of our group companies, we provide hands-on assistance to the group companies' management in support of their growth. We view our hands-on involvement in the operations of our group companies as a key element of our business. Our group companies therefore benefit from the experience of our management team in various areas in which they need support and leadership, including, but not limited to, budgetary control, legal support, market analysis, risk management, identifying joint venture opportunities, introductions to potential customers and investors, business plan preparation, strategic planning and research and development guidance.

We expect to continue to build and realize value for our shareholders through the sale of a portion or all of our holdings in, or the issuance of shares by any of our group companies to third parties, while simultaneously pursuing the acquisition of, or investment in, new and existing companies and building our group companies. We believe that this strategy provides the ability to increase shareholder value as well as capital to support the growth of our group companies.

Our net income (or loss) in any given period is due, in the most part, to the results of operations of our group companies (which are accounted by us under the consolidation or equity method of accounting) and dispositions and changes in our holdings of group companies. As most of our group companies are technology companies which have not yet generated significant revenues and which invest considerable resources in research and development and in marketing activities, we have experienced, and expect to continue to experience, losses in respect of these companies. Our capital resources in any given period are primarily affected by the extent of our investment in existing and new companies and the realization of certain holdings. The results of operations of our group companies, and consequently, our results of operations and capital resources, are affected by general economic market conditions as well as by factors specifically related to the technology markets, which also affect the ability of our group companies to raise financing and our ability to dispose of holdings and realize gains from our investments.

TREND INFORMATION

The downturn in the world economy and, in particular, in the technology sector during the last three years affected our and our group companies' results of operations and their ability to raise additional financing from other sources and led us to re-examine our group company structure at all levels. As a result, our main focus was on the following: (i) supporting the financing needs of our existing companies while investing to a lesser extent in new companies; (ii) adjusting group companies operations and minimizing their cash burn-rate without adversely affecting their core activities and potential growth; (iii) divesting from other companies in our group not operating in our main areas of involvement or with limited value; and (iv) merging Elbit and DEP into Elron in order to create a more simplified and efficient organizational structure as well as to reduce operational and management costs. Market conditions also affected our ability to successfully "exit" some of our group companies and record capital gains at the same level that we experienced in the years prior to the downturn.

In the second half of 2003, there were initial indications of recovery in the technology sector and capital markets. This trend was reflected in the improvement in the results of operations of most of our group companies as well as the raising of funds from new strategic investors in private placements completed by some of our group companies, namely Wavion and Oren Semiconductor in the second half of 2003 and ChipX in the beginning of 2004. In addition, we recorded gains as a result of the merger of the urology therapy units of our subsidiary Galil Medical with the brachytherapy business of Amersham, the sale of assets and business of our subsidiary ESW to Zix and from the sale of a portion of our shares in Partner.

We believe, based on published analyst and research group reports, that the recovery trend of the technology sector will continue in 2004, and we anticipate this to have a positive effect on our group companies. We also anticipate increasing our investments in new companies in our main areas of operation.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

We prepare our consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States ("US GAAP"). Our significant accounting policies are more fully described in Note 2 to the notes to our consolidated financial statements appearing in Item 18. Certain accounting principles require us to make certain estimates, judgments and assumptions. We believe that the estimates, judgments and assumptions upon which we rely are

reasonable based upon information available to us at the time that these estimates, judgments and assumptions are made. These estimates, judgments and assumptions can affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial statements, as well as the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the periods presented. To the extent there are material differences between these estimates, judgments or assumptions and actual results, our financial statements will be affected. The significant accounting policies that we believe are the most critical to aid in fully understanding and evaluating our reported financial results include the following:

- Principles of accounting for holdings in group companies
- Business combinations
- Impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets
- Other-than-temporary decline in value of investments in group companies
- Revenue recognition
- Accounting for income taxes
- Non-monetary transactions

Principles of Accounting for Holdings in Group Companies

The various holdings that we have in our group companies are accounted for under several methods, based on our level of ownership in our group companies, as described below.

Consolidation. Companies over which we have control are accounted for under the consolidation method of accounting. Control is usually assumed when we own and/or our subsidiary owns more than 50% of the outstanding voting securities of a company, however, whether or not we control a group company also depends on an evaluation of several factors, including, among others, our representation on the board of directors, the level of financing provided by us to the group company and any minority rights. Under the consolidation method, a company's assets and liabilities are included within our consolidated balance sheet and its income and expense items are included within our consolidated statements of operations. The share of other shareholders in the net assets and in the net income or losses of a consolidated company is reflected in minority interest in our consolidated balance sheet and in our consolidated statements of operations, respectively. The minority interest amount adjusts our consolidated net income (loss) to reflect only our share in the earnings or losses of any consolidated company.

Notwithstanding the above, Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") Interpretation No. 46 ("FIN 46" or the "Interpretation") (as revised in December 2003), "Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an interpretation of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51", which is further discussed below, provides additional conditions under which a company is required to consolidate another entity.

Equity Method. Group companies which we do not control, but over whom we exercisesignificant influence, are accounted for under the equity method of accounting. Significant influence is usually assumed when we hold 20% or more of a group company's voting securities, however, whether or not we exercise significant influence with respect to a group company also depends on an evaluation of several factors, including, among others, our

representation on the board of directors, agreements with other shareholders, our participation in policy making processes, the existence of material intercompany transactions and technological dependency, the extent of ownership by an investor in relation to the concentration of other shareholdings, and other factors which may require management to make certain judgmental decisions regarding significant influence. We also account for our interests in private equity funds under the equity method of accounting, based on our holding percentage. Under the equity method of accounting, a group company's assets and liabilities are not included within our consolidated balance sheet and their results of operations are not reflected within our consolidated statements of operations; however, our share in the net income or losses of the group company is reflected as an equity income (loss) in our consolidated statements of operations. The share of income or losses is generally based upon our ownership level of the outstanding share capital of the group company. Notwithstanding the above, in circumstances where our ownership in an investee is in the form of a preferred security or other senior security, we recognize equity method losses based on our ownership level in the particular investee security or loan held by us to which the equity method losses are being applied.

Other Methods. Other companies that we do not account for under either the consolidation or the equity method of accounting are generally accounted for under three different methods:

- Non-marketable securities are presented at cost. Under this method, our share in the
 income or losses of these entities is not included in our consolidated statements of
 operations.
- Marketable securities, which are classified as trading securities, are presented at fair market value and the changes in the market value are reflected in our results of operations during each reporting period.
- Marketable securities which are classified as available-for-sale are presented at fair market value and the effect of any unrealized change in market value is reflected in other comprehensive income (loss). When realized, realized gain or loss is included in our results of operations.

Notwithstanding the above, FIN 46 provides additional criteria for consolidation of entities and a new framework for identifying variable interest entities (VIEs) and determining when a company should include the assets, liabilities, noncontrolling interests and results of activities of a VIE in its consolidated financial statements.

In general, a VIE is a corporation, partnership, limited liability corporation, trust or any other legal structure used to conduct activities or hold assets that either (1) has an insufficient amount of equity to carry out its principal activities without additional subordinated financial support, (2) has a group of equity owners that are unable to make significant decisions about its activities, or (3) has a group of equity owners that do not have the obligation to absorb the losses or the right to receive returns generated by its operations. FIN 46 provides several exceptions to its scope, such as that an entity that is deemed to be a business need not to be evaluated to determine if it is a VIE unless one of the conditions specified in the Interpretation exists.

FIN 46 requires a VIE to be consolidated by the party with an ownership, contractual or other financial interest in the VIE (a variable interest holder) that will absorb a majority of the risk of loss from the VIE's activities, is entitled to receive a majority of the VIE's residual returns (if no party absorbs a majority of the VIE's losses) or both. A variable interest holder that

consolidates the VIE is called the primary beneficiary. Upon consolidation, the Primary Beneficiary generally must initially record all of the VIE's assets, liabilities and noncontrolling interests at fair value and subsequently account for the VIE as if it were consolidated based on a majority voting interest. FIN 46 also requires disclosures about VIEs that the variable interest holder is not required to consolidate but in which it has a significant variable interest.

FIN 46 was effective immediately for VIEs created after January 31, 2003. For VIEs created before January 31, 2003, the provisions of FIN 46, as revised, were adopted as of March 31, 2004.

As an operational holding company, we have investments in and loans to various companies that are engaged primarily in the fields of high technology. Some of these companies are in their early stages of development and will require substantial external investments until they can finance their activities without additional support from other parties and may be considered variable interests. These companies are currently primarily funded with financing from venture capital funds, other holding companies and private investors.

Towards the end of 2003, RDC and Elbit Systems, an affiliated company, formed Starling Advanced Communications Ltd. ("Starling") in order to develop connectivity solutions for broadband access for commercial aircraft. Both RDC and Elbit Systems contributed technologies in exchange for a 50% ownership interest each in Starling. In addition, as of May 31, 2004, RDC and Elbit Systems granted Starling convertible loans in the amount of \$300 thousand each. Upon the adoption of FIN 46 in 2004, we consolidated Starling as it was determined to be a VIE, and we are its primary beneficiary.

In August 2002, Elron completed an investment of approximately \$5.0 million in AMT as part of an aggregate investment of \$8.7 million. AMT develops, markets and licenses technologies, through its group companies, for amorphous and nano-crystalline advanced materials, for a wide range of commercial applications. Currently, AMT is focusing on two of its group companies, namely AHT, which uses amorphous metals for heating products, and Confirm, which develops, markets and sells products using amorphous metals for brand protection against counterfeiting and diversion and anti-shoplifting electronic article surveillance. The investment was in the form of notes which are convertible into preferred shares of AMT or into shares held by AMT in certain of its subsidiaries. In addition, we are entitled to the rights attached to the convertible notes on an "as converted" basis as a shareholder of AMT and have special voting rights in certain specified circumstances. Our interest in AMT on a diluted basis and on an "as converted" basis (excluding loans) amounts to 28%. During the period from December 2002 until May 31, 2004, we granted AMT and its subsidiary convertible loans in the amount of approximately \$2.2 million. AMT is considered to be a VIE, however as we are not the primary beneficiary of AMT, we did not consolidate AMT. As of March 31, 2004, our maximum exposure to loss as a result of our involvement in AMT does not exceed our investment in AMT in the amount of approximately \$3.8 million.

Under FIN 46, certain events can require a reassessment of our investment in our group companies to determine if they are variable interests and which of the variable interest owners is the primary beneficiary. As a result of such events, we may be required to make additional disclosures or consolidate these entities

Business combinations

According to SFAS 141, "Business Combination", commencing on July 1, 2001, all business combinations are accounted for using the purchase method of accounting. Under the purchase method, the total purchase price is allocated to the acquired company's assets and liabilities, based on their estimated fair values, and the remainder, if any, is attributed to goodwill.

The aggregate purchase price of approximately \$74.0 million resulting from the merger with Elbit, that took place in 2002, has been allocated to Elbit's assets based on their estimated fair value according to an analysis made by an independent appraiser. Of the total purchase price, \$55.0 million has been allocated to Elbit's identifiable net assets and the remaining \$19.0 million has been allocated to goodwill. The goodwill recorded reflects the anticipated synergies resulted from the combined entity, including anticipated reductions in operational and management costs, the creation of an enhanced platform, a more simplified and efficient organizational structure and greater resources and scope of operations, which will benefit the group companies. Subsequently to the acquisition date and through December 31, 2003, goodwill was reduced by \$14.3 million, as a result of the reversal of a valuation allowance recorded at the acquisition date in respect of Elbit's carryforward losses that had accumulated through that date.

The aggregate purchase price of approximately \$29.5 million resulting from the share purchase of DEP's shares, that took place in 2002, has been allocated to the assets and liabilities of DEP and its subsidiary, RDC, the majority of which has been allocated to investments accounted for under the equity method. The allocation to DEP's assets was based on an analysis made by an independent appraiser. Aggregate amounts of \$16.5 million and \$6.5 million were allocated to identifiable net intangible assets and goodwill of the equity investments, respectively. The amortization of the identifiable intangible assets is included as part of our share in the net losses of equity investments.

Estimating the fair value of certain assets acquired and liabilities assumed is judgmental in nature and often involves the use of significant estimates and assumptions, mainly with respect to intangible assets. As mentioned above, we obtained appraisals from an independent appraiser in order to assist us in this process. While there were a number of different methods used in estimating the value of intangibles acquired, the primary method used was the discounted cash flow approach. Some of the more significant estimates and assumptions inherent in the discounted cash flow approach include projected future cash flows, including timing, a discount rate reflecting the risk inherent in the future cash flows and terminal growth rate. Another area which required judgment which can impact our result of operations was estimating the expected useful lives of the intangible assets. To the extent intangible assets are ascribed with longer useful lives, there may be less amortization recorded in any given period. As we and our group companies operate in industries which are rapidly evolving and extremely competitive, the value of the intangible assets, including goodwill, their respective useful lives and the investments in companies is exposed to future adverse changes which can result in a charge to our results of operations. In 2002 and 2003, we recorded impairment losses in respect of certain investments, to which we allocated a portion of the purchase price at the time of the aforementioned acquisitions, in the amounts of \$4.5 million and \$2.5 million, respectively (See also "Critical Accounting Policies", "Other-Than-Temporary Decline in Investments in Group Companies").

Impairment of Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

In accordance with SFAS 142, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets", commencing on January 1, 2002, goodwill is no longer being amortized. In lieu of amortization, an annual impairment review of the goodwill is required at the level of each reporting unit. SFAS 142 prescribes a two-phase process for impairment testing of goodwill. The first phase screens for impairment while the second phase (if necessary) measures the impairment. We performed the first phase impairment analysis and found no instances of impairment of our recorded goodwill. Accordingly the second phase was not necessary during 2003. The first phase impairment analysis is performed by estimating the fair value of each reporting unit and comparing it to its reported carrying amount. Determining fair value under the first phase involves the use of significant estimates and assumptions. These estimates and assumptions could have an impact on whether or not an impairment charge is recognized. To determine fair value, we have used a number of valuation methods including quoted market prices, discounted cash flows and revenue multiples. In certain cases we obtained an opinion from an independent appraiser. As mentioned above, these approaches use estimates and assumptions including projected future cash flows, discount rate and terminal growth rate. Using different assumptions could result in different results. As we operate in industries which are rapidly evolving and extremely competitive, it is possible that our estimates could change in the near term and there can be no assurance that future goodwill impairment tests will not result in a charge to our results of operations. At December 31, 2003, goodwill amounted to approximately \$12.0 million.

Other intangible assets with definite useful lives are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable in accordance with the guidance of SFAS 144 "Accounting For The Impairment Or isposal Of Long-Lived Assets". Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to the future undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If an asset is considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its fair value. In the evaluation of impairment, we use significant estimates and assumptions such as projected future cash flows which are subject to high degree of judgment. As of December 31, 2003 we found no instances of impairment of other intangible assets. As we operate in industries which are rapidly evolving and extremely competitive, changes in the assumptions and estimates may affect the carrying value of the intangible assets, and could result in impairment charge to our results of operations. At December 31, 2003, consolidated intangible assets, other than goodwill, amounted to approximately \$10.0 million.

Other-Than-Temporary Decline in value of Investments in Group Companies

At the end of each reported period, we must evaluate whether an other-than-temporary decline in value of an investment in a group company has been sustained. This evaluation is judgmental in nature. If it has been determined that an investment has sustained an other-than-temporary decline in its value, the investment is written down to its fair value by a charge to our results of operations.

An evaluation of fair value is dependent upon specific facts and circumstances. Factors that are considered by us in this determination include financial information (including, among others, budgets, business plans and financial statements) and the value at which independent third parties have invested or have committed to invest and independent appraisals, if available.

Factors indicative of an other-than-temporary decline include recurring operating losses, credit defaults, and subsequent rounds of financing at an amount below the cost basis of the investment. This list is not all inclusive and we weigh all quantitative and qualitative factors in determining if an other-than-temporary decline in value of an investment has occurred. As we operate in industries which are rapidly evolving and extremely competitive, it is possible that our estimates could change in the near term and there can be no assurance that an additional write-down or write-off of the carrying value will not be required in the future. In 2002 and 2003 we recorded write-downs in the amounts of \$4.5 million and \$4.2 million, respectively, with respect to certain group companies, mainly Cellenium and Textology.

Revenue Recognition

Our revenues are derived from our consolidated subsidiaries. Revenues from sales of products and services are recognized after all of the following occurs: the product is delivered, collection is probable, fees are fixed or determinable, vendor-specific objective evidence exists to allocate the total fee to elements of an arrangement and persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists. The determination whether collection is probable is judgmental in nature and based on a variety of factors, including the payment and other terms of the individual customer contract, credit history of the customer, prior dealings with specific customers, and certain other factors. Maintenance revenue is recognized on a straight-line over the term of the contract period. Reserves for estimated returns and allowances are provided at the time revenue is recognized when a right of return exists. Such reserves are recorded based upon historical rates of returns and other factors.

Income and profit derived from projects related to software development are recognized upon the percentage of completion method, based on the ratio of hours performed to date to estimated total hours at completion. Estimated gross profit or loss may change due to changes in estimates resulting from differences between actual performance and original forecasts. Estimates are reviewed periodically, and the effect of any change in the estimated gross profit for a project is recorded in results of operations in the period in which the change becomes known on a cumulative catch-up basis. Anticipated losses on projects are charged to earnings when identified. A number of internal and external factors affect our subsidiaries cost estimates, including labor rates, revised estimates of uncompleted work, efficiency variances, customer's specifications and testing requirements changes. If any of these factors were to change, or if different assumptions are used, our results of operations may be affected. In addition estimates are made as to the total hours at completion. The number of hours may change due to the actual progress on the project. Change in estimates regarding the percentage of completion may affect the results of operations.

Accounting for Income Taxes

At the end of each reported period, we are required to estimate our income taxes. This process requires us to estimate our actual current tax liabilities and make an assessment of temporary differences resulting from differing treatment of items, for tax and accounting purposes. These differences result in deferred tax assets and liabilities, which are included within our consolidated balance sheet. We must then assess the likelihood that our deferred tax assets will be realized through future taxable income and, to the extent we believe that realization is not likely, we must establish a valuation allowance. Management judgment is required in determining our provision for income taxes, our deferred tax assets and liabilities and any

valuation allowance recorded against our net deferred tax assets. Our judgment as to the probability to realize our net deferred tax assets is largely based upon interpretations of certain tax laws and estimates and assumptions with respect to our ability to realize investments in our group companies. Our ability to realize investments is mainly dependent upon factors such as the condition of the securities markets and other general economic conditions. As the securities markets for our group companies are highly volatile, changes in our assumptions and estimates may require us to increase the valuation allowance and therefore we may be required to include an expense within the tax provision in our statement of operations.

In 2002 and 2003, we recorded a deferred tax asset in the amount \$10.0 million and \$12.7 million, respectively, mainly by reducing our previous valuation allowance in respect of losses incurred in prior periods. As mentioned above (see "Business combinations"), the majority of the reduction in the valuation allowance was recorded as a reduction of goodwill since the deferred tax assets related to carryforward losses in Elbit and RDC incurred in periods prior to the acquisition of these companies. During 2003, we recorded tax expenses by realizing our deferred taxes mainly due to the sale of shares of Partner, Given Imaging, Zix and 24/7 Real Media. As of December 31, 2003, deferred tax assets with respect to carryforward losses that are more likely than not to be realized in future years amounted to approximately \$8.9 million. Deferred tax liabilities amounted, as of December 31, 2003, to \$47.7 million, mainly with respect to investment in available-for-sale securities, primarily Partner.

Non-Monetary Transactions

The basic principle in APB 29 "Accounting for Non-monetary Transactions" is that the accounting for non-monetary transactions should be based on the fair values of the assets exchanged. The cost of a non-monetary asset acquired in exchange for another non-monetary asset is the fair value of the asset received or the fair value of the asset surrendered to obtain it (if more clearly evident than the asset received). However, in an exchange of similar productive assets, since the culmination of an earning process has not occurred, the exchange should not be recorded at fair value and the asset received should be recorded at the recorded amount of the assets given up. According to EITF 01-2, "Interpretations of APB Opinion No. 29", transactions by SEC registrants that involve the exchange of a business for any non-monetary asset, including an equity method investment that is not an interest in a joint venture, are not exchanges of productive assets and must be accounted for at fair value unless fair value is not determinable within reasonable limits. In determining whether a non-monetary transaction involved receipt of productive assets or of a business" should be followed.

Determining whether the assets transferred constitute a business requires significant judgment and is dependent on the particular facts and circumstances, mainly regarding the determination of the degree of difficulty or level of investment necessary to obtain access or to acquire missing elements in the set of assets transferred. In addition, determining the fair value of the transaction is judgmental in nature and often involves the use of significant estimates and assumptions. In determining the fair value of the business transferred by Galil Medical to Oncura, Oncura obtained appraisals from an independent appraiser in order to assist in the valuation of its assets. The method applied in the valuation study was discounted cash flow, which includes significant estimates and assumptions. As Oncura operates in an industry which is rapidly evolving and extremely competitive, its value, as well as the value of its intangible assets, including goodwill, can be exposed to future adverse changes which can result in a charge to its, and in turn, to our

results of operations. In determining the fair value of the business sold by ESW, we valued the consideration received in the form of Zix common stock at \$5.4 million, a discount from market value of approximately 10% due to the restrictions on their sale. Such valuation is judgmental in nature and involved the use of estimates and assumptions.

A. Operating Results

Basis of Presentation

As a result of the merger with Elbit and the share purchase of DEP which were completed in May 2002, Elbit and DEP became wholly owned subsidiaries, and accordingly, their results of operations are consolidated within our results of operations subsequent to the acquisition date. In addition, in the second half of 2002, we acquired a controlling interest in both Galil Medical and MediaGate, following which their results of operations are consolidated within our results of operations subsequent to the acquisition date.

As a result of the purchase of DEP in 2002, our interest in Given Imaging, Galil Medical, Witcom and 3DV Systems, in which we had direct and indirect interests through RDC, increased. In 2003, our interest in Oren Semiconductor increased as a result of a financing round in which we also invested as well as the conversion of our loans granted to Oren in previous periods. In accordance with APB 18, an investee that was previously accounted for other than under the equity method of accounting may become qualified for use of the equity method of accounting by an increase in the level of ownership. In such cases, the results of operations and retained earnings should be adjusted retroactively under the equity method of accounting ("step-by-step acquisition"). Accordingly, in 2003, we have restated our financial statements for all prior periods in which our investment in Oren Semiconductor was recorded at cost. The aforementioned restatements resulted in an aggregate increase in our net loss of approximately \$2.3 million, or \$0.08 per share, and approximately \$1.5 million, or \$0.07 per share, for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

For comparison purposes, we have provided pro forma information in accordance with SFAS 141, which gives effect to the merger with Elbit, the share purchase of DEP and the acquisition of a controlling interest in Galil Medical and in MediaGate as if these transactions had been in effect at January 1, 2002 (see Note 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2003 under Item 18 of this Report-Financial Statements).

Consolidation. Our consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Elron and all of our direct or indirect controlled subsidiaries. The following are our main subsidiaries:

Year ended December 31,			
2003	2002	2001	
ESW	ESW	ESW	
Elron TeleSoft	Elron TeleSoft	Elron TeleSoft	
Elbit	Elbit ¹		
DEP	DEP^1		
RDC	RDC^1		
Galil Medical	Galil Medical ²		
MediaGate	MediaGate ²		

Since May 2002, following the completion of the Elbit merger and DEP share purchase

² Since July 2002

Equity Method. Our main group companies accounted for under the equity method of accounting included:

Year ended December 31,

	2003	2	2002		2001
Elbit Systems	Witcom	Elbit Systems	AMT^4	Elbit Systems	Given Imaging
Netvision	3DV	Elbit ¹	Given Imaging	Elbit	Galil Medical
ChipX	Cellact	NetVision	Galil Medical ²	NetVision	Witcom
Wavion KIT	AMT Notal Vision ⁶	MediaGate ² ChipX DEP ¹	Oren Semiconductor ³ Witcom 3DV	ChipX DEP Wavion	Pulsicom 3DV
Pulsicom	Oren Semiconductor ³	Wavion	Cellenium ⁵	KIT	Oren Semiconductor ³
Given Imaging	Oncura	KIT Pulsicom	CellAct	MediaGate	

- Through May 2002, prior to the completion of the Elbit merger and DEP share purchase
- ² Through July 2002
- Restated (see Note 7(d)(7) in the Consolidated Financial Statements under Item 18)
- ⁴ Since August 2002
- ⁵ Through November 2002
- ⁶ Since January 2003
- ⁷ Since July 2003

Year Ended December 31, 2003 compared to Year Ended December 31, 2002

The following tables set forth our results of operations in the reported period:

	Year ended December 31,		
	2003	2002	
	(millions of \$, except per share data)		
Net loss	(7.2)	*(41.6)	
Net loss per share	(0.25)	*(1.58)	

^{*} Restated (see Note 7(d)(7) in the Consolidated Financial Statements under Item 18).

Our net loss in 2003 decreased significantly as compared to the net loss in 2002 mainly as a result of the following factors:

- (i) a gain, net after tax, of approximately \$7.1 million, resulting from the sale of 6,278,226 Partner shares in 2003;
- (ii) our share in the gain resulting from the merger in 2003 of the urology therapy units of Galil Medical and Amersham in the amount of approximately \$4.4 million;
- (iii) a gain of approximately \$4.1 million resulting from the sale of substantially all of ESW assets and business to Zix in 2003 in consideration for 1,709,402 Zix shares and a \$1.0 million convertible note and a gain, net after tax, of approximately \$3.2 million resulting

- from the subsequent sale of 1,117,155 Zix shares, including 262,454 shares resulting from the conversion of the note; and
- (iv) a decrease, net, of approximately \$19.7 million in losses recorded with respect to our group companies, of which \$12.7 million was due to a decrease in losses with respect to certain group companies which were sold or discontinued their operations in the second half of 2002 as part of the reorganization of Elron, Elbit, and DEP group companies following the completion of our merger. The reminder of the decrease reflects the improvements in the results of operation of most of our group companies, mainly Given Imaging as a result of its revenue growth, and the decrease in the net losses of ESW (which business was sold on September 2, 2003) and Elron TeleSoft, as a result of restructuring and cost reduction programs undertaken by them.

Pro forma results. Pro forma net loss for 2002, as restated, which gives effect to the merger with Elbit, the share purchase of DEP and the acquisition of a controlling interest in Galil Medical and in MediaGate as if these transactions had been in effect at January 1, 2002, amounted to approximately \$54.6 million, or \$1.88 per share, compared to the net loss in 2003 of approximately \$7.2 million, or \$0.25 per share. The following factors contributed to the significant decrease in net loss:

- (i) An increase in gains we recorded with respect to realization of investments by way of selling shares in the open market and by way of merger and acquisition transactions as mentioned above:
- (ii) the decrease, net, in losses with respect to our group companies in the amount of \$30.6 million, of which \$20.9 million was due to a decrease in losses with respect to certain group companies which were sold or discontinued their operations in the second half of 2002 as part of the reorganization of Elron, Elbit, and DEP group companies following the completion of our merger;
- (iii) non-recurring merger expenses in the amount of \$3.6 million which are reflected in the proforma net loss in 2002; and
- (iv) the corporate operating expenses in 2003 were lower by \$0.9 million than the pro-forma corporate operating expenses in 2002.

Reportable Segments

Subsequent to the sale of ESW on September 2, 2003 our reportable segments are i) The Systems and Projects Segment - Elron TeleSoft; and ii) Other holdings and the corporate operations, which includes our holdings in subsidiaries, affiliates and other companies, engaged in various fields of advanced technology, and corporate operations, which provide the strategic and operational support to the group companies. Prior to September 2, 2003, we operated indirectly through ESW in a third business segment – Internet Products – which has been reclassified as discontinued operations.

At December 31, 2003, the main group companies were classified into the following segments:

	Internet products (Discontinued operations)	Systems and projects	Other holdings and corporate operations
Consolidated	ESW	Elron TeleSoft	Elbit; DEP; RDC; Galil Medical; MediaGate
Equity basis			Elbit Systems; NetVision; ChipX; Wavion; KIT; Pulsicom; Given Imaging; Witcom; 3DV; CellAct; AMT, Notal Vision; Oren Semiconductor; Oncura
Marketable securities presented as available-for- sale			Partner; Elbit Vision System; Zix

Other

The following tables reflect our consolidated data by reported segments:

	Internet products - Elron SW (Discontinued operations)	Systems and projects - Elron TeleSoft	holdings and corporate operations	Consolidated
		(million		
		Year ended Dece	ember 31, 2003	
Income**	=	7.4	40.9	48.3
Costs and Expenses	=	9.5	28.0	37.5
Loss from continuing operations	-	(2.1)	(4.8)	(6.9)
Income (loss) from discontinued				
operations	(0.7)	-	0.5	0.2
Net loss	(0.7)	(2.1)	(4.4)	(7.2)
		Year ended Dece	ember 31, 2002	
Income**	-	10.1	(13.0)*	(2.9)*
Costs and Expenses	-	15.9	17.1	33.0
Loss from continuing operations	-	(5.9)	(24.3)*	(30.2)*
Loss from discontinued operations	(8.6)	-	(2.8)	(11.4)
Net loss	(8.6)	(5.9)	(27.1)*	(41.6)*

^{*} Restated (see Note 7(d)(7) in the Consolidated Financial Statements under Item 18).

^{**} Income in the Other holdings and corporate operations includes net losses from equity investments

Internet Products - Elron SW ("ESW") - Discontinued operations

ESW, which was focused on web access control and e-mail content filtering for organizations, sold substantially all of its assets and business to Zix, and accordingly, its current period results of operations and the gain on the sale have been classified as discontinued operations and prior periods have been reclassified respectively.

The following table sets forth the composition of the discontinued operating of ESW:

_	Year ended December 31,		
	2003 2002		
_	(millions of \$)		
Gain (loss) from discontinued operations:			
Loss from operations	(4.8)	(8.6)	
Gain on disposal	<u>4.1</u>	<u>=</u>	
Loss from discontinued operations	<u>(0.7)</u>	<u>(8.6)</u>	

The decrease in loss from operations in the reported period was primarily due to a decrease in operating expenses as a result of restructuring and cost reduction programs implemented by ESW at the end of 2002 and at the beginning of 2003.

Systems and Projects - Elron TeleSoft

Elron TeleSoft is focused on telecommunications network management and revenue assurance products. The following table sets forth the operating results of Elron TeleSoft:

_	Year ended December 31,	
	2003 2002	
	(millions of \$)	
Net revenues	7.4	10.1
Cost of revenues	<u>4.6</u>	<u>8.0</u>
Gross profit	2.8	2.1
Operating expenses*	2.6	4.3
Amortization of other assets	0.8	0.8
Restructuring charges, net	<u>=</u>	<u>1.3</u>
Operating loss	(0.6)	(4.3)
Finance expenses, net	1.5	1.5
Tax on income	<u>-</u>	<u>0.1</u>
Net loss.	(2.1)	<u>(5.9)</u>

^{*} Excluding amortization of other assets and restructuring charges, net, which are presented separately.

Net Revenues. Elron TeleSoft's net revenues in 2003 decreased by \$2.7 million, or 27%, to \$7.4 million, compared to \$10.1 million in 2002, mainly as a result of the decrease in revenues derived from sale of third parties' products. The ability of Elron TeleSoft to increase its revenues in the near future is dependent upon general economic conditions and, in particular, on an

increase in telecom capital expenditure, its ability to penetrate the international market and whether its efforts to bring enhanced and new products to market are successful.

Cost of revenues. Cost of revenues of Elron TeleSoft in 2003 were \$4.6 million, representing a gross margin of 38%, compared to \$8.0 million in 2002, representing a gross margin of 21%. The increase in gross margins in 2003 is mainly due to change in revenue mix as revenues derived from Elron TeleSoft's products with higher gross margins increased relative to revenues derived from sale of third parties' products, as well as due to increased efficiency as a result of the restructuring programs implemented by Elron TeleSoft.

Operating loss. Elron TeleSoft's operating loss decreased by \$3.7 million, or 86%, to \$0.6 million in 2003, compared to \$4.3 million in 2002. The decrease in operating loss, notwithstanding the decrease in revenues, was primarily due to the higher gross margin as well as the decrease in operating expenses as a result of restructuring and cost reduction programs implemented by Elron TeleSoft which enabled Elron TeleSoft to adjust its operating expenses to the decreased revenue levels.

Other Holdings and Corporate Operations Segment

The other holdings and corporate operations segment includes our holdings in subsidiaries, affiliates and other companies engaged in various fields of advanced technology, and corporate operations which provide strategic and operational support to the group companies. The following table sets forth this segment's operating results:

	Year ended December 31,	
	2003 2002	
	(millions of \$)	
Net revenues	9.2	5.1
Net loss from equity investments	(8.7)	*(24.2)
Gain from disposals of businesses and affiliated companies and		
changes in holdings in affiliated companies, net	25.8	6.9
Other income (expenses), net	<u>14.6</u>	(0.8)
Total income	40.9	*(13.0)
Cost of revenues	5.6	2.7
Operating expenses**	22.9	15.3
Amortization of other assets	0.3	0.2
Restructuring charges, net	-	0.4
Finance income, net	<u>(0.8)</u>	(1.5)
Total costs and expenses	<u>28.0</u>	<u>17.1</u>
Income (loss) from continuing operations before		
tax benefit (taxes on income)	12.9	*(30.1)
Tax benefit (taxes on income)	(6.8)	3.0
Minority interest	<u>(10.9)</u>	<u>2.8</u>
Loss from continuing operations	(4.8)	*(24.3)
Gain (loss) from discontinued operations	<u>0.4</u>	(2.8)
Net loss	<u>(4.4)</u>	*(27.1)

^{*} Restated (see Note 7(d)(7) in the Consolidated Financial Statements under Item 18).

^{**} Excluding amortization of other assets and restructuring charges, net, which are presented separately.

Income

Net revenues. Net revenues of the other holdings and corporate operations segment consisted of sales of products and services by our subsidiaries, Galil Medical and MediaGate, which were consolidated for the first time in the second half of 2002. The following table sets forth the segment revenues:

	Year ended December 31,		
	2003	2002	
	(millions of \$)		
Galil Medical*	7.6	3.0	
MediaGate*	1.5	2.1	
Other	<u>0.1</u>	<u>=</u>	
	<u>9.2</u>	<u>5.1</u>	

* Through June 30, 2002 the results of these companies were presented under the equity method.

Galil Medical recorded revenues of \$7.6 million in 2003 compared to \$5.0 million in 2002. The increase in revenues was mainly due to the growing awareness and acceptance of the cryotherapy technology by physicians and patients as an effective treatment for prostate cancer. Following the merger of the urology therapy units of Galil Medical and Amersham, Galil Medical's revenues derived mainly from supplying of cryo products and R&D services to Oncura, in which it has a 25% ownership interest.

MediaGate's revenues from selling advanced messaging systems decreased to approximately \$1.5 million in 2003 compared to \$2.6 million in 2002 as a result of the slow adoption of advanced messaging technology by telecommunications operators as well as by the competition from more established companies in the market with larger resources, which led MediaGate to sell its technology and related intellectual property assets to Telrad at the end of 2003.

Share in net losses of affiliated companies

Our share in net losses of affiliated companies resulted from our holdings in certain investments that are accounted for under the equity method (see above under "Basis of Presentation"). The share in net losses of affiliated companies amounted to \$8.7 million in 2003 compared to \$24.2 million in 2002 (as restated).

The decrease in our share in net losses of our affiliated companies in 2003, compared to 2002, resulted mainly from the following:

(i) Following the completion of the merger between Elron, Elbit and DEP, and subsequent to the acquisition of a controlling interest in MediaGate and in Galil Medical, we consolidated these companies' results of operations into our results of operations and ceased accounting for them under the equity method of accounting. Equity losses recorded in 2002 with respect to these companies for the period in which they were not consolidated amounted to \$12.8 million.

(ii) The decrease in losses we recorded with respect to affiliated companies which were sold in the amount of \$4.2 million and the decrease in our share in net losses of group companies whose results improved, mainly Given Imaging and Oren Semiconductor, in the amount of \$1.5 million.

The above decrease was partially offset by a \$2.6 million increase in our share in the losses of new group companies which are accounted under the equity method, mainly AMT, Notal Vision and Oncura.

Highlights of the Results of Operations of Our Major Affiliates: (All percentages of holdings are shown as of December 31, 2003)

Elbit Systems Ltd. (*Nasdaq: ESLT*) (a 20% holding). Elbit Systems develops, manufactures and integrates advanced high-performance defense electronic systems. Our share in the net income of Elbit Systems amounted to \$9.1 million in 2003, compared to \$9.5 million in 2002.

The following are highlights of the results of operations of Elbit Systems:

- Elbit Systems' revenues increased in 2003 by 8.5% to \$898.0 million from \$827.5 million in 2002. The main increase in revenues was in the armored vehicles systems area of Elbit Systems' operation.
- As of December 31, 2003, Elbit Systems' backlog of orders was \$1,752 million, of which approximately 80% is scheduled to be performed in 2004 and 2005. Elbit Systems' backlog of orders as of December 31, 2002 was \$1,689 million.
- Elbit Systems' operating income in 2003 was \$53.5 million (6% of revenues) compared to \$57.8 million (7% of revenues) in 2002.
- Elbit Systems' net income in 2003 was \$45.9 million (5.1% of revenues) compared to \$45.1 million (5.5% of revenues) in 2002.

Given Imaging (Nasdaq: GIVN) (a 17% holding directly and indirectly through RDC). Given Imaging, a medical device company that developed and markets a disposable miniature video camera in a capsule for visualizing the gastrointestinal tract, recorded revenues of \$40.5 million in 2003, an increase of 40.3% over the revenues recorded in 2002 of \$28.9 million, and a gross profit of 66.6%, compared to 58.8% in 2002. Revenue growth was driven by continued installations of new systems, expansion in reimbursement coverage and the removal of the "adjunctive tool" qualifier from its label, enabling Given Imaging to market its product as a first line tool in diagnosing disorders of the small bowel. Given Imaging's net loss decreased significantly in 2003 to \$9.6 million, compared to \$18.3 million in 2002, resulting mainly from increased revenues. In the fourth quarter of 2003, Given Imaging announced record sales of \$12.5 million, a net loss of \$0.6 million and positive cash flow for the first time in its history of \$0.9 million.

Notal Vision (a 24% holding). In January 2003, we completed a new investment of \$2.0 million, out of \$4.5 million raised by Notal Vision, a medical device company operating in the field of early detection of Age Related Macular Deterioration (AMD). In 2003, Notal Vision commenced selling its product pursuant to its distribution agreement with its strategic partner, Carl Zeiss Meditec Inc., one of the leading manufacturers of professional optics equipment, and recorded revenues of \$0.9 million, and its net loss amounted to \$1.6 million, consisting mainly of research and development costs.

Oncura (a 25% holding by Galil Medical). Oncura commenced its operations on July 1, 2003 following the completion of the merger of the urology therapy units of Galil Medical and Amersham which created Oncura. Oncura markets and sells therapeutic device systems and related consumables used primarily in the performance of minimally-invasive, urologic cancer treatment. Oncura's revenues since commencing operations and through December 31, 2003, amounted to \$31.4 million. Oncura's net loss amounted to \$0.9 million, which resulted primarily from integration costs arising from combining the urology units of Amersham and Galil Medical and amortization of intangible assets.

NetVision (a 46% holding). NetVision provides Internet services and solutions in Israel. In 2003 NetVision changed its operating currency to the New Israeli Shekel (NIS). Accordingly, all figures below are translations for convenience purposes of NetVision's NIS figures into U.S. dollars at the representative rate of exchange prevailing at December 31, 2003 according to which \$1.00 equaled NIS 4.379.

In 2003, NetVision experienced increased competition in gaining broadband communication market share resulting from the transition of customers to broadband communication from narrow-band dial-up connections. Nevertheless, NetVision improved its operating results in 2003 and recorded an increase of 8% in revenues to \$64.6 million, from \$59.8 million in 2002 and its operating income increased to \$4.7 million, compared to \$3.4 million in 2002. However, due to higher finance expenses in 2003, NetVision's net income decreased to \$0.8 million compared to \$2.9 million in 2002. As of December 31, 2003, NetVision had a customer base of approximately 357,000 compared to 340,000 at the end of 2002.

NetVision expects its revenue growth and its operating results to continue to be affected by the competitive broadband market environment, which will affect market prices and penetration costs.

Wavion (a 38% holding). Wavion is a developer of broadband wireless access systems for wireless LANs. In 2002, as a result of the downturn in the broadband wireless communications market, which delayed the release of Wavion's products, Wavion significantly reduced its research and development expenses and began to sell subcontracting services for the development of wireless sub-systems. In 2003, Wavion completed a financing round led by Sequoia Seed Capital, raising \$12.5 million out of which we invested \$3 million. Wavion intends to use the proceeds to finance its development efforts. Accordingly, Wavion directed resources away from its subcontracting activities and its revenues in 2003 amounted to \$1.8 million, similar to revenues recorded in 2002 of \$1.7 million. The increase in its research and development costs resulted in an increase in Wavion's net loss which amounted to \$1.7 million in 2003, compared to a net loss of \$0.6 million in 2002. We expect these research and development costs to continue to increase in 2004.

K.I.T. eLearning (a 45% holding). K.I.T. eLearning provides online academic programs. In 2003 we invested \$2.0 million in K.I.T. eLearning B.V ("K.I.T. eLearning", formerly Kidum Holding B.V) as part of an aggregate investment round of \$4.0 million, the balance of which was invested by Discount Investment Corporation Ltd. ("DIC"), which holds approximately 38.5% of our shares. K.I.T. eLearning was previously the operating subsidiary of Kidum Elron IT Ltd. ("KIT") in which we held approximately 29%.

K.I.T. eLearning's revenues increased in 2003 by 106% to \$7.0 million, compared to \$3.4 million in 2002, as a result of the increase in student enrollments. KIT eLearning's operating loss decreased to \$3.3 million compared to \$6.1 million in 2002, primarily due to the increase in

revenues. At December, 2003, K.I.T. eLearning had approximately 1,700 students, mainly from the United Kingdom, Holland, Canada, Germany, China and Singapore, as compared to approximately 1,100 students at the end of 2002. In the first quarter of 2004, we sold our shares in K.I.T. eLearning to Laureate. (See Item 4 - "Information on the Company").

ChipX (formerly: Chip Express) (a 36% holding). ChipX is a manufacturer of late stage programmable gate array ASICs (Application Specific Integrated Circuits). ChipX's revenues in 2003 amounted to \$13.7 million, compared to \$16.5 million in 2002. The decrease in revenues resulted mainly from the slowdown in the semiconductor industry through the first half of 2003. In light of the recovery in this industry in the second half of 2003, ChipX revenues increased to \$7.4 million during the second half of 2003, as compared to \$6.4 million in the first half of 2003 and \$6.6 million in the second half of 2002. ChipX's net loss in 2003 amounted to \$7.8 million, compared to \$6.4 million in 2002. However, as a result of an increase in revenues during the second half of 2003, ChipXs' net loss decreased to \$3.2 million as compared to \$4.6 million in the first half of 2003 and \$4.7 million in the second half of 2002.

In March 2004, ChipX raised \$12.0 million in a private placement, out of which Elron invested approximately \$2.6 million. As a result, Elron's interest in ChipX decreased to approximately 26%. ChipX intends to use the proceeds from the private placement to finance its sales, marketing and development of its structured ASIC technology

Oren Semiconductor (a 41% holding). Oren is a developer of chips for the digital television market. In 2003, we completed an investment of \$3.0 million in Oren, as part of an aggregate investment of \$8.0 million from existing shareholders and from Zoran Corporation. In addition to the investment, we and other shareholders converted all the loans previously granted to Oren, in the amount of approximately \$8.4 million into shares, of which our portion was approximately \$4.4 million. Following the investment and the loan conversion, we hold approximately 41% in Oren. Zoran and Oren have agreed to cooperate to sell Oren's front-end solution with Zoran's back-end chips to major players in the digital television market. Zoran is the second strategic investor in Oren after Sony Corporation invested in April 2001. Oren will use the proceeds of this equity investment to finance its marketing and sales operations in the United States and Japan and to complete the development of its new products for those markets. In 2003, Oren's revenues increased to \$4.4 million from \$2.0 million in 2002, due to a combined increase in product sales as well as in revenues derived from development projects. As a result of the increased revenues, Oren's net loss in 2003 decreased to \$4.6 million compared to \$6.1 million in 2002.

AMT (a 28% holding). Since our investment in AMT in August 2002, AMT's two operating companies, namely AHT and Confirm, commenced introducing their amorphous metals technology-based products to the market and built up their operating and manufacturing infrastructure. In 2003, AHT recorded revenues of \$0.8 million compared to \$0.1 million in 2002, and net losses of \$1.6 million, the same level as in 2002. Confirm recorded in 2003 revenues of \$0.6 million compared to \$0.1 million in 2002, and net losses of \$1.2 million compared to \$1.1 million in 2002.

Despite the improvements in our share in the net losses from our group companies in 2003, we expect that most of our group companies will continue to recognize losses in future periods, as they invest significant resources in research and development and sales and marketing activities and have not yet generated significant revenues. In addition, investment in new early

stage companies will result in additional losses. Therefore, we anticipate that our share in the results of these companies will continue to negatively affect our results of operations.

Results of operations of significant group companies which are accounted for other than under the equity method of accounting

In addition to companies accounted for under the equity method, we have significant investment in Partner which is accounted for as available-for-sale security and whose results do not affect our results of operations.

Partner (Nasdaq: PTNR) (a 9% holding). At December 31, 2003, the market value (equal to its carrying value) of our investment in Partner amounted to \$124.3 million. Partner is a GSM mobile telephone network operator in Israel. In 2002, Partner reached a significant milestone, as it became a profitable company and generated cash flow. In 2003, Partner continued to improve its financial performance and demonstrate its ability to sustain revenue growth, profitability and positive cash flow. The following are highlights of the results of operations of Partner for 2003 (all figures below are convenience translations of Partner's nominal New Israeli Shekel (NIS) figures into U.S. dollars at the rate of the exchange prevailing at December 31, 2003 according to which \$1.00 equaled NIS 4.379):

- Partner's revenues in 2003, driven primarily by subscriber growth of 14.5%, increased to \$1,020.3 million, up 10.2% from \$925.9 million in 2002. Partner's subscriber base at the end of 2003 was 2,103,000 as compared to 1,837,000 at the end of 2002.
- Partner's operating income in 2003 increased to \$195.2 million from \$121.8 million in 2002, an increase of 60.3%. Operating income in 2003, as a percentage of revenues, increased to 19.1% versus 13.2% in 2002.
- Partner's net income in 2003 was \$265.5 million, which include a \$144.6 million tax benefit resulting from its accumulated carryforward taxes losses. In 2002, Partner's net income was \$19.2 million.

Partner has a line of credit agreement with a consortium of banks that provides for borrowings of up to \$683 million of which \$282 million had been drawn as of December 31, 2003. The line of credit is guaranteed by shares held by the original shareholders of Partner, pro rata to their respective original holdings. All of the shares held by us as of December 31, 2003, amounting to approximately 15.9 million shares, are pledged by us in favor of the consortium of banks.

Gains from Disposals of Businesses and Affiliated companies and Changes in Holdings in Affiliated Companies

Our gains from disposals of businesses and affiliated companies and changes in holdings in affiliated companies amounted to \$25.8 million in 2003 compared to \$6.9 million in 2002. The gain in 2003 was mainly due to the gain from the merger of the urology therapy business of Galil Medical and Amersham in the amount of approximately \$21.2 million (which after minority interest and income taxes amounted to \$4.4 million) and \$4.5 million gain from the sale of 753,600 shares of Given Imaging held by RDC for approximately \$7.8 million and changes in holding in Given Imaging as a result of exercise of options.

The gain in the comparable period in 2002 was mainly due to a \$5.3 million gain from the sale of Given Imaging shares and a \$1.6 million from the sale of 380,000 shares of Elbit Systems. Our ability to record future gains from the disposals of businesses and affiliated companies and changes in holdings in our affiliated companies will be affected by the capital market conditions in future periods.

Other Income (expenses), net. Other income, net, amounted to \$14.6 million in 2003 compared to a loss of \$0.8 million in 2002. The gain in 2003 resulted primarily from the following: (i) the sale of 6,278,226 Partner shares for approximately \$29.3 million which resulted in a \$11.1 million gain before tax; (ii) the sale of 1,117,155 shares of Zix for approximately \$9.0 million which resulted in a \$4.8 million gain before tax; and (iii) a \$2.0 million gain, before tax, from the sale of all the shares of 24/7 Real Media shares for approximately \$5.2 million. These gains were partially offset by \$3.7 million of write-downs mainly with respect to Cellenium and Textology.

Other expenses in 2002 resulted mainly from a \$1.6 million write-downs of certain investment as well as a decrease in the market value of certain marketable securities, which were partially offset by \$0.7 million gain from the sale of other marketable securities, primarily of NetManage Inc. (Nasdaq: NETM) held by us at that time.

Expenses

Operating expenses. Operating expenses are comprised of research and development expenses, sales and marketing and general and administrative expenses of our subsidiaries, mainly Galil Medical and MediaGate, which were consolidated for the first time in the second half of 2002 as well as our and RDC's corporate operations expenses. The following table sets forth the segment operating expenses. The operating expenses presented below exclude restructuring expenses and amortization of other assets, in the amount of \$0.3 million in 2003, and \$0.6 million in 2002, which also constitute part of operating expenses under US GAAP but for presentation purposes, are included as a separate item:

_	Year ended December 31,		
	2003 2002		
	(millions o	of \$)	
Corporate	7.1	6.1	
Galil Medical*	10.7	7.4	
MediaGate*	3.1	1.8	
Other	<u>2.0</u>	<u>=</u>	
	<u>22.9</u>	<u>15.3</u>	

^{*} In the first half of 2002, the company's results were presented under the equity method.

Our corporate operating costs, which following the merger with Elbit in May 2002 represent the costs of the combined management, were \$7.1 million in 2003, compared to \$6.1 million in 2002. The increase in the corporate costs resulted mainly from the increase in costs related to the company's employee stock option plans and insurance costs. With respect to employee stock options granted in 2003, we adopted FASB Statement No.123 "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation", according to which compensation expenses are measured under

fair value method (instead of intrinsic value method) using Black & Scholes option-pricing model. Amortization of deferred stock compensation amounted in 2003 to \$0.4 million compared to \$0.2 million in 2002.

Operating expenses of Galil Medical in 2003 were \$10.7 million compared to \$13.0 million in 2002. Operating expenses in 2003 includes approximately \$1.2 million of non-recurring costs related to the merger of the urology therapy units of Galil Medical and Amersham. Galil Medical's operating loss in 2003 decreased to \$7.6 million compared to \$9.8 million in 2002 mainly as a result of the merger of the urology therapy units of Galil Medical and Amersham which resulted in a significant decrease in marketing and selling expenses. Galil Medical plans to continue developing its cryotherapy technology for application in other health care fields, and to supply Oncura manufacturing and research and developments services on a cost plus basis, and therefore its operating loss is expected to continue to decrease. However, Galil Medical's results of operations will be affected in the future quarters by the extent of future research and developments activities for the development of new Cryo applications.

Operating expenses of MediaGate in 2003 were \$3.1 million compared to \$4.2 million in 2002. MediaGate's operating loss in 2003 amounted to \$2.4 million compared to \$3.6 million in 2002. The decrease in the operating loss of MediaGate resulted primarily from the decrease in operating expenses due to cost reduction programs implemented by MediaGate during 2002 and 2003. Following the sale of MediaGate's assets and intellectual property to Telrad, Mediagate ceased its operations.

Other operating expenses include mainly the operating expenses of RDC. At the end of 2003, RDC launched a new company named Starling Advanced Communications ("Starling"), in which RDC and Elbit Systems hold 50% each. Starling develops an antenna and satellite communication solution that enables commercial airborne broadband connectivity. Starling's research and development costs were included through its incorporation in RDC's results of operations.

Income Taxes. Income taxes, net, in 2003 were \$6.8 million, which were mainly due to income taxes with respect to the sale of shares of Partner, Given Imaging, Zix and 24/7 Real Media, as well as with respect to the merger of the urology therapy units of Galil Medical and Amersham. In 2002, we recorded a tax benefit of \$3.0 million mainly with respect to corporate expenses.

Loss from Discontinued Operations. Loss from discontinued operations of \$2.8 million in 2002 was mainly with respect to our subsidiary VFlash which sold substantially all of its assets and business to 24/7 Real Media Inc. (Nasdaq: TFSM) in exchange for shares of 24/7 Real Media, resulting in a gain of \$2.0 million which was partially offset by the results of operations of VFlash in the amount of \$1.9 million. Also included in this item are the net losses of other subsidiaries which were sold, such as Textology, in the aggregate amount of \$2.9 million.

Quarterly Results of Operations

The table below sets forth unaudited consolidated statement of operations data for each of the four consecutive quarters ended December 31, 2003.

	Q1/2003	Q2/2003	Q3/2003	Q4/2003	<u>2003</u>
		(mi	llions of \$)	
Net revenues	3.8	4.0	4.7	4.0	16.5
Net loss from equity investments	(3.0)	(3.9)	(1.2)	(0.6)	(8.7)
Gain from disposals of business and affiliated					
companies and changes in holdings in related					
companies, net	0.4	0.9	24.4	0.1	25.8
Other income (expenses), net	(1.2)	<u>7.3</u>	<u>3.7</u>	<u>4.9</u>	<u>14.7</u>
Total income	-	8.3	31.6	8.4	48.3
Costs and expenses	<u>10.3</u>	10.2	<u>9.4</u>	<u>7.6</u>	<u>37.5</u>
Gain (loss) from continuing operations before tax					
benefit (taxes on income)	(10.3)	(1.9)	22.2	0.8	10.8
Tax benefit (taxes on income)	0.4	(2.2)	(3.9)	(1.1)	(6.8)
Minority interest	2.0	<u>1.7</u>	(15.6)	<u>1.0</u>	(10.9)
Income (loss) from continuing operations	(7.9)	(2.4)	2.7	0.7	(6.9)
Gain (loss) from discontinued operations	(1.4)	(1.6)	0.3	<u>2.4</u>	(0.3)
Net income (loss)	(9.3)	<u>(4.1)</u>	3.0	3.1	(7.2)

Because we are a high technology operational holding company that operates through group companies, and therefore the major contributions to our net income (or loss) in any given quarter are our share in our group companies' results of operations and gain (or loss) from disposition of and changes in our holdings in group companies, we have experienced, and expect to continue to experience, significant volatility in our quarterly results.

Most of our group companies' results continue to improve, reducing the level of losses with respect to these companies during 2003. In addition, since the second quarter of 2003 we recorded significant gains from sale of shares of our group companies (mainly Partner shares in the second and the third quarter of 2003) as well as gains from the merger between the urology therapy units of Galil Medical and Amersham in the third quarter of 2003 and the sale of ESW assets and business and the shares of Zix received as a consideration in the third and fourth quarter of 2003, enabling us to offset our share in the group companies' losses and to report net income.

Year Ended December 31, 2002 compared to Year Ended December 31, 2001

The following tables set forth our results of operations in the reported period:

	Year ended December 31,		
	2002*	2001*	
	(millions of \$, except per share dat		
Net loss	(41.6)	(52.4)	
Net loss per share	(1.58)	(2.48)	

^{*} Restated (see "Note 7(d(7) in the Consolidated Financial Statements under Item 18)

Pro forma net loss, which gives effect to the merger with Elbit, the share purchase of DEP and the acquisition of a controlling interest in Galil and in MediaGate as if these transactions had occurred at the beginning of each reporting period presented, was as follows:

	Year ended December 31,		
	2002	2001	
	(millions of \$, except per share da		
Pro forma net loss	(54.6)	(91.7)	
Pro forma net loss per share	(1.88)	(3.16)	

The then general slowdown in economic conditions and in spending for technology products affected the results of operations of our group companies and limited our ability to successfully "exit" some of our group companies and to record capital gains. However, as reflected in the pro forma information, we reported a significant decrease in our pro forma net loss, primarily as a result of the following: (i) the decrease, net, of approximately \$10.1 million in losses with respect to certain companies from which we divested; (ii) the decrease, net, in the operating losses of certain of our subsidiaries and the decrease in our share in the losses of our affiliated companies in the aggregate amount of approximately \$19.9 million, mainly due to the restructuring plans and cost reduction programs taken by most of our group companies during 2002, which enabled these companies to reduce their losses notwithstanding the then adverse economic and market conditions; and (iii) significant reduction in corporate costs of \$4.0 million.

Consolidated Results

The following table reflects our consolidated data by reported segments:

	Internet Products – ESW (Discontinued operations)	Systems and Projects – Elron TeleSoft (million	Other holdings and the corporate operations as of \$)	Consolidated
	Y	ear ended Dec	ember 31, 2002	
Income**	_	10.1	(13.0)*	(2.9)*
Costs and expenses	-	15.9	17.1	33.0
Loss from continuing operations	-	(5.9)	(24.3)*	(30.2)*
Loss from discontinued operations	(8.6)	-	(2.8)	(11.4)
Net loss	(8.6)	(5.9)	(27.1)*	(41.6)*
	Y	ear ended Dec	ember 31, 2001	
Income**	-	23.6	(30.3)*	(6.7)*
Costs and expenses	-	38.1	0.5	38.6
Loss from continuing operations	-	(15.3)	(26.7)*	(42.0)*
Loss from discontinued operations	(10.4)	-	-	(10.4)
Net loss	(10.4)	(15.3)	(26.7)*	(52.4)*

Restated (Note 7(d)(7) in the Consolidated Financial Statements under Item 18).

With respect to the Other Holdings and Corporate Operations Segment, this includes net losses from equity investments.

Internet Products - ESW - Discontinued operations

The following table sets forth the results of the discontinued operations of ESW:

	Year ended December 31,	
	2002	2001
	(million	s of \$)
Loss from discontinued operations	(8.6)	(10.4)
Net loss	(8.6)	(10.4)

ESW's loss in 2002 decreased to \$8.6 million from \$10.4 million in 2001 mainly due to a decrease in operating expenses which resulted from restructuring and cost reduction programs implemented by the company in order to adjust the company to the decrease in revenues due to increased competition in the web access monitoring market and the then continued economic slowdown, which led customers to delay or postpone purchases of IT products.

Systems and Projects - Elron TeleSoft

The following table sets forth the operating results of Elron TeleSoft:

	Year ended December 31,	
	2002	2001
	(millions	of \$)
Net revenues	10.1	23.8
Cost of revenues	8.0	21.1
Gross profit	2.1	2.7
Operating expenses*	4.3	10.6
Amortization of intangible assets	0.8	2.4
Restructuring charges, net	1.3	1.2
Operating loss	(4.3)	(11.5)
Finance expenses, net	1.5	2.8
Other expenses, net	_	0.2
Tax provision	0.1	0.8
Net loss	(5.9)	(15.3)

^{*} Excluding amortization of intangible and restructuring charges, net, in the amount of \$2.1 million and \$3.6 million in 2002 and 2001, respectively, which are presented separately.

Net Revenues. Elron TeleSoft's net revenues decreased by \$13.7 million, or 58%, from \$23.8 million in 2001 to \$10.1 million in 2002. The decrease resulted in part from a \$12.8 million decrease in revenues due to the sale of non-core activities of Elron TeleSoft during the second half of 2001 as part of its restructuring program to focus its operations on core areas of its business - the development and marketing of products to the telecommunications market. The balance of the decrease of \$0.9 million resulted from reduced sales of products and services to the telecommunications market due to then slowdown in telecom capital expenditures as well as longer sales cycles as telecom service providers postponed purchase decisions.

Cost of revenues. Cost of revenues of Elron TeleSoft in 2002 were \$8.0 million, representing a gross margin of 21%, compared to \$21.1 million in 2001, representing a gross

margin of 11%. The increase in gross margin resulted mainly from higher efficiencies due to the restructuring program, including a reduction in the workforce which, Elron TeleSoft undertook during 2001 and 2002.

The decrease in the amortization of other assets reflects the adoption of SFAS 142, according to which goodwill is no longer being amortized, as well as the decrease in intangible assets associated with activities sold during 2001 and 2002.

Elron TeleSoft recorded restructuring charges of \$1.3 million in 2002 and \$1.2 million in 2001. As part of the restructuring programs, Elron TeleSoft sold in the third quarter of 2001 certain non-core activities in the e-business field to Forsoft Multimedia Solutions Ltd. in consideration for \$3.4 million and in January 2002, it completed the sale of its remaining non-core activities in the government field to Elbit Systems for \$5.7 million. These transactions resulted in a loss of \$0.2 million in 2001 and \$0.3 million in 2002. Elron TeleSoft's restructuring charges also included \$0.5 million in 2002 and \$0.4 million in 2001 with respect to workforce reductions of 65 employees in 2002 and 77 employees in 2001. Facilities related expenses in 2001 amounted to \$0.7 million which included \$0.4 million termination cost of a facility lease. In 2002, facilities related expenses amounted to \$0.5 million resulting mainly from the consolidation of excess facilities that involved the write-off of leasehold improvements in the vacated facilities.

Operating Loss. Elron TeleSoft's operating loss decreased by \$7.2 million, or 63%, from \$11.5 million in 2001 to \$4.3 million in 2002. The decrease in losses was a result of a decrease in operating expenses (excluding amortization of intangible assets and restructuring charges) in the amount of \$6.3 million, or 59%, from \$10.6 million in 2001 to \$4.3 million in 2002, which resulted from the restructuring and cost reduction programs implemented by Elron TeleSoft which included the sale of non-core activities.

Finance expenses. Finance expenses decreased by \$1.3 million, or 46%, to \$1.5 million in 2002 from approximately \$2.8 million in 2001. The decrease in finance expenses was primarily attributable to the decrease in interest rates. The majority of finance expenses were due to loans associated with the purchase of the main operations and net assets of Network, Communications and Computer Systems (NCC) Ltd. by Elron TeleSoft in 1998.

Other Holdings and the Corporate Operations segment

The following table sets forth this segment operating results:

	Year ended December 31,	
	2002	2001
	(millions	of \$)
Revenues	5.1	=
Net loss from equity investments	(24.2)*	(28.8)*
Gain from disposal of business and affiliated companies and		
changes in holdings in affiliated companies, net	6.9	3.2
Other income (expenses), net	(0.8)	(4.7)
Total income	(13.0)*	(30.3)*
Cost of revenues	2.7	-
Operating expenses**	15.3	5.1
Amortization of intangible assets	0.2	-
Restructuring charges, net	0.4	-
Finance income, net	(1.5)	(4.6)
Total cost and expenses	17.1	0.5
Loss from continuing operations before tax benefit	(30.1)*	(30.8)*
Tax benefit	3.0	3.7
Minority Interest	2.8	0.4
Loss from continuing operations	(24.3)*	(26.7)*
Loss from discontinued operations	2.8	<u>-</u>
Net loss	(27.1)*	(26.7)*

^{*} Restated (see Note 7(d)(7) in the Consolidated Financial Statements under Item 18).

Income

Revenues

Net revenues of the Other Holdings and the Corporate Operations segment consisted of sales of products and services by our subsidiaries, Galil Medical and MediaGate, which were consolidated for the first time in 2002.

^{**} Excluding amortization of intangible assets and restructuring charges, net, in the amount of \$0.6 million in 2002, which are presented separately.

The following table sets the segment revenues:

	Year e Decemb	
	2002	2001
	(million	s of \$)
Galil Medical*	3.0	
MediaGate*	2.1	
	5.1	

^{*} Through June 30, 2002, the results of these companies were presented under the equity method.

Galil Medical recorded revenues of \$5.0 million in 2002 (of which \$3.0 million were in the second half of 2002 and were consolidated within our consolidated revenues) compared to \$2.8 million in 2001. The increase in revenues is mainly due to increased penetration in the U.S. market. The majority of the revenues derived from sales of disposable products.

MediaGate's revenues amounted to \$2.6 million in 2002 (of which \$2.1 million were in the second half of 2002 and were consolidated within our consolidated revenues) compared to \$0.7 million in 2001. MediaGate develops and markets advanced messaging systems. The increase in revenues was mainly due to large projects received from mobile operators mainly in the Far East. MediaGate's revenues and operating results were affected by the then slowdown in the telecommunications market as well as by competition from more established companies.

Share in net losses of affiliated companies

The share in net losses of affiliated companies amounted to \$24.2 million in 2002 compared to \$28.8 million in 2001. The decrease in our share in net losses of our affiliated companies in 2002 resulted mainly from Elbit and DEP ceasing to be equity method investments from the date of completion of the Elbit merger and the DEP share purchase, respectively. Elbit and DEP accounted for \$19.1 million of equity losses in the full year of 2001 compared to \$9.6 million in the period through the completion of both transactions in 2002. In addition, our share in Wavion's losses decreased in 2002 as a result of the decrease in Wavion's net loss.

The above decrease was partially offset mainly as a result of the increase in our share of the net losses of Galil Medical (which was accounted under the equity method through July 2002), Given Imaging, 3DV and Cellenium as a result of the merger with Elbit and the share purchase of DEP, and the increase in the losses of ChipX.

Highlights of the Results of Operations of Our Major Affiliates: (All percentages of holdings are shown as of December 31, 2002)

Elbit Systems Ltd. Our share in net earnings of Elbit Systems amounted to \$9.5 million in 2002 compared to \$9.1 million in 2001.

The following are highlights of the results of operations of Elbit Systems:

• Elbit Systems' revenues increased from \$764.5 million in 2001 to \$827.5 million in 2002. As of December 31, 2002, Elbit Systems' backlog of orders was \$1,689 million,

of which approximately 79% was scheduled to be performed in 2003 and 2004 compared to a backlog of orders of \$1,566 million on December 31, 2001. The increase in Elbit Systems' revenues in 2002 resulted mainly from the increase in sales of airborne and command, control, communication, computers, intelligence, surveillance and reconnaissance systems.

- Elbit Systems' operating income in 2002 was \$57.8 million (7% of revenues) compared to \$53.7 million in 2001 (7% of revenue).
- Elbit Systems' net income in 2002 was \$45.1 million (5.5% of revenues) compared to a net income of \$40.8 million (5.3% of revenues) in 2001. Elbit Systems' net income in 2002 included \$9.8 million non-recurring charge, before tax, in connection with Elbit Systems' agreement to repay the Office of the Chief Scientist of the Israeli Ministry of Industry and Trade ("OCS") an agreed amount of \$10.6 million in exchange for a release by the OCS from all obligations to pay royalties in the future. The abovementioned non-recurring charge was offset by \$2.8 tax adjustment as a result of the completion of tax assessments for prior years in various tax jurisdictions as well as adjustment of estimated taxes. Elbit Systems' net income in 2001 included the effect of \$9.1 million, before tax, of share price linked compensation expenses. In 2002 the expenses related to share price linked compensation were not material.

Given Imaging. Given Imaging recorded revenues of \$28.9 million in 2002, compared to \$4.7 million in 2001, and a gross profit of 59% of revenues, compared to 48% in 2001. 2002 represented the first full year of sales for Given Imaging following FDA clearance of its product in August 2001. Given Imaging's net loss in 2002 was \$18.3 million compared to \$18.7 million in 2001.

NetVision. NetVision's net income in 2002 amounted to \$2.8 million compared to a net loss of \$3.6 million in 2001. The shift from a net loss in 2001 to a net income in 2002 was primarily due to a restructuring program implemented by NetVision, which included cost reduction programs which resulted in decrease in NetVision's operating expenses in 2002 by \$8.5 million, or 14%, from \$61.6 million in 2001 to \$53.1 million in 2002. NetVision's revenues decreased in 2002 by \$2.5 million, or 4%, from \$58.9 million in 2001 to \$56.4 million in 2002 mainly due to the intensive competition in gaining broadband communication market share and due to the economic slowdown affecting business and corporate spending. At the end of 2002, NetVision had a customer base of approximately 340,000 (compared to 330,000 at the end of 2001).

Wavion. Wavion recorded a net profit in the second half of 2002 of \$0.2 million and a net loss in the full year 2002 of \$0.6 million compared to a net loss of \$3.4 million for the full year 2001. In light of the then downturn in the broadband wireless communications market which delayed the release of Wavion's products, Wavion significantly reduced its research and development expenses and began to sell subcontracting services for the development of wireless sub-systems, recording revenues of \$1.7 million in 2002. The increase in revenues enabled Wavion to record a net profit in the second half of 2002.

KIT. KIT's net losses in 2002 amounted to \$5.2 million compared to \$3.0 million in 2001, mainly as a result of an increase of \$1.3 million in marketing and sales expenses as KIT expanded its sales efforts mainly in Holland and in the United Kingdom. As a result of these

efforts, KIT generated revenues of \$2.6 million in 2002 compared to \$1.0 million in 2001. At the end of 2002, KIT had approximately 1,000 students, mainly from Holland and United Kingdom.

ChipX. ChipX continued to be affected in 2002 by the then slowdown in the semiconductor industry and its revenues decreased by \$13.3 million, or 45%, from \$29.8 million in 2001 to \$16.5 million in 2002. Operating expenses in 2002 decreased by \$8.4 million, or 27%, to \$22.7 million from \$31.1 million in 2001, mainly due to the implementation of a cost reduction program. However, due to larger decrease in revenues, ChipX's net losses in 2002 increased to \$6.4 million compared to \$1.6 million in 2001. During 2002, ChipX raised \$16.5 million from investors of which we invested \$5.0 million. Consequently, our ownership percentage in ChipX decreased from approximately 35% to approximately 33%. The amount raised was expected to be used for research and development, to expand global marketing activities and to increase ChipX's sales efforts.

Oren Semiconductor. During 2002, we invested \$2.5 million in Oren by way of bridge loans. In 2002, Oren's revenues were \$2.0 million compared to \$2.5 million in 2001. Operating expenses in 2002 decreased to \$7.1 million from \$9.1 million in 2001, mainly due to the decrease in research and development costs as a result of cost reduction programs. Oren's net loss in 2002 was \$8.7 million compared to \$\$6.1 million in 2001.

A.M.T. Advanced Metal Technology ("AMT"). Since Elron's investment in AMT in August 2002, two of AMT's operating companies, namely AHT and Confirm, started to introduce their products to the market and had recorded initial sales of few hundred thousand dollars. Both companies have built up their operating and manufacturing infrastructure and completed staffing the management positions.

Results of operations of significant group companies which are accounted for other than under the equity method of accounting

Partner. At December 31, 2002, the market value of our investment in Partner amounted to \$78.6 million. In 2002, Partner reached a significant milestone, as it became a profitable company and generated free cash flow from operations for three consecutive quarters. The following are highlights of the results of operations of Partner for 2002 based on the shekel-dollar rate of exchange as of December 31, 2002 of NIS 4.737:

- Partner's revenues for 2002, driven primarily by subscriber growth of 26%, increased by 25% to \$855.9 million from \$685.9 million in 2001. Partner's subscriber base at the end of 2002 was 1,837,000 compared to 1,458,000 at the end of 2001.
- Partner's operating income for 2002 increased to \$112.6 million from \$21.7 million in 2001, an increase of 418%. Operating income in 2002, as a percentage of revenues, reached 13% as compared to 3% in 2001.
- Partner's net income for 2002 was \$17.8 million compared to a net loss of \$64.0 million for 2001.

Gains from Disposal of Businesses and Affiliated companies and changes in Holding in Affiliated Companies.

Our gains from the sale of shares and changes in our holdings in related companies amounted to \$6.9 million in 2002 compared to \$3.2 million in 2001. The gain in 2002 resulted

primarily from a \$5.3 million gain from the sale of approximately 98,700 and 672,800 shares of Given Imaging held by Elron and RDC, respectively. As a result, our direct and indirect holdings in Given Imaging decreased to 18.3%. In addition, a gain of \$1.8 million resulted from the sale of 380,000 shares of Elbit Systems in the fourth quarter of 2002. Gains in 2001 included an approximately \$3.0 million gain from the sale of 380,000 shares of Elbit Systems.

Other Income, net. Other income, net, of the Other Holding Corporate Operation segment amounted to a loss of \$0.8 million in 2002 compared to a loss of \$4.7 million in 2001. The loss in 2002 included mainly a \$1.1 million decrease in the price of marketable securities of Cisco and Elbit Vision Systems which were mainly offset by \$0.7 million gains from the sale of marketable securities, primarily of NetManage. The loss in 2001 resulted primarily from a \$5.8 million decrease in the market value of BroadBase Software's and Kana Communication's shares, which we subsequently received in exchange for BroadBase Software's shares following the acquisition of BroadBase Software by Kana, and a \$1.0 million write-down in the market value of the shares of ArelNet. The loss in 2001 was partially offset by a \$1.0 million gain from the sale of the remaining shares of Zoran Corporation during the first quarter of 2001 and a \$1.2 million gain from the sale of shares of Kana during the fourth quarter of 2001.

Expenses

Cost of revenues. Cost of revenues consisted primarily of expenses related to salaries and hardware associated with delivering products and services of our subsidiaries, Galil Medical and MediaGate, which were consolidated for the first time in the second half of 2002. Cost of revenues of Galil Medical and MediaGate in the second half of 2002 was \$2.7 million.

Operating Expenses. Operating expenses are comprised of research and development expenses, sales and marketing and general and administrative expenses of Elron's and RDC's corporate operations and of our subsidiaries, mainly Galil Medical and MediaGate, which were consolidated for the first time during 2002. The following table sets forth the segment operating expenses. The operating expenses presented in the table below exclude restructuring expenses and amortization of other assets, in the amount of \$0.6 million in 2002 which also constitute part of operating expenses under U.S. GAAP but for presentation purposes are included as a separate item:

	Year ended December 31,	
	2002	2001
	(million	ns of \$)
Corporate	6.1	5.1
Galil Medical*	7.4	-
MediaGate*	1.8	
	15.3	5.1

^{*} In the first half of 2002, these companies' results were presented under the equity method.

Our corporate operating costs increased by \$1.0 million, or 20%, to \$6.1 million in 2002 from approximately \$5.1 million in 2001. Since the merger with Elbit, corporate operating costs reflect the costs of the combined management.

Operating expenses of Galil Medical in 2002 were \$13.0 million, of which \$7.4 million was reported in the second half of 2002, compared to \$9.4 million in 2001. Galil Medical's operating loss in 2002 amounted to \$9.8 million compared to \$7.8 million in 2001. The increase in Galil Medical's operating loss in 2002 was mainly due to increased selling and marketing expenses resulting from its effort to penetrate the market in the United States. The increase in operating expenses was partially offset by the increase in Galil Medical's revenues.

Operating expenses of MediaGate in 2002 were \$4.2 million, of which \$1.8 million were reported in the second half of 2002, compared to \$9.1 million in 2001. MediaGate's operating loss in 2002 amounted to \$3.6 million compared to \$8.8 million in 2001. The decrease in the operating loss of MediaGate resulted primarily from increased revenues and the decrease in operating expenses due to cost reduction programs implemented by MediaGate.

Amortization of Other Assets. Amortization of other assets in 2002 in the amount of \$0.2 million related to the excess costs in the acquisition of a controlling interest in Galil Medical and MediaGate which were attributed to these companies' other identifiable assets.

Restructuring Charges. In connection with the merger with Elbit, restructuring charges in the amount of \$0.4 million were recorded which included mainly fixed asset write-offs associated with Elbit facilities which were vacated as a result of the consolidation of Elron and Elbit facilities.

Finance Expenses, net. Finance expenses, net, in the corporate operations and other holdings segment amounted in 2002 to income of \$1.5 million compared to \$4.6 million in 2001. The decrease is attributed mainly to the corporate operations and is a result of the decrease in interest rates and the decrease in our cash resources which were used mainly for investment purposes.

Gain or loss from Discontinued Operations. As part of VFlash's restructuring program in response to the then slowdown in the market for Internet value added services, in September 2002 VFlash sold most of its operating assets to 24/7 Real Media, or 24/7, in exchange for 4,100,000 shares of 24/7 common stock. The market value of these shares on September 23, 2002 was \$1.6 million, based on the then closing price per share of 24/7. In conjunction with the above sale, we invested \$1.0 million in 100,000 shares of 24/7 convertible preferred stock convertible into 48.40271 shares of common stock for each share of preferred stock. The convertible preferred stock was converted into 4,840,271 shares of common stock in February 2003. As a result of the above mentioned sale, we recorded a gain of \$2.0 million. This gain was offset by the net loss of VFlash in the amount of \$1.9 million.

Also included in this item is our share in the net losses of other subsidiaries which were sold during 2002, such as Textology, with no gain recognized, in the aggregate amount of \$2.9 million.

B. Liquidity and Capital Resources

Consolidated cash, debentures and deposits (including short and long-term) at December 31, 2003 were approximately \$114.6 million compared with \$96.8 million at December 31, 2002. At December 31, 2003, the corporate cash, debentures and deposits (including short and long term) were \$107.3 million (of which 99% were held in U.S. dollar accounts) compared with \$94.1 million at December 31, 2002. An amount of \$27.2 million served as collateral to secure

current maturities of long-term bank loans of ESW and Elron TeleSoft. An amount of \$76.6 million had average maturities of less than three months. An amount of \$5.5 million was invested in commercial marketable debentures and certificates of deposits, all with credit quality issuers and with limited amount of credit exposure to any one issuer.

The main sources of the corporate cash and other liquid instruments in 2003 were \$29.3 million proceeds from the sale of 6,278,226 shares of Partner, \$9.0 million proceeds from the sale of 1,117,155 shares of Zix, \$5.2 million proceeds from the sale of 24/7 Real Media shares, a \$4.3 million repayment of loan granted to RDC, and a \$3.0 million dividend received from Elbit Systems.

The main uses of the corporate cash and other liquid instruments in 2003 were an aggregate of \$19.8 million investments in new and existing group companies and \$5.8 million repayment of bank loans. In addition, in 2003, we and Rafael, the minority shareholder of RDC, purchased two million unregistered shares of Given Imaging (one million each) from RDC for a total consideration of \$12.2 million. RDC used the proceeds to repay \$5.0 million shareholders' loans to Rafael and us, \$2.5 million to repay a bank loan, and the remainder was used for its investment activity.

The following table sets forth the investments made during 2003 by Elron (in million of \$):

Oren Semiconductor	3.6
Galil Medical	3.2
Wavion	3.0
MediaGate	2.7
Notal Vision	1.7
KIT	1.5
AMT	1.3
Pulsicom	0.5
Other	2.3
	19.8
Purchase of Given Imaging shares from RDC	6.1
	25.9

Consolidated working capital on December 31, 2003 was \$57.0 million compared to \$31.8 million at December 31, 2002. The increase was primarily due to increase in cash and cash equivalents mainly as a result of the sale of Partner, Zix and 24/7 Real Media shares in the aggregate amount of \$43.5 million. This increase was partially offset by \$25.9 million investment in our group companies and in new companies.

Consolidated loans at December 31, 2003 were approximately \$73.2 million, of which \$67.5 million is attributed to Elron TeleSoft and ESW, associated with the purchase of their main operations and net assets. Elron provided guarantees to banks of up to approximately \$76.1 million to secure bank loans made available to Elron TeleSoft and ESW and of which \$67.5 million had been utilized as of December 31, 2003. In addition, in connection with some of Elron TeleSoft's bank loans, we have provided to the lending banks comfort letters pursuant to which we undertook not to reduce our holdings beyond a certain percentage.

During the first quarter of 2004, we repaid approximately \$40.5 million of Elron TeleSoft's and ESW's loans to the lending banks out of \$67.5 million outstanding at December 31, 2003 and on April 1, 2004, we entered into new loan agreements for the balance of the loans outstanding. The lending terms, including interest and maturity dates, for the balance of the loans were not significantly changed. As of March 31, 2004, Elron TeleSoft and ESW loans amounted to \$27 million of which approximately \$11 million is renewed every three months, approximately \$6.5 million is repayable in December 2004 and approximately \$9.5 million is repayable in April, 2005. The majority of the loans oustanding are guaranteed to banks by us and of which \$3.5 million is also secured by a pledge on our marketable debentures and deposits.

MediaGate's bank's loan in the amount of approximately \$2.6 million has been secured by a first ranking pledge over the future proceeds to be received as royalties as a consideration for the sale of its technology to Telrad.

We, together with DIC, the other major shareholder of NetVision, have provided letters of comfort in connection with the credit line granted to NetVision by banks pursuant to which we jointly undertook not to reduce our joint holdings beyond a certain percentage. The amount outstanding under the credit line at December 31, 2003 was approximately \$21.3 million. In March 2004, we and DIC, each granted a loan to NetVision in the amount of \$2.0 million. The loan from us is denominated in U.S. Dollars and bears interest at a rate of LIBOR plus 2%, repayable by July 31, 2004. The loans were granted to NetVision for the purposes of repayment, in part, of NetVision's loans to one of its lending banks. Each of us and DIC undertook to one of NetVisions lending banks not to request repayment of our respective loans until NetVision has repaid all its indebtedness to such bank. This undertaking will terminate in the event of the completion by NetVision of its proposed public offering. The amount outstanding under NetVision's credit line at March 31, 2004 was approximately \$16.2 million.

All of Partner's shares held by us as of December 31, 2003, amounting to approximately 15.9 million shares, are pledged by us in favor of Partner's consortium of banks.

Subsequent to December 31, 2003 and through June 16, 2004, we invested an additional aggregate amount of approximately \$5.9 million, in our group companies, which includes mainly \$2.6 million in ChipX and granted loans to our group companies in the aggregate amount of \$3.1 million of which \$2.0 million was advanced to NetVision.

We believe that our existing resources will be sufficient to fund our and our subsidiaries' operations and our investment plan in existing and new companies as well as repaying bank loans provided to ESW and Elron TeleSoft, when they become due and if not extended, for at least the next twelve months.

Shareholders' equity at December 31, 2003, was approximately \$296.1 million representing approximately 66% of the total assets compared with \$259.4 million representing approximately 66% of total assets at December 31, 2002.

Market Risk

Market risks relating to our operations result primarily from changes in interest rates, exchange rates and equity prices. In order to limit our exposure, we may enter, from time to time, into

various derivative transactions. Our objective is to reduce exposure and fluctuations in earnings and cash flows associated with changes in interest rates, foreign currency rates and equity prices. We do not use financial instruments for trading purposes. It is our policy and practice to use derivative financial instruments only to limit exposure.

Interest Rate Risks. We are exposed to market risks resulting from changes in interest rates, relating primarily to our funds and loan obligations to banks. We do not use derivative financial instruments to limit exposure to interest rate risk. At December 31, 2003, we had fixed rate financial assets of \$5.5 million held for up to 3 years and variable rate financial assets of \$101.8 million. At the same time, our subsidiaries had variable interest loans of \$71.1 million. Therefore, we believe that the potential loss that would result from an increase or decrease in the interest rate is immaterial to our business and net assets.

Exchange Rate Risk. Since most of our group companies are Israeli-related, our main exposure, if any, results from changes in the exchange rate between the New Israeli Shekel and the U.S. dollar. Our functional currency, as well as that of our principal subsidiaries and affiliated companies, is the U.S. dollar. Our policy is to reduce exposure to exchange rate fluctuations by having most of our and our subsidiaries' assets and liabilities, as well as most of the revenues and expenditures in U.S. dollars, or U.S. dollar linked. Therefore, we believe that the potential loss that would result from an increase or decrease in the exchange rate is immaterial to our business and net assets.

Equity Price Risk. We are exposed to fluctuations in the equity price of our holdings in publicly traded companies. At December 31, 2003 we directly and indirectly held shares of the following publicly traded companies: Elbit Systems, Given Imaging, Partner Communication Company Ltd., Elbit Vision Systems, and Zix.

Stock prices in the industries of these companies have experienced significant historical volatility. Changes in the market value of our publicly traded holdings, including holdings through our affiliates, which are accounted under the equity method of accounting or as available-for-sale securities will not affect our results of operations but may have a significant effect on our market value. We view the risks of reduction in market price of these companies as part of our business risks and we examine, from time to time, the possibility of having a partial hedge against equity price risks. Based on closing market prices at December 31, 2003, the fair market value of our holdings in public securities was approximately \$355.2 million. As of December 31, 2003 no financial instruments are used to hedge against equity price fluctuations. Changes in the market value of our available-for-sale securities (which mainly include our holding in Partner) were reported in other comprehensive income, which is included as a component of shareholders' equity, and not as part of our results of operations. The market value of our available-for-sale securities as of December 31, 2003 amounted to \$132.3 million.

C. Research and Development, Patents and Licenses

Since we, through our group companies, engage in fields of high-technology, our group companies invest significant resources in research and development activities.

The combined research and development costs of all group companies amounted to \$83.8 million in 2003, \$99.1 million in 2002 and \$118.3 million in 2001, the majority of which (in each year) was spent by Elbit Systems. The decrease in research and development costs in 2003

as compared to 2002 was primarily due to the decrease in R&D expenses in some of our group companies (mainly Elbit Systems, Given Imaging and Elron TeleSoft) and the sale or discontinued operations of some of our group companies during 2002 and 2003.

Our consolidated research and development costs, incurred mainly by Elron TeleSoft and Galil Medical, amounted to \$3.8 million, \$3.4 million and \$3.8 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Elron TeleSoft's research and development team's efforts are currently primarily directed toward revenue assurance products (ESSB), functionality enhancements and the development of new modules intended to broaden Elron TeleSoft's product portfolio in the telecommunications field.

Following the completion of the merger of Galil Medical's urology business with Amersham Health's brachytherapy business, Galil Medical's research and development team will continue to support the urology business and will also focus on the application of its cryotherapy technology to other healthcare fields such as women's health.

D. Trend Information

"Trend Information" pertaining to our and our group companies is incorporated by reference to Item 4 of this Report and this Item 5 under "Results of Operations".

E. Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

There is no principal amount of off balance sheet transactions.

F. Tabular Disclosure of Financial Obligations

At December 31, 2003, we and our subsidiaries had no material contractual obligations which are expected to affect our consolidated cash flow in future periods, except for payments of bank credits, bank loans and loans from others, including short term loans taken by our subsidiaries and capital lease obligations, in each case due in future periods as set forth in the table below.

				With no	
				specified	Total
Type of Obligation	2004	2005	2006	maturity date	
Loans from banks	\$ 52.9 million	\$ 14.6 million	-	\$2.6 million	\$70.1 million
Loans from others	\$ 3.1 million	-	-	-	\$3.1 million
Capital leases	\$ 0.5 million	\$ 0.3 million	\$0.1 million	-	\$0.9 million

For additional details, see Item 5, Liquidity and Capital Resources.

Item 6. Directors, Senior Management and Employees

A. Directors and Senior Management

Our executive officers and directors are as follows:

<u>Name</u>	<u>Age</u>	<u>Position</u>
Ami Erel (4)	57	Chairman of the Board of Directors
Avraham Asheri (1)	66	Director
Dr. Gabi Barbash	54	Director
Dr. Chen Barir	45	Director
Prof. Yair Be'ery	47	Director
Avraham Fischer ⁽⁴⁾	47	Director
Yaacov Goldman (1)(2)(3)	48	External Director
Oren Lieder ⁽⁴⁾	55	Director
Dori Manor ⁽⁴⁾	37	Director
Dr. Dalia Meggido	52	Director
Professor Daniel Sipper ⁽¹⁾⁽²⁾	71	External Director
Doron Birger	53	President and CEO
Moshe Fourier	56	Vice President, Chief Technology Officer
Tal Raz	42	Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
Shmuel Kidron	54	Vice President
Avishai Friedman	38	Vice President, Business Development

- 1 Member of our audit committee and independent director under the Marketplace Rules of the Nasdaq National Market.
- 2 External director under the Israeli Companies Law.
- 3 Designated Financial Expert under Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
- 4 Director or Officer of DIC.

Ami Erel has served as the Chairman of the Board of Directors of Elron since November 1999 and served as Elron's Chief Executive Officer from November 1999 to December 2001. Mr. Erel has served as President of DIC since June 1, 2001. Mr. Erel is also Chairman of the board of directors of Scitex Corporation Ltd. and serves as a director of Property and Building Corporation Ltd., Super-Sol Ltd., Ham-let (Israel Canada) Ltd. and Elbit Systems Ltd. Mr. Erel also serves as the Chairman or member of the boards of other companies in the DIC group and the Elron group. From 1997 to 1999, Mr. Erel served as President and Chief Executive Officer of Bezeq-The Israel Telecommunications Corp. Ltd. From 1997 to 1998, he was Chairman of the board of directors of PelePhone Communications Ltd. From January 2000 to January 2004, Mr. Erel served as Chairman of the board of Israel Association of Electronics & Information

Industries. Mr. Erel holds a B.Sc. in electrical engineering from the Technion, Israel Institute of Technology.

Avraham Asheri joined Elron as a director since December 1999. He serves as the Chairman of our Audit Committee. He is an economic and financial advisor. Mr. Asheri is a member of the boards of directors of Discount Mortgage Bank Ltd., Kardan Nadlan Ltd., Africa Israel Investments Ltd., Meditor Pharmaceuticals Ltd., Elbit Systems Ltd. and Scitex Corporation Ltd. Mr. Asheri was the President and Chief Executive Officer of Israel Discount Bank from November 1991 until July 1998. Prior to joining Israel Discount Bank in 1983 as Senior Executive Vice President and a member of its management committee, Mr. Asheri held the position of Director General of the Ministry of Industry and Trade. During his 23 years at the Ministry of Industry and Trade and at the Ministry of Finance, Mr. Asheri held several key offices in Israel and abroad, including: Managing Director of the Investment Center in Israel, and Trade Commissioner of Israel to the United States. Mr. Asheri holds a bachelors degree in economics and political science from the Hebrew University in Jerusalem.

Prof. Gabi Barbash joined Elron as a director in May 2003. Since 1999, Prof. Barbash has been Director General of the Tel-Aviv Sourasky Medical Center and between 2000 and 2003 he has been the Chairman of the Board of Directors of Teuza Venture Capital Fund. Between 1998 and 2000, Prof. Barbash was the Chairman of the Israeli National Transplant Center. Between 1996 and 1999, Prof. Barbash was the Director General of the Israeli Ministry of Health. Between 1995 and 1998, Prof. Barbash was a member of the Scientific Committee of the Interdisciplinary Center for Technological Analysis and Forecasting at Tel-Aviv University. Between 1993 and 1996, Prof. Barbash was the Director General of the Sourasky Medical Center. Between 1986 and 1993, Prof. Barbash was the Deputy Director of the Sheba Medical Center and from 1990 to 1993, he was Director of the Rehabilitation Hospital of the Sheba Medical Center. Prof. Barbash holds an M.D. in medicine from the Hebrew University, Jerusalem, Hadassah Medical School and a Masters degree in public health from Harvard University.

Dr. Chen Barir joined Elron as a director in December 1999. He is the Chairman of Berman & Co. Trading and Investments Ltd. and its subsidiaries and affiliates, a private group specializing in seed stage venture capital investments, management and real estate. Dr. Barir is also Chairman of Galil Medical Ltd., Chairman of Sunlight Medical, Vice Chairman of Oncura Inc., a director of Optonol Ltd. and a director of Given Imaging Ltd. Dr. Barir holds a Masters in business administration from the European Institute of Business Administration (INSEAD) in Fontainebleau, France and a doctorate in law and economics from Harvard Law School.

Prof. Yair Be'ery joined Elron as a director in January 2004. Since 1985, Prof. Be'ery has been with the Department of Electrical Engineering at Tel Aviv University and served as its Chairman from 1999 until 2003. Since 1998, Prof. Be'ery has also been working with Benny Steinmetz's Group and co-founded STI Ventures, a high technology venture investment company. From 1989 until 1996, Prof. Be'ery served as Vice President of Advanced Technology of the DSP Group Inc. Prof. Be'ery is also a director of Cahol-Ad Technologies and is a member of the advisory boards of Tehuti Networks Ltd. and Mplicity Ltd. Prof. Be'ery served previously on the boards of directors and advisory boards of numerous Israel-related technology companies. Prof. Be'ery holds B.Sc., M.Sc. and Ph.D. degrees (Electrical Engineering) from Tel Aviv University, Israel.

Avraham Fischer joined Elron as a director in August 2003. He is the Executive Vice President of IDBH, deputy Chairman of IDBD and a director and co-Chief Executive Officer of Clal Industries and Investments Ltd., a subsidiary of IDBD. In addition, he is a partner of Fischer, Behar, Chen & Co., a leading Israeli law firm. Mr. Fischer is the co-founder and co-Chairman of Ganden Tourism and Aviation Ltd., a company holding investments in Israeli companies, operating primarily in the field of tourism, and is the co-founder and Vice-Chairman of Ganden Holdings Ltd., a company holding investments in companies operating primarily in the fields of real estate, communications and technologies. Mr. Fischer served as a director of several companies, including DSP, Inc., and DSPC, Inc. and currently serves also as a director of DIC, Scitex Corporation Ltd., Elbit Systems Ltd., American Israeli Paper Mills Ltd., Vyyo, Inc. and several other companies. Mr. Fischer is a co-chairman of "Matan – Your Way to Give", a non-profit organization. Mr. Fischer holds an LL.B. degree from the Tel Aviv University and is a member of the Israeli bar association.

Yaacov Goldman joined Elron as an external director in March 2003. He serves as a member of our Audit Committee and is our designated financial expert on the audit committee. Mr. Goldman also serves as a director of Bank Leumi Le'Israel B.M. Commencing in 1981 and Mer Telemanagement Solutions Ltd. Mr. Goldman worked for Kesselman & Kesselman (member firm of PricewaterhouseCoopers) for 19 years, and from 1991 until 2000, as a partner and then senior partner of such firm. From September 2000 until November 2001, Mr. Goldman served as managing director of Argoquest Holdings, LLC. From March 2002 until October 2002, Mr. Goldman acted as a consultant to a private equity initiative with Poalim Capital Markets & Investments Ltd. Mr. Goldman is a certified public accountant in Israel, having received his Bachelor of Economics and Accounting from the Tel Aviv University.

Oren Lieder joined Elron as a director in January 2003. Since January 2003, he has been the Chief Financial Officer of DIC. Prior to joining DIC, from 1997 until 2002, Mr. Lieder was the Chief Financial Officer of Bezeq and from 1989 until 1996, he was the Chief Financial Officer of Zim Israel Navigation Co. Ltd. He is a director and chairman of the audit committee of Super-Sol Ltd., and a director of Property and Building Corporation Ltd. and American-Israeli Paper Mills Ltd. Between 2000 and 2002, Mr. Lieder was a director of DBS Satellite Services (1998) Ltd. and between 1998 and 2002, he was a director of Pelephone Communications Ltd. Between 1994 and 1996, he was the Chairman of Ramon–Granit Insurance Brokers, Ramon International Insurance Brokers and Layam Ltd. Since 1995, he has been a member of the Board of Trustees and Investment Committee of the University of Haifa. Mr. Lieder holds a degree in economics and statistics from the University of Haifa.

Dori Manor joined Elron as a director in August 2003. He has served as Chief Executive Officer of David Lubinski Ltd., a group of automotive companies, since 2000, and was the Vice President from 1997 until 2000 and Assistant Director from 1994 until 1996. During 1994 and 1995, he served as a director of Morasco Ltd. During 1992 and 1993, he was engaged as an Industrial Engineering consultant for Factory Design Ltd. Mr. Manor serves as a director of IDBH, IDBD, CII and DIC. Mr. Manor received an MBA degree from the European Institute of Business Administration (INSEAD) in Fontainebleau, France, in 1996 and a Bachelor of Science degree in Industrial Engineering from Tel Aviv University in 1993.

Dr. Dalia Megiddo joined Elron as director in January 2003. Dr. Megiddo is Managing Partner of InnoMed Ventures L.P., an Israeli venture capital fund in the field of medical devices

and the life sciences, and serves as a director of Given Imaging Ltd. Since 1994, Dr. Megiddo has also served as Chief Editor of Academia Medica, a multimedia medical teaching program in Israel and between 1996 and 2003 as Editor of the Israeli medical audio magazine, The Journal Club. From 1981 to 1986, Dr. Megiddo practiced family medicine at the Hebrew University Hadassah Medical Health Center. Dr. Megiddo holds an M.D. in medicine from Hebrew University, Jerusalem and an M.B.A. from the Kellogg Recanati International Executive M.B.A. program of Tel Aviv University and Northwestern University.

Professor Daniel Sipper joined Elron as an external director in February 2001. Professor Sipper serves on our Audit Committee. Professor Sipper serves in the faculty of the Department of Industrial Engineering at Tel-Aviv University. He received his bachelor of science from the Technion, Israel Institute of Technology, a masters of science degree from Columbia University and a Ph.D. in Industrial Engineering from the Georgia Institute of Technology. Professor Sipper has been involved in industry both in Israel and the United States.

Doron Birger joined Elron in 1994 as Vice President of Finance. Mr. Birger has served as President and Chief Executive Officer of Elron since August 2002, President since September 2001, Chief Financial Officer from 1994 to May 2002 and Corporate Secretary from 1994 to September 2001. Mr. Birger is Chairman of Given Imaging Ltd. and ChipX Ltd. as well as a director of Elbit Systems Ltd., RDC, NetVision and various others of our group companies. From 1991 to 1994, Mr. Birger was Vice President-Finance at North Hills Electronics Ltd., an advanced electronics company. From 1990 to 1991, Mr. Birger served as Chief Financial Officer of Middle-East Pipes Ltd., a manufacturer in the metal industry. From 1988 to 1990, Mr. Birger served as Chief Financial Officer of Maquette Ltd., a manufacturer and exporter of fashion items. From 1981 to 1988, Mr. Birger was Chief Financial Officer and director at Bateman Engineering Ltd. and I.D.C. Industrial Development Company Ltd. From 1979 to 1981, Mr. Birger was the Chief Financial Officer of Fibronics Ltd. Mr. Birger holds a B.A. and an M.A. in economics from the Hebrew University, Jerusalem.

Tal Raz was appointed as our Vice President and Chief Financial Officer as of May 15, 2002. Prior to joining us, Mr. Raz was the acting President and Chief Executive Officer of Elbit Ltd. from October 2001. Mr. Raz was appointed Vice President of Elbit in June 1998, and served as Chief Financial Officer of Elbit since he joined Elbit in April 1997, having previously served in the same capacity at Agentsoft Ltd., Jerusalem, and Paul Winston Corporation, New York. Prior thereto he was a senior auditor at Deloitte & Touche LLP's New York office. He also serves as a director and a member of the executive committee of Partner Communications Company Ltd., and as a director of RDC, NetVision, Confirm and Cellact. Mr. Raz is a certified public accountant, and holds BA and MA degrees in accounting and business administration from Baruch College, City University, New York.

Moshe Fourier was appointed as our Chief Technical Officer on June 1, 2000. From 1999 to 2000, he served as the Chief Operations Officer for Terayon Communications' broadband voice division, one of the leading companies that provides cable modems and telecommunications solutions over the cable television infrastructure. From December 1993 until 1999, he joined the founder of Telegate and jointly initiated this start-up providing telecommunications equipment for delivering voice, data and video over cable television infrastructure, and served as Deputy Chief Executive Officer and Vice President of Research and Development and Technology. In June 1992, he joined RADA Electronic Industries as Vice

President of Engineering. In August 1975, Mr. Fourier joined Astronautics Corporation of America - the Israeli division, as the first engineer and was promoted in 1978 to Vice President of Engineering. Mr. Fourier holds a bachelor of science degree in electrical engineering (BSEE) and an associated electrical engineering degree from the Technion, Israel Institute of Technology.

Shmuel Kidron was appointed as our Vice President in June 2000. Since October 2002 Mr. Kidron has been Vice-Chairman of Elron TeleSoft. From 1993 to 2000, Mr. Kidron was the President and Chief Executive Officer of Tadiran Electronic Systems Ltd. From 1990 to 1993, Mr. Kidron was a Business Unit Manager in Tadiran Electronic Systems. From 1980 to 1990, Mr. Kidron fulfilled various managerial and engineering positions in Tadiran Electronic Systems. Mr. Kidron holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Electrical Engineering from the Technion, Israel Institute of Technology.

Avishai Friedman joined Elron in January 2002 as Director of Business Development and in January 2004 was appointed Vice President of Business Development. In addition, Mr. Friedman serves as a director in several companies in the Elron Group. Mr. Friedman brings extensive experience in investment management, market knowledge and business entrepreneurship after holding a variety of management positions over the last 10 years. From 1997 to 2001, Mr. Friedman was Chief Executive Officer of Nano-Size Ltd. From 1991 to 1995, Mr. Friedman was Chief Executive Officer of Ganor, the private investments arm of the Rothschild Group in Israel. Mr. Friedman holds a BA degree in Marketing and Finance and an MA degree in Business Administration (summa cum laude) from the Tel-Aviv University.

B. Compensation

During the year ended December 31, 2003, we paid aggregate remuneration to our directors and officers as a group who served in the capacity of director or executive officer during such year of approximately \$1,558,000. This amount does not include amounts expended by us for automobiles made available to our officers in the aggregate amount of approximately \$31,000.

The following table sets forth the approximate aggregate compensation paid by us during the fiscal year ended on December 31, 2003 to all our directors and officers.

	Cash and Cash-Equivalent Forms of Compensation (in thousands of U.S. \$)		
	Salaries, Fees, Directors' Fees, Commissions and Bonuses	Securities ⁽²⁾ or Property, Insurance Benefits or Reimbursements and Personal Benefits	
<u>2003</u> (1)			
All Directors	155	-	
All Officers	1,018	385	

- (1) Does not include an increase in provision for vacation in the amount of approximately \$49,000.
- (2) See "Share Ownership" under this Item 6 and "Compensation of the Chairman "under Item 7- Related Party Transactions.

C. Board Practices

None of our directors have service contracts with us or any of our group companies providing for benefits upon termination of employment. Compensation of our officers is recommended by our senior management and approved by the board of directors. Compensation of all other employees is determined by our senior management.

Board of Directors

Our Articles of Association provide for a board of directors of not less than five members and no more than fifteen members, including external directors. Each director, other than external directors, is elected to serve until the end of the first annual meeting following their appointment. However, if no directors are elected at such annual meeting, the then present directors shall continue in office. The board of directors may appoint additional directors, provided that the total number of directors does not exceed the maximum number of fifteen as mentioned above. A director appointed as such shall serve until the end of the next annual meeting held following his or her appointment and he or she shall be eligible for re-appointment. Notwithstanding any of the above, any director, other than external directors, may be removed from office by an ordinary resolution of a general shareholders meeting or by two thirds of the directors. A director need not hold any of our shares to qualify as one of our directors. Our Articles provide that our board of directors may delegate its powers to its committees, subject to limitations determined by the Israeli Companies Law.

Substitute Directors

Our Articles of Association provide that any director may, by written notice to us, appoint another person to serve as a substitute director and may cancel such appointment. The identity of a substitute director requires the approval of the board of directors. Under the Israeli Companies Law, there shall not be appointed as a substitute director, any person who is not himself qualified to be appointed as a director or a person who is already serving as a director or a person who is already serving as a substitute director for another director.

The term of appointment of a substitute director may be for one meeting of the board of directors or for a specified period or until notice is given of the cancellation of the appointment. To our knowledge, no director currently intends to appoint any other person as a substitute director, except if the director is unable to attend a meeting of the board of directors.

External Directors

The Israeli Companies Law requires Israeli companies with shares that have been offered to the public in or outside of Israel (public companies) to appoint two external directors. No person may be appointed as an external director if the person or the person's spouse, siblings, parents, grand parents, descendants, spouses descendants and the spouses of any of the foregoing (referred to as a relative), partner, employer or any entity under the person's control, has or had, on or within the two years preceding the date of the person's appointment to serve as external director, any affiliation with the company or any entity controlling, controlled by or under common control with the company. The term "affiliation" includes:

- an employment relationship;
- a business or professional relationship maintained on a regular basis;

- control; and
- service as an office holder, as defined below in Item 10, excluding service as a director for a period of not more than three months, during which the company initially offered shares to the public.

No person may serve as an external director if the person's position or other business activities create, or may create, a conflict of interest with the person's responsibilities as an external director or may otherwise interfere with the person's ability to serve as an external director. If, at the time external directors are to be appointed, all current members of the board of directors are of the same gender, then at least one external director must be of the other gender.

External directors are to be elected by a majority vote at a shareholders' meeting, provided that either:

- the majority of shares voted at the meeting, including at least one-third of the shares held by non-controlling shareholders, or their representative, voted at the meeting, vote in favor of election of the director without taking abstentions into account. According to the Israeli Companies Law, a controlling shareholder is defined as a person who has the ability to direct the activities of a company, other than if this power derives solely from its position on the board of directors or any other position with the company. A person is presumed to be a controlling shareholder if he holds half or more of the following: (1) voting rights in the general meeting, or (2) rights to appoint directors or the Chief Executive Officer; or
- the total number of shares held by non-controlling shareholders voted against the election of the director does not exceed one percent of the aggregate voting rights in the company.

The initial term of an external director is three years and may be extended for an additional three years. External directors may be removed only in a general meeting, by the same percentage of shareholders as is required for their election, or by a court, and in both cases only if the external directors cease to meet the statutory qualifications for their appointment or if they violate their duty of loyalty to the company. Each committee of a company's board of directors must include at least one external director and all of the external directors must be members of the audit committee.

An external director is entitled to compensation in accordance with the regulations adopted under the Israeli Companies Law and is otherwise prohibited from receiving any other compensation, directly or indirectly, in connection with service provided as an external director.

In addition, the Nasdaq National Market, unless we seek and obtain an exemption, requires us to have a majority of independent directors on our board of directors with effect from July 31, 2005.

Audit Committee

The Israeli Companies Law requires public companies to appoint an audit committee. The responsibilities of the audit committee include identifying irregularities in the management of the company's business and approving related party transactions as required by law. An audit committee must consist of at least three directors, including, as mentioned, all of the external

directors of the company. The Chairman of the board of directors, any director employed by or otherwise providing services to the company, and a controlling shareholder or any relative of a controlling shareholder, may not be a member of the audit committee.

Our two external directors serve on the audit committee of the board of directors. All members of our audit committee meet Nasdaq's definition of independent directors. None of them is an affiliated person of us or has received any consulting, advisory or other compensatory fee from us, other than in their capacity as directors. Yaacov Goldman is our designated financial expert under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Internal Auditor

Under the Israeli Companies Law, the board of directors of public companies must appoint an internal auditor, nominated by the proposal of the audit committee. The role of the internal auditor is to examine, among other matters, whether the company's actions comply with the law and orderly business procedure. Under the Israeli Companies Law, the internal auditor may be an employee of the company but not an office holder (as defined below in Item 10), an interested party, a relative of an office holder or an interested party, and he may not be the company's independent accountant or its representative. According the Israeli Companies Law, an interested party is defined as a shareholder who holds 5% or more of the outstanding share capital or the voting power, a director, a general manager or a shareholder who has the right to appoint at least one director or the general manager. Doron Cohen of Fahn Kane, a member of Grant Thornton International, is our internal auditor.

D. Employees

All of our employees are located in Israel. The following table sets forth, for the last three financial years, the number of our full time headquarters employees broken down into categories.

Period ended December 31,	2003	2002	2001
Administration and Management	22	20	18

The following table sets forth for the last three financial years the number of employees of Elron TeleSoft broken down into categories.

Period ended December 31,	2003	2002	2001
Research and development	11	8	23
Marketing and sales	5	5	7
Software projects and engineering	28	31	148
Administration and Management	12	18	35
Total	56	62	213

The following table sets forth for the last two financial years the number of employees of ESW broken down into categories. ESW sold its business to Zix in September 2003.

Period ending December 31,		2001
Research and Development	24	30
Marketing, Sales and Customer Support	36	41
Administration and Management	10	16
Total	70	87

The above information excludes details of employees of our other subsidiaries, Galil Medical, RDC and 3DV.

Certain provisions of the collective bargaining agreements between the Histadrut (General Federation of Labor in Israel) and the Coordination Bureau of Economic Organizations (including the Industrialists' Associations) are applicable to employees in Israel by order of the Israeli Ministry of Labor. These provisions concern principally the length of the work day, minimum daily wages for professional workers, insurance for work-related accidents, procedures for dismissing employees, determination of severance pay, and other conditions of employment. We generally provide employees with benefits and working conditions beyond the minimum requirements.

Israeli law generally requires severance pay, which may be funded by Managers' Insurance described below, upon the retirement or death of an employee or termination of employment without cause (as defined in the law). The payments thereto amount to approximately 8.33% of wages. Furthermore, Israeli employees and employers are required to pay predetermined sums to the National Insurance Institute, which is similar to the United States Social Security Administration. Such amounts also include payments for national health insurance. The payments to the National Insurance Institute are equal to approximately 16.3% of the wages, of which the employee contributes approximately 66% and the employer contributes approximately 34%.

A general practice followed by us and some of our group companies although not legally required, is the contribution of additional funds on behalf of most of the employees to a fund known as Managers' Insurance. This fund provides a combination of savings plan, insurance and severance pay benefits to the employee, giving the employee a lump sum payment upon retirement and securing the severance pay, if legally entitled, upon termination of employment. The employer decides which employees are entitled to participate in the plan, and each employee who agrees to participate contributes an amount equal to 5% of his or her salary and the employer contributes between 13.3% and 15.8% of the employee's salary.

Share Ownership

The number of our ordinary shares beneficially owned by each of our directors, and by our directors and officers as a group, as of May 31, 2004, is as follows:

Director	Ordinary Shares		
Ami Erel, Chairman ⁽¹⁾	116,154 ⁽²⁾		
Avraham Asheri	0		
Prof. Gabi Barbash	0		
Dr. Chen Barir	0		
Prof. Yair Be'ery	0		
Avraham Fischer ⁽¹⁾	0		
Yaacov Goldman	0		
Oren Lieder ⁽¹⁾	0		
Dori Manor ⁽¹⁾	0		
Dr. Dalia Meggido	0		
Prof. Daniel Sipper	0		
All officers and directors as a group	$601,700^{(3)}$		

- (1) Director or officer of DIC. Ownership excludes shares owned by DIC.
- (2) Consists solely of options to purchase our ordinary shares
- (3) Includes options to purchase 600,279 of our ordinary shares of which 272,914 options are currently exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of May 31, 2004.

Stock Option Plans

As of May 31, 2004, options to purchase 769,842 of our ordinary shares to our officers and employees were outstanding. Details concerning these options are as follows:

Series 6 Options

There are outstanding options to purchase an aggregate of 4,500 of our ordinary shares, of which options to purchase an aggregate of 2,500 shares are held by one of our officers (the "Series 6 Options"). The Series 6 Options are exercisable at a price of approximately \$11.29 per share. The optionholders are entitled to exercise 25% of the amount granted, each year, starting in March 1998. The Series 6 Options will expire in March 2006.

Series 7 Options

There are outstanding options to purchase an aggregate of 21,500 of our ordinary shares, of which options to purchase an aggregate of 12,500 shares are held by one of our officers (the "Series 7 Options"). The Series 7 Options are exercisable at a price of approximately \$12.51 per share. The optionholders are entitled to exercise 25% of the amount granted, each year, starting in March 1999. The Series 7 Options will expire in March 2005.

Series 9 Options

The Chairman of our board of directors was granted options to purchase 58,154 of our ordinary shares (the "Series 9 Options"). The Series 9 Options were granted ratably over a period of three years commencing on February 2000 and are exercisable for a period of three years, commencing two years after the date of grant.

The per share exercise price of the Series 9 Options granted in February 2000 and 2001 is approximately \$21.38. The per share exercise price of the Series 9 Options granted in February 2002 is \$13.01. Upon exercise of the Series 9 Options, the option holder will be granted a number of shares reflecting the benefit component of the options exercised, as calculated at the exercise date, in consideration for their par value only.

Series 10 Options

There are outstanding options to purchase an aggregate of 33,000 of our ordinary shares of which options to purchase an aggregate of 20,000 shares are held by one of our officers (the "Series 10 Options). The Series 10 Options are exercisable at a price of approximately \$29.38 per share. The optionholders are entitled to exercise 25% of the amount granted, each year, starting in October 2001. The Series 10 Options will expire in October 2007.

Series 11 Options

The Chairman of our board of directors was granted options to purchase 58,000 of our ordinary shares (the "Series 11 Options"). The Series 11 Options are to be granted ratably over a period of three years commencing in June 2001 and are exercisable for a period of three years, commencing two years after the date of grant. The first amount of 19,333 Series 11 Options was granted in June 2001. The per share exercise price of the Series 11 Options granted in June 2002 is \$19.05. The second amount of 19,333 Series 11 Options was granted in June 2002 is \$8.337. The third amount of 19,334 Series 11 Options was granted in June 2003. The per share exercise price of the Series 11 Options granted in June 2003 is \$8.437.

Upon exercise of the Series 11 Options, the option holder will be granted a number of shares reflecting the benefit component of the options exercised, as calculated at the exercise date, in consideration for their par value only.

Series 12 Options

There are outstanding options to purchase an aggregate of 42,000 of our ordinary shares held by two of our officers (the "Series 12 Options"). The Series 12 Options are exercisable at a price per share of approximately \$18.87 per share. The officers are entitled to exercise 25% of the amount granted, each year, starting in June 2002. The Series 12 Options will expire in June 2008.

Series 14 Options

There are outstanding options to purchase an aggregate of 30,000 of our ordinary shares of which options to purchase an aggregate of 20,000 shares are held by one of our officers (the "Series 14 Options"). The Series 14 Options are exercisable at a price of approximately \$11.69

per share. The optionholders are entitled to exercise 25% of the amount granted, each year, starting in September 2002. The Series 14 Options will expire in September 2008.

Series 15 Options

There are outstanding options to purchase an aggregate of 138,000 of our ordinary shares of which options to purchase an aggregate of 120,000 shares are held by three of our officers (the "Series 15 Options"). The Series 15 Options are exercisable at a price of approximately \$10.38 per share. The optionholders are entitled to exercise 25% of the amount granted, each year, starting in October 2002. The Series 15 Options will expire in October 2007.

Series 16 Options

There are outstanding options to purchase an aggregate of 18,000 of our ordinary shares held by one of our employees (the "Series 16 Options"). The Series 16 Options are exercisable at a price of approximately \$11.15 per share. The officer is entitled to exercise 25% of the amount granted each year, starting in November 2002. The Series 16 Options will expire in November 2007.

Series 17 Options

There are outstanding options to purchase an aggregate of 30,000 of our ordinary shares, of which options to purchase an aggregate of 20,000 shares are held by one of our officers (the "Series 17 Options"). The Series 17 Options are exercisable at a price of approximately \$7.77 per share. The optionholders are entitled to exercise 25% of the amount granted each year, starting in July 2003. The Series 17 Options will expire in July 2008.

2003 Option Plan

During May, 2003, our Board of Directors adopted the 2003 Option Plan which was subsequently ratified by our shareholders on November 30, 2003. Pursuant to the 2003 Option Plan, we issued options to purchase 272,000 ordinary shares (including options granted to our officers to purchase 210,000 ordinary shares) at an exercise price of \$8.00 per share to our officers and employees. The 2003 Option Plan provides that the exercise price per share shall be reduced by an amount equal to the amount of any dividend per share distributed. The optionees are entitled to exercise 25% of the amount granted, each year, commencing on the date of grant and expiring 5 years later. In granting the options, the Board of Directors selected the capital gains tax track pursuant to the new tax reform legislation which came into effect on January 1, 2003. (For more details – see Item 10 – "Taxation" – "Employee Stock Options.").

Elbit Ltd. Options

As part of our merger with Elbit, we assumed each outstanding option to purchase ordinary shares of Elbit. Each such option was deemed to be an option to purchase our ordinary shares. Each assumed option entitles the optionholder to acquire, on substantially the same terms and conditions applicable under the original Elbit option plan and agreements, the number of our ordinary shares equal to the number of Elbit ordinary shares subject to the option, multiplied by the exchange ratio of 0.45. Any fractional interests resulting from the assumption of options for each optionholder will be aggregated and rounded up to the nearest whole number. With these exceptions, the existing Elbit option plan and agreements remain in full force and effect. The

Elbit option plan provides that each option becomes exercisable as to 50% of the shares on the second anniversary of the date of grant, 25% of the shares on the third anniversary of the date of grant, and the remaining 25% on the fourth anniversary of the date of grant.

As of May 31, 2004, options to acquire 64,688 of our shares by virtue of the Elbit options were outstanding. The exercise price of these options range from \$6.84 to \$18.09 and their expiration dates range from December 2004 to December 2006.

Options of certain officers to acquire shares in our private group companies

During 2001, the Board of Directors approved the grant of options to certain of our officers to acquire between 1% and 2% of our investments in certain private companies. These options are in addition to those granted to our Chairman, Mr. Ami Erel. -See Item 7 Major Shareholders and Related Party Transactions - Compensation of Chairman. The options are exercisable at the weighted average price of our investments. The options vest ratably over a three year period and are exercisable for an additional three years. To date, none of the foregoing options has been exercised.

In addition, one of our officers was granted options exercisable for up to 125,000 shares of common stock of Elron TeleSoft. The exercise price of the options was the fair market value of the shares on the date of grant of \$0.50 per share. These options are fully vested and none has yet been exercised.

Item 7. Major Shareholders and Related Party Transactions

A. Major Shareholders

The following table sets forth, as of May 31, 2004, unless otherwise specified, the number of ordinary shares beneficially owned by all shareholders known to us to beneficially own more than 5% of our ordinary shares. The voting rights of our major shareholders do not differ from the voting rights of other holders of our ordinary shares. As of May 31, 2004, there were a total of 425 holders of record of our ordinary shares, of which 320 were registered with addresses in the United States. Such United States holders represented as of such date, holders of record of approximately 6.03% of our then outstanding ordinary shares.

Name and Address	Number of Ordinary Shares	Percent of Ordinary Shares
Discount Investment Corporation Ltd. (1)		
Tel Aviv, Israel	11,240,233	38.48%
Bank Leumi Group ⁽²⁾		
Tel Aviv, Israel	2,417,462	8.28%
Bank Hapoalim Group (3)		
Tel Aviv, Israel	1,878,722	6.43%
Clal Insurance Group ⁽⁴⁾ *	700,106	2.40%

^{*} less than 5%

(1) IDB Holding Corporation Ltd. ("IDBH") is the parent of IDB Development Corporation Ltd. ("IDBD"), which, in turn, is the parent of Discount Investment Corporation Ltd. ("DIC") and Clal Insurance Enterprises Holdings Ltd. ("Clal"). IDBH, IDBD, DIC and Clal are public companies traded on the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange.

Since May 19, 2003, approximately 51.7% of the outstanding share capital of IDBH has been owned by a group comprised of: (i) Ganden Investments I.D.B. Ltd. ("Ganden Investments"), a private Israeli company controlled by Nochi Dankner and his sister, Shelly Bergman, which holds 31.02% of the equity of and voting power in IDBH; (ii) Manor Investments-IDB Ltd. ("Manor Investments"), a private Israeli company controlled by Ruth Manor, which holds 10.34% of the equity of and voting power in IDBH; and (iii) Avraham Livnat Investments (2002) Ltd. ("Livnat Investments"), a private Israeli company controlled by Avraham Livnat which holds 10.34% of the equity of and voting power in IDBH. Ganden Investments, Manor Investments and Livnat Investments, owning in the aggregate approximately 51.7% of the equity of and voting power in IDBH, entered into a Shareholders Agreement relating, among other things, to their joint control of IDBH, the term of which is until May 19, 2023. In addition, Shelly Bergman holds approximately 4.9% of the equity of and voting power in IDBH.

Nochi Dankner is Chairman of IDBH, IDBD and DIC and a director of Clal. Shelly Bergman and Zvi Livnat, the son of Avraham Livnat, are directors of each of IDBH, IDBD and DIC. Shai Livnat, also the son of Avraham Livnat is a director of IDBD. Isaac Manor (the husband of Ruth Manor) is a director of IDBH, IDBD, DIC and Clal and Dori Manor (the son of Isaac and Ruth Manor) is a director of IDBH, IDBD, DIC and the Company.

DIC's address is 3 Azrieli Center, 43rd floor, Tel Aviv 67023, Israel.

- (2) The Bank Leumi Group is comprised of the holdings of mutual and provident funds that are controlled by Bank Leumi. As of May 31, 2005, the State of Israel held approximately 36.88% of the outstanding shares of Bank Leumi. The balance of the shares of Bank Leumi were held as follows: (i) Shlomo Eliahu Holdings Ltd. and affiliated companies held approximately 10% of Bank Leumi's shares; (iii) mutual funds of the Bank Hapoalim group held approximately 5.4% of Bank Leumi's shares; (iii) Otzar Hityashvuth Hayehudim B.M. held approximately 4.9% of Bank Leumi's shares; and (iv) the public held the remainder of Bank Leumi's shares.
- (3) The Bank Hapoalim Group is comprised of the holdings of mutual and provident funds that are controlled by Bank Hapoalim B.M. As of May 31, 2004, the shares of Bank Hapoalim are held by Arison Holdings (1998) Ltd. which holds 20.70%, Israel Salt Industries (1998) Ltd. which holds 10.93%, the public which holds 55.53% and other shareholders each holding less than 5%.

The Bank Hapoalim Group's address is 11 Hanegev Street, 10th Floor , Tel Aviv, 66186, Israel.

(4) The Clal Insurance Group, is comprised of Clal Insurance Enterprises Holdings Ltd. ("Clal Insurance") and its subsidiary companies, which are deemed to be major shareholders. Clal Insurance is majority owned by IDBD, the parent company of DIC, which is our parent company. The other major shareholder of Clal Insurance is Bank Hapoalim, which holds

approximately 20.7% of Clal Insurance's shares. The Bank Leumi Group holds 5.08% of Clal Insurance's shares. The remaining shareholders of Clal Insurance hold less than 5% of the shares.

The Clal Insurance Group's address is 48 Menachem Begin Rd., Clal Development Bldg., Tel Aviv, Israel.

B. Related Party Transactions

Directors' Compensation

In May 2004, we agreed to grant compensation to all of our directors for the fiscal year 2004, according to the amount then permitted according to the Israeli Companies Regulations (Rules Regarding Compensation and Expenses for an External Director), 2000 (the "External Director Regulations"), for companies of the same classification in relation to its shareholder's equity, which were as of May 31, 2004, in addition to reimbursement of expenses, approximately NIS 46,170 (approximately \$10,000) per director for one year and in addition approximately NIS 1,776 (approximately \$390) per director for participation in each meeting of the board of directors or any board committee.

Compensation of the Chairman

Mr. Ami Erel has options to acquire up to 1.5% of any shares or other securities acquired by us in Wavion, Inc. and up to 0.75% of any shares or other securities acquired by us or through DEP in Galil Medical Ltd. (each an "Invested Company") (together, the "Option"). The Option shall be exercisable at the weighted average price of investments made by us with respect to any such Invested Company until the date of exercise of the Option. The Option shall be exercisable for a period of three years commencing on the later of January 1, 2000 or the date of the latest investment by us in the relevant Invested Company, provided that at the time of the Option exercise Mr. Erel is a director or an employee of ours and that we have not sold or otherwise transferred to a third party our securities in the relevant Invested Company.

Mr. Erel shall be entitled to participate in a sale by us of shares which were, or are, subject to Mr. Erel's Option hereunder, by selling the same proportion of his shares along with us. We may require Mr. Erel to sell such shares together with a sale of shares by us. Sales by Mr. Erel of shares acquired upon exercise of the foregoing Options, which are not publicly traded, will require our approval. To date, none of the foregoing options have been exercised.

On May 30, 2004, Mr. Erel exercised his option to purchase 21,751 ordinary shares of Given Imaging from us for the aggregate exercise price of \$49,380.

Acquisition of 67% of the shares of DEP

On May 6, 2002, we completed the purchase of DIC's holding of 67% of the shares of DEP. Pursuant to the share purchase agreement with DIC dated November 19, 2001 we issued 2,261,843 ordinary shares to DIC in exchange for all of the shares held by DIC in DEP, including DIC's rights to loans provided by DIC to RDC. We and DIC received written opinions from our respective financial advisors that the number of shares issued to DIC in the transaction was fair from a financial point of view the transaction was approved by our shareholders at a special meeting held on April 28, 2002.

Merger with Elbit Ltd.

On May 15, 2002, we completed our merger with Elbit Ltd. Pursuant to the Agreement and Plan of Merger dated October 31, 2002, Elbit merged with us and we issued to Elbit's shareholders (other than us) approximately 5,617,600 Elron shares, based on an exchange ratio of 0.45 of our ordinary shares for each ordinary share of Elbit. We and Elbit received written opinions from our respective financial advisors that the exchange ratio was fair from a financial point of view. The merger was approved by our and Elbit's shareholders, creditors and optionholders on April 28, 2002 and April 29, 2002, respectively, and by the District Court of Tel-Aviv-Jaffa.

Investments in or acquisition of Shares of Galil Medical Ltd.

During 2002 and through May 31, 2004, we and our subsidiary RDC, invested approximately \$9.5 million and our parent company, DIC, invested approximately \$4.0 million in convertible notes of Galil Medical in accordance with the terms of the Note Purchase Agreement dated May 2002 and the various addenda thereto. On June 27, 2002, we purchased an additional 10.75% of Galil's outstanding shares from Lumenis Ltd., in consideration for approximately \$0.8 million. In the same transaction, DIC also purchased an additional 10.75% of Galil's outstanding shares from Lumenis under the same terms and conditions.

In September 2003, December 2003 and April_2004, we and RDC, advanced loans of approximately \$2.9 million and DIC, advanced loans of approximately \$1.7 million to Galil Medical. Certain of these loans were converted into ordinary shares of Galil Medical in January, 2004.

On January 31, 2004, Galil Medical and its shareholders, entered into an agreement to restructure the share capital of Galil Medical pursuant to which all outstanding preferred shares, notes convertible into preferred shares and a shareholders loan were converted into ordinary shares and all their associated rights were cancelled.

These transactions were approved by our Audit Committee and our Board of Directors due to DIC's participation in the transactions.

Lease Agreement with Elbit Systems.

Elbit Systems currently leases from Elbit Ltd. approximately 15,760 square metersfeet of office and manufacturing space in Karmiel, Israel. The lease expires in October 2006 and may be terminated earlier by Elbit Systems upon twelve months' prior written notice. The monthly rent is an amount in NIS equal to approximately \$0.548 per square foot linked to the U.S. dollar and the U.S. CPI, payable quarterly at the beginning of each quarter. In the event that the area leased is substantially reduced, the monthly rent will be determined by the parties.

Directors and Officers Insurance Policy

In February 2003, following the resolution and recommendation of our Audit Committee and Board of Directors, our shareholders approved and ratified the purchase of a directors' and officers' liability insurance policy (the "Policy") for our directors and officers and separately approved the application of the Policy to Lenny Recanati, then one of our directors, and any

future director or officer of the Company who may be considered a "Controlling Shareholder" under the Companies Law, 1999. The principal terms of the Policy are as follows:

- (1) The Policy was for a period beginning on January 1, 2003 and ending on December 31, 2003.
- (2) The coverage under the Policy was limited to \$20 million per claim and in the aggregate during the Policy period.
- (3) The annual premium to be paid with respect to the Policy was approximately \$1,075,000.

In addition, our shareholders approved: (i) any renewal and/or extension of the Policy for all our directors and officers; and (ii) the purchase of any other directors' and officers' liability insurance policy for our directors and officers upon the expiration of the Policy; provided that any such renewal, extension or purchase referred to in clauses (i) and (ii) above is for the benefit of our previous and/or current and/or future directors and officers and on terms substantially similar to those of the Policy; and that the premium will not increase by more than 25% in any year, as compared to the previous year.

In December, 2003, our Audit Committee, Board of Directors and shareholders approved the renewal of the Policy for the period January 1, 2004 until December 31, 2004 on substantially the same terms and conditions but with an annual premium of approximately \$600,000.

Purchase of Shares of Given Imaging from RDC

On May 13, 2003, we and Rafael, the minority shareholder of RDC, purchased 2,000,000 shares of Given Imaging (1,000,000 each) from RDC for total consideration of approximately \$12.2 million. Of the proceeds, a total of \$5.0 million was used by RDC to repay shareholders' loans to each of Rafael and us and \$2.5 million was used to repay its bank loan.

Voting Agreement with DIC regarding Given Imaging

On September 29, 2003, we and DIC entered into a voting agreement pursuant to which, among other things, DIC agreed to vote all of its ordinary shares in favor of nominees to the board of directors of Given Imaging proposed by us. The voting agreement is for a term of one year and renews automatically each year thereafter unless terminated by notice of either party to the other party no later than August 30 in each year.

C. Interests of Experts and Counsel

Not Applicable.

Item 8. Financial Information

A. Consolidated Statements and Other Financial Information

Our consolidated financial statements and other financial information are incorporated herein by reference to Item 18 below.

Legal Proceedings

Gesser Claim

On September 8, 1999, we received a copy of a statement of claim, along with a court order requiring a motion to approve this claim as a class action, submitted by David Gesser, a shareholder of Elscint. The motion requests that this claim be approved as class action instead of the previous claim submitted by Yonatan Aderet. This claim names as defendants Elscint Ltd., Elbit, our company, and Emmanuel Gill, Uzia Galil, Dov Tadmor, Micha Angel and Yigal Baruchi, former directors of Elscint, and Yonatan Aderet, the former President and director of Elscint. The motion was submitted by the applicant on behalf of all existing shareholders of Elscint who held Elscint's shares on February 18, 1999. The plaintiff seeks damages of approximately \$158.0 million.

The claim alleges that the defendants, by their decisions regarding the sale of Elscint's assets, caused damage to Elscint and its minority shareholders. The plaintiff seeks a court order requiring Elscint, or the other defendants, to purchase from each of the members of the represented class all shares held by them at a price of \$27.46 per share. The lawsuit has been suspended pursuant to an arrangement reached by the parties pending the outcome of the appeal in the Investors claim described below. The arrangement provides that if the appeal as described in the "Investors Claim" immediately below is accepted, then the proceedings to recognize the lawsuit as a class action will proceed. Otherwise, the application to recognize the claim as a class action suit will be dismissed.

Investors Claim

On November 2, 1999, we received a statement of claim and an application to claim as a class action against Europe Israel (M.M.S.) Ltd. (EIL), Elbit Medical Imaging, Elscint, Control Centers Ltd. (the controlling shareholder of EIL), Marina Herzliya Limited Partnership 1988 (which is controlled by Control Centers) and against us and 25 past and present officers of the above companies, including our officers.

The claim was submitted by a number of investors and others, who hold shares in Elscint, while the application to approve the claim as a class action was submitted on behalf of shareholders who held shares in Elscint on September 6, 1999 and continued to hold such shares on the date of application, excluding the respondents.

The allegations, which the claimants raised against us and our officers, relate to the period prior to the sale of our holdings in Elbit Medical Imaging to EIL. These allegations include, among others, that (i) we and our officers gave preference to the interests of our company and the personal interests of our officers over the interests of Elscint and its minority shareholders; (ii) we and our officers did not act in order to enable the minority shareholders of Elscint to participate in the proceeds of the sale of Elscint's assets; and (iii) general allegations against the transactions whereby we sold our holdings in Elbit Medical Imaging to EIL. Further allegations were raised against the other respondents.

The plaintiffs seek a court order pursuant to which Elbit Medical Imaging would be compelled to execute the alleged buy-out of shares at \$14 per share. Alternatively, the claimants

have requested additional remedies set forth in the statement of claim, including a remedy requested also from us and our officers regarding compensation for the damages that they allege were suffered by them and/or by Elscint. Certain of the remedies have been requested also as derivative claims on behalf of Elscint. The maximum liability in this claim is not specified by the plaintiffs.

On August 16, 2000, the Haifa District court dismissed the application to recognize the claim as a class action. Some of the claimants requested and were granted permission to appeal to the Supreme Court of Israel. In addition, the claimants submitted an amended claim in February 2001, which was not recognized as a class action suit. The allegations are similar to those in the previous claim. The appeal to the Supreme Court is still pending.

We deny all the allegations set forth in the above claims and are defending and intend to continue defending against such claims.

Lease Claim

In July 2003, ESW terminated the lease of its premises in the United States on the grounds of defects in the premises and the lessor's failure to repair the defects. The lessor rejected the termination of the lease and is seeking to enforce the lease and to claim all amounts due under the lease from ESW and Elron, as guarantor of the lease. The balance of the rental under the lease amounts to approximately \$2.0 million. ESW is counterclaiming for damages caused by the lessor. We believe, based on legal advice, that ESW has good defense arguments which, if accepted, will cause dismissal of the above claim and accordingly, the above claim will not have a significant effect on our results of operations.

Other than the above matters, we are not a party to any material litigation and we are not aware of any pending or threatened litigation that would have a material adverse effect on us or on our business.

Dividend Policy

Currently we do not have any fixed dividend policy. The declaration of dividends is determined by the board of directors taking into consideration our financial status, profitability, realization of assets and our investment requirements.

B. Significant Changes

Except as otherwise disclosed in this Annual Report, no significant change has occurred since December 31, 2003.

Item 9. The Offer and Listing

A. Offer and Listing Details

Markets and Share Price History

Our ordinary shares are traded on the Nasdaq National Market, where our shares are listed and traded on the under the symbol "ELRN". Our shares are also traded on the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange (TASE) in Israel. The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the high and low reported sales prices of our Ordinary Shares on the Nasdaq National Market and, in New Israeli Shekels (NIS), on the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange:

To be Updated	NASDAQ High	NASDAQ Low	TASE	TASE
D : 1	(US	(US	TI' 1 (NIC)	Low
Period	<u>dollars</u>)	dollars)	High (NIS)	(NIS)
1998	19.25	10.00	69.33	44.03
1999	30.25	14.44	122.70	60.80
2000	55.12	25.00	216.68	104.40
2001	27.00	10.55	105.00	47.51
First Quarter 2002	14.83	10.57	65.80	45.58
Second Quarter 2002	9.94	7.71	47.58	37.68
Third Quarter 2002	9.15	6.26	43.24	30.63
Fourth Quarter 2002	7.56	5.50	35.55	27.71
First Quarter 2003	6.81	4.92	31.30	24.48
Second Quarter 2003	9.70	6.32	39.83	29.60
Third Quarter 2003	10.30	7.47	42.50	34.88
Fourth Quarter 2003	11.42	8.85	44.13	33.98
December 2003	11.42	9.59	50.4	41.71
January 2004	14.15	11.32	63.50	51.60
February 2004	13.91	11.59	61.70	52.10
March 2004	13.76	12.20	61.70	54.20
April 2004	14.66	13.11	66.00	62.30
May 2004	14.01	12.42	63.90	57.90

B. Plan of Distribution

Not Applicable.

C. Markets

As noted above, our Ordinary Shares are traded on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol "ELRN". Our shares are also traded on the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange in Israel.

D. Selling Shareholders

Not Applicable.

E. Dilution

Not Applicable.

F. Expenses of the Issue

Not Applicable.

Item 10. Additional Information

A and B. Share Capital; Memorandum and Articles of Association

Articles of Association; Israel Companies Law

Our shareholders approved the adoption of our new Articles of Association in March 2001. The objective of Elron as stated in our Articles and in our Memorandum of Association is to engage in any lawful activity.

We have currently outstanding only one class of securities, our ordinary shares, par value NIS 0.003 per share. No preferred shares are currently authorized.

Holders of ordinary shares have one vote per share, and are entitled to participate equally in the payment of dividends and share distributions and, in the event of our liquidation, in the distribution of assets after satisfaction of liabilities to creditors. According to our Articles, any modification of the Articles requires the approval of a special majority at a general meeting. A special majority is defined in our Articles as at least a majority of 67% of the shareholders who voted at the general meeting, without taking abstaining votes into account.

The Israeli Companies Law and our Articles require that we hold our annual general meeting of shareholders each year no later than 15 months from the last annual meeting, at a time and place determined by the board of directors, upon at least 21 days prior notice to our shareholders. Under the Israeli law and regulations and our Articles of Association, notice of the meeting is required to be published in two widely distributed daily newspapers published in Hebrew and to be sent to shareholders whose names appear in the shareholders register if their registered shares are not in Israel. No business may be commenced until a quorum of two or more shareholders holding at least one third of the voting rights are present in person or by proxy. The Israeli Companies Law provides that the record date for the participation of shareholders of a company whose shares are traded or registered outside of Israel such as us may be no more than 40 but no less than 4 days prior to the meeting, provided that notice for said meeting is given prior to the record date. Resolutions regarding the following matters must be passed at a general meeting of shareholders:

- amendments to our Articles and Memorandum of Association;
- appointment or termination of our auditors;
- appointment and dismissal of directors;
- approval of interested party actions and transactions requiring general meeting approval as provided in sections 255 and 268 to 275 of the Israeli Companies Law;

- increase or reduction of our authorized share capital and alterations of our share capital;
- a merger as provided in section 320(a) of the Israeli Companies Law;
- the exercise of the board of directors' powers by a general meeting, if the board of directors is unable to exercise its powers and the exercise of any of its powers is vital for our proper management, as provided in section 52(a) of the Israeli Companies Law; and
- any matter that is required to be adopted by resolution of a general meeting pursuant to the Israeli Companies Law or in accordance with our Articles.

An extraordinary meeting of our shareholders shall be convened by the decision of the board, or at the request of any two directors or one quarter of the officiating directors, or by request of one or more shareholders holding at least 5% of the voting rights in our company. Shareholders requesting an extraordinary meeting must submit their proposed resolution with their request. Within 21 days of receipt of the request, the board must convene an extraordinary meeting and send out notices setting forth the date, time and place of the meeting. Such notice must be given at least 21 days, but not more than 35 days, prior to the extraordinary meeting.

The Israeli Companies Law codifies the fiduciary duties and duty of care that office holders owe to a company. An office holder, is defined in the Israeli Companies Law, as a (i) director, (ii) general manager, (iii) chief business manager, (iv) deputy general manager, (v) vice general manager, (vi) executive vice president, (vii) vice president, (viii) another manager directly subordinate to the general manager or (ix) any other person assuming the responsibilities of any of the forgoing positions without regard to such person's title. Each person listed in the table under "Directors and Senior Management" in Item 6 above is an office holder.

The Israeli Companies Law requires that an office holder of a company promptly disclose, and no later than the first board meeting in which such transaction is discussed, any personal interest that he or she may have and all related material information known to him or her, in connection with any existing or proposed transaction by the company. In addition, if the transaction is an extraordinary transaction, the office holder must also disclose any personal interest held by the office holder's relative. An extraordinary transaction is defined as a transaction not in the ordinary course of business, not on market terms, or that is likely to have a material impact on the company's profitability, assets or liabilities.

In the case of a transaction in which an officer has a personal interest that is not an extraordinary transaction, after the office holder complies with the above disclosure requirement, board approval is required unless the Articles of Association of the company provide otherwise. Our Articles of Association provide that a transaction with one of our office holders or a transaction, in which an office holder has a personal interest which, in each case, is not regarded as an extraordinary transaction, requires the approval of the board or the audit committee or by such other organ empowered by the board for such purpose. If the transaction in which an officer has a personal interest is an extraordinary transaction, then, it must also be approved by the audit committee and by the board of directors.

Agreements regarding directors' terms of employment require the approval of audit committee, the board of directors and the shareholders. In all matters in which a director has a personal interest, including matters of his/her terms of employment, he/she shall not be permitted

to vote on the matter or be present in the meeting in which the matter is considered. However, should a majority of the audit committee or of the board of directors have a personal interest in the matter then:

- a) all of the directors shall be permitted to vote on the matter and attend the meeting in which the matter is considered; and
- b) the matter requires approval of the shareholders at a general meeting.

According to the Israeli Companies Law, the disclosure requirements discussed above also apply to a controlling shareholder of a public company. The term "controlling shareholder" for these purposes also includes shareholders that hold 25% or more of the voting rights if no other shareholder owns more than 50% of the voting rights in the company. In general, extraordinary transactions with a controlling shareholder or in which a controlling shareholder has a personal interest, and agreements relating to employment and compensation terms of a controlling shareholder require the approval of the audit committee, the board of directors and the shareholders of the company.

Such shareholder approval must either include at least one-third of the shares held by disinterested shareholders who are present in person or by proxy at the meeting (without taking abstaining votes into account), or, alternatively, the total shareholdings of the disinterested shareholders who vote against the transaction must not represent more than one percent of the voting rights in the company. Under specified circumstances, such shareholder approval is not required.

Under the Israeli Companies Law and the regulations thereunder, if a private placement will result in a party acquiring 20% or more of the voting rights of a company, then the allotment must be approved by the board of directors and by the shareholders of the company. If a substantial placement is made to a director or a Chief Executive Officer, or if any placement is made to any person that will become a controlling shareholder after the issuance, the allotment must be approved by the board of directors and by the shareholders. A substantial private placement of securities is defined as a private placement that will increase the relative holdings of a shareholder that holds five percent or more of the company's outstanding share capital, assuming the exercise of all of the securities convertible into shares held by that person, or that will cause any person to become, as a result of the issuance, a holder of more than five percent of the company's outstanding share capital. Any placement of securities that does not fall within the above description may be issued at the discretion of the board of directors.

Under the Israeli Companies Law, a shareholder has a duty to act in good faith towards the company and other shareholders when exercising his rights and refrain from abusing his power in the company, including, among other things, voting in the general meeting of shareholders on the following matters:

- any amendment to the Articles of Association;
- an increase of the company's authorized share capital;
- a merger; or
- approval of interested party acts and transactions that require general meeting approval as provided in sections 255 and 268 to 275 of the Israeli Companies Law.

In addition, any controlling shareholder, any shareholder who knows that it possesses power to determine the outcome of a shareholder vote and any shareholder who has the power to appoint or prevent the appointment office holder in the company is under a duty to act with fairness towards the company. The Israeli Companies Law does not describe the substance of this duty. The Israeli Companies Law requires that specified types of transactions, actions and arrangements be approved as provided for in a company's articles of association and in some circumstances by the audit committee, by the board of directors and by the general meeting of the shareholders. The vote required by the audit committee and the board of directors for approval of these matters, in each case, is a majority of the directors participating in a duly convened meeting.

C. Material Contracts

On June 29, 2003 Elbit Ltd., our wholly owned subsidiary and through which we hold our shares in Partner, executed a Deed of Pledge with Bank Leumi Le-Israel B.M. pursuant to which we pledged all of our shares of Partner to a consortium of banks as security by us and Partner's other original shareholders for Partner's obligations under its line of credit with the consortium of banks, each pro rata to its respective holding. The Deed of Pledge replaced a previous pledge of the same shares. The Deed of Pledge has been filed as Exhibit 4.15 to this Annual Report.

D. Exchange Controls

The Israeli Currency Control Law, 1978 imposes certain limitations concerning foreign currency transactions and transactions between Israeli and non-Israeli residents, which limitations may be regulated or waived by the Controller of Foreign Exchange at the Bank of Israel, through "general" and "special" permits. In May 1998, a new "general permit" was issued pursuant to which substantially all transactions in foreign currency are permitted. Any dividends or other distributions paid in respect of ordinary shares and any amounts payable upon our dissolution, liquidation or winding up, as well as the proceeds of any sale in Israel of our securities to an Israeli resident are freely repatriable into non-Israeli currencies at the rate of exchange prevailing at the time of conversion, provided that Israeli income tax has been paid on (or withheld from) such payments.

E. Taxation

The following is a summary of the material provisions of the current tax law applicable to companies in Israel, with special reference to its effect on us and our group companies. The following also contains a discussion of material Israeli tax consequences to our shareholders and government programs from which we and some of our group companies benefit. To the extent that the discussion is based on tax legislation that has not been subject to judicial or administrative interpretation, we cannot assure you that the views expressed in the discussion will be accepted by the tax authorities in question.

In July 2002, the Israeli Parliament approved a law enacting extensive changes to Israel's tax law (the "Tax Reform Legislation") generally effective January 1, 2003. Among the key provisions of the Tax Reform Legislation are (i) changes which may result in the imposition of taxes on dividends received by an Israeli company from its foreign subsidiaries; and (ii) the introduction of the "controlled foreign corporation" concept according to which an Israeli company may become subject to Israeli taxes on certain income of a non-Israeli subsidiary if the

subsidiary's primary source of income is passive income (such as interest, dividends, royalties, rental income or capital gains). An Israeli company that is subject to Israeli taxes on the income of its non-Israeli subsidiaries will receive a credit for income taxes paid/withheld or will be paid/withheld by the subsidiary in its country of residence, according to the terms and conditions determined in the Israeli Tax Ordinance.

The discussion is not intended, and should not be construed, as legal or professional tax advice and is not exhaustive of all possible tax considerations.

General Corporate Tax Structure

Israeli companies are generally subject to company tax at the rate of 36% of taxable income. However, the effective tax rate payable by a company that derives income from an Approved Enterprise (as further discussed below) may be considerably less.

Law for the Encouragement of Capital Investments, 1959

From time to time, certain operations of our group companies have been granted Approved Enterprise status under the Law for the Encouragement of Capital Investments, 1959, as amended, or the Investment Law.

The Investment Law provides that a capital investment in eligible facilities may, upon application to the Investment Center of the Ministry of Industry and Trade of the State of Israel, or the Investment Center, be designated as an Approved Enterprise. Each certificate of approval for an Approved Enterprise relates to a specific investment program delineated both by its financial scope, including its capital sources, and by its physical characteristics, e.g., the equipment to be purchased and utilized pursuant to the program. The tax benefits derived from any such certificate of approval relate only to taxable income attributable to the specific Approved Enterprise.

Taxable income of a company derived from an Approved Enterprise is subject to company tax at the rate of up to 25% (rather than 36% as stated above) for a period of time termed the benefit period. The benefit period is a period of seven years commencing with the year in which the Approved Enterprise first generated taxable income. The benefits may be shorter as it is limited to 12 years from the commencement of production or 14 years from the date of approval, whichever is earlier. Under certain circumstances (as further detailed below), the benefit period may extend to a maximum of ten years from the commencement of the benefit period. A company which operates under more than one approval or that has capital investments which are only partly approved (such a company being designated as a Mixed Enterprise), may have an effective company tax rate that is the result of a weighted combination of the various applicable rates.

A company owning an Approved Enterprise may elect to forego certain government grants extended to Approved Enterprises in return for what is termed an alternative package of tax benefits (referred to as the Alternative Package). Under the Alternative Package, a company's undistributed income derived from an Approved Enterprise will be exempt from company tax for a period of between two and ten years, depending on the geographic location the Approved Enterprise within Israel. Such company will be eligible for the tax benefits under the Investment Law for the remainder of the benefit period.

Should the percentage of share capital of the companies having Approved Enterprises held by foreign shareholders exceed 25%, future Approved Enterprises of such companies would qualify for reduced tax rates for an additional three years, after the seven years mentioned above.

The company tax rate applicable to income earned from Approved Enterprise programs (currently, for programs on which an application for an approved enterprise status was submitted before December 31, 2003) in the benefit period by a company meeting these qualifications is as follows:

% of Foreign	Tax
Ownership	Rate
Over 25% but less than 49%	25%
49% or more but less than 74%	20%
74% or more but less than 90%	15%
90% or more	10%

Entitlement to these benefits is subject to the final ratification of the Investment Center, and is conditioned upon fulfillment of all terms of the approved program. However, there can be no assurance that our group companies which enjoy Approved Enterprise benefits will obtain approval for additional Approved Enterprises, or that the provisions of the Investment Law will not change with respect to future approvals, or that the above-mentioned shareholding portion will be reached for each subsequent year.

A company that has elected the Alternative Package and that subsequently pays a dividend out of income derived from the Approved Enterprise(s) during the tax exemption period will be subject to deferred company tax in respect of the amount distributed (including the recipient's tax thereon) at the rate which would have been applicable had such company not elected the Alternative Package. This rate is generally 10% to 25%, depending on the extent to which non-Israeli shareholders hold such company's shares.

The dividend recipient is taxed at the reduced rate applicable to dividends from Approved Enterprises (generally 15% as compared to 25%), if the dividend is distributed during the tax benefit period or within 12 years after this period. However, the limitation does not apply if the company qualifies as a foreign investors' company. This tax must be withheld by such company at source, regardless of whether the dividend is converted into foreign currency.

Subject to certain provisions concerning income subject to Mixed Enterprises, all dividends are considered to be attributable to the entire enterprise and the effective tax rate on the dividend is the result of a weighted combination of the various applicable tax rates. However, such company is not obliged to distribute exempt retained profits under the Alternative Package, and such company may generally decide from which year's profits to declare dividends.

Each application to the Investment Center is reviewed separately, and a decision as to whether or not to approve such application is based, among other things, on the then prevailing criteria set forth in the Investment Law, on the specific objectives of the applicant company set forth in such application and on certain financial criteria of the applicant company. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that any such application by any of our group companies will be approved. In addition, the benefits available to an Approved Enterprise are conditional upon the

fulfillment of certain conditions stipulated in the Investment Law and its regulations and the criteria set forth in the certificate of approval, as described above. In the event that these conditions are violated, in whole or in part, a company with an Approved Enterprise would be required to refund the amount of tax benefits, with the addition of the Israeli consumer price index linkage differences and interest.

Taxation under Inflationary Conditions

The Income Tax Law (Inflationary Adjustments), 1985 (referred to as the Inflationary Adjustments Law) is intended to neutralize the erosion of capital investments in business and to prevent tax benefits resulting from deduction of inflationary expenses. This law applies a supplementary set of inflationary adjustments to the normal taxable profits computed under regular historical cost principles. We and our group companies operating in Israel are taxed under this law.

Under the Inflationary Adjustments Law, results for tax purposes are measured in real terms, in accordance with the changes in the consumer price index. In addition, subject to certain limitations, depreciation of fixed assets and losses carried forward are adjusted for inflation on the basis of changes in the consumer price index.

The salient features of the Inflationary Adjustments Law can be described generally as follows:

A special tax adjustment for the preservation of equity whereby certain corporate assets are classified broadly into Fixed (inflation resistant) Assets and Non-Fixed (soft) Assets. Where a company's equity, as defined in such law, exceeds the depreciated cost of Fixed Assets, a deduction from taxable income that takes into account the effect of the applicable annual rate of inflation on such excess is allowed (up to a ceiling of 70% of taxable income in any single tax year, with the unused portion permitted to be carried forward on a linked basis to the following year, to be deducted from any taxable income, the excess amount will be considered a business loss). If the depreciated cost of Fixed Assets exceeds a company's equity, then such excess multiplied by the applicable annual rate of inflation is added to taxable income.

Subject to certain limitations, depreciation deductions on Fixed Assets and losses carried forward are adjusted for inflation based on the increase in the consumer price index (from the beginning of the 1982 fiscal year, and as of the 1985 fiscal year, with respect to equipment); and gains on the sale of certain traded securities are taxable.

However, dealers in securities are subject to the regular tax rules applicable to business income in Israel.

The inflation rate during the 2003 tax year was negative at the level of 1.89%. Nevertheless according to the Israel income tax authorities, the Inflationary Adjustments Law will be implemented, namely, the above mentioned calculations will use a negative rate in order to calculate the tax results.

Law for the Encouragement of Industry (Taxes), 1969

Certain of our group companies currently qualify as Industrial Companies within the definition of the Law for the Encouragement of Industry (Taxes), 1969 (referred to as the Industry Encouragement Law). According to the Industry Encouragement Law, an Industrial

Company is a company resident in Israel, at least 90% of the income of which in any tax year (exclusive of income from defense loans, capital gains, interest and dividends) is derived from an Industrial Enterprise owned by it. An Industrial Enterprise is defined as an enterprise whose major activity in a given tax year is industrial production activity.

The following preferred corporate tax benefits are available to Industrial Companies: (a) deduction of purchases of know-how and patents over an eight-year period for tax purposes; (b) under certain interpretations, deduction of expenses incurred in connection with a public issuance of securities over a three-year period; and (c) an election under certain conditions to file a consolidated tax return with additional related Israeli Industrial Companies and/or with a company that controls an Industrial Company and a specified percentage of its assets are invested in industrial companies.

Eligibility for the benefits under the Industry Encouragement Law is not subject to receipt of prior approval from any governmental authority. No assurance can be given that any of our group companies will qualify and/or continue to qualify as an Industrial Company or that the benefits described above will be available in the future.

Capital Gains Tax

Israeli law imposes a capital gains tax on the sale of capital assets. The law distinguishes between the Real Gain and the Inflationary Surplus. The Real Gain is the excess of the total capital gain over the Inflationary Surplus, computed on the basis of the increase of the consumer price index between the date of purchase and date of sale. The Inflationary Surplus accumulated until December 31, 1993 is taxed at a rate of 10% for residents of Israel (reduced to no tax for non-residents if calculated according to the exchange rate of the foreign currency lawfully invested in shares of an Israeli resident company, instead of the consumer price index). Inflationary Surplus accumulated from and after December 31, 1993 is exempt from any capital gains tax, while the Real Gain is added to ordinary income, which effective until December 31 2002 is taxed at the marginal rate of up to 50% for individuals and 36% for corporations. Effective January 1, 2003, the capital gains tax rate imposed upon sale of capital assets acquired after that date has been reduced to 25%; capital gains accrued from assets acquired before that date are subject to a blended tax rate based on the relative periods of time before and after that date that the asset was held.

Under current law, effective January 1, 2003 so long as our ordinary shares are listed on a stock exchange the sale of these shares is subject to 15% tax in case the shares were purchased after December 31, 2002, and in case the shares were purchased before that date the sale will be subject to a blended tax in which the portion of the gain accrued until December 31, 2002 will be exempt from Israeli capital gains tax and the portion of the real gain accrued from January 1, 2003 until the date of sale will be subject to 15% tax. The taxable real gain will be based on the difference between the adjusted average value of the shares during the last three trading days before January 1, 2003 (or the adjusted original cost if it is higher than the adjusted average value) and the value of the shares at the date of sale. In the event the above mentioned calculation creates a loss, such loss can only be offset against a capital gain from other traded securities according to the provisions of the Israeli law. The amount of the loss is limited to the difference between the adjusted average value and the value of the shares at the date of sale.

In addition, if our ordinary shares are traded on the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange (or listed on a stock exchange recognized by the Israeli Ministry of Finance), gains on the sale of ordinary shares held by non-Israeli tax resident investors will generally be exempt from Israeli capital gains tax. Notwithstanding the foregoing, dealers in securities in Israel and companies taxed under the Inflationary Adjustment Law are taxed at regular tax rates applicable to business income.

Employee Stock Options

Effective from January 1, 2003, the Tax Reform Legislation enables a company to grant options through one of three tax tracks:

- (a) the income tax track through a trustee pursuant to which the optionee pays income tax rate (according to the marginal tax rate of the optionee- up to 50% tax) plus payments to the National Insurance Institute and health tax on the profit gained upon the earlier to occur of the transfer of the options or the underlying shares from the trustee to the optionee or the sale of the options or the underlying shares by the trustee, and the company may recognize expenses pertaining to the options for tax purposes. The options (or upon their exercise, the underlying shares), must be held by a trustee for a period of 12 months commencing from the end of the year in which the options were granted; or
- (b) the capital gains tax track through a trustee pursuant to which the optionee pays capital gains tax at a rate of 25% on the profit upon, the earlier to occur of the transfer of the options or the underlying shares from the trustee to the optionee or the sale of the options or the underlying shares by the trustee (in this track the optionee is not required to make payments to the National Insurance Institute and health tax) and the Company may not recognize expenses pertaining to the options for tax purposes. The options (or upon their exercise, the underlying shares), must be held by a trustee for a period of 24 months commencing from the end of the year in which the options were granted; or
- (c) the income tax track without a trustee pursuant to which the optionee pays income tax rate (according to the marginal tax rate of the optionee- up to 50% tax) plus payments to the National Insurance Institute and health tax on the profit upon the sale of the underlying shares, and the company may not recognize expenses pertaining to the options for tax purposes.

In accordance with the provisions of the Tax Reform Legislation, if a company has selected the capital gains track, the company must continue granting options under the selected capital gains track until the end of the year following the year in which the first grant of options under that trustee track will be made. Notwithstanding the above, the company may at any time also grant options under the provisions of the income tax track without a trustee.

The above rules apply only to employees, including officer holders but excluding controlling shareholders.

U.S.-Israel Tax Treaty

Pursuant to the Convention Between the Government of the United States of America and the Government of Israel with Respect to Taxes on Income (referred to as the U.S.-Israel Tax Treaty), the sale, exchange or disposition of ordinary shares by a person who qualifies as a resident of the United States within the meaning of the U.S.-Israel Tax Treaty and who is entitled

to claim the benefits afforded to such resident by the U.S.-Israel Tax Treaty (called a Treaty U.S. Resident) will not be subject to Israeli capital gains tax unless (a) such Treaty U.S. Resident is an individual and was present in Israel for more than 183 days during the relevant taxable year or (b) such Treaty U.S. Resident holds, directly or indirectly, shares representing 10% or more of the voting power of a company during any part of the 12-month period preceding such sale, exchange or disposition. A sale, exchange or disposition of shares by a Treaty U.S. Resident who is an individual and was present in Israel for more than 183 days during the relevant taxable year or who holds, directly or indirectly, shares representing 10% or more of the voting power of a company at any time during such preceding 12-month period would be subject to such Israeli tax, to the extent applicable, unless the aforementioned exemption from capital gain tax for shares listed on the Tel-Aviv Stock Exchange applies; however, in case under the U.S.-Israel Tax Treaty and the Israeli tax law a Treaty U.S. Resident will be subject to capital gain tax in Israel, such Treaty U.S. Resident would be permitted to claim a credit for such taxes against the U.S. income tax imposed with respect to such sale, exchange or disposition, subject to the limitations in U.S. laws applicable to foreign tax credits.

Taxation of Non-Residents

Non-residents of Israel are subject to income tax on income accrued or derived from sources in Israel. Such sources of income include passive income such as dividends, royalties and interest, as well as non-passive income from services rendered in Israel and capital gain as mentioned above. On distributions of dividends other than bonus shares (stock dividends), income tax at the rate of 25% is withheld at source, unless a different rate is provided in a treaty between Israel and the shareholder's country of residence. For example, the tax rate would be 12.5% if the non-resident is a company which holds 10% or more of our voting power pursuant to the U.S.-Israel Tax Treaty. Under the U.S.-Israel Tax Treaty, the maximum tax on dividends paid to a holder of ordinary shares who is a resident of the United States will be 25%. However, under the Investment Law, dividends generated by an Approved Enterprise in any case are taxed at the rate of 15%.

U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations

Subject to the limitations described herein, this discussion summarizes the material U.S. federal income tax consequences of the purchase, ownership and disposition of our ordinary shares to a U.S. holder. A U.S. holder is a holder of our ordinary shares who is:

- an individual citizen or resident of the U.S.;
- a corporation (or another entity taxable as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes) created or organized under the laws of the United States or any political subdivision thereof;
- an estate, the income of which may be included in gross income for U.S. federal income tax purposes regardless of its source; or
- a trust (i) if, in general, a U.S. court is able to exercise primary supervision over its administration and one or more U.S. persons have the authority to control all of its substantial decisions or (ii) that has in effect a valid election under applicable U.S. Treasury regulations to be treated as a U.S. person.

Unless otherwise specifically indicated, this discussion does not consider the U.S. tax consequences to a person that is not a U.S. holder and considers only U.S. holders that will own the ordinary shares as capital assets.

This discussion is based on current provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), current and proposed Treasury regulations promulgated under the Code and administrative and judicial interpretations of the Code, all as currently in effect and all of which are subject to change, possibly with a retroactive effect. This discussion does not address all aspects of U.S. federal income taxation that may be relevant to any particular U.S. holder based on the U.S. holder's particular circumstances. In particular, this discussion does not address the U.S. federal income tax consequences to U.S. holders who are broker-dealers or who own, directly, indirectly or constructively, 10% or more of our outstanding voting shares, U.S. holders holding the ordinary shares as part of a hedging, straddle or conversion transaction, U.S. holders whose functional currency is not the U.S. dollar, insurance companies, tax-exempt organizations, financial institutions and persons subject to the alternative minimum tax, who may be subject to special rules not discussed below. Additionally, the tax treatment of persons who and/or hold the ordinary shares through a partnership or other pass-through entity is not considered, nor is the possible application of U.S. federal estate or gift taxes or any aspect of state, local or non-U.S. tax laws.

You are advised to consult your tax advisor with respect to the specific U.S. federal, state, local and foreign income tax consequences to you of purchasing, holding or disposing of our ordinary shares.

Taxation of Distributions on Ordinary Shares

Subject to the discussion below under "Tax Consequences if we are a Passive Foreign Investment Company," a distribution paid by us with respect to the ordinary shares to a U.S. holder will be treated as dividend income to the extent that the distribution does not exceed our current and accumulated earnings and profits, as determined for U.S. federal income tax purposes. The amount of a distribution with respect to the ordinary shares will equal the amount of cash and the fair market value of any property distributed and will also include the amount of any Israeli taxes withheld as described above under "Taxation of Non-Residents." Dividends that are received by U.S. holders that are individuals, estates or trusts will be taxed at the rate applicable to long-term capital gains (a maximum rate of 15%), provided that such dividends meet the requirements of "qualified dividend income." Dividends that fail to meet such requirements, and dividends received by corporate U.S. holders are taxed at ordinary income rates. No dividend received by a U.S. holder will be a qualified dividend (1) if the U.S. holder held the ordinary share with respect to which the dividend was paid for less than 61 days during the 121-day period beginning on the date that is 60 days before the ex-dividend date with respect to such dividend, excluding for this purpose, under the rules of Code section 246(c), any period during which the U.S. holder has an option to sell, is under a contractual obligation to sell, has made and not closed a short sale of, is the grantor of a deep-in-the-money or otherwise nonqualified option to buy, or has otherwise diminished its risk of loss by holding other positions with respect to, such ordinary share (or substantially identical securities); or (2) to the extent that the U.S. holder is under an obligation (pursuant to a short sale or otherwise) to make related payments with respect to positions in property substantially similar or related to the ordinary share with respect to which the dividend is paid. If we were to be a "passive foreign investment company," a "foreign personal holding company" or a "foreign investment company" (as such terms are defined in the Code) for any year, dividends paid on our ordinary shares in such year or in the following year would not be qualified dividends. In addition, a non-corporate U.S. holder will be able to take a qualified dividend into account in determining its deductible investment interest (which is generally limited to its net investment income) only if it elects to do so; in such case the dividend will be taxed at ordinary income rates.

The amount of any distribution which exceeds the amount treated as a dividend will be treated first as a non-taxable return of capital, reducing the U.S. holder's tax basis in its ordinary shares to the extent thereof, and then as capital gain from the deemed disposition of the ordinary shares. Corporate holders will not be allowed a deduction for dividends received in respect of the ordinary shares.

Dividends paid by us in NIS will be included in the income of U.S. holders at the dollar amount of the dividend (including any Israeli taxes withheld therefrom), based upon the spot rate of exchange in effect on the date of the distribution. U.S. holders will have a tax basis in the NIS for U.S. federal income tax purposes equal to that dollar value. Any subsequent gain or loss in respect of the NIS arising from exchange rate fluctuations will generally be taxable as U.S. source ordinary income or loss.

Subject to the limitations set forth in the Code and the Treasury regulations thereunder, U.S. holders may elect to claim as a foreign tax credit against their U.S. federal income tax liability the Israeli income tax withheld from dividends received in respect of the ordinary shares. The limitations on claiming a foreign tax credit include, among others, computation rules under which foreign tax credits allowable with respect to specific classes of income cannot exceed the U.S. federal income taxes otherwise payable with respect to each such class of income. In this regard, dividends paid by us will be foreign source "passive income" for U.S. foreign tax credit purposes or, in the case of a financial services entity, "financial services income." U.S. holders that do not elect to claim a foreign tax credit may instead claim a deduction for the Israeli income tax withheld if they itemize deductions. The rules relating to foreign tax credits are complex, and you should consult your tax advisor to determine whether and to what extent you would be entitled to this credit. A U.S. holder will be denied a foreign tax credit for Israeli income tax withheld from a dividend received on the ordinary shares (i) if the U.S. holder has not held the ordinary shares for at least 16 days of the 30 day period beginning on the date which is 15 days before the ex-dividend date with respect to such dividend or (ii) to the extent the U.S. holder is under an obligation to make related payments with respect to positions in substantially similar or related property. Any days during which a U.S. holder has substantially diminished its risk of loss on the ordinary shares are not counted toward meeting the required 16 day holding period. Distributions of current or accumulated earnings and profits will be foreign source passive income for U.S. foreign tax credit purposes.

Taxation of the Disposition of Ordinary Shares

Subject to the discussion below under "Tax Consequences if We are a Passive Foreign Investment Company," upon the sale, exchange or other disposition of our ordinary shares, a U.S. holder will recognize capital gain or loss in an amount equal to the difference between the amount realized on the disposition and the U.S. holder's tax basis in the ordinary shares. The gain or loss recognized on the disposition of the ordinary shares will be long-term capital gain or loss if the U.S. holder held the ordinary shares for more than one year at the time of the disposition and is eligible for a maximum 15% rate of taxation for individuals. The maximum

rate of 15% applies to sales or exchanges on or after May 6, 2003. Capital gain from the sale, exchange or other disposition of ordinary shares held for one year or less is short-term capital gain and taxed as ordinary income at a maximum rate of 35%. Gain or loss recognized by a U.S. holder on a sale, exchange or other disposition of ordinary shares will be treated as U.S. source income or loss for U.S. foreign tax credit purposes.

A U.S. holder that uses the cash method of accounting calculates the dollar value of the proceeds received on the sale as of the date that the sale settles. However, a U.S. holder that uses the accrual method of accounting is required to calculate the value of the proceeds of the sale as of the trade date and may therefore realize foreign currency gain or loss. A U.S. holder may avoid realizing foreign currency gain or loss by electing to use the settlement date to determine the proceeds of sale for purposes of calculating the foreign currency gain or loss. In addition, a U.S. holder that receives foreign currency upon disposition of ordinary shares and converts the foreign currency into dollars after the settlement date or trade date (whichever date the U.S. holder is required to use to calculate the value of the proceeds of sale) will have foreign exchange gain or loss based on any appreciation or depreciation in the value of the foreign currency against the dollar, which will generally be U.S. source ordinary income or loss.

Tax Consequences if We are a Passive Foreign Investment Company

We will be a passive foreign investment company, or PFIC, if either (1) 75% or more of our gross income in a taxable year is passive income; or (2) 50% or more of the value, determined on the basis of a quarterly average, of our assets in a taxable year are held for the production of passive income. If we own (directly or indirectly) at least 25% by value of the stock of another corporation, we will be treated for purposes of the foregoing tests as owning our proportionate share of the other corporation's assets and as directly earning our proportionate share of the other corporation's income. If we are a PFIC, a U.S. holder must determine under which of three alternative taxing regimes it wishes to be taxed:

The "QEF" regime applies if the U.S. holder elects to treat us as a "qualified electing fund" ("QEF") for the first taxable year in which the U.S. holder owns our ordinary shares or in which we are a PFIC, whichever is later, and if we comply with certain reporting requirements. If the QEF regime applies, then each year that we are a PFIC such U.S. holder will include in its gross income a proportionate share of the our ordinary earnings (which is taxed as ordinary income) and net capital gain (which is taxed as long-term capital gain), subject to a separate election to defer payment of taxes, which deferral is subject to an interest charge. These amounts would be included in income by an electing U.S. holder for its taxable year in which our taxable year ends, whether or not such amounts are actually distributed to the U.S. holder. A U.S. holder's basis in our ordinary shares for which a QEF election has been made would be increased to reflect the amount of any taxed but undistributed income. Generally, a QEF election allows an electing U.S. holder to treat any gain realized on the disposition of his ordinary shares as capital gain.

Once made, the QEF election applies to all subsequent taxable years of the U.S. holder in which it holds our ordinary shares and for which we are a PFIC and can be revoked only with the consent of the Internal Revenue Service. A shareholder makes a QEF election by attaching a completed Internal Revenue Service Form 8621, including the PFIC annual information statement, to a timely filed United States federal income tax return. Even if a QEF election is not made, a U.S. person who is a shareholder in a PFIC must file a completed Internal Revenue Service Form 8621 every year.

If a QEF election is made after the first taxable year in which a U.S. holder holds our ordinary shares and we are a PFIC, then both the QEF regime and the excess distribution regime, defined below, will apply simultaneously unless the U.S. holder makes a special election.

A second regime, the "mark-to-market" regime, may be elected so long as our ordinary shares are publicly traded. Pursuant to this regime, an electing U.S. holder's ordinary shares are marked-to-market each year and the U.S. holder recognizes as ordinary income or loss an amount equal to the difference as of the close of the taxable year between the fair market value of our ordinary shares and the U.S. holder's adjusted tax basis in our ordinary shares. Losses are allowed only to the extent of net mark-to-market gain previously included by the U.S. holder under the election for prior taxable years. An electing U.S. holder's adjusted basis in our ordinary shares is increased by income recognized under the mark-to-market election and decreased by the deductions allowed under the election.

Under the mark-to-market election, gain on the sale of our ordinary shares is treated as ordinary income, and loss on the sale of our ordinary shares, to the extent the amount of loss does not exceed the net mark-to-market gain previously included, is treated as ordinary loss. The mark-to-market election applies to the tax year for which the election is made and all later tax years, unless the ordinary shares cease to be marketable or the Internal Revenue Service consents to the revocation of the election.

If the mark-to-market election is made after the first taxable year in which a U.S. holder holds our ordinary shares and we are a PFIC, then special rules would apply.

A U.S. holder making neither the QEF election nor the mark-to-market election is subject to the "excess distribution" regime. Under this regime, "excess distributions" are subject to special tax rules. An excess distribution is either (1) a distribution with respect to shares that is greater than 125% of the average distributions received by the U.S. holder from us over the shorter of either the preceding three years or such U.S. holder's holding period for our shares, or (2) 100% of the gain from the disposition of our shares (including gain deemed recognized if the ordinary shares are used as security for a loan).

Excess distributions must be allocated ratably to each day that a U.S. holder has held our ordinary shares. A U.S. holder must include amounts allocated to the current taxable year, as well as amounts allocated to taxable years prior to the first year in which we were a PFIC, in its gross income as ordinary income for that year. All amounts allocated to prior years of the U.S. holder during which we were a PFIC would be taxed at the highest tax rate for each such prior year applicable to ordinary income. The U.S. holder also would be liable for interest on the deferred tax liability for each such prior year calculated as if such liability had been due with respect to each such prior year. A U.S. holder that is an individual is not allowed a deduction for interest on the deferred tax liability. The portions of gains and distributions that are not characterized as "excess distributions" are subject to tax in the current year under the normal tax rules of the Code.

A U.S. person who inherits shares in a foreign corporation that was a PFIC in the hands of the decedent (who was not a nonresident alien and did not make either of the elections described above), is denied the otherwise available step-up in the tax basis of such shares to fair market value at the date of death. The U.S. person steps into the shoes of the decedent and will be subject to the rules described above.

We believe that in 2003 we were not a PFIC. However, since the determination of whether we are a PFIC is based upon such factual matters as the valuation of our assets and, in certain cases, the assets of companies held by us, there can be no assurance with respect to the position of the Internal Revenue Service on our status as a PFIC. Our analysis related to 2003 is based, among others, upon certain assumptions and methodologies with respect to the values that we have used, the appropriate value of our ownership interest in companies we held, and the manner in which we have allocated the value among our active assets and passive assets.

We cannot assure you that the Internal Revenue Service will not challenge our assumptions and methodologies. If there were such a challenge, we could be classified as a passive foreign investment company for 2003.

With respect to 2004 and subsequent years, the tests for determining passive foreign investment company status are applied annually and it is difficult to make accurate predictions of future income and assets, which are relevant to this determination. The tests are impacted by changes in value of our group companies which are difficult to predict. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that we will not become a PFIC for the current fiscal year ending December 31, 2004 or in a future year. We will notify U.S. holders in the event we conclude that we will be treated as a PFIC for any taxable year to enable U.S. holders to consider whether or not to elect to treat us as a QEF for U.S. federal income tax purposes or to "mark to market" the ordinary shares or to become subject to the "excess distribution" regime.

U.S. holders are urged to consult their tax advisors regarding the application of the PFIC rules, including eligibility for and the manner and advisability of making, the QEF election or the mark-to-market election.

Information Reporting and Backup Withholding

A U.S. holder generally is subject to information reporting and may be subject to backup withholding at rate of up to 28% with respect to dividend payments and receipt of the proceeds from the disposition of the ordinary shares. Backup withholding will not apply with respect to payments made to exempt recipients, including corporations and tax-exempt organizations, or if a U.S. holder provides a correct taxpayer identification number (or certifies that he has applied for a taxpayer identification number), certifies that such holder is not subject to backup withholding or otherwise establishes an exemption. Backup withholding is not an additional tax and may be claimed as a credit against the U.S. federal income tax liability of a U.S. holder, or alternatively, the U.S. holder may be eligible for a refund of any excess amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules, in either case, provided that the required information is furnished to the Internal Revenue Service.

Non-U.S. holders of Ordinary Shares

Except as provided below, a non-U.S. holder of ordinary shares (except certain former U.S. citizens and long-term residents of the United States) will not be subject to U.S. federal income or withholding tax on the receipt of dividends on, and the proceeds from the disposition of, an ordinary share, unless that item is effectively connected with the conduct by the non-U.S. holder of a trade or business in the United States and, in the case of a resident of a country which has an income tax treaty with the United States, that item is attributable to a permanent establishment in the United States or, in the case of an individual, a fixed place of business in the United States. In addition, gain recognized by an individual non-U.S. holder will be subject to tax in the United

States if the non-U.S. holder is present in the United States for 183 days or more in the taxable year of the sale and other conditions are met.

Non-U.S. holders will not be subject to information reporting or backup withholding with respect to the payment of dividends on ordinary shares unless the payment is made through a paying agent, or an office of a paying agent, in the United States. Non-U.S. holders will be subject to information reporting and backup withholding at a rate of up to 28% with respect to the payment within the United States of dividends on the ordinary shares unless the holder provides its taxpayer identification number, certifies to its foreign status, or otherwise establishes an exemption.

Non-U.S. holders will be subject to information reporting and backup withholding at a rate of up to 28% on the receipt of the proceeds from the disposition of the ordinary shares to, or through, the United States office of a broker, whether domestic or foreign, unless the holder provides a taxpaver identification number, certifies to its foreign status or otherwise establishes an exemption. Non-U.S. holders will not be subject to information reporting or backup withholding with respect to the receipt of proceeds from the disposition of the ordinary shares by a foreign office of a broker; provided, however, that if the broker is a U.S. person or a "U.S. related person," information reporting (but not backup withholding) will apply unless the broker has documentary evidence in its records of the non-U.S. holder's foreign status or the non-U.S. holder certifies to its foreign status under penalties of perjury or otherwise establishes an exemption. For this purpose, a "U.S. related person" is a broker or other intermediary that maintains one or more enumerated U.S. relationships. Backup withholding is not an additional tax and may be claimed as a credit against the U.S. federal income tax liability of a non-U.S. holder, or alternatively, the non-U.S. holder may be eligible for a refund of any excess amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules, in either case, provided that the required information is furnished to the Internal Revenue Service.

F. Dividends and Paying Agents

Not Applicable.

G. Statement by Experts

Not Applicable.

H. Documents on Display

We are required to file reports and other information with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and the regulations thereunder applicable to foreign private issuers. Reports and other information filed by us with the SEC may be inspected and copied at the SEC's public reference facilities described below. Although as a foreign private issuer we are not required to file periodic information as frequently or as promptly as United States companies, we generally do publicly announce our quarterly and year-end results promptly and file periodic information with the SEC under cover of Form 6-K. As a foreign private issuer, we are also exempt from the rules under the Exchange Act prescribing the furnishing and content of proxy statements and our officers, directors and principal shareholders are exempt from the reporting and other provisions in Section 16 of the Exchange Act.

You may review a copy of our filings with the SEC, including any exhibits and schedules, at the SEC's public reference facilities in Room 1024, Judiciary Plaza, 450 Fifth Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20549 and at the regional offices of the SEC. You may also obtain copies of such materials from the Public Reference Section of the SEC, Room 1024, Judiciary Plaza, 450 Fifth Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20549, at prescribed rates. You may call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further information on the public reference rooms. You may read and copy any reports, statements or other information that we file with the Securities and Exchange Commission at the facilities listed above. In addition, certain of our filings are available to the public at the SEC's website at http://www.sec.gov. We also generally make available on our own web site (www.elron.com) all our quarterly and year-end financial statements as well as other information. Our website is not part of this Annual Report.

Any statement in this Annual Report about any of our contracts or other documents is not necessarily complete. If the contract or document is filed as an exhibit to this Annual Report, the contract or document is deemed to modify the description contained in this Annual Report. We urge you to review the exhibits themselves for a complete description of the contract or document.

I. Subsidiary Information

Not Applicable.

Item 11. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

For disclosures regarding our market risk exposures, see Item 5 Operating and Financial Review and Prospects above.

Item 12. Descriptions of Securities Other than Equity Securities

Not Applicable.

PART II

Item 13. <u>Defaults, Dividend Arrearages and Delinquencies</u>

Not Applicable.

Item 14. Material Modifications to the Rights of Security Holders and Use of Proceeds

Not Applicable.

Item 15. Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our periodic filings with the SEC is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and Chief Financial Officer (CFO), as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognized that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control

objectives. Furthermore, management necessarily was required to use its judgment in evaluating the cost to benefit relationship of possible disclosure controls and procedures.

As of the end of the period covered by this report, we performed an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures. The evaluation was performed with the participation of senior management of key corporate functions, and under the supervision of the CEO and CFO. Based on the evaluation, our management, including the CEO and CFO, concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective. There have been no significant changes in our internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls after the date we completed the evaluation.

Item 16. [Reserved]

ITEM 16A. Audit Committee Financial Expert

The board of directors has determined that Mr. Yaacov Goldman is the financial expert serving on its audit committee.

Item 16B. Code of Ethics

We have adopted a code of ethics applicable to our chief executive officer, chief financial officer, controller and persons performing similar functions as well as to our directors and other employees and the employees of our nearly wholly owned subsidiary, Elron TeleSoft. A copy of the code of ethics is attached to this report as Exhibit 11.1, and is available on our website, www.elron.com.

Item 16C. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The following table sets forth the total remuneration that was paid by us and our subsidiaries to our independent accountants Kost Forer Gabbay & Kasierer (a member of Ernst & Young Global) and our former independent accountants Luboshitz Kasierer (an affiliate member of Ernst & Young International) in each of our previous two fiscal years:

	<u>2002</u>	<u>2003</u>
	(in thousand	s)
Audit fees (1)	239	152
Audit-related fees (2)	160	107
Tax fees (3)	215	65
All other fees (4)	134	54
Total	748	378

⁽¹⁾ Audit Fees consist of fees billed for the annual audit services engagement and other audit services, which are those services that only the external auditor can reasonably provide, and include statutory audits; comfort letters and consents; and assistance with and review of documents filed with the SEC.

⁽²⁾ Audit-related Fees consist of fees billed for assurance and related services that are reasonably related to the performance of the audit or review of our financial statements or that are traditionally performed by the external auditor, and include consultations concerning financial accounting and reporting standards

and internal control reviews. In 2002, the amount of fees relates principally to services provided in connection with our merger with Elbit in May 2002.

- (3) Tax Fees include fees billed for tax compliance services, including the preparation of original and amended tax returns and claims for tax refund; tax consultations, such as assistance and representation in connection with tax audits and appeals, and requests for rulings or technical advice from taxing authority; and tax planning services.
- 4) All other fees include permissible services provided by the independent auditors that do not fall into the two above-mentioned categories..

No audit and non-audit services provided to us and to our subsidiaries were required to be pre-approved during the periods listed above.

Items 16D. Exemptions from the Listing Standards for Audit Committees

Not yet applicable to Registrant.

Items 16E. Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers

Neither we nor any affiliated purchaser purchased any of our equity securities during 2003.

PART III

Item 17. Financial Statements

Not Applicable.

Item 18. Financial Statements

The financial statements follow the certifications following the signature page of this Annual Report.

Item 19. Exhibits

- 1.1 Articles of Association (English translation) approved by the registrant's shareholders on March 19, 2000, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.1 to the registrant's Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2000, filed with the Commission on June 8, 2001.
- 1.2 Memorandum of Association of Elron Electronic Industries Ltd., incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.2 to the registrant's Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2000, filed with the Commission on June 8, 2001.
- 4.1 Shareholders Agreement entered into between Elron Electronic Industries Ltd., Federmann Enterprises Ltd. and Heris Finanz A.G., dated December 19, 1999, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the registrant's Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 1999, filed with the Commission on June 30, 2000.
- 4.2 Joint Venture Agreement dated as of April 1993 among Discount Investment Corporation Ltd., PEC Israel Economic Corporation, Rafael Armament Development Authority Ltd., Galram Technology Industries Limited, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Amendment No. 5 to the registrant's Registration Statement on Form F-4, filed with the Commission on March 14, 2002 ("RDC Joint Venture Agreement").

- 4.3 Merger Agreement dated December 19, 1999 by and between Elbit Systems Ltd., Elop Electro-Optics Industries Ltd., Federmann Enterprises Ltd., Heris Finanz Aktiengeselshaft, and Rehovot Instruments Ltd., incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2 to the Form 6-K of Elbit Systems Ltd., filed with the Commission on March 6, 2000.
- 4.4 Registration Rights Agreement dated as of July 5, 2000 among the registrant, Elbit Systems Ltd., Federmann Enterprises Ltd., and Heris Finanz A.G., incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2 to the Form 6-K of Elbit Systems Ltd., filed with the Commission on March 6, 2000.
- 4.5 Share purchase agreement dated as of March 2, 2000 among Microsoft Corporation, Peach Networks Ltd. ("Peach"), Elbit Ltd., Ofir Paz, Avishai Keren, Meir Feder and the shareholders of Peach, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Annual Report on Form 20-F/A of Elbit Ltd., filed with the Commission on March 15, 2002.
- 4.6 Asset purchase agreement dated as of June 5, 2000, by and among Cisco Systems, Inc., Elbit, Ltd. and HyNEX Ltd., incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Annual Report on Form 20-F/A of Elbit Ltd., filed with the Commission on March 15, 2002.
- 4.7 Bank Facility of Partner Communications Company Ltd. dated August 13, 1998, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Annual Report on Form 20-F/A of Elbit Ltd., filed with the Commission on March 15, 2002.
- 4.8 Amending and Rescheduling Agreement dated July 9, 2000 (amending the Bank Facility of Partner Communications Company Ltd.), incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the Annual Report on Form 20-F/A of Elbit Ltd., filed with the Commission on March 15, 2002.
- 4.9 License from the Israeli Ministry of Communications issued to Partner Communications Company Ltd. on April 8, 1998, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 to the Annual Report on Form 20-F/A of Elbit Ltd., filed with the Commission on March 15, 2002.
- 4.10 Form of Indenture between Partner Communications Company Ltd. and The Bank of New York, as Trustee, including form of note, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.6 to the Annual Report on Form 20-F/A of Elbit Ltd., filed with the Commission on March 15, 2002.
- 4.11 Relationship Agreement dated October 10, 1999 by and among Matav-Cable Systems Media, Hutchison Whampoa Limited and Matbit Telecommunication Systems Ltd. (original shareholders of Partner Communications Company), incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.7 to the Annual Report on Form 20-F/A of Elbit Ltd., filed with the Commission on March 15, 2002.
- 4.12 Agreement and Plan of Merger between Elron Electronic Industries Ltd. and Elbit Ltd. dated October 31, 2001, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the registrant's Registration Statement on Form F-4, filed with the Commission on November 15, 2001.
- 4.13 Share Purchase Agreement dated as of November 19, 2001, between Elron Electronic Industries Ltd. and Discount Investment Corporation Ltd., incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant's Registration Statement on Form F-4, filed with the Commission on November 15, 2001.
- 4.14 Addendum to RDC Joint Venture Agreement dated June 16, 2003 among DEP Technology Holdings Ltd., Rafael Armament Development Authority Ltd., Galram Technologies Industries Ltd. and RDC Rafael Development Corporation Ltd.

- incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.17 of the registrant's Form 20-F, filed with the Commission on June 30, 2003.
- 4.15 Deed of Pledge dated June 29, 2003 between Elbit Ltd. and Bank Leumi Le- Israel B.M.
- 8.1 List of subsidiaries.
- 11.1 Code of Ethics.
- 12.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer of the Registrant pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxlev Act of 2002.
- 12.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer of the Registrant pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
- 13.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer of the Registrant pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.*
- 13.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer of the Registrant pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.*
- 15.1 Consent of Kost Forer Gabbay & Kasierer, a member of Ernst & Young Global, for Elron Electronic Industries Ltd.
- 15.2 Consent of Luboshitz Kasierer, an affiliate member of Ernst & Young International, for Elron Electronic Industries Ltd.
- 15.3 Consent of Kost Forer Gabbay & Kasierer, a member of Ernst & Young Global, for Elbit Systems Ltd.
- 15.4 Consent of Luboshitz Kasierer, an affiliate member of Ernst & Young International, for Elbit Systems Ltd.
- 15.5 Consent of Brightman Almagor & Co., a member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, for A.M.T. Advanced Metal Technologies Ltd.
- 15.6 Consent of Somekh Chaikin, a member of KPMG International, for Given Imaging Ltd.
- 15.7 Consent of Somekh Chaikin, a member of KPMG International, for DEP Technology Holdings Ltd.
- 15.8 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP for ChipX Incorporated.
- 15.9 Consent of Kost Forer Gabbay & Kasierer, a member of Ernst & Young Global, for ChipX (Israel) Ltd.
- 15.10 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP for Notal Vision, Inc.
- 15.11 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP for Oncura, Inc.
- 15.12 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP for Pulsicom Israel Technologies Ltd.
- 15.13 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP for Ingenio Technologies Ltd.
- * This document is being furnished in accordance with SEC Release No. 33-8212 and 34-47551.

SIGNATURES

The registrant hereby certifies that it meets all of the requirements for filing on Form 20-F and that it has duly caused and authorized the undersigned to sign this Annual Report on its behalf.

Dated: June 28, 2004 **ELRON ELECTRONIC INDUSTRIES LTD.**

By: /s/ Doron Birger

Name: Doron Birger

Title: President & Chief Executive

Officer

By: /s/ Tal Raz

Name: Tal Raz

Title: Vice President & Chief Financial

Officer

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2003

INDEX

	Page
Report of Independent Auditors	2 - 3
Consolidated Balance Sheets	4 - 5
Consolidated Statements of Operations	6
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity	7
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows	8 - 10
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements	11 – 60
Annex to the Consolidated Financial Statements	61

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

To the Shareholders of ELRON ELECTRONIC INDUSTRIES LTD.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Elron Electronic Industries Ltd. (the "Company") and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2003, and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in shareholders' equity and cash flows for the year then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We did not audit the financial statements of certain affiliates, the investment in which, at equity, amounted to \$46.8 million as of December 31, 2003, and the Company's equity in their losses amounted to \$9.7 million for the year then ended. Those financial statements were audited by other auditors whose reports have been furnished to us, and our opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for those companies, is based solely on the reports of other auditors.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit and the reports of other auditors provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, based on our audit and the reports of other auditors, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Company and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2003 and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for the year then ended, in conformity with United States generally accepted accounting principles.

As discussed in Note 2(s) to the consolidated financial statements, on January 1, 2003, the Company adopted SFAS 123, "Accounting for Stock - Based Compensation" with respect to all employee awards granted, modified or settled after January 1, 2003.

Tel-Aviv, Israel March 10, 2004

KOST FORER GABBAY & KASIERER A Member of Ernst & Young Global

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

To the Shareholders of ELRON ELECTRONIC INDUSTRIES LTD.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Elron Electronic Industries Ltd. (the "Company") and its subsidiaries, as of December 31, 2002 (as restated – see Note 7(d)7), and the related restated consolidated statements of operations, changes in shareholders' equity and cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2002. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We did not audit the financial statements of certain subsidiaries, whose assets constitute 4.5% of consolidated total assets as of December 31, 2002, and whose net losses constitute approximately 4.8% of consolidated net loss for the year ended December 31, 2002. Also, we did not audit the financial statements of certain affiliates, the investment in which, at equity, amounted to \$13.0 million as of December 31, 2002, and the Company's equity in their losses amounted to \$4.6 million and \$8.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Those financial statements were audited by other auditors included for those companies, is based solely on the reports of other auditors.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits and the reports of other auditors provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, based on our audits and the reports of other auditors, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Company and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2002 and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2002, in conformity with United States generally accepted accounting principles. As discussed in note 2(1) to the consolidated financial statements, on January 1, 2002, the Company adopted SFAS 142, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets".

Luboshitz Kasierer An affiliate member of Ernst & Young International

Tel Aviv, Israel March 12, 2003, except as to Note 7(d)7 which is dated March 10, 2004

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

		Decen	nber 31,
	Note	2003	2002
ASSETS CURRENT ASSETS Cash and cash equivalents Short-term investments Trade receivables, net ** Other receivables and prepaid expenses ** Inventories and contracts-in-progress	4 5 6	\$ 83,906 37,158 5,016 2,516 1,471	\$ 67,901 3,180 9,238 4,528 2,197
Total current assets		130,067	87,044
LONG-TERM ASSETS Investments in affiliated companies Investments in other companies and long-term receivables ** Long-term debentures and bank deposits Deferred taxes Severance pay deposits	7 8 10 16	156,819 128,799 700 1,871 2,144	*132,204 * 89,134 28,928 2,990 2,262
Total long-term assets		290,333	255,518
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET	11	8,317	11,576
INTANGIBLE ASSETS Goodwill Other intangible assets	12	12,019 9,968 21,987	21,538 18,577 40,115
Total assets		\$ 450,704	\$ 394,253

^{*} Restated - see Note 7(d)(7).

^{**} Include receivables from related parties in the aggregate amount of \$3,684 and \$2,462 as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

		Decem	ber 31,
	Note	2003	2002
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY CURRENT LIABILITIES			
Short-term loans from banks and others	13	\$ 11,986	\$ 15,362
Current maturities of long-term loans from banks and others	15	44,021	17,637
Trade payables		3,408	5,738
Other payables and accrued expenses	14	13,620	16,516
Total current liabilities		73,035	55,253
LONG-TERM LIABILITIES			
Long-term loans from banks and others	15	17,221	49,389
Accrued severance pay and retirement obligations	10	2,850	2,921
Deferred taxes	16	40,684	23,650
Other		103	414
Total long-term liabilities		60,858	76,374
MINORITY INTEREST		20,681	3,185
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY: Ordinary shares of NIS 0.003 par value; Authorized: 35,000,000 shares as of December 31, 2003 and 2002; Issued and outstanding: 29,206,845 and 29,180,970 shares as of	18		
December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively;		9,572	9,572
Additional paid-in capital		267,113	267,482
Accumulated other comprehensive income		51,792	7,529
Accumulated deficit		(32,347)	* (25,142)
Total shareholders' equity		296,130	259,441
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity		\$ 450,704	\$ 394,253

^{*}Restated - See Note 7 (d)(7)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

		Year	ended Deceml	oer 31
	Note	2003	* 2002	* 2001
INCOME		A. 1.5.7.17	A. 15.15 0	ф. 33.7 33
Net revenues**	• •	\$ 16,547	\$ 15,179	\$ 23,782
Equity in losses of affiliated companies	20	(8,698)	*(24,189)	*(28,787)
Gain from disposal of businesses and affiliated companies	21	25.754	C 000	2.170
and changes in holdings in affiliated companies, net	21 22	25,754	6,888	3,179
Other income (expenses), net	22	14,665	(743)	(4,888)
		48,268	(2,865)	(6,714)
COSTS AND EXPENSES				
Cost of revenues		10,198	10,716	21,059
Research and development costs, net		3,787	3,418	3,801
Marketing and selling expenses, net		7,763	6,412	2,496
General and administrative expenses		13,923	9,658	9,390
Restructuring costs	24	· -	1,747	1,192
Amortization of intangible assets		1,073	1,044	2,448
Financial expenses (income), net	23	753	81	(1,708)
		37,497	33,076	38,678
Income (loss) before tax benefit (taxes on income)		10,771	*(35,941)	*(45,392)
Tax benefit (taxes on income)	16	(6,834)	2,862	2,985
Income (loss) from continuing operations after taxes on	10	(0,034)	2,002	2,763
income income		3,937	*(33,079)	*(42,407)
Minority interest in losses (income) of subsidiaries		(10,907)	2,823	438
Loss from continuing operations		(6,970)	*(30,256)	*(41,969)
Loss from discontinued operations	25	(235)	(11,323)	(10,390)
2035 From discontinued operations	23	(233)	(11,323)	(10,570)
Net loss		\$ (7,205)	\$ *(41,579)	\$ *(52,359)
Loss per share	19			
Basic:				
Loss from continuing operations		\$ (0.24)	\$ *(1.15)	\$ *(1.98)
Loss from discontinued operations		\$ (0.01)	\$ (0.43)	\$ *(0.49)
Net loss		\$ (0.25)	\$ *(1.58)	\$ *(2.47)
Diluted :				
Loss from continuing operations		\$ (0.24)	\$ *(1.15)	\$ *(1.99)
Loss from discontinued operations		\$ (0.01)	\$ *(0.43)	\$ *(0.49)
2055 Holli discontinuca operations		ψ (0.01)	Ψ (0.43)	ψ (0.42)
Net loss		\$ (0.25)	\$ *(1.58)	\$ *(2.48)
Weighted average number of shares used in computing basic				
and diluted net loss per share (thousands)		29,194	26,272	21,191
(monature)				

^{*} Restated - See Note 7(d)(7).

^{**} Include revenues in the amount of \$4,156, \$2,487 and \$3,284, for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively, from related parties.

STATEMENT OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

cios donars in visusanas, encept siture and per situr	Number of shares	Sh	are capital	Additional id-in capital	ccumulated other nprehensive income	(A	Retained earnings accumulated deficit)	com	Total prehensive ome (loss)	sh	Total areholders' equity
Balance as of January 1, 2001(*) Exercise of options Changes in additional paid-in capital in affiliated companies Change in holdings in affiliated company Amortization of deferred stock compensation Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:	21,188,664 25,000	\$	9,567 - - -	\$ 158,898 306 2,899 3,583 (6)	\$ 36,459 - - -	\$	68,796 - -			\$	273,720 306 2,899 3,583 (6)
Unrealized gains on available for sale securities Reclassification adjustment for gain realized included in net loss Foreign currency translation adjustment Net loss	- - - -		- - - -	- - - -	 6,850 (1,056) (22)		(52,359)	\$	6,850 (1,056) (22) (52,359)		6,850 (1,056) (22) (52,359)
Balance as of December 31, 2001(*) Total comprehensive loss	21,213,664	\$	9,567	\$ 165,680	\$ 42,231	\$	*16,437	\$	(46,587)	\$	233,915
Exercise of options Issuance of shares pursuant to the merger with Elbit Issuance of shares pursuant to the purchase of DEP Changes in additional paid-in capital in affiliated companies Amortization of deferred stock compensation	87,862 5,617,601 2,261,843		- 4 1 -	605 71,191 29,448 336 222	- - -		- - -				605 71,195 29,449 336 222
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax: Unrealized losses on available for sale securities Reclassification adjustment for gain realized and other than temporary impairment included in net loss Minimum pension liability in an affiliated Company Net loss			- - - -	- - -	(33,035) (1,070) (597)		(41,579)	\$	(33,035) (1,070) (597) (41,579)		(33,035) (1,070) (597) (41,579)
Balance as of December 31, 2002 (*) Total comprehensive loss	29,180,970	\$	9,572	\$ 267,482	\$ 7,529	\$	(25,142)	\$	(76,281)	\$	259,441
Exercise of options Changes in additional paid-in capital in affiliated companies Amortization of deferred stock compensation Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:	25,875		- - -	177 (932) 386	- - -		- - -		- - -		177 (932) 386
Unrealized gains on available for sale securities Reclassification adjustment for gain realized included in net loss Foreign currency translation adjustment Minimum pension liability in an affiliated company Unrealized loss on derivative instrument in affiliated company Net loss	- - - - -		- - - - -	 - - - - -	 55,960 (11,113) (304) (172) (108)		(7,205)	\$	55,960 (11,113) (304) (172) (108) (7,205)		55,960 (11,113) (304) (172) (108) (7,205)
Balance as of December 31, 2003 Total comprehensive income	29,206,845	\$	9,572	\$ 267,113	\$ 51,792	\$	(32,347)	\$	37,058	\$	296,130

^{*}Restated - See Note 7(d)(7).

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data			
U.S. donars in thousands, except share and per share data	Ye	ear ended Decemb	er 31,
	2003	2002	2001
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES	ф (7.205)	ф	Φ
Net loss Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in) operating	\$ (7,205)	\$ *(41,579)	\$ *(52,359)
activities:			
Equity in losses of affiliated companies	8,698	*24,189	*28,787
Dividend from affiliated companies	2,971	2,670	13,805
Minority interest in income (losses) of subsidiaries	10,907	(2,823)	(438)
Gain from disposal of businesses and affiliated companies and changes in holdings in affiliated companies, net	(25,754)	(6,888)	(3,179)
Gain from sale of investments in available for sale securities	(17,924)	(706)	(999)
Gain from disposal of businesses included in discontinued operations	(4,137)	(1,991)	()))
Depreciation and amortization	3,573	4,372	6,362
Decline in value of other investments	3,716	1,866	1,222
Equity in losses of partnerships	547	303	25
Amortization (appreciation) of deferred stock compensation and call options	2,564	(104)	29
Deferred taxes, net	6,229	(3,398)	(2,796)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities			
Decrease in trade receivables	3,491	2,515	2,328
Decrease (increase) in other receivables and prepaid expenses	1,888	3,439	(1,305)
Decrease (increase) in trading securities, net	(4) 589	231 698	16,652
Decrease (increase) in inventories and contracts-in-progress Increase (decrease) in trade payables	(2,009)	(1,385)	(1,310) 1,435
Decrease in other payables and accrued expenses	(5,275)	(11,314)	(7,710)
Other	652	695	568
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities	(16,483)	(29,210)	1,117
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES	(10,403)	(2),210)	1,117
Investment in affiliated companies	(13,384)	*(19,951)	*(17,931)
Proceeds from sale of Elbit Systems shares	-	5,862	6,655
Proceeds from sale of Given Imaging shares	13,878	6,918	-
Cash and cash equivalents resulting from the merger with Elbit (Schedule A)	-	14,883	-
Cash and cash equivalents resulting from the share purchase of DEP			
(Schedule B)	-	284	-
Cash and cash equivalents resulting from newly consolidated subsidiaries		2.050	
(Schedule C)	-	2,978	-
Cash and cash equivalents resulting from sale of businesses and subsidiaries (Schedule D)	(6,148)	(1,984)	
Investment in other companies	(299)	*(3,700)	*(1,900)
Proceeds from sale of investments in other companies	(299)	405	1,115
Repayment of long term receivables	772		1,113
Proceeds from sale of available for sale securities	46,143	890	1,332
Investments in held to maturity debentures and deposits	(10,877)	(11,381)	(12,213)
Proceeds from maturities of deposits and held to maturity debentures	8,975	4,482	39,357
Purchase of property and equipment	(547)	(969)	(1,132)
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment	329	515	311
Proceeds from sale of certain activities		6,589	3,430
Net cash provided by investing activities	38,842	5,821	19,024
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES	1.55	<0.5	20.6
Proceeds from options exercised	177	605	306
Proceeds from exercise of options in a subsidiary	4.022	2	71
Receipt of long-term loans from banks Repayment of loans from shareholder	4,032	9,152 (1,378)	9,540
Repayment of long-term loans	(6,200)	(706)	(630)
Decrease in short-term bank loan, net	(4,076)	(8,954)	401
Repayment of loans from minority shareholders of a subsidiary	(4,246)	(0,231)	-
Receipt of short-term loans from minority shareholders of a subsidiary	904	_	-
Proceeds from issuance of convertible notes to minority shareholders of a			
subsidiary	3,055	2,165	
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities	(6,354)	886	9,688
INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS	16,005	(22,503)	29,829
	16,005 67,901 \$ 83,906	(22,503) 90,404 \$ 67,901	29,829 60,575 \$ 90,404

^{*}Restated – see Note 7(d)(7).

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Cont.)

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

	Year ended December 31,					
Supplemental cash flow information: Cash paid during the year for:		2003		2002		2001
Income taxes	<u>\$</u>	96	\$	521	\$	6,025
Interest	<u>\$</u>	1,466	\$	1,916	\$	4,202
Non-cash transactions: Exchange of marketable securities	\$	-	\$	-	\$	2,140

SCHEDULE A:

ash and cash equivalents resulting from the merger with Elbit	Year ended December 31,
Assets acquired and liabilities assumed on the merger date:	2002
Working capital deficiency, net (except cash and cash equivalents)	\$ 6,970
Property and equipment	(9,225)
Investments in affiliated companies	(5,423)
Other investments	(111,482)
Other long -term assets	(1,820)
Goodwill	(18,275)
Long-term liabilities	40,122
Investment at equity prior to merger	42,739
Minority interests	82
Issuance of shares and options	71,195
Cash and cash equivalents acquired	\$ 14,883

SCHEDULE B:

Cash and cash equivalents resulting from the share purchase of DEP	Year ended December 31,
Assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the share purchase date:	2002
Working capital deficiency, net (except cash and cash equivalents)	\$ 19,115
Property and equipment	(28)
Investments in affiliated companies	(40,493)
Other investments	(3,315)
Other long-term assets	(5,486)
Long-term liabilities	1,451
Investment at equity prior to acquisition	385
Minority interests	(794)
Issuance of shares	29,449
Cash and cash equivalents acquired	\$ 284

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Cont.)

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

SCHEDULE C:	=	ear ended cember 31, 2002
Cash and cash equivalents resulting from newly consolidated subsidiaries		
Assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the purchase date:		
Working capital deficiency, net (except cash and cash equivalents)	\$	3,230
Property and equipment		(2,007)
Intangible assets		(12,024)
Deferred taxes		3,260
Accrued severance pay, net		179
Investment at equity prior to acquisition		8,231
Minority interests		2,109
Cash and cash equivalents acquired		2,978

SCHEDULE D:		Year ended December 31,			
		2003		2002	
Cash and cash equivalents resulting from disposal of businesses					
Assets and liabilities at date of sale:					
Working capital deficiency, net (except cash and cash equivalents)	\$	(708)	\$	(677)	
Property and equipment		1,274		266	
Other assets		6,532		200	
Deferred tax liability		(907)		-	
Accrued severance pay, net		_		(33)	
Gain resulting from sale of businesses		22,833		1,991	
Securities received:					
Marketable securities		(5,400)		(1,600)	
Other investments		(1,000)		(2,131)	
Investment in affiliated Company		(30,272)		-	
Liability incurred		1,500			
Cash and cash equivalents paid	\$	(6,148)	\$	(1,984)	

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

NOTE 1:- GENERAL

Elron Electronic Industries Ltd. ("Elron" or "the Company"), an Israeli corporation, is a multi-national high technology operational holding company. Elron's global business is conducted through subsidiaries and affiliates, primarily in the fields of defense electronics, medical devices, communication, software, semiconductors and advanced materials.

NOTE 2:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States ("US GAAP").

The significant accounting policies followed in the preparation of the financial statements, applied on a consistent basis, are:

a. Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of income and expenses during the reported period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

b. Financial statements in U.S. dollars

The financial statements have been prepared in U.S. dollars, since the currency of the primary economic environment in which the operations of the Company, its principal subsidiaries and affiliates are conducted is the U.S. dollar. Most of the Company's assets and liabilities are in U.S. dollars and sales of its subsidiaries are mainly in U.S. dollars. Therefore, the functional and reporting currency of the Company and its subsidiaries is the U.S. dollar.

Transactions and balances originally denominated in U.S. dollars are presented at their original amounts. Transactions and balances in other currencies have been remeasured into U.S. dollars in accordance with the principles set forth in Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 52 "Foreign Currency Translation: ("SFAS No. 52").

Accordingly, amounts in currencies other than U.S. dollars have been translated as follows:

Monetary balances - at the exchange rate in effect on the balance sheet date. Non-monetary balances – at historical exchange rates.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

NOTE 2:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.)

b. Financial statements in U.S. dollars (Cont.)

Revenues and expenses— at the exchange rates in effect as of the date of recognition of the transaction.

All exchange gains and losses from the remeasurement mentioned above are reflected in the statement of operations in financial expenses (income), net.

The financial statements of an affiliate accounted for under the equity method, whose functional currency is not the U.S. dollar, have been translated into dollars in accordance with SFAS No. 52. All balance sheet accounts have been translated using the exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date. Statement of income amounts have been translated using average exchange rates prevailing during the year. The resulting aggregate translation adjustments are reported as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income in shareholders' equity.

c. Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries, in which the Company has a controlling voting interest. Inter-company balances and transactions have been eliminated upon consolidation.

As of the balance sheet date the significant subsidiaries whose balances and results are consolidated are: Elbit Ltd. ("Elbit"), DEP Technology Holdings Ltd. ("DEP"), RDC Rafael Development Corporation Ltd. ("RDC"), Elron Telesoft Inc. ("ETI"), Elron SW Inc.("ESW")((Formerly: Elron Software ("ESI")), Galil Medical Ltd. ("Galil") and Mediagate N.V. ("Mediagate").

d. Business combinations

Business combinations have been accounted for using the purchase method of accounting. Under the purchase method of accounting the results of operations of the acquired business are included from the effective date of acquisition. The costs to acquire companies, including transactions costs, have been allocated to the underlying net assets of each acquired company in proportion to their respective fair values. Any excess of the purchase price over estimated fair values of the identifiable net assets acquired has been recorded as goodwill.

e. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to cash with maturities of three months or less at the date acquired.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

NOTE 2:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.)

f. Long-term debentures and deposits

Bank deposits and debentures which are classified as held-to-maturity with maturities of more than one year and short-term bank deposits held as security for long-term loans are included in long-term debentures and bank deposits. Debentures are classified as held-to-maturity when the Company has the intent and ability to hold these securities to maturity. The debentures and deposits are measured at amortized cost plus accrued interest. Accrued interest is recorded as finance income.

g. Marketable securities

Management determines the classification of marketable investments in debt securities with fixed maturities and marketable equity securities at the time of purchase and reevaluates such designations at each balance sheet date.

Some marketable securities are classified as trading securities and are stated at the quoted market prices at each balance sheet date. Gains and losses (realized and unrealized) relating to trading securities as well as interest on such securities are included as other income (expenses).

Certain marketable securities covered by SFAS No. 115 "Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities", ("SFAS No. 115") are classified as available-for-sale. Accordingly, these securities are measured at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses reported net-of-tax in accumulated other comprehensive income, a separate component of shareholders' equity. Realized gains and losses on sales of investments, and decline in value judged to be other than temporary, are included in the consolidated statement of operations. When computing realized gain or loss, cost is determined on an average basis.

h. Inventories and contracts in progress

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market value. Inventory write-offs are provided for slow-moving items and technological obsolescence.

Cost is determined as follows:

Raw materials - using the average cost method, or the "first in, first out" method. Contracts-in-progress - represent amounts related to long-term contracts as determined by the percentage of completion method of accounting. Finished Products - raw materials as mentioned above and other direct and indirect manufacturing costs on an average basis or "first in, first out" method.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

NOTE 2:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.)

i. Investments in companies

Investments in which the Company has significant influence but less than a controlling voting interest are accounted for using the equity method. Significant influence is presumed to exist when the Company owns between 20%-50% of the investee. However, whether or not the Company has significant influence depends on evaluation of certain factors including among others, the Company's representation on the investee's board of directors, agreements with other shareholders, additional voting rights, participation in policy making processes, existence of material intercompany transactions and technological dependency and the extent of ownership by the Company in relation to the concentration of other shareholders.

The Company discontinues to apply the equity method when its investment (including advances and loans) is reduced to zero and it has no guaranteed obligations of the affiliate or is not otherwise committed to provide further financial support to the affiliate.

In circumstances where the Company's ownership in an affiliate is in the form of a preferred security or other senior security, the Company recognizes losses based on the ownership level of the particular affiliate's security or loan held by the Company to which the equity method losses are being applied.

The excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net tangible assets acquired is attributed to goodwill, technology and other identifiable intangible assets. Goodwill is no longer amortized effective January 1, 2002 - See Note 1 below. Technology and other identifiable intangible assets are amortized over a period of approximately 5-12 years, commencing from the acquisition date.

Gains arising from issuance of shares by affiliated companies to third parties are recorded as "Gains from disposal of businesses and affiliated companies and changes in holdings in affiliated companies net" in the consolidated statements of operations, unless the issuing company is a development stage company for which the gain (loss) from issuance is accounted for as an equity transaction pursuant to SAB 51 "Accounting for Sales of Stock by a Subsidiary".

When an investment in an investee, that was previously accounted for on other than the equity method, becomes qualified for use of the equity method by an increase in level of ownership, the equity method of accounting is adopted retroactively and financial statements of prior periods are adjusted accordingly.

Investments in partnerships are accounted for under the equity method.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

NOTE 2:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.)

i. Investments in companies (Cont.)

Investments in non-marketable securities of companies in which the Company does not have the ability to exercise significant influence over operating and financial policies are presented at cost.

Management evaluates investments in affiliates and other companies for evidence of other than temporary declines in value. When relevant factors indicate a decline in value that is other than temporary, the Company records a provision for the decline in value. A judgmental aspect of accounting for investments involves determining whether an other-than-temporary decline in value of the investment has been sustained. Such evaluation is dependent on the specific facts and circumstances. Accordingly, management evaluates financial information (e.g., budgets, business plans, financial statements, etc.) in determining whether an other-than-temporary decline in value exists. Factors indicative of an other-than-temporary decline include recurring operating losses, credit defaults and subsequent rounds of financings at an amount below the cost basis of the investment. This list is not all inclusive and management weighs all quantitative and qualitative factors in determining if an other-than-temporary decline in value of an investment has occurred.

j. Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and investment grants. Depreciation is calculated by the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets at the following annual rates:

	%
Land and Buildings	0-4
Computers, Machinery and Furniture	6 - 33
Motor vehicles	15-20
Leasehold improvements	over the term of the lease

k. Impairment and disposal of long-lived assets

The Company's and its subsidiaries' long-lived assets (including identifiable intangible assets subject to amortization) are reviewed for impairment in accordance with SFAS No. 144, "Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets", whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to the future undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If an asset is considered to be impaired, the impairment is measured by the difference between

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

NOTE 2:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.)

k. Impairment and disposal of long-lived assets (Cont.)

the carrying amount of the asset and its fair value. Assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of their carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell.

1. Intangible assets

Intangible assets include mainly technology, goodwill and other identifiable intangible assets acquired in connection with the purchase of subsidiaries and businesses. Technology and other identifiable finite lived intangible assets are amortized over their estimated useful life.

The Company and its subsidiaries evaluate the amortization periods of all identifiable intangible assets to determine whether events or circumstances warrant revised estimates of useful lives.

Effective January 1, 2002, the Company adopted the full provisions of SFAS No. 142 "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets ("SFAS No. 142"). Under SFAS No. 142 goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives are no longer amortized but instead are tested for impairment at least annually (or more frequently if impairment indicators arise).

SFAS No. 142 prescribes a two phase process for impairment testing of goodwill. The first phase screens for impairment; while the second phase (if necessary) measures impairment. The Company performed its first phase impairment analysis during the fourth quarter of 2003 and 2002 and found no instances of impairment of its recorded goodwill. In the first phase of impairment testing, goodwill attributable to each of the reporting units is tested for impairment by comparing the fair value of each reporting unit with its carrying value.

Fair value is determined using discounted cash flows and market capitalization. Significant estimates used in the discounted cash flow methodology include estimates of future cash flows, future short-term and long-term growth rates and discount rates for each of the reportable units. The Company expects to perform the impairment tests during the fourth fiscal quarter of each year.

m. Revenue recognition

The Company's subsidiaries sell, license and support computer software, systems and disposable products.

Software sales are accounted for in accordance with Statement of Position (SOP) 97-2, "Software Revenue Recognition," as amended.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

NOTE 2:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.)

m. Revenue recognition (Cont.)

Revenues from license fees or product sales are recognized when delivery of the product has occurred, the fee is fixed or determinable, collectibility is probable, vendor specific objective evidence exists to allocate total fees to elements of an arrangement (in the case of license fees) and persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists.

Maintenance and support revenue included in multiple element arrangements is deferred and recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the maintenance and support agreement.

When the products are warranted, a provision is recorded for probable costs, in connection with the warranties, based on the Company's subsidiaries' experience and estimates.

Revenues from software licenses that require significant customization, integration and installation and from projects, related to software development, are recognized based on SOP 81-1 "Accounting for Performance of Construction - Type and Certain Production - Type Contracts", according to which revenues are recognized on a percentage of completion basis. Percentage of completion is measured by the efforts expended method based on the ratio of hours performed to date to estimated total hours at completion. Anticipated losses on contracts are charged to earnings when identified. Estimated gross profit or loss from long-term contracts may change due to changes in estimates resulting from differences between actual performance and original forecasts. Such changes in estimated gross profit are recorded in results of operations when they are reasonably determinable by management, on a cumulative catch-up basis.

When a right of return exists, an estimate of the allowance for returns is provided in accordance with SFAS No. 48, "Revenue Recognition When Right of Return Exists". Reserves for estimated returns and allowances are provided at the time revenue is recognized. Such reserves are recorded based upon historical rates of returns and allowances and other factors.

Deferred revenues include unearned amounts received under maintenance and support contracts and amounts received from customers but not recognized as revenues.

n. Research and development costs

Research and development costs, net of grants received, are charged to the statement of operations as incurred. SFAS No. 86 "Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software to be Sold, Leased or Otherwise Marketed," requires

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

NOTE 2:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.)

n. Research and development costs (Cont.)

capitalization of certain software development costs subsequent to the establishment of technological feasibility. Based on the subsidiaries' product development process, technological feasibility is established upon completion of a working model. Costs, incurred by the Company's subsidiaries between completion of the working models and the point at which the products are ready for general release, have been insignificant. Therefore, research and development costs have been charged to the statement of operations, as incurred.

o. Advertising costs

Advertising costs are charged to the consolidated statement of operations as incurred.

p. Royalty-bearing grants

Royalty-bearing grants from the government of Israel for funding approved research and development projects, and royalty-bearing grants from the Government of Israel for the encouragement of marketing activity are recognized at the time the Company is entitled to such grants, on the basis of the costs incurred. Such grants are included as a deduction of research and development costs and sales and marketing expenses, respectively.

Research and development and marketing grants received by certain of the company's subsidiaries in 2003 amounted to \$487 and \$0, respectively, (2002 - \$850 and \$105, respectively).

q. Income taxes

The Company and its subsidiaries account for income taxes in accordance with SFAS No. 109, "Accounting for Income Taxes". This Statement prescribes the use of the liability method whereby deferred tax assets and liability account balances are determined based on differences between financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities, using the enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse. The Company and its subsidiaries provide a valuation allowance, if necessary, to reduce deferred tax assets to their estimated realizable value.

r. Income (loss) per share

Basic net income (loss) per share is computed based on the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during each year. Diluted net income (loss) per share is computed based on the weighted average number of ordinary shares and ordinary share equivalents outstanding during the year; ordinary share equivalents are excluded from the computation if their effect is anti-dilutive.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

NOTE 2:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.)

r. Income (loss) per share (Cont.)

In all periods presented all shares relating to the outstanding stock options have been excluded from the calculation of the diluted net loss per ordinary share because all such stock options were anti-dilutive. The total ordinary share equivalents relating to the outstanding options, excluded from the calculations of diluted net loss per share, was 1,799, 5,007 and 11,694 for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

s. Stock based compensation

For stock options granted prior to 2003, the Company has elected to follow Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, ("APB 25") "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees" and the FASB Interpretation No. 44, "Accounting for Certain Transactions Involving Stock Compensation" in accounting for its employee stock option plans. According to APB 25, compensation expense is measured under the intrinsic value method, whereby compensation expense is equal to the excess, if any, of the quoted market price of the stock at the grant date of the award or other measurement date over the exercise price. Compensation cost is recorded over the vesting period on a straight line basis.

Effective January 1, 2003 the Company adopted the fair value recognition provisions of FASB Statement No.123 "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation ("SFAS No.123"). Under the prospective method of adoption selected by the company under the provisions of FASB Statement No.148, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation - Transition and Disclosure" ("SFAS No.148"), the recognition provisions will be applied to all employee awards granted, modified, or settled after January 1, 2003. Compensation cost is recorded over the vesting period on a straight line basis.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

NOTE 2:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.)

s. Stock based compensation (Cont.)

The expense related to stock-based employee compensation included in the determination of net loss for 2003, 2002 and 2001 is less than that which would have been recognized if the fair value method had been applied to all awards granted after the original effective date of SFAS No.123. If the Company and its subsidiaries had elected to adopt the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No.123 as of its original effective date, pro forma net loss and pro forma basic and diluted net loss per share would be as follows:

	Year ended December 31,					1,
	2003		2002			2001
Net loss, as reported Add: Stock-based employee compensation	\$	(7,205)	\$	*(41,579)	\$	*(52,359)
expense included in reported net loss		973		933		29
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under the fair value based method for all						
awards		1,377		2,876		974
Pro forma net loss	\$	(7,609)	\$	(43,522)	\$	(53,304)
Loss per share:						
Basic - as reported	\$	(0.25)	\$	*(1.58)	\$	*(2.47)
Basic - pro forma		(0.26)		*(1.66)		*(2.51)
Diluted - as reported		(0.25)		*(1.58)		*(2.48)
Diluted - pro forma		(0.26)		*(1.66)		*(2.52)

^{*} Restated - See Note 7(d)(7)

The fair value for these options was estimated at the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions for 2003, 2002 and 2001:

	2003	2002	2001
Risk-free Interest Rate	1%	1.5%	3%
Expected Dividend Yield	0%	0%	0%
Expected Volatility	53%	39%	55%
Expected Lives	2.7	2.1	2.7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

NOTE 2:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.)

s. Stock based compensation (Cont.)

The additional disclosures required by SFAS No. 123 and SFAS No. 148 are provided in Note 18.

Call options granted to employees to purchase shares in subsidiaries, affiliates and other companies are recorded at fair value using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The fair value of the option is recorded as a liability and changes in the liability are recorded as compensation expenses in general and administrative expenses.

t. Comprehensive income (loss)

Comprehensive income (loss) consists of net income (loss) and other gains and losses affecting shareholders equity that under generally accepted accounting principles are excluded from the net income (loss). For the Company, such items consist of unrealized gains and losses on available for sale securities, foreign currency translation adjustments and minimum pension liabilities and unrealized losses on derivative instruments in an affiliated company (See Note 27).

u. Severance pay

The Company's and its subsidiaries' liability for severance pay, with respect to their Israeli employees, is calculated pursuant to Israeli severance pay law and employee agreements based on the most recent salary of the employees. The Company's liability for all of its Israeli employees, is fully provided by monthly deposits with insurance policies and by an accrual. The value of these policies is recorded as an asset in the Company's balance sheet.

The deposited funds include profits accumulated up to the balance sheet date. The deposited funds may be withdrawn only upon the fulfillment of the obligations pursuant to Israeli severance pay law or labor agreements. The value of the deposited funds is based on the cash surrendered value of these policies, and includes immaterial profits.

Severance pay expenses for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 amounted to \$731, \$611 and \$277, respectively.

v. Discontinued operations

Under SFAS No. 144, when a component of an entity, as defined in SFAS No. 144, has been disposed of or is classified as held for sale, the results of its operations, including the gain or loss on its disposal should be classified as discontinued operations only when the operations and cash flows of the component have been

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

NOTE 2:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.)

v. Discontinued operations (Cont.)

eliminated from the Company's consolidated operations and the Company will no longer have any significant continuing involvement in the operations of the component.

w. Fair value of financial instruments

SFAS No. 107 "Disclosure about Fair Value of Financial Instruments," requires disclosure of an estimate of the fair value of certain financial instruments. The Company's financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, marketable securities, short-term and long term deposits and debentures, trade receivables, other receivables, trade payables, other payables and short-term and long-term bank loans. The estimated fair value of these financial instruments approximates their carrying value as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, unless otherwise stated. The estimated fair values have been determined through information obtained from market sources and management estimates.

It was not practical to estimate the fair value of the Company's investments in shares and loans of non-public affiliates and other companies because of the lack of a quoted market price and the inability to estimate the fair value of each investment without incurring excessive costs. The carrying amounts of these companies were \$48,992 and \$24,729 at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively, and they represent the original cost, net of any impairment charges, and in the case of affiliates also the Company's equity, in the earnings or losses of the affiliates and its share in the changes of the affiliates equity, since the dates of acquisition.

x. Concentrations of credit risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company and its subsidiaries to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents, long-term bank deposits, marketable debentures and trade receivables.

Cash and cash equivalents and bank deposits are invested mainly in U.S. dollars with major banks in the United States and Israel. Marketable debentures are debentures of U.S. corporations with high credit quality and with limited amount of credit exposure to any corporation. Accordingly, the Company's management believes that minimal credit risk exists with respect to these investments.

Trade receivables are derived from sales to major customers located primarily in Israel and in the U.S. The Company's subsidiaries perform ongoing credit evaluations of their customers and obtain letters of credit and bank guarantees for certain receivables. An allowance for doubtful accounts is determined with respect

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

NOTE 2:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.)

x. Concentrations of credit risk (Cont.)

to those amounts that were determined to be doubtful of collection and a general allowance is provided to cover additional potential exposures.

As of the balance sheet date there are no significant off-balance-sheet concentrations of credit risk such as foreign exchange contracts, option contracts or other foreign hedging arrangements.

y. Recently issued accounting pronouncements

In January 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Interpretation 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an interpretation of ARB No. 51 (FIN 46). In December 2003, the FASB modified FIN 46 to make certain technical corrections and address certain implementation issues that had arisen. FIN 46 provides a new framework for identifying variable interest entities (VIEs) and determining when a company should include the assets, liabilities, noncontrolling interests and results of activities of a VIE in its consolidated financial statements.

In general, a VIE is a corporation, partnership, limited-liability corporation, trust or any other legal structure used to conduct activities or hold assets that either (1) has an insufficient amount of equity to carry out its principal activities without additional subordinated financial support, (2) has a group of equity owners that are unable to make significant decisions about its activities, or (3) has a group of equity owners that do not have the obligations to absorb losses or the right to receive returns generated by its operations.

FIN 46 requires a VIE to be consolidated if a party with an ownership, contractual or other financial interest in the VIE (a variable interest holder) is obligated to absorb a majority of the risk of loss from the VIE's activities, is entitled to receive a majority of the VIE's residual returns (if no party absorbs a majority of the VIE's losses) or both. A variable interest holder that consolidates the VIE is called the primary beneficiary. Upon consolidation, the primary beneficiary generally must initially record all of the VIE's assets, liabilities and noncontrolling interests at fair value and subsequently account for the VIE as if it were consolidated based on a majority voting interest. FIN 46 also requires disclosures about VIEs that the variable interest holder is not required to consolidate but in which it has a significant variable interest.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

NOTE 2:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.)

The Company has investments in and loans to various companies that are engaged primarily in the fields of high technology. Some of these companies are in their early stages of development and will require substantial third party investments until they can finance their activities without additional support from other parties. These companies are currently primarily funded with financing from venture capital funds, other holding companies and private investors. The investments in these companies are consolidated or accounted for by the equity method by the Company.

The Company will apply the provisions of FIN 46 as of March 31, 2004. The Company is currently evaluating the effects of FIN 46 in respect of its investments. It is possible that some of its unconsolidated investees may be considered a VIE in accordance with FIN 46. Accordingly, if it is determined that the Company is the primary beneficiary of a VIE, the Company will be required to consolidate the financial statements of such a VIE with its own financial statements as of March 31, 2004.

As of December 31, 2003, the Company's maximum exposure to loss does not exceed its investment in any of these companies.

z. Reclassifications

Certain prior year amounts were reclassified to conform with current year financial statement presentation.

NOTE 3:- BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND SALE OF BUSINESSES

a. Elbit

On May 15, 2002, Elron completed its merger with Elbit, a high technology operational holding company, in which it previously held 44%. As a result, each outstanding ordinary share of Elbit, other than shares held by Elron, was exchanged for 0.45 ordinary shares of Elron and, accordingly, Elron issued 5,617,601 ordinary shares. Elron also assumed options held by Elbit's employees and issued 240,525 ordinary shares of Elron with a fair value of \$ 997.

The purchase price of the Elbit acquisition was approximately \$73,914, which was calculated as follows:

Fair value of Elron ordinary shares issued	\$ 70,220	
Transaction and other costs	2,719	
Fair value of options assumed ^(*)	975	
Total	\$ 73,914	

^(*) Net of intrinsic value of \$22.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

a. Elbit (Cont.)

Ordinary shares were valued based on the average price of Elron's ordinary shares during the period beginning on the day of the announcement of the exchange ratio (September 4, 2001) and ending five days thereafter. The fair value of options assumed was determined using the Black & Scholes pricing method.

The purchase price has been allocated to the fair value of Elbit's tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed, based on an analysis made by an independent valuation appraiser.

Current assets	\$ 12,216
Long-term investments	65,586
Other long-term assets	1,061
Property and equipment, net	6,285
Goodwill (not deductible for tax purposes)	*12,135
Liabilities assumed	(23,369)
	_
Net assets acquired	\$ 73,914

* After reduction of \$6,600 due to reversal of valuation allowance in respect of deferred taxes - see below.

At the acquisition date net deferred tax assets relating to loss carryforwards have been fully offset by a valuation allowance. Subsequent to that date, Elbit recorded a tax benefit in the amount of approximately \$6,600 and \$7,700 in 2002 and 2003, respectively, and reduced its valuation allowance in respect of the abovementioned deferred tax assets. Since the tax benefits recognized were in respect of the loss carryforwards of Elbit at the acquisition date, Elron recorded the tax benefits as a reduction of goodwill.

The goodwill recorded relates to the "Other Holdings and Corporate Operations" segment and reflects the synergies that resulted from the combined entity, including a reduction in operational and management costs, the creation of an enhanced platform, a more simplified and efficient organizational structure and greater resources and scope of operations, which benefited Elron's subsidiaries and affiliated companies.

Elbit's financial statements have been consolidated in the Company's consolidated financial statements subsequent to the date of the merger (May 15, 2002). See Note 9 for pro forma information.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

NOTE 3:- BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND SALE OF BUSINESSES (Cont.)

b. DEP

On May 6, 2002, Elron completed the purchase of shares of DEP in which it previously held 33%. Pursuant to the share purchase agreement signed on November 19, 2001, with Discount Investment Corporation Ltd. ("DIC"), which then held approximately 42% of Elron's shares, Elron issued 2,261,843 ordinary shares to DIC in exchange for DIC's investment (67%) in DEP, including rights to loans in the amount of approximately \$3,529 provided by DIC to RDC, a subsidiary of DEP, in which DEP held 48.04% of its outstanding shares (50.1% of the voting rights) and Rafael Armament Development Authority ("Rafael"), through its subsidiary Galram Technology Industry Ltd. ("Galram"), which held 47.84%. RDC was established for the purpose of exploiting Rafael's technology in non-military markets.

DEP invests directly and indirectly (through RDC) in high technology companies, which are primarily engaged in the fields of communications, medical devices and semiconductors.

The share purchase enhanced Elron's position in the high technology markets enabling Elron to manage existing DEP investments independently.

The purchase price of the DEP acquisition was \$29,502, of which \$29,449 represents the fair market value of newly issued Elron ordinary shares, which has been calculated using the average price of Elron's shares during a period of a few days before and after the announcement date multiplied by the number of shares to be issued to DIC, and \$53 represents transaction costs.

The purchase price has been allocated to the fair value of DEP's tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed, based on an analysis made by an independent valuation appraiser.

The allocation of the purchase price was as follows:

Current assets	\$ 467
Long-term investments	38,233
Property and equipment, net	19
Intangible assets	2,339
Liabilities assumed	 (11,556)
Total	\$ 29,502

The amount of \$38,233, allocated to investments in companies accounted for under the equity method, included amounts allocated to intangible assets of these equity investments and is net of any related deferred taxes. Out of the \$38,233, the aggregate amount allocated to identifiable intangible assets of the equity investments was approximately \$16,500 and an aggregate amount of approximately \$6,500 was recorded as goodwill. The goodwill is not deductible for tax purposes.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

NOTE 3:- BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND SALE OF BUSINESSES (Cont.)

b. DEP (Cont.)

Net deferred tax assets relating to operating loss carryforwards have been fully offset by a valuation allowance at the share purchase date. In 2003 RDC recorded a tax benefit of approximately \$1,200 and reduced its valuation allowance in respect of the abovementioned deferred tax asset. The tax benefit was recorded as a reduction to goodwill included in investments in affiliated companies.

DEP's financial statements have been consolidated in the Company's consolidated financial statements subsequent to the date of the closing of the share purchase (May 6, 2002). See Note 9 for pro forma information.

c. Galil

Galil develops, manufactures and markets systems and disposable kits for the performance of minimal invasive cryo-therapy by means of freezing tissues.

1. On April 30, 2002, Elron and RDC converted notes of Galil, in which Elron then held 3.7% and in which RDC then held 32.1% in an amount of \$3,160.

During 2002 and 2003, certain existing shareholders of Galil entered into note purchase agreements with Galil for an investment in convertible notes of Galil (the "Notes") in an aggregate amount of up to \$16,000, according to which Elron and RDC together invested in the Notes approximately \$5,700 and \$3,700 in 2002 and 2003, respectively.

2. On June 27, 2002, Elron purchased 10.75% of the outstanding shares of Galil from Lumenis Ltd. ("Lumenis") in consideration for \$850. As part of the agreement, Lumenis has the right to receive a future earn-out payment, conditional upon the occurrence of certain events on or before May 27, 2004 in accordance with the terms of the share purchase agreement. As a result of this transaction, Elron's direct interest in Galil increased to 15.09% and together with its indirect share through RDC, Elron acquired a controlling voting interest in Galil and, accordingly, Galil's financial statements have been consolidated in the Company's consolidated financial statements subsequent to the date of the purchase from Lumenis. See Note 9 for proforma information.

The amount allocated to technology and the remaining technology which arose from previous acquisitions, amounted to approximately \$4,600. The estimated useful life of the technology was 9 years.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

NOTE 3:- BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND SALE OF BUSINESSES (Cont.)

- c. Galil (Cont.)
 - 3. On July 1, 2003, Galil announced the completion of the merger of Galil's urology business and the Brachytherapy business of Amersham plc (LSE, NYSE, OSE: AHM) ("Amersham"). According to an agreement signed on April 22, 2003, a new company, Oncura Inc. ("Oncura"), was incorporated. Oncura provides minimally invasive treatment options for prostate cancer using brachytherapy and cryotherapy technologies. At the closing, Amersham and Galil each contributed the assets necessary for Oncura to conduct the Cryotherapy business and the Brachytherapy business, respectively, in the urology field and in exchange, Amersham received 78% and Galil received 22% of the outstanding shares of Oncura. In addition, at the closing, Galil purchased 3% of Oncura from Amersham in consideration for \$4,500 resulting in Galil's owning an aggregate interest of 25% in Oncura. Through the balance sheet date \$3,000 had been paid and the balance is due in June 2004. Until the payment of the balance, 4% of Oncura shares held by Galil, are pledged in favor of Amersham.

Galil and Amersham each entered, separately, into supply and R&D service agreements pursuant to which Galil and Amersham shall provide Oncura with certain exclusive supply, manufacturing and R&D services, on a cost plus basis, according to terms and conditions stipulated in the relevant agreements.

Galil accounted for the transfer of its business in exchange for an interest in Oncura as a non-monetary exchange which was recorded at fair value. The fair value of the transaction was determined based on an independent valuation of Oncura, according to which the fair value of Oncura was approximately \$150,000. As Galil retains an indirect interest in the tangible and intangible assets transferred to Oncura, the portion of the gain relating to the interest retained has been deferred until realization by sale or amortization by Oncura. Accordingly, the investment in Oncura, which is to be accounted for under the equity method, was recorded in the amount of approximately \$30,000.

As a result, a gain on the transaction of approximately \$21,200 was recorded in the statement of operations under "Gain from disposal of businesses and affiliated companies and changes in holdings in affiliated companies, net". The gain is net of realization of goodwill, related to the "Other Holdings and Corporate Operations" segment, in the amount of approximately \$500. Elron's share in the gain (net of minority interest and income taxes) amounted to approximately \$4,400.

The investment in Oncura as of the date of the transaction included amounts allocated to goodwill of approximately \$14,200, to other intangibles of \$23,800 and to deferred tax liabilities of \$9,100.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

NOTE 3:- BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND SALE OF BUSINESSES (Cont.)

c. Galil (Cont.)

In 2003, Galil signed a loan agreement with Oncura, according to which Galil has committed to extend loans to Oncura up to an aggregate principal amount of \$2,000. As of December 31, 2003, Galil advanced \$875 to Oncura in respect of this agreement. The loan bears an interest rate of Libor+0.75% per annum and is to be repaid on July 1, 2004. The loan is included in the balance sheet under "Other receivables and prepaid expenses".

- 4. In September and December 2003, certain shareholders of Galil granted convertible loans to Galil in the amount of \$1,200 (the "First Loan") and \$2,000 (the "Second Loan") respectively. Elron and RDC together advanced approximately \$700 and \$1,200, in respect of the First Loan and the Second Loan, respectively.
- 5. On January 31, 2004, Galil and its shareholders, entered into an agreement to restructure the share capital of Galil pursuant to which all outstanding preferred shares, notes convertible into preferred shares and the First Loan were converted into ordinary shares and all their associated rights were cancelled. As a result of the restructure, Elron's and RDC's respective holdings in Galil increased to 19.1% and 36.8%. Galil has an option under certain conditions to repay the Second Loan or convert it into ordinary shares under the terms of the share capital restructure.

d. ESW

On September 2, 2003, Elron's majority owned subsidiary, ESI, sold substantially all of its assets and business to Zix Corporation ("Zix"), a publicly traded company on Nasdaq (Nasdaq: ZIXI) and a global provider of e-messaging protection and transaction services. In consideration for the assets and business sold, Zix issued to ESI 1,709,402 unregistered shares of its Common stock, with a market value of approximately \$6,000 and a convertible note bearing an interest rate of 5.75% ("the Note") in the amount of \$1,000. The Note was converted into 262,454 shares of Zix Common stock, in the fourth quarter of 2003. As part of the transaction, Zix assumed certain liabilities of ESI in the net amount of approximately \$1,000. Following the transaction, ESI changed its name to ELRON SW, INC. ("ESW").

In determining the gain on the sale of ESI's business, Elron valued the Zix Common stock at \$5,400 (a discount from market value of approximately 10% due to certain restrictions on their sale). Accordingly, Elron recorded a gain on the sale of approximately \$4,100 of which \$2,500 represents elimination of a liability to minority shareholders previously recorded by Elron with respect to options granted to ESW's employees due to the expiration of the unexercised options.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

NOTE 3:- BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND SALE OF BUSINESSES (Cont.)

The business sold by ESW represents a component of an entity as defined in SFAS No. 144 and since the criteria for reporting discontinued operations under SFAS No. 144 is met, the results of operations of the business and the gain on the sale have been classified as discontinued operations in the statement of operations. Comparative data have been reclassified accordingly.

The Zix Common stock is accounted for as available for sale securities in accordance with SFAS No. 115. See Note 5(3) regarding the sale of Zix shares.

e. Mediagate

1. In 2002, Elron converted loans advanced to Mediagate during 2001 and 2002 in the amount of \$3,588 to 32,828,510 preferred F shares and invested approximately \$2,500 through a rights offering for which Elron received 58,562,543 preferred F shares. As a result of these transactions, Elron's interest in Mediagate's outstanding shares increased from 29% to approximately 68% and accordingly the accounts of Mediagate have been consolidated with those of Elron subsequent to the date of the additional investment. See Note 9 for pro forma information.

The amount allocated to technology and the remaining technology which arose from previous acquisitions amounted to approximately \$4,400. The estimated useful life of the technology was 7 years. The excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair values of the identifiable net assets acquired in the amount of approximately \$2,500 was recorded as goodwill, which is not deductible for tax purposes. The goodwill relates to the "Other Holdings and Corporate Operations" segment.

2. On December 16, 2003, Mediagate signed an agreement with Telrad Networks Ltd. ("Telrad"), for the sale of its technology and related intellectual property assets. Telrad is an Israeli corporation providing telecommunications solutions worldwide. The closing of the transaction occurred on January 28, 2004. According to the agreement, the consideration for the technology is in the form of royalties, up to a maximum of \$5,000, to be paid on future sales through December 31, 2009, of products that are based on Mediagate's technology. The royalties range from 5% of sales in 2004 and increase gradually up to 15% of sales in 2009.

Based on an independent appraisal, the royalties to be received approximate the carrying value of the technology sold. Accordingly, the above transaction did not have any effect on the Company's consolidated results of operations.

The royalties to be received are pledged to secure bank loans of Mediagate (see Note 17f).

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

NOTE 3:- BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND SALE OF BUSINESSES (Cont.)

f. Elbit VFlash ("VFlash")

On September 23, 2002, VFlash, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Elbit, sold a significant portion of its assets to 24/7 Real Media Inc. ("24/7"), a publicly traded company on Nasdaq (Nasdaq: TFSM), in exchange for 4,100,000 common shares of 24/7. 24/7 provides marketing and technology solutions to online marketers and publishers.

Concurrently with the above sale, Elron invested through Elbit, \$1,000 in consideration for 100,000 convertible preferred shares of 24/7 which were converted in February 2003, into 4,840,271 shares.

The Company viewed the sale of Vflash's principal assets and the purchase of the preferred shares as one transaction and accordingly recorded a gain of approximately \$2,000 in respect of the sale based on the closing price of 24/7 at the date of the transaction. The business sold by VFlash represents a component of entity as defined in SFAS No. 144 and since the criteria for reporting discontinuing operations under SFAS No. 144 is met, VFlash's results of operations and the above gain were classified as discontinued operations in the statement of operations.

The common shares had been accounted for as available for sale securities in accordance with SFAS 115. In 2003, all of the 24/7 shares were sold (See Note 5(4)).

NOTE 4:- CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Includes mainly bank deposits in U.S. dollars, bearing weighted average interest rate of 1.08% per annum (December 31, 2002 - 1.32%).

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

NOTE 5: - SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS

	Weighted Average Interest rate	Decen	ıber 3	1,
	0/0	2003		2002
Available-for-sale securities: (1)				
Debentures	5.61	\$ 1,971	\$	-
Zix (2)		7,159		-
24/7 (3)		-		776
Other		-		2,386
		 9,130		3,162
Certificate of deposits	3.69	1,558		
Held-to-maturity debentures (4)(5)	5.95	1,237		12
Bank deposits (5)	1.15	25,223		-
Trading securities		 10		6
		\$ 37,158	\$	3,180
(1) Includes unrealized gains		\$ 4,458	\$	_
Includes unrealized losses		\$ 12	\$	585

(2) As of December 31, 2003 represents 854,701 shares of Zix which were received in consideration for the sale of ESW's business (see Note 3d) and constitute approximately 3% of the outstanding share capital of Zix.

Of the 1,709,402 shares received, 1,117,155 shares (including 262,454 shares which resulted from the conversion of the convertible note) were sold in 2003 in consideration for approximately \$ 9,000, resulting in a realized gain of approximately \$4,800 (\$ 3,200 net of tax). The remaining shares are subject to a lock-up agreement with Zix and may be sold ratably on a monthly basis until September 2004.

Subsequent to the balance sheet date and through March 9, 2004, Elron sold an additional 271,812 shares of Zix in consideration for approximately \$3,200, resulting in a gain of approximately \$2,300 (\$1,500 net of tax), which will be recorded in the first quarter of 2004.

- (3) In 2003, all the shares of 24/7 received in consideration for the sale of the VFlash business (see Note 3f) were sold for a total consideration of approximately \$5,200, resulting in a realized gain of approximately \$2,000 (\$800 net of tax).
- (4) As of December 31, 2003, the fair value of held-to-maturity debentures approximated their carrying value.
- (5) As of December 31, 2003 the debentures and deposits are used to collateralize current maturities of long-term loans taken by ESW and ETI.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

NOTE 6:- TRADE RECEIVABLES, NET

	December 31				
	 2003		2002		
Open balances * Unbilled receivables	\$ 3,715 1,301	\$	7,824 1,414		
	\$ 5,016	\$	9,238		
* Net of allowance for doubtful accounts	\$ 398	\$	845		

NOTE 7:- INVESTMENTS IN AFFILIATED COMPANIES

a. Affiliated companies are as follows:

		Decem	ber 31,	
		2003	2002	
		%	of	
	Note	outstanding	share capital	
Elbit Systems ("ESL")	7d (1)	19.7	19.9	
Given Imaging	7d(6)	23.2	30.4	
Chip Express	7d(3)	36.1	33.0	
NetVision	-	45.7	45.7	
Wavion	7d(4)	37.5	44.7	
K.I.T e-Learning	7d(5)	45.0	28.6	
AMT	7d(2)	28.3	28.3	
3DV Systems		47.7	47.7	
Oncura	3c	25.0	-	
Oren *	7d(7)	40.9	17.3	
Pulsicom	-	18.2	17.0	
Notal Vision	-	23.6	-	
CellAct	-	45.0	45.0	
Witcom	-	32.9	32.9	
Ingeneo	-	28.0	33.0	
Semiconductor Engineering Laboratories ("SELA")		49.5	49.5	

^{*} Restated - See Note 7(d)(7)

Dogombor 21

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

NOTE 7:- INVESTMENTS IN AFFILIATED COMPANIES (Cont.)

b. Composition of investments: (1)(2)

	December 31				
	2003	2002			
As of December 31, 2003					
ESL	\$ 87,672	\$ 82,715			
Given Imaging	23,665	32,779			
Oncura	29,674	-			
Others	15,808	*16,710			
	\$ 156,819	\$ *132,204			
(1)Includes loans and convertible loans	\$ 3,298	\$ 7,849			
(2) Difference between the carrying amounts of investments and the Company's share in the net equity of affiliates, attributed to technology, goodwill and other intangible assets	\$ 45,311	\$ 21,275			

^{*}Restated - See Note 7(d)(7)

c. Fair market value of marketable securities:

		December 31					
	2003 2002						
	Stock Exchange	U	J.S. dollar	s in mil	llions		
ESL	Tel -Aviv and Nasdaq	\$	143	\$	126		
Given Imaging	Nasdaq	\$	107	\$	71		

d. Additional information

1. ESL

In 2001 and 2002 Elron sold 380,000 shares of ESL, each year, for approximately \$6,600 and \$5,900, respectively, resulting in a gain of approximately \$3,000 and \$1,800, respectively. Following the sales and exercise of options by employees of ESL, Elron's share in ESL decreased to 19.7%. Elron continues to account for ESL under the equity method due to a shareholders' agreement with the primary shareholder of ESL, the Federmann Group. The shareholders' agreement includes joint voting arrangements with respect to the nomination of an equal number of directors to ESL's board of directors and limitation on the transfer of shares in ESL, including first refusal rights and tag along rights.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

NOTE 7:- INVESTMENTS IN AFFILIATED COMPANIES (Cont.)

d. Additional information (Cont.)

2. AMT (Cont.)

In August 2002, Elron completed an investment of approximately \$5,000 in convertible notes of A.M.T Advanced Metal Technologies Ltd. ("AMT"). AMT, an Israeli private company, develops, markets and licenses technologies, through its group companies, for amorphous and nanocrystalline advanced materials, for a wide range of commercial applications. Currently, AMT is focusing on two of its group companies, namely A.H.T. Advanced Heating Technologies Ltd., which uses amorphous metals for heating products, and A.C.S. Advanced Coding Systems Ltd., which develops, markets and sells products using amorphous metals for brand protection against counterfeiting and diversion and anti-shoplifting electronic article surveillance.

The investment was part of an aggregate investment in AMT of approximately \$8,700 of which the existing shareholders of AMT invested approximately \$3,700. The notes are convertible into preferred shares of AMT or into shares held by AMT in certain of its subsidiaries. Elron is entitled to the rights attached to the convertible notes on an "as converted" basis as a shareholder of AMT and in addition, has special voting rights in certain specified circumstances. As a result Elron holds approximately 28% of AMT on a diluted basis (excluding warrants) and "as converted basis".

In addition, Elron and the other investors in AMT were issued warrants to purchase preferred shares of AMT for a total amount of up to approximately \$19,140, which may be exercised over various periods up to a maximum of 48 months from one year following the closing.

In December 2002 and in 2003, Elron granted convertible loans to AMT in the aggregate amount of approximately \$1,500. The loans bear interest at 8% and shall be converted, under certain conditions, into convertible notes of AMT upon the same terms and conditions as Elron's original investment.

CHIP EXPRESS

a. In 2002, Chip Express Corporation ("Chip Express"), in which Elron held approximately a 35% interest, issued, approximately 22,317,400 redeemable preferred shares in consideration for \$16,520 in a private placement. Elron purchased approximately 6,984,000 redeemable preferred shares in consideration for approximately \$5,000, of which approximately \$500 was paid by a conversion of a convertible note. As a result, Elron's interest in Chip Express decreased to approximately 33%.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

NOTE 7:- INVESTMENTS IN AFFILIATED COMPANIES (Cont.)

d. Additional information (Cont.)

3. CHIP EXPRESS (Cont.)

b. Subsequent to balance sheet date, on March 4, 2004, Chip Express issued approximately 7,594,936,710 redeemable preferred shares in consideration for \$12,000, in a private placement. Elron purchased approximately 1,632,564,563 redeemable preferred shares in consideration for approximately \$2,600. As a result, Elron's interest in Chip Express decreased to approximately 26%.

4. WAVION

During 2001 and 2002, Elron invested \$1,000 and \$500, respectively, in Wavion Inc. ("Wavion") in which Elron then held approximately 45%, by way of convertible loans.

In 2003, Elron invested \$3,000 in Wavion in consideration for Series B preferred shares, out of an aggregate amount of \$12,500 raised by Wavion in a private placement from Elron and a new investor. In addition to this investment, Elron converted the above mentioned loans into Series A1 preferred shares. As a result, Elron's ownership interest in Wavion decreased to approximately 38%.

5. K.I.T. eLEARNING B.V.

In July 2003 Elron invested \$2,000 in K.I.T. eLearning B.V ("K.I.T. eLearning", formerly Kidum Holding B.V.), in consideration for Series B-2 preferred shares, as part of an aggregate investment of \$4,000, the balance of which was invested by DIC. K.I.T. eLearning was previously the operating subsidiary of KIT in which Elron held approximately 29%. In addition to this investment, Elron's holdings in KIT and a loan in the amount of \$1,500 (which was granted during 2001 and 2002) were converted into shares of K.I.T. eLearning. The loan was converted to Series B-1 preferred shares. The investment in K.I.T. eLearning, which was received in consideration for the shares of KIT, was recorded at the carrying value of Elron's previous investment in KIT. Following the transaction and the loan conversion, Elron holds approximately 45% of K.I.T. eLearning's outstanding shares.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

NOTE 7:- INVESTMENTS IN AFFILIATED COMPANIES (Cont.)

d. Additional information (Cont.)

In 2003, RDC sold 753,600 shares of Given for a total consideration of approximately \$7,800, resulting in a gain of approximately \$4,400 (\$70 net of tax and minority interest).

As a result of these transactions, Elron's consolidated interest in Given decreased to approximately 23%.

- b. On May 12, 2003, a Share Purchase Agreement was signed between RDC, Elron and Rafael, according to which, RDC sold two million unregistered shares of Given to Elron and Rafael (one million each) for a total consideration of \$12,184. RDC used \$5,000 of the proceeds to repay shareholders' loans to Rafael and Elron. This transaction did not have any effect on the Company's consolidated results of operations and the Company's consolidated interest in Given.
- c. RDC's board of directors decided that RDC would purchase 4.1% of its shares held by former senior employees in consideration for 235,000 shares of Given held by RDC. The purchase is subject to the approval of the court.

7. OREN SEMICONDUCTOR INC. ("OREN")

During 2002, Elron, among other existing shareholders of Oren, invested approximately \$2,500 out of \$6,900 in Oren by way of long-term convertible loans.

In July 2003, Elron invested \$3,000 in Oren, as part of an aggregate investment of \$8,000 from existing shareholders and from Zoran Corporation (Nasdaq: ZRAN).

In addition to this investment, Elron and other existing shareholders converted all the loans previously granted to Oren, in the amount of approximately \$8,400, of which Elron's part was approximately \$4,400. Following the investment and the loan conversion, Elron's interest in Oren increased from 17% to approximately 41%.

As a result of this transaction, Elron is able to exercise significant influence in Oren. In accordance with APB 18, "The Equity Method of Accounting for Investments in Common Stock", Elron's interest in Oren, which was previously accounted for by Elron at cost, is accounted for retroactively under the equity method of accounting ("step-by-step acquisition"). Implementing step-by-step acquisition resulted in a restatement of Elron's financial statements for all prior periods in which Elron's investments in Oren were recorded at cost.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

NOTE 7:- INVESTMENTS IN AFFILIATED COMPANIES (Cont.)

- d. Additional information (Cont.)
 - 7. OREN SEMICONDUCTOR INC. ("OREN") (Cont.)

Following are the effects of the restatement:

(1) Consolidated balance sheet

	December 31, 2002					
	As reported			ffect of tatement	1	As restated
Investments in affiliated companies Investments in other companies and	\$	131,256	\$	948	\$	132,204
long-term receivables		97,158		(8,024)		89,134
Accumulated deficit		(18,066)		(7,076)		(25,142)
Total shareholders' equity		266,517		(7,076)		259,441

(2) Consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss

	Year e	Year ended December 31, 2002				
	As reported					
Equity in losses of affiliated companies Net loss Total comprehensive loss Basic net loss per share Diluted net loss per share	\$ (21,911)	\$ (2,278)	\$ (24,189)			
	(39,301)	(2,278)	(41,579)			
	(74,003)	(2,278)	(76,281)			
	(1.50)	(0.08)	(1.58)			
	(1.50)	(0.08)	(1.58)			
	Year ed	mided December :	31, 2001			
	As	Effect of	As			
	reported	restatement	restated			
Equity in losses of affiliated companies Net loss Total comprehensive loss Basic net loss per share Diluted net loss per share	\$ (27,242)	\$ (1,545)	\$ (28,787)			
	(50,814)	(1,545)	(52,359)			
	(45,042)	(1,545)	(46,587)			
	(2.40)	(0.07)	(2.47)			
	(2.41)	(0.07)	(2.48)			

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

NOTE 7:- INVESTMENTS IN AFFILIATED COMPANIES (Cont.)

e. Summarized information

Summarized combined financial information is as follows:

	ESL	(Given]	Chip Express	АМТ	Others
December 31, 2003:							
Balance sheet information:							
Current assets	\$ 577,715	\$	42,625	\$	8,141	\$ 1,349	\$ 55,725
Non-current assets	446,021		12,944		2,753	2,175	49,941
Total assets	1,023,736		55,569		10,894	3,524	105,666
Current liabilities	378,017		7,655		3,810	4,822	70,713
Non-current liabilities	188,525		1,192		557	11,264	31,936
Minority interest	4,115		1,924		-	472	-
Redeemable preferred stock	-		-		41,800	-	1,189
Shareholders' equity (deficiency)	452,079		44,798		(35,273)	(13,034)	8,273
Year Ended December 31, 2003:							
Statement of operations information:							
Revenues	\$ 897,980	\$	40,359	\$	13,746	\$ 1,359	\$ 89,490
Gross profit	224,419		26,988		2,664	(527)	23,307
Net income (loss) from continuing							
operations and net income (loss)	45,945		(9,609)		(7,813)	(3,796)	(17,660)
	ESL		Given		Other	·s	
December 31, 2002:	<u> </u>	_	Given	_	Other	<u> </u>	
Balance sheet information							
Current assets	\$ 566,800	\$	56,059		\$ 47,7	59	
Non-current assets	433,350		12,669		24,8	59	
Total assets	1,000,150		68,728		72,6	18	
Current liabilities	360,780		12,087		56,1	51	
Non-current liabilities	223,292		882		26,3	24	
Minority interest	4,717		2,182			86	
Redeemable preferred stock	-		-		44,3	84	
Shareholders' equity (deficiency)	411,361		53,577		(54,3	27)	
Year ended December 31, 2002:							
Statement of operations information:							
Revenues	\$ 827,456	\$	28,904		\$ 88,8	43	
Gross profit	222,143		16,997		17,6	59	
Net income (loss) from continuing			(10.010)		<i>(</i> 2 · · ·	-0)	
operations and net income (loss)	45,113		(18,310)		(34,4	58)	

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

NOTE 7:- INVESTMENTS IN AFFILIATED COMPANIES (Cont.)

e. Summarized information (Cont.)

	ESL	Elbit	ľ	Netvision	Others
Year ended December 31, 2001:					
Statement of operations information:					
Revenues	\$ 764,501	\$ 1,000	\$	58,909	\$ 46,246
Gross profit	210,544	499		5,450	15,657
Net income (loss) from continuing					
operations	40,796	(31,539)		(3,601)	(87,525)
Net Income (loss)	40,796	(30,588)		(3,601)	(87,525)

f. Goodwill and intangible assets allocated to investments

The annual estimated amortization expense relating to intangible assets allocated to investments accounted for under the equity method, which will be included in the line item "Equity in losses of affiliated companies" in the statement of operations, for each of the five years in the period ending December 31, 2008 is approximately as follows:

Total	amorti	zation

2004	-	\$ 2,200
2005	-	\$ 2,100
2006	-	\$ 2,400
2007	-	\$ 2,300
2008	-	\$ 2,300

The remaining weighted average amortization period of the intangible assets is approximately 13 years.

At the balance sheet date, the Company has unamortized goodwill in the amount of \$18,200 allocated to investments accounted for under the equity method.

g. Impairment

As a result of an other-than-temporary decline in value of certain investments, the company recorded impairment losses with respect to affiliated companies of \$500, \$2,400 and \$3,300, in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Such impairment losses are included as part of the Company's equity in losses of affiliated companies.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

NOTE 8:- INVESTMENTS IN OTHER COMPANIES AND LONG-TERM RECEIVABLES

	December 31		
	2003	*2002	
Marketable securities presented as available- for- sale securities: (1)			
Partner (2)	\$ 124,315	\$ 78,578	
Other	556		
	124,871	78,578	
Partnerships	2,136	2,447	
Other investments and long-term receivables (3)	1,792 3,928	*8,109 10,556	
	\$ 128,799	\$ 89,134	
(1) Includes unrealized gains	\$ 78,607	\$ 14,176	

^{*} Restated - See Note 7(d)(7)

(2) PARTNER COMMUNICATIONS COMPANY LTD. ("Partner")

As of December 31, 2003 Elbit holds 15,856,551 shares of Partner (December 31, 2002, 22,134,777 shares). In 2003, Elbit sold 6,278,226 shares of Partner, in which it previously held 12.2%, in consideration for approximately \$29,300. As a result, Elron recorded a realized gain of approximately \$11,000 (\$7,100 net of tax). As of December 31, 2003, Elbit holds approximately 8.7% of the outstanding shares of Partner.

See Note 17(d) regarding the pledging of Partner shares.

(3) During 2003, Elron recorded an impairment loss of approximately \$3,700 in respect of certain investments and receivables, mainly receivables relating to the sale of Textology (previously consolidated subsidiary) and Cellenium (In 2002 - \$1,000).

NOTE 9:- SUPPLEMENTAL PRO FORMA INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)

The pro forma information presents the results of operations of Elron after giving effect to the merger with Elbit, the share purchase of DEP and the acquisition of a controlling interest in Galil and Mediagate as if they had been in effect at the beginning of each of the reported periods, and includes the effect of amortization of intangible assets from these dates.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

NOTE 9:- SUPPLEMENTAL PRO FORMA INFORMATION (UNAUDITED) (Cont.)

The following pro forma information is based upon the historical financial statements (after restatement, as discussed in Note 7(d)(7) and after reclassification of discontined operations) of Elron, Elbit, DEP, Galil and Mediagate. The pro forma data does not incorporate, nor does it assume, any benefits from cost savings or synergies of the combined companies.

The pro forma data is presented for comparative purposes only and is not necessarily indicative of the operating results that would have occurred had the merger, the share purchase or the acquisition of a controlling interest in Galil and Mediagate been consummated at the dates indicated, nor are they necessarily indicative of future operating results or financial condition.

Pro forma combined results of operations

Year ended December 31,			
2003	2002	2001	
As reported	Proforma	Proforma	
\$ 16,547	\$ 17,608	\$ 27,166	
(8,698)	*(16,308)	*(26,971)	
25,754	6,674	3,612	
14,665	1,801	(18,636)	
48 268	*9 775	*(14,829)	
	*	71,056	
\$ 10,771	\$ *(43,198)	\$ *(85,885)	
\$ (6,970)	\$ *(34,005)	\$ *(69,708)	
\$ (7,205)	\$ *(54,649)	*(91,713)	
\$ (0.24)	\$ *(1.17)	\$ *(2.40)	
ψ (0.21)	Ψ (1.17)	ψ (2.10)	
\$ (0.24)	\$ *(1.17)	\$ *(2.41)	
\$ (0.25)		\$ *(3.15)	
\$ (0.23)	φ ·(1.66)	\$ *(3.16)	
29,194	29,131	29,070	
	2003 As reported \$ 16,547 (8,698) 25,754 14,665 48,268 37,497 \$ 10,771 \$ (6,970) \$ (7,205) \$ (0.24) \$ (0.25) \$ (0.25)	2003 2002 As reported Proforma \$ 16,547 \$ 17,608 (8,698) *(16,308) 25,754 6,674 14,665 1,801 48,268 *9,775 37,497 52,973 \$ (6,970) \$ *(43,198) \$ (7,205) \$ *(34,005) \$ (0.24) \$ *(1.17) \$ (0.25) \$ *(1.88) \$ (0.25) \$ *(1.88)	

^{*}Restated - see Note 7 (d)(7).

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

NOTE 9:- SUPPLEMENTAL PRO FORMA INFORMATION (UNAUDITED) (Cont.)

Pro forma results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2001, include amortization of goodwill in the amount of approximately \$2,300. Goodwill is no longer being amortized in accordance with SFAS No. 142, effective as of January 1, 2002.

NOTE 10:- LONG-TERM DEBENTURES AND BANK DEPOSITS

As of December 31, 2003 the balance included a \$700 debenture, bearing an interest rate of 5.3% per annum with a maturity date in 2006. The fair value of the debenture as of December 31, 2003 approximated its carrying value.

As of December 31, 2002 the balance included \$5,300 debentures and \$23,600 deposits which were classified as long-term assets since they were used to collateralize long-term loans taken by ETI and ESW (See Note 17(c)). As of December 31, 2003 the abovementioned loans were classified as current liabilities and accordingly these debentures and deposits were presented as short-term investments. (See also Note 5).

NOTE 11:- PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET

	Year ended December			mber 31
	2003			2002
Land and Building Leasehold improvements Computers, furniture and machinery Motor vehicles	\$	10,177 2,279 2,040 691	\$	10,292 2,527 9,032 989
Less - accumulated depreciation		15,187 6,870		22,840 11,264
Property and equipment, net	\$	8,317	\$	11,576

Depreciation expense amounted to approximately \$1,590, \$2,360 and \$2,628 for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

NOTE 12:- GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

	Period of amortization		Period of Decer			mber 31		
			2003		2002			
	years							
Cost:								
Technology and other intangible assets (1)	5-12	\$	14,140	\$	25,051			
Goodwill			14,698		24,809			
			28,838		49,860			
Accumulated amortization:								
Technology and other intangible assets (1)			4,172		6,474			
Goodwill			2,679		3,271			
			6,851		9,745			
Amortized cost		\$	21,987	\$	40,115			

- 1. During 2002 technology and other intangible assets increased by \$7,223 as a result of the acquisition of a controlling interest in Galil and Mediagate (see Note 3). During 2003, technology and other intangible assets were realized as a result of the sale of the urology business of Galil and the business of ESW. (See Note 3c and 3d, respectively).
- 2. The annual estimated amortization expense relating to Elron's intangible assets, other than goodwill existing as of December 31, 2003, for each of the five years in the period ending December 31, 2008 is approximately as follows:

		 Total amortization
2004	-	\$ 800
2005	-	\$ 1,000
2006	-	\$ 1,400
2007	-	\$ 1,800
2008	-	\$ 1,600

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

NOTE 12:- GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Cont.)

3. The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the year ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 are as follows:

	Internet products	System and projects	Other Holdings and Corporate operations	Total
Balance as of January 1, 2002 Goodwill acquired during the year (net of subsequent adjustments) Goodwill relating to businesses sold	\$ 1,085	\$ 7,748	\$ - 15,062 (200)	\$ 8,833 15,062 (2,357)
Balance as of December 31, 2002	\$ 1,085	\$ 5,591	\$ 14,862	\$ 21,538
Goodwill relating to businesses sold Adjustment of goodwill due to reversal of valuation allowance in respect to deferred tax assets – see	(1,085)	-	(781)	(1,866)
Note 3(a) and 3(b)			(7,653)	(7,653)
Balance as of December 31, 2003	\$ -	\$ 5,591	\$ 6,428	\$ 12,019

- 4. Until December 31, 2001, goodwill was amortized over a period of 7-10 years.
- 5. The following transitional information is presented to reflect net loss and loss per share for the year ended December 31, 2001 adjusted to exclude amortization of goodwill:

	Year ended December 31 2001
Reported net loss Goodwill amortization	\$ *52,359 1,565
Adjusted net loss	\$ 50,794
Loss per share: Reported basic loss per share Goodwill amortization	\$ *2.47 0.07
Adjusted basic loss per share	\$ *2.40
Reported diluted loss per share Goodwill amortization	\$ *2.48 0.07
Adjusted diluted loss per share	\$ *2.41

^{*} Restated - see Note 7 (d)(7).

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

NOTE 13:- SHORT-TERM LOANS FROM BANKS AND OTHERS

Includes primarily loans from banks in U.S. dollars, bearing interest of Libor plus a weighted average of 1.63% (In 2002 Libor plus a weighted average of 2.3%).

As of December 31, 2003, the amount includes a loan of approximately \$900 from the minority shareholders of a subsidiary. The loan bears interest at a rate of Libor plus 2%.

(The Libor rate as of December 31, 2003 and 2002 is 1.16% and 1.4%, respectively).

For liens - see Note 17(c).

NOTE 14:- OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED EXPENSES

	December 31			
	2003	2002		
Payroll and related expenses (1) Provision for income taxes Accrued expenses Accrued projects expenses Deferred revenues Employees call options (2) Others	\$ 2,752 521 1,364 1,323 - 2,146 5,514	\$	3,462 1,247 2,815 1,451 2,914 1,189 3,438	
	\$ 13,620	\$	16,516	
(1) Includes provision for vacation pay	\$ 876	\$	1,458	

(2) EMPLOYEE CALL OPTIONS

- a. As part of the retirement benefit approved by the Company's shareholders in December 1999, a former Chairman of the Board of Directors and President and CEO received an option to purchase from the Company 2% of its holdings in ESW for \$0.50 per share. The option was immediately exercisable and will expire on December 2004. The option is accounted for under the provisions of APB 25. No compensation expense was recorded since at the grant date the exercise price equaled the fair value of ESW's ordinary shares. Following the transfer of assets and liabilities of the systems and projects activities from ESW to ETI in 2000, this option provides, upon exercise, an equal number of shares of common stock of ESW and ETI, for no additional consideration.
- b. In March 2001, the Shareholders of the Company approved the grant of options to its Chairman of the Board to acquire up to 1.5% of any investments made by the Company after January 1, 2001 and an option to acquire up to 0.75% of any investments in private companies held by Elron prior to January 1, 2001 on the same terms and prices paid by Elron. These investments of Elron may be direct or

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

NOTE 14:- OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED EXPENSES (Cont.)

(2) EMPLOYEE CALL OPTIONS (Cont.)

indirect (through DEP). The option shall be exercisable for a period of three years from the later of January 1, 2000 or the date of Elron's last investment in each of the private companies. The options granted are recorded at their fair value.

- c. During 2001, the Board of directors approved the grant of options to certain officers of the Company to acquire between 1% to 2% of Elron's investments in certain private companies. The options are exercisable at the weighted average price of investments of Elron. The options vest ratably over a three year period and are exercisable for an additional three years. The options granted were recorded at fair value.
- d. In 1999, RDC granted two former senior employees with call options to purchase up to 5% of the investments held by RDC at that date at an exercise price as determined in the call option agreement. During 2002, a former senior employee of RDC exercised a call option with respect to 172,800 shares of Given at an exercise price of \$ 0.17 per share.
- e. In 2000, RDC granted a senior employee call options to purchase 0.75% of any investments made by RDC after July 2000. The option shall be exercisable for a period of four years.
- f. The fair value of each option granted (as described in paragraphs b e above) is estimated using the Black and Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively: (1) expected life of the option of 3.89, 4.97 and 6.97, respectively; (2) dividend yield of 0% for all periods; (3) expected volatility of the options of 0% to 65%, 0% to 92% and 0% to 55%, respectively; (4) risk-free interest rate of 1%, 1.5% and 2.45%, respectively.

In respect of the aforementioned call options, compensation expense (income) amounted to \$957, (\$780) and \$352 for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

NOTE 15:- LONG-TERM LOANS FROM BANKS AND OTHERS

a. COMPOSITION

	Dec	December 31						
	2003	2002						
Long-term loans from banks (1) Long-term loans from others (2) Less-current maturities (1)	\$ 59,079 2,163 (44,021)	\$ 61,020 6,006 (17,637)						
	\$ 17,221	\$ 49,389						

(1) Mainly bank loans of ESW and ETI in U.S. dollars, bearing an annual interest rate of Libor plus a weighted average of 1.23% (in 2002 - Libor plus a weighted average of 0.85%) (the Libor rate as of December 31, 2003 and 2002 was 1.16% and 1.4%, respectively).

As of December 31, 2003, the balance includes also a loan of Mediagate in the amount of approximately \$2,600 bearing an annual interest rate of the Wholesale Interest Rate plus 1% which is determined by the bank (the Wholesale Interest Rate as of December 31, 2003 was approximately 2.2%). The loan will be repaid from future royalties to be received by Mediagate from Telrad (see Note 3(e)).

- (2) As of December 31, 2003 and 2002 an amount of \$2,163 and \$6,006, respectively, represents loans from Galram to RDC which are denominated in New Israeli Shekel ("NIS") and of which an amount of \$2,163 and \$3,267, respectively, does not bear interest or linkage. The amount of \$2,163 is included in current maturities of long term loans. As of December 31, 2002, an amount of \$2,739 was linked to the Israeli Consumer Price Index ("CPI").
- b. The maturities of long-term loans for years subsequent to the balance sheet date are as follows:

First year (current maturities)	\$ 44,021
Second year	14,642
Third year	13
No specified maturity date (*)	2,566
	\$ 61,242

^(*) With respect to Mediagate's loan.

c. Collateral - see note 17.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

NOTE 16:- INCOME TAXES

a. Measurement of taxable income under the Income Tax (Inflationary Adjustments) Law, 1985:

Results for tax purposes are measured and reflected in real terms in accordance with the change in the Israeli CPI. As explained in note 2B the consolidated financial statements are presented in U.S. dollars. The differences between the change in the Israeli CPI and in the NIS/U.S. dollar exchange rate causes a difference between taxable income or loss and the income or loss before taxes reflected in the consolidated financial statements. In accordance with paragraph 9(f) of SFAS No. 109, the Company has not provided deferred income taxes on this difference between the reporting currency and the tax bases of assets and liabilities.

b. Tax benefits under Israel's Law for the Encouragement of Industry (Taxation), 1969:

Certain subsidiaries in Israel are classified as an "industrial companies", as defined by the law for the Encouragement of Industry (Taxes), 1969, and as such, are entitled to certain tax benefits, mainly accelerated depreciation and the right to claim public issuance expenses and amortization of costs relating to intangible assets and patents as deductible expenses for tax purposes.

c. Taxes on income (tax benefit) are comprised as follows:

	Year ended December 31,						
		2003		2002		2001	
Current taxes Taxes in respect of prior years Deferred income taxes tax (benefit)	\$	423 182 6,229	\$	99 119 (3,080)	\$	396 (812) (2,570)	
	\$	6,834	\$	(2,862)	\$	(2,984)	
Domestic	\$	6,834	\$	(2,862)	\$	(2,984)	
Foreign	\$		\$		\$		

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

NOTE 16:- INCOME TAXES (Cont.)

d. Deferred income taxes:

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. Significant components of the Company's deferred tax liabilities and assets are as follows:

		Deferred	Tax Asset Deferred Tax Liability		iability				
	No	n current		Current		Current	No	n current	 Total
As of December 31, 2003 Deferred tax assets: Provision for doubtful accounts, vacation									
and others Accrued severance pay, net	\$	216	\$	309	\$	-	\$	-	\$ 309 216
Trading marketable securities Investments in affiliated and other		-		19		-		-	19
companies, net Property and equipment and other assets		82,607 5,218		-		-		(1,509)	82,607 3,709
Tax losses carryforward		63,949				-		5,721	69,670
Other				729	_				 729
Deferred tax liabilities:	\$	151,990	\$	1,057	\$		\$	4,212	\$ 157,259
Available-for-sale marketable securities		(1,450)		-				(44,896)	 (46,346)
		150,540		1,057		-		(40,684)	110,913
Valuation allowance (1)		(148,669)		(1,057)					 (149,726)
	\$	1,871	\$		\$	-	\$	(40,684)	\$ (38,813)
As of December 31, 2002 Deferred tax assets: Provision for doubtful accounts,									
vacation and others		229		469		-		-	469 229
Accrued severance pay, net Trading securities Investments in affiliated companies		-		23		-		-	23
and other companies, net Property and equipment and other		61,410		-		-		-	61,410
assets		5,863				-		(3,245) 7,855	2,618
Tax losses carryforward Other		65,911		512				7,833	 73,766 512
	\$	133,413	\$	1,004	\$	_	\$	4,610	\$ 139,027
Deferred tax liabilities: Available for sale marketable securities		_		194		_		(28,260)	(28,066)
See an Med		133,413		1,198				(23,650)	 110,961
Valuation allowance		(130,423)		(1,198)					 (131,621)
	\$	2,990	\$		\$	-	\$	(23,650)	\$ (20,660)

^{*} Restated - see Note 7 (d)(7).

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

NOTE 16:- INCOME TAXES (Cont.)

(1) As of December 31, 2003, the valuation allowance for deferred tax assets, for which their reversal will be allocated to reduce goodwill or other non-current intangible assets, aggregated approximately \$18,300.

Regarding the deferred taxes in respect of losses in Elbit and DEP incurred prior to the acquisition date - see Note 3(a) and 3(b).

e. A reconciliation between the theoretical tax expense, assuming all income is taxed at the statutory tax rate applicable to income of the Company and the actual tax expense as reported in the statement of income, is as follows:

	Year	end	led Decemb	er 3	1,
	2003		2002		2001
Income (loss) before taxes as reported in the consolidated statements of operations	\$ 10,771	\$	*(35,941)	\$	*(45,392)
Statutory tax rate	 36%		36%		36%
Theoretical tax expense (benefit) Equity in losses of affiliated companies Tax exempt income and reduced tax rate Non-deductible expenses ** Differences arising from the basis of measurement for tax purposes Deferred taxes on losses for which valuation allowance was provided Reversal of valuation allowance Taxes in respect of previous years	\$ 3,878 3,131 (36) 1,586 2,233 3,124 (7,264) 182	\$	*(12,939) *8,708 (637) (3,242) (3,393) 8,522 - 119		*(16,341) *10,363 - (1,198) (3,038) 8,042 - (812)
Actual tax expenses (benefits) Effective tax rate	\$ 6,834 63.4%	\$	(2,862) (7.9)%	\$	(2,984)
Actual tax expenses (benefits)	\$ 6,834	\$	(2,862)	\$	(2,984

^{*} Restated - see Note 7 (d)(7)

f. As of December 31, 2003 the Company's subsidiaries in the U.S. have estimated aggregate available carryforward tax losses of approximately \$80,000 to offset against future taxable profits, which expire between 2004 and 2022. A valuation allowance for the entire balance was recorded due to the uncertainty of the tax asset's future realization.

As of December 31, 2003 the Company and its Israeli subsidiaries had tax loss carryforwards of approximately \$77,000. Carryforward tax losses in Israel may be carryforward indefinitely and may be set against future taxable income.

^{**} In 2001 and 2002 Include exempt interest income.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

NOTE 16:- INCOME TAXES (Cont.)

g. Income (Loss) before taxes on income is comprised as follows:

	Year ended December 31,						
	2003	2002	2001				
Domestic Foreign	\$ 20,671 (9,900)	\$ *(11,211) (24,730)	\$ *(30,088) (15,306)				
	\$ 10,771	\$ (35,941)	\$ (45,394)				

^{*} Restated - see Note 7 (d)(7).

NOTE 17:- CONTINGENT LIABILITIES, PLEDGES AND COMMITMENTS

a. The Company and its subsidiaries have operating lease agreements in respect of their premises for periods ending through 2007. Rent expense amounted to approximately \$558, \$1,675 and \$2,416 for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The future minimum rental payments under these agreements in the years following the balance sheet date are as follows:

First year	\$ 482
Second year	314
Third year	115
Fourth year	28
	\$ 939

- b. Certain of the Company's subsidiaries are required to pay royalties to the Office of the Chief Scientist of the Israeli Ministry of Industry and Trade and other institutions at the rate of 3%-5% of revenues derived from research and development projects in which the Government of Israel or the other institutions participated in financing up to an amount equal to 100% of the amount received by each company and in certain cases plus interest at Libor. As of December 31, 2003, the aggregate contingent obligation royalty amounted to approximately \$1,600.
- c. Elron provided guarantees to banks of up to approximately \$76,100 to secure bank loans made available to ETI and ESW, of which approximately \$67,500 have been utilized as of December 31, 2003 as bank loans and \$300 as customer guarantees. Of the \$76,100 guaranteed, approximately \$33,500 is to be collateralized by Elron's pledge of its investments in debentures, marketable securities and deposits. As of December 31, 2003, approximately \$27,200 has been pledged.

Elron also provided letters of comfort in connection with credit lines granted to ETI by certain banks, pursuant to which Elron undertook not to dilute its holdings in ETI below a certain percentage. The Company also agreed to subordinate any amounts owed to it by ETI, other than interest on outstanding loans and payments in the ordinary course of business.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

NOTE 17 - CONTINGENT LIABILITIES, PLEDGES AND COMMITMENTS (Cont.)

- d. As of December 31, 2003 all shares of Partner held by Elbit are pledged to the banks providing financing to Partner, pro rata to the other original shareholders of Partner.
- e. The Company has provided letters of comfort in connection with credit lines granted to Netvision by banks. The aggregate amount borrowed under the credit lines at December 31, 2003, amounted to approximately \$21,300. The comfort letters were jointly provided with the other major shareholder of Netvision, pursuant to which the Company and the other shareholder undertook not to dilute their holdings in Netvision below a certain percentage.
- f. Mediagate's bank loan in the amount of approximately \$ 2,600 has been secured by a first ranking pledge over the future royalties to be received from Telrad (See Note 3(e)).
- g. Legal proceedings:
- 1. During September 1999, the Company received copies of two claims and a request to approve such claims as a class action on behalf of public shareholders of Elscint (formerly an affiliated company) against the Company and others. The allegation raised by the claimants related to the decision regarding the sale of Elscint's substantial assets. The claim has been stayed pursuant to an arrangement reached by the parties pending the outcome of the appeal in the claim described in paragraph 2 below. The arrangement provides that if the appeal as described in paragraph 2 below is accepted, then the proceedings to recognize the lawsuit as a class action will proceed. Otherwise, the application to recognize the claim as a class action suit will be dismissed.
- 2. On November 2, 1999, the Company received a copy of a claim, and a request to approve such a claim, as a class action on behalf of some institutional investors and others and those who held shares in Elscint on September 6, 1999. The allegations raised against the Company and certain of its officers including former officers, among others, relate to the period prior to the sale of the Company's holdings in Elbit Medical Imaging ("EMI") (the parent company of Elscint and formerly an affiliated company). The claimants seek a court order pursuant to which EMI would be compelled to execute the alleged buy-out of Elscint's share at \$14 per share or other remedies. On August 17, 2000, the Haifa District court dismissed the application to recognize the claim as a class action. Some of the claimants applied for and have been granted permission to appeal to the Supreme Court in Israel, which appeal is currently pending. In addition, in February 2001, the claimants submitted a new claim similar to the previous one but not as a class action.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

NOTE 17 - CONTINGENT LIABILITIES, PLEDGES AND COMMITMENTS (Cont.)

g. Legal proceedings (Cont.):

The Company denies all the allegations set forth in the above claims, and based on legal advice received, management is of the opinion that the Company has good defense arguments which, if accepted, will cause dismissal of the above allegations.

3. In July 2003, ESW terminated the lease of its premises in the U.S. due to defects in the premises and the lessor's failure to repair the defects. The lessor rejected the termination of the lease and is seeking to enforce the lease and to claim all amounts due under the lease from ESW and Elron, as guarantor of the lease. The balance of the rental under the lease amounts to approximately \$2,000. ESW is counterclaiming damages caused by the lessor. The Company's management is of the opinion that ESW has good defense arguments which, if accepted, will cause dismissal of the above claim and accordingly, the above claim will not have a significant effect on the Company's results of operations.

NOTE 18:- SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

- a. Share capital
 - 1. An ordinary share confers upon its holder voting rights, the right to receive dividends and the right to share in excess assets upon liquidation of the Company.
 - 2. On May 15, 2002 upon the merger with Elbit, the Company issued 5,617,601 ordinary shares. See Note 3a.
 - 3. On May 6, 2002, upon the acquisition of DEP shares, the Company issued 2,261,843 ordinary shares. See Note 3b.
- b. Options to employees
 - 1. Options to Elron's Employees

The Company has various stock option plans under which the Company may grant options to purchase the Company's shares to officers, directors and employees of the Company. Such options have been granted mainly with exercise prices below market price at the date of the grant. Generally, the options vest over a four-year period from the date of grant in four equal annual portions. The options expire after 5 to 9 years from the date of grant.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

NOTE 18:- SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (Cont.)

- b. Options to employees (Cont.)
 - 1. Options to Elron's Employees (Cont.)

In May 2003, the Board of Directors of the Company approved a option plan (the "2003 Option Plan") providing for the grant of 500,000 options to purchase 500,000 ordinary shares of the Company to eligible employees, directors and officers of the Company or of any subsidiaries of the Company.

As of December 31, 2003, 272,000 options were granted at an exercise price of \$8 per share which price is to be adjusted in the event the Company distributes a dividend. The options vest over a period of four years in four equal annual portions and expire after 5 years from date of grant.

20	03		20	02		2001					
Number of options	Weighted average exercise price		average aber of exercise		Number of options	Weighted average exercise price		Number of options		Weighted average exercise price	
557,880	\$	13.92	404,974	\$	14.84	119,634	\$	19.90			
291,333		8.03	*309,244		10.50	326,590		13.18			
(25,875)		6.84	(87,863)		6.88	(25,000)		12.21			
(31,561)		13.10	(68,475)		12.91	(16,250)		22.89			
791,777	\$	12.01	557,880	\$	13.92	404,974	\$	14.84			
313.320	\$	15.66	207.681	\$	14.59	28.875	\$	17.14			
	Number of options 557,880 291,333 (25,875) (31,561)	Number of options 557,880 \$ 291,333 (25,875) (31,561) 791,777 \$	Number of options Weighted average exercise price 557,880 \$ 13.92 291,333 8.03 (25,875) 6.84 (31,561) 13.10 791,777 \$ 12.01	Number of options Weighted exercise price Number of options 557,880 \$ 13.92 404,974 291,333 8.03 *309,244 (25,875) 6.84 (87,863) (31,561) 13.10 (68,475) 791,777 \$ 12.01 557,880	Number of options Weighted exercise price Number of options Wimber of options 557,880 \$ 13.92 404,974 \$ 291,333 \$ 8.03 *309,244 (25,875) 6.84 (87,863) (31,561) 13.10 (68,475) 791,777 \$ 12.01 557,880 \$	Number of options Weighted exercise price Number of options Weighted average exercise price 557,880 \$ 13.92 404,974 \$ 14.84 291,333 8.03 *309,244 10.50 (25,875) 6.84 (87,863) 6.88 (31,561) 13.10 (68,475) 12.91 791,777 \$ 12.01 557,880 \$ 13.92	Number of options Weighted average exercise price Number of options Weighted average exercise price Number of options Number of options Number of options 557,880 \$ 13.92 404,974 \$ 14.84 119,634 291,333 8.03 *309,244 10.50 326,590 (25,875) 6.84 (87,863) 6.88 (25,000) (31,561) 13.10 (68,475) 12.91 (16,250) 791,777 \$ 12.01 557,880 \$ 13.92 404,974	Number of options Weighted average exercise price Number of options Image: price price price price Number of options Price price price price price Number of options Price			

^{*} Includes 240,525 options granted to Elbit's employees as a result of the merger (See Note 3a) of which 54,675 were unvested.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

NOTE 18:- SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (Cont.)

- b. Options to employees (Cont.)
 - 1. Options to Elron's Employees (Cont.)

The weighted average fair values and weighted average exercise prices of options granted during the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 were:

	For e	For options with an exercise price on the grant date that:										
	Exc	eeds marke	et price	Less	Less than market price Year ended December 31,							
	Year	ended Dece	mber 31,	Year								
	2003	2002	2001	2003	2002	2001						
Weighted average exercise prices	\$ 8.44	\$ 14.86	\$ 19.05	\$ 8.00	\$ 9.29	\$ 12.81						
Weighted average fair values on grant date	\$ 1.30	\$ 0.91	\$ 3.98	\$ 2.95	\$ 4.01	\$ 6.52						

2. The following table summarizes information regarding outstanding and exercisable options as of December 31, 2003:

	Options e	xerc	isable				
Exercise price	Number outstanding at December 31, 2003	Weighted- average remaining contractual life (years)	Weighted- average exercise price		Number outstanding at December 31, 2003		Veighted- average exercise price
\$ 6.91-8.34	354,166	4.25	\$	7.98	21.000	\$	7.19
\$ 10.38-11.69	190,500	3.92	\$	10.68	97,500	\$	10.69
\$ 12.51-13.39	72,945	1.93	\$	13.02	49,904	\$	13.00
\$ 18.09-19.05	102,396	3.19	\$	18.59	81,396	\$	18.52
\$ 21.38	38,770	1.59	\$	21.38	38,770	\$	21.38
\$ 29.38	33,000	3.83	\$	29.38	24,750	\$	29.38
	791,777				313,320		

3. In December 1999, the Company's Shareholders approved a plan whereby the Chairman of the Board and the then Chief Executive Officer of the Company were granted options to purchase up to 58,154 ordinary shares of the Company (the "1999 grant"). The options were granted ratably over a period of 3 years commencing February 2000 and are exercisable for a period of three years, commencing two years after the date of the grant. The exercise price of the options granted in February 2000, 2001 and 2002 was \$ 21.38, \$ 21.38 and \$ 13.01, respectively.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

NOTE 18 - SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (Cont.)

b. Options to employees (Cont.)

In March 2001, the Company's Shareholders approved a plan whereby the Chairman of the Board and the then Chief Executive Officer of the Company were granted options to purchase up to 58,000 ordinary shares of the Company (the "2001 grant"). The options were granted ratably over a period of 3 years commencing June 2001 and are exercisable for a period of three years, commencing two years after the date of the grant. The exercise price of the options granted in June 2001, 2002 and 2003 was \$19.05 \$8.34 and \$8.437, respectively.

As of grant date, the weighted average fair value of the 1999 grant and the 2001 grant was \$ 7.67 and \$ 3.29 per share, respectively. The fair value was calculated using the Black & Scholes option-pricing model. (See Note 2s for the assumptions used in the calculation).

Upon exercise of the options, the option holder will be granted a number of shares reflecting the benefit component of the options exercised, as calculated at the exercise date, in consideration for their par value only. These plans are considered to be variable plans as defined in APB 25 (except for the third portion of the 2001 grant which is accounted for under SFAS No. 123, See Note2(s)). Compensation expense is calculated based on the quoted market price of the Company's stock at the end of each reporting period and is amortized over the remaining vesting period of the options.

- 4. Compensation expense (income) recorded during 2003 amounted to \$386 (2002 \$222, 2001 \$(6)).
- 5. The balance of deferred compensation as of December 31, 2003 amounted to \$1,032.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

NOTE 19:- LOSS PER SHARE

Loss per share is computed as follows:

Year Ended December 31

		2003			2002			2001	_
	Loss	Number of shares (in thousands)	Per share amount	Loss	Number of shares (in thousands)	Per share amount	Loss	Number of shares (in thousands)	Per share amount
Basic	\$(7,205)	29,194	\$(0.25)	*\$(41,579)	26,272	\$(1.58)	*\$(52,359	21,191	*\$(2.47)
Effect of options of investees	(200)			(209)	-		(246	-	
Diluted	(7,405)	29,194	\$(0.25)	*(41,788)	26,272	\$(1.58)	*(52,605)	21,191	*\$(2.48)

^{*}Restated - see Note 7 (d)(7).

Options issued by Elron as described in Note 17 were not included in the computation of diluted loss per share because their effect is anti-dilutive.

NOTE 20:- EQUITY IN EARNINGS (LOSSES) OF AFFILIATED COMPANIES

		Year ended December 31,							
			2002	2001					
Affiliated companies:									
Elbit(1)	\$	-	\$	(8,658)	\$	(13,138)			
ESL		9,110		9,469		9,064			
Given		(3,184)		(4,376)		(1,575)			
Others(2)		(14,624)		*(20,624)		* (23,138)			
	\$	(8,698)	\$	*(24,189)	\$	*(28,787)			

⁽¹⁾ Through the merger date, see Note 3a.

⁽²⁾ Including equity in net losses of DEP, Galil and Mediagate through their respective acquisition date, see Note 3b, 3c and 3e.

^{*} Restated - see Note 7 (d)(7)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

NOTE 21:- GAIN FROM DISPOSAL OF BUSINESSES AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES AND CHANGES IN HOLDINGS IN AFFILIATED COMPANIES, NET

	Year ended December 31,							
	2	003	2	2002	2	2001		
ESL	\$	(35)	\$	1,603	\$	2,985		
Given		4,548		5,251		-		
Galil Medical's urology business (See Note 3c)		21,241		-		-		
Others				34		194		
	\$	25,754	\$	6,888	\$	3,179		

NOTE 22:- OTHER INCOME (EXPENSES), NET

	Year ended December 31,					
	2003		2002			2001
Gain (loss) from sale and increase (decrease) in						
market value of: (see a and b below)						
Partner shares (see Note 8(3))	\$	11,071	\$	-	\$	-
24/7 shares (see Note 5 (2))		2,019		-		-
Zix shares (see Note 5(1))		4,815		-		-
ArelNet shares		-		(27)		-
Netmanage shares		-		632		56
Broadbase shares (1)		-		_		(3,952)
Kana shares (1)		4		(34)		(691)
Zoran shares and options		-		`		954
Other companies, net		19		101		(32)
Other than temporary decline in investments (see c						
below)		(3,716)		(1,576)		(966)
Equity in losses of partnerships		(547)		(303)		(25)
Other income		1,000		464		(232)
	\$	14,665	\$	(743)	\$	(4,888)

⁽¹⁾ Realized and unrealized gains and losses on trading securities.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

NOTE 22:- OTHER INCOME (EXPENSES), NET (Cont.)

- a. Realized gains from sale of available-for-sale securities amounted to approximately \$18,000, \$700 and \$1,000 in the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The proceeds from such sales amounted to approximately \$43,600, \$900 and \$10,700 for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
- b. Including unrealized losses from trading securities held as of the end of the year in the amount of \$4, \$54 and \$11 for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 respectively.
- c. Including other than temporary decline in value of available-for-sale securities in the amount of approximately \$0, \$600 and \$1,000 for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Regarding other than temporary decline in value of other investments see Note 8 (3).

NOTE 23:- FINANCING INCOME (EXPENSES), NET

	Year ended December 31,					
	2003		2002			2001
Income:						
Interest on cash equivalents, bank deposits and						
debentures	\$	1,229	\$	2,314	\$	4,670
Foreign currency gains		615		1,257		796
T.		1,844		3,571		5,466
Expenses:		1.074		2 200		2.672
Interest on short-term credit and long-term loans		1,974		3,208		3,672
Foreign currency losses		623		444		86
		2,597		3,652		3,758
	\$	(753)	\$	(81)	\$	1,708

NOTE 24: - RESTRUCTURING COSTS

In response to the economic conditions, and in particular, the slowdown in IT spending, ETI underwent restructuring programs in 2001 and 2002 in order to focus its operations on core areas of its business, to reduce expenses and improve efficiency. These restructuring programs mainly included workforce reductions and consolidation of excess facilities. Restructuring charges were recorded in accordance with SFAS No. 144, EITF Issue 94-3, "Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

NOTE 24: - RESTRUCTURING COSTS (Cont.)

an Activity (including Certain Costs in a Restructuring)" and SAB No. 100, "Restructuring and Impairment Charges".

Employee termination costs in 2002 and 2001 amounted to \$ 934 and \$ 739, respectively, relating to the termination of 77 and 65 employees, respectively. These termination expenses were fully paid as of December 31, 2003. Facilities related expenses in 2002 and 2001 amounted to \$660 and \$890, respectively, which included termination costs of a facility lease contract and write-offs of leasehold improvements.

As part of the restructuring program, ETI sold in the third quarter of 2001 and at the beginning of 2002 certain activities in its E-business field to Forsoft Multimedia Solutions Ltd. and in the defense system fields to Elbit Systems Ltd. ("ESL") in consideration for \$ 3,400 and \$ 5,700, respectively, resulting in immaterial losses.

In 2003, 2002 and 2001 ESW underwent several restructuring programs, the results of which have been classified as discontinued operations. See Note 3(d).

Components of the restructuring charge for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, amounts paid during the periods and remaining accrued liability as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, are as follows:

	Employee termination and severance costs	Write-off of e long-lived assets	Facilities termination charges, future rental losses and other exit costs	Total
Accrued restructuring liability at				
December 31, 2001	\$ -	\$ -	\$ 774	\$ 774
Restructuring charges	934	772	612	*2,318
Payments and write-offs	(916)	(772)	(862)	(2,550)
Accrued restructuring liability at				
December 31, 2002	18	-	524	542
Restructuring charges	294	97	46	*437
Payments and write-offs	(290)	(97)	(401)	(788)
Accrued restructuring liability at				
December 31, 2003	\$ 22	\$ -	\$ 169	\$ 191

^{*} An amount of \$437 and \$571 for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively, relates to ESW, for which the results of operation are included in discontinued operations.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

NOTE 25:- DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

During 2003 and 2002, the Company disposed of certain subsidiaries and businesses, which met the definition of a component under SFAS No. 144. Accordingly, the results of operations of these subsidiaries and businesses and the gain resulting from the disposals have been classified as discontinued operations in the statement of operations. Comparative data for the businesses and subsidiaries sold have been reclassified accordingly.

The following is the composition of discontinued operations:

	Year	r 31,	
	2003	2002	2001
Loss from operations of discontinued components			
ESW (see Note 3d) *	\$ (4,825)	\$ (8,567)	(10,390)
Vflash (see Note 3f) *	453	(1,852)	-
Other**	-	(2,895)	-
	(4,372)	(13,314)	(10,390)
Gain on disposal		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
ESW (see Note 3d)	4,137	-	-
Vflash (see Note 3f)	-	1,991	-
Other			
	4,137	1,991	
	\$ (235)	\$ (11,323)	\$ (10,390)
* Pre-tax Income (loss) of Vflash	\$ 453	\$ (2,405)	\$ -
*Pre-tax loss of ESW	\$ (4,829)	\$ (8,560)	\$ (10,352)

^{**} Includes the results of operations of Textology which was sold in consideration for loans, the balance of which was written-down in 2003 (see Note 8(3)).

Revenues relating to discontinued operations for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 were as follows:

Year ended December 31,							
	2003	_	2002		2001		
\$	4,740	\$	8,290	\$	9,077		
	-		103		-		
	-		457				
\$	4,740	\$	8,850	\$	9,077		
	\$	2003	\$ 4,740 \$	2003 2002 \$ 4,740 \$ 8,290 - 103 - 457	2003 2002 \$ 4,740 \$ 8,290 \$ - 103 - 457		

As of December 31, 2003 the consolidated financial statements do not include any material assets or liabilities of the components disposed of.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

NOTE 26:- RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

a. Balances with related parties:

December 31				
2003	2002			
\$ 1,750	\$ -			
377	1,308			
2,127	1,308			
1,034	204			
62	497			
1,096	701			
461	453			
461	453			
\$ 3,684	\$ 2,462			
	2003 \$ 1,750 377 2,127 1,034 62 1,096 461 461			

b. Income and expenses from affiliated and other companies:

	Year ended December 31,								
		2003		2002		2001			
Income:									
Revenues	\$	4,155	\$	2,487	\$	3,284			
Interest and commission for guarantees		110		75		126			
Participation in Directors' remuneration		35		13		28			
Participation in expenses		76		308		724			
Costs and Expenses:									
Participation in expenses		191		256		-			
Directors' remuneration		33		39		41			
Cost of revenue		_		_		728			

c. Option to the Chairman of the Board - see Note 18.

d. Sale of certain activities of ETI to ESL - see Note 24.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

NOTE 27:- ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

	g	nrealized gains on ecurities	tı	Foreign currency canslation ljustments	pe liak an a	nimum ension bility in ffiliated mpany	Unrea loss deriva in a affilia comp	on tives in ated	T	Cotal
Balance as of January 1, 2002	\$	42,564	\$	(333)	\$	-	\$	-	\$	42,231
Unrealized losses on available for sale securities (net of tax effect of \$11,773) Reclassification adjustment for realized gain included in net loss (net of tax effect		(33,035)		-		-		-		(33,035
of \$726)		(1,434)		-		-		-		(1,434
Reclassification adjustment for other than temporary decline in value included in net loss (net of tax effect of \$205)		364		-		-		-		364
Minimum pension liability in an affiliated company		-		-		(597)				(597
Balance as of December 31, 2002	\$	8,459	\$	(333)	\$	(597)	\$	-	\$	7,529
Unrealized gains on available for sale securities (net of tax effect of \$31,605) Reclassification adjustment for realized		55,960		-		-		-		55,960
gain included in net loss (net of tax effect of \$6,933)		(11,113)		-		-		-		(11,113
Unrealized loss on derivatives in an affiliated company		_		_		_		(108)		(108
Foreign currency translation adjustment		-		(304)		_		-		(304
Minimum pension liability in an affiliated				. ,						•
company	Φ.	- 52.206	Φ.	(607)	Φ.	(172)	Φ.	- (100)	Φ.	$\frac{(172)}{(172)^2}$
Balance as of December 31, 2003	\$	53,306	\$	(637)	\$	(769)	\$	(108)	\$	51,792

NOTE 28:- BUSINESS SEGMENTS

a. As of December 31, 2003, the Company operates in two business segments: (1) the System and Projects segment through its subsidiary ETI and (2) "Other Holdings and Corporate Operations" in which the Company is directly engaged and includes corporate headquarters and reflects the investments in companies engaged in various fields of advanced technology.

The operations of the System and Projects segment include development and supply of software solutions for the management of large and complex communication and internet networks.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

The Other Holdings and Corporate Operations segment includes holdings in various companies that operate in the communications, software, defense industry, medical devices, semiconductors, advanced materials and other fields and the corporate operations.

Prior to September 2, 2003, the Company operated indirectly through ESW in a third business segment – Internet Products – which has been sold and therefore reclassified as discontinued operations. (see Note 3d).

b. Segment information is as follows:

	Internet products	System and projects	Other holdings and corporate operations	Adjustments	Total
2003					
Net revenues	\$ -	\$ 7,390	\$ 9,157	\$ -	\$ 16,547
Other income, net	-	27	14,638	-	14,665
Equity in losses of affiliated					
companies	-	-	(8,698)	-	(8,698)
Gain from disposals of					
businesses and affiliated companies and changes in holdings in affiliated					
companies, net	_	-	25,754	-	25,754
Financial income (expenses),			,		,
net	_	(1,504)	751	-	(753)
Tax benefit (taxes on					
income)	-	(37)	(6,797)	-	(6,834)
Net loss	(689)	(2,074)	(4,442)	-	(7,205)
Depreciation and					
amortization	-	254	1,336	-	1,590
Capital expenditures	39	53	14,138	-	14,230
Total assets as of					
December 31, 2003	75	15,177	450,222	(14,770)	450,704
Goodwill as of December 31, 2003	-	5,591	6,428	-	12,019

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

NOTE 28:- BUSINESS SEGMENTS (Cont.)

				Other noldings and			
	Internet products		ystem and projects	orporate perations	Ad	justments	 Total
2002							
Net revenues	\$	- \$	10,069	\$ 5,110	\$	-	\$ 15,179
Other expenses, net		-	4	(747)		-	(743)
Equity in losses of affiliated							
companies		-	-	*(24,189)		-	*(24,189)
Gain from disposal of							
businesses and affiliated							
companies and changes in							
holdings in affiliated				6,888			6,888
companies, net Financial income (expenses),	•	_	-	0,000		-	0,000
net		_	(1,562)	1,481		_	(81)
Tax benefit (taxes on			(1,302)	1,401			(01)
income)		_	(99)	2,961		_	2,862
Net loss	(8,567	7)	(5,912)	*(27,100)		_	*(41,579)
Depreciation and	(-,	,	(/	(', '-',			,,
amortization		-	1,473	1,421		_	2,894
Capital expenditures	247	7	158	33,698		-	34,103
Total assets as of							
December 31, 2002	6,057	7	17,601	*383,268		(12,673)	*394,253
Goodwill as of December 31,							
2002	1,085	5	5,591	14,862		-	21,538
2001							
Net revenues	\$	- \$	23,782	\$ -	\$	-	\$ 23,782
Other expenses, net		-	(221)	*(4,667)		-	* (4,888)
Equity in losses of affiliated							
companies	•	-	-	(28,787)		-	(28,787)
Gain from disposal of							
businesses and affiliated							
companies and changes in							
holdings in affiliated companies, net				3,179			3,179
Financial income (expenses),		=	_	3,177		_	3,177
net		_	(2,832)	4,540		_	1,708
Taxes on income		_	(798)	3,783		_	2,985
Net loss	(10,390))	(15,302)	*(26,667)		_	*(52,359)
Depreciation and	(-,	,	(- ,/	(-,/			(-)/
amortization		-	(3,985)	(226)		-	(4,211)

^{*} Restated - See Note 7(d)(7).

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

NOTE 28- BUSINESS SEGMENTS (Cont.)

c. Revenues according to geographical destination are as follows:

	2003	2002	2001		
Israel Overseas (mainly USA)	\$ 6,589 9,958	\$ 9,101 6,078	\$ 21,736 2,046		
	\$ 16,547	\$ 15,179	\$ 23,782		

d. Revenues from major customers were as follows:

	2003	2002	2001
In the Systems and Project segment:			
Customer A	14	21%	19%
Customer B	4	16%	-
Customer C	ç	10%	-
Customer D	-	-	12%
Customer E	-	-	11%
In the Other Holdings and Corporate Operations segment:			
Oncura (See Note 26)	21	-	-

e. The majority of the long-lived assets are located in Israel.

NOTE 29:- RECONCILIATION TO ISRAELI GAAP

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S. Had the consolidated financial statements been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in Israel ("Israeli GAAP"), the effects on the financial statements would have been as follows:

a. Effect on the statement of operations:

	As reported	Adjustments	As per Israeli GAAP			
For the year ended December 31, 2003:						
Net loss	\$ (7,205)	\$ 18,436	\$ 11,231			
Basic net loss per share	(0.25)	0.63	0.38			
Diluted net loss per share	(0.25)	0.63	0.38			
For the year ended December 31, 2002:						
Net loss	* (41,579)	3,211	(38,368)			
Basic net loss per share	* (1.58)	0.12	(1.46)			
Diluted net loss per share	* (1.58)	0.12	(1.46)			
For the year ended December 31, 2001:						
Net loss	* (52,359)	5,844	(46,515)			
Basic net loss per share	* (2.47)	0.27	(2.20)			
Diluted net loss per share	* (2.48)	0.27	(2.21)			
* D+-+-1 N-+- 7 (1)(7)						

^{*} Restated - see Note 7 (d)(7)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

NOTE 29:- RECONCILIATION TO ISRAELI GAAP (Cont.)

b. Effect on the balance sheet:

As of December 31, 2003:

	As reported	Adjustments	As per Israeli GAAP
Investments in other companies and long term receivables	\$ 128,799	\$ (124,035)	\$ 4,764
Investment in affiliated companies	156,819	(40,454)	116,365
Total assets	450,704	(176,981)	273,723
Deferred taxes	40,684	(44,813)	(4,129)
Accumulated deficit	(32,347)	21,562	(10,785)
Total equity	296,130	(115,692)	180,438
As of December 31, 2002:			
Investments in other companies and long term receivables	*89,134	(70,161)	18,973
Investment in affiliated companies	*132,204	(32,416)	99,788
Total assets	*394,253	(121,988)	272,265
Deferred taxes	23,650	(28,767)	(5,117)
Accumulated deficit	* (25,142)	3,127	(22,015)
Total equity	*259,441	(94,526)	164,915

^{*} Restated - see Note 7 (d)(7)

c. Material adjustments:

The abovementioned adjustments include material differences between U.S. GAAP and Israeli GAAP are as follows:

1. According to U.S. GAAP, the merger of Elron and Elbit and the DEP share purchase as described in Note 3 are accounted for by the purchase method in Elron's financial statements. According to accepted practice in Israel, the merger between Elron and Elbit and the DEP share purchase, are considered transactions with controlling shareholders and accordingly, the assets and

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

NOTE 29:- RECONCILIATION TO ISRAELI GAAP (Cont.)

c. Material adjustments (Cont.):

liabilities should be recorded according to their carrying values in the transferring company at the dates of the relevant transactions.

In addition, in 2003 and 2002 Elbit recorded tax assets of approximately \$7,600 and \$6,600, respectively, in respect of carryforward losses and in 2003 RDC reversed its valuation allowance by approximately \$1,200. According to U.S. GAAP, when at the acquisition date, a full valuation allowance is recorded to offset deferred tax assets in respect of loss carryforwards and subsequent to that date, the valuation allowance is

reduced by recording a tax benefit in respect of those loss carryforwards, the entire tax benefit should be recorded as an adjustment to goodwill and other intangible assets. According to accepted practice in Israel, only the portion of the tax benefit relating to the interest acquired should be recorded as an adjustment to additional paid-in capital while the portion relating to the interest previously held by the acquirer should be recorded as a tax benefit in net income. The effect on net loss in 2003 and 2002 amounted to a reduction in losses of approximately \$3,800 and \$2,900, respectively.

2. As a result of the purchase of DEP and additional investments in Oren, Elron's aggregate interest in certain companies has increased and enabled Elron to exercise significant influence in these companies. In accordance with U.S. GAAP, Elron's direct holdings in these companies, which were accounted for by Elron at cost or as available-for-sale securities, are accounted for retroactively under the equity method of accounting ("step-by-step acquisition") which resulted in a restatement of Elron's financial statements for all prior periods. According to Israeli GAAP, the equity method should be applied only from the first time Elron could exercise significant influence in these companies.

As a result, under Israeli GAAP, the excess of the investment over the equity acquired ("excess cost") in Oren in the amount of approximately \$8,800 was assigned to intangible assets and will be amortized over a period of five years. Under U.S GAAP no such excess cost exists. The effect on net loss in 2003, 2002 and 2001 amounted to a reduction of losses of approximately \$400, \$300 and \$4,000, respectively.

3. As described in Note 8(3), Elbit sold in 2003, 6,278,226 shares of Partner. According to accepted practice in Israel, the merger between Elron and Elbit which occurred in May 2002, is considered a transaction with controlling shareholders and accordingly the assets and liabilities of Elbit were recorded according to their carrying values in Elbit at the date of the merger (see 1 above). The carrying value of the Partner shares was approximately \$50 and

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

NOTE 29:- RECONCILIATION TO ISRAELI GAAP (Cont.)

c. Material adjustments (Cont.):

therefore the gain after tax recorded in respect of the above sale of Partner shares based on Israeli GAAP amounts to approximately \$18,700, as compared to approximately \$7,100 under US GAAP.

- 4. As described in Note 7(d)(3), in 2003 and 2002 RDC sold 753,600 and 500,000 shares of Given, respectively. As described above (see 1 above) the investment in Given was recorded according to its carrying values in DEP at the purchase date. As a result, the effect of the sale of Given shares in 2003 and 2002 amounted to an additional gain of approximately \$2,000 and \$800, respectively.
- 5. According to U.S. GAAP the transfer of Galil's business in exchange for an interest in Oncura was recorded at fair value and as a result Elron recognized a gain on the transaction (net of minority interest and income taxes) in the amount of \$4,400 and recorded the investment in Oncura at fair value. According to Israeli GAAP, the aforementioned exchange is accounted for as an exchange of similar productive assets. Accordingly the investment in Oncura was recorded at the carrying value of the assets transferred and no gain was recognized.
- 6. According to U.S. GAAP, the gain arising from the initial public offering of Given is accounted for as an equity transaction, as Given was a development stage company at the time. According to Israeli GAAP, this gain is recognized in the statement of operations over three years from the date of the public offering. The effect on net loss in 2003, 2002 and 2001 amounted to an increase in income of approximately \$1,900, \$3,200 and \$1,000, respectively.
- 7. Pursuant to SFAS 115, marketable securities which are available-for-sale are presented on the basis of their market value and changes in such value are charged (or credited) to other comprehensive income. According to Israeli GAAP non-current investments in marketable securities are presented at cost, while current investments in marketable securities are presented at fair value, and charged (or credited) to the income statement. The effect on net loss in 2003 and 2002 amounted to an increase (decrease) in income of approximately \$3,700 and \$(900), respectively.
- 8. Effective January 1, 2002 the Company adopted SFAS 142, according to which goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives are no longer amortized periodically but are reviewed annually for impairment (or more frequently if impairment indicators arise). According to Israeli GAAP, all intangibles, including goodwill should be amortized.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share data

NOTE 29:- RECONCILIATION TO ISRAELI GAAP (Cont.)

- c. Material adjustments (Cont.):
 - 9. According to U.S. GAAP the fair value of options granted to employees to acquire shares of affiliated companies held by Elron and RDC is recorded as a liability. According to Israeli GAAP, no liability should be recorded if the exercise of the options would not result in a loss.
 - 10. According to U.S. GAAP, the merger of ESL and EL-OP Electro-Optics Industries Ltd., which occurred in 2000 is accounted by the purchase method in ESL's financial statements and accordingly a gain from the decrease in holding in ESL was recorded in Elron's financial statements. According to accepted practice in Israel, the merger between ESL and EL-OP, from the perspective of Elron, is considered a non-monetary exchange of similar assets and accordingly was recorded at book value, with no gain recognized. Therefore, the change recorded in the investment in ESL in Elron's books under Israeli GAAP, was based on the book value of the net assets transferred by Elron.

ANNEX TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U.S. dollars in thousands

ANNEX TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

In thousands of U.S. Dollars

Details relating to major investments as of December 31, 2003:

		•	0	Market value of the publicly traded				
	% of			investments as of:				
	ownership		as of December 31,		December 31,		March 5,	
	interest ^(Ī)	2	2003 (2)		2003		2004	
Consolidated Companies:								
Elron Telesoft Inc.	99%	\$	9,267	\$	-	\$	-	
Galil Medical Ltd. (3)	33%		1,807		-		-	
Affiliated Companies (equity):								
Elbit Systems Ltd. (Nasdaq: ESLT)	20%		87,681		143,023		149,588	
Given Imaging Ltd. (Nasdaq: GIVN) (3)	17%		20,828		76,875		130,966	
NetVision Ltd.	46%		526		_		-	
Wavion, Inc.	38%		2,842		-		-	
K.I.T elearning B.V.	45%		-		_		-	
Chip Express Corporation	36%		2,743		-		-	
Pulsicom Israel Technologies Ltd.	18%		395		-		-	
3DV Systems Ltd. (3)	24%		215		-		-	
Advanced Metal Technologies Ltd. (AMT)	28%		3,436		-		-	
Witcom Ltd. (3)	20%		388		-		-	
CellAct Ltd.	45%		327		-		-	
SELA (3)	24%		649		-		-	
Ingeneo Ltd. (3)	17%		400		-		-	
Notal Vision, Inc.	24%		1,228		-		-	
Oren Semiconductor Inc.	41%		2,532		-		-	
Oncura (4)	8%		9,949		-		-	
Starling (3)	24%		(50)		-		-	
Available for sale:								
Partner (Nasdaq: PTNR)	9%		124,315		124,315		122,888	
Zix Corporation (Nasdaq: ZIXI)	3%		7,159		7,159		11,239	
EVS (Nasdaq: EVSNF.OB)	26%		963		2,409		3,574	
Partnership:								
Gemini Israel Fund L.P.	5%		198		_		_	
InnoMed Ventures L.P.	14%		1,938		-		-	

On the basis of the outstanding share capital.

⁽²⁾ Includes loans and convertible notes.

⁽³⁾ Represents the carrying value and the ownership interest of the investment in Elron's books and Elron's share in the carrying value and ownership interest of the investment in RDC's books.

⁽⁴⁾ Represents Elron's share in the carrying value and the ownership interest of the investment in Galil's books.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF A.M.T. ADVANCED METAL TECHNOLOGIES LTD.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of A.M.T. Advanced Metal Technologies Ltd. ("the Company") as of December 31, 2003 and 2002 and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in shareholders' deficiency and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's Board of Directors and management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by the board of directors and management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the above-mentioned consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2003 and 2002 and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

/s/ Brightman Almagor & Co.

Brightman Almagor & Co.
Certified Public Accountants
A member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

Tel-Aviv, March 1, 2004

Report of Independent Public Accounting Firm to the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Given Imaging Ltd.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Given Imaging Ltd. and its subsidiaries (the "Company") as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in shareholders' equity and cash flows for each of the years in the three year period ended December 31, 2003. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's Board of Directors and of its management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurances about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by the Board of Directors and by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statements presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the consolidated results of its operations, changes in shareholders' equity and cash flows for each of the years in the three year period ended December 31, 2003, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

/s/ Somekh Chaikin Certified Public Accountants (Israel) A member of KPMG International

February 10, 2004

Report of Independent Public Accounting Firm to the Board of Directors and Shareholders of DEP Technology Holdings Ltd.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of DEP Technology Holdings Ltd. and its subsidiaries (the "Company") as of December 31, 2002, and the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders' equity and cash flows for each of the years in the two year period ended December 31, 2002. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's Board of Directors and of its management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

The data included in the consolidated financial statements relating to the net asset value of the Company's investments in affiliated companies and the Company's share in their operating results, is based on the financial statements of such affiliates, some of which were audited by other auditors.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurances about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by the Board of Directors and by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statements presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, based on our audits and the reports of other auditors, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2002, and the consolidated results of its operations, changes in shareholders' equity and cash flows for each of the years in the two year period ended December 31, 2002 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("US GAAP"). As applicable to these consolidated financial statements, US GAAP differs in certain respects from generally accepted accounting principles in Israel ("Israeli GAAP") as described in note 22, which includes only the differences that effect directly the results of operations and the changes in shareholders' equity.

/s/ Somekh Chaikin Certified Public Accountants (Israel) A member of KPMG International

March 10, 2003

Report of Independent Auditors

To The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Chip Express Corporation

In our opinion, based on our audits and the report of other auditors, the consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of operations, of mandatorily redeemable convertible preferred stock and stockholders' deficit and of cash flows (not presented separately herein) present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Chip Express Corporation and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We did not audit the financial statements of Chip Express (Israel) Limited ("CEL"), a wholly-owned subsidiary, which statements reflect total assets of \$1,225,000 and \$1,205,000 as of December 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002, respectively, and total revenues of \$2,768,000 and \$4,176,000 for the years then ended. Those statements were audited by other auditors whose report thereon has been furnished to us, and our opinion expressed herein, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for CEL, is based solely on the report of the other auditors. We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits and the report of other auditors provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

February 20, 2004, except for Note 9, as to which the date is March 5, 2004

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

CHIPX (ISRAEL) LTD. (FORMER - CHIP EXPRESS (ISRAEL) LTD.)

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of Chipx (Israel) Ltd. (former - Chip Express (Israel) Ltd.) (the "Company") as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the related statements of operations, changes in shareholders' deficiency, and cash flows, for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2003. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with Standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by the management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statements presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2003 and 2002 and the results of its operations and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2003 in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States.

/s/ KOST FORER GABBAY & KASIERER A member of Ernst & Young Global

January 29, 2004 Haifa, Israel

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

To the shareholders of **NOTAL VISION INC.**

We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of Notal Vision Inc. (hereafter - the Company) and its subsidiary, as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in shareholders' equity (capital deficiency) and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's board of directors and management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), and auditing standards generally accepted in Israel, including those prescribed by the Israeli Auditors (Mode of Performance) Regulations, 1973. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by the board of directors and management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Company and its subsidiary as of December 31, 2003 and 2002 and the consolidated results of their operations, changes in their shareholders' equity (capital deficiency), in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

/s/ Kesselman & Kesselman Certified Public Accountants (Isr.) A member of PricewaterhouseCoopers International Limited

Tel-Aviv, Israel February 17, 2004

Report of Independent Auditors

To The Board of Directors Oncura, Inc.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheet and the related consolidated statement of operations, statement of shareholders' equity and statement of cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Oncura, Inc and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2003, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the period then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit of these statements in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/ s / PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

February 19, 2004

Report of independent auditors

To the Shareholders of:

PULSICOM ISRAEL TECHNOLOGIES LTD.

We have audited the balance sheets of Pulsicom Israel Technologies Ltd., An Israeli corporation in the development stage (the "Company") as of December 31, 2003 and 2002 and the related statements of operations, changes in shareholders' equity (capital deficiency) and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2003 and for the period from September 20, 2000 (date of incorporation and commencement of operations) to December 31, 2003. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's board of directors and management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), and auditing standards generally accepted in Israel, including those prescribed by the Israeli Auditors (Mode of Performance) Regulations, 1973. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by the company's board of directors and management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a fair basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2003 and 2002 and the results of their operations, the changes in shareholders' equity (capital deficiency) and its cash flows for each of the periods referred to above, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

Without qualifying our opinion we draw the attention to the Company's capital deficiency and ability to continue operating as a going concern. The abovementioned financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue operating as a going concern. Results of the Company's activity, as described in note 1a in the financial statements, raise substantial doubt regarding its ability to continue operating as a going concern. The Company's ability to continue, as a going concern is dependent on the ability to raise additional funding from its shareholders or from other investors until the stage in which the Company become profitable from its operations. The financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.

/s/ Kesselman & Kesselman Certified Public Accountants (Isr.) A member of PricewaterhouseCoopers International Limited

Tel-Aviv, Israel February 25, 2004

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

To the shareholders of INGENEO TECHNOLOGIES LTD.

We have audited the financial statements of Ingeneo Technologies Ltd. (an Israeli corporation in the development stage; hereafter - the Company) and the consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiary: balance sheets as of December 31, 2003 and 2002 and the related statements of operations, changes in capital deficiency and cash flows for each of the two years ended on those dates, and cumulatively, for the period from November 4, 1999 (date of inception) to December 31, 2003. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's board of directors and management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), and auditing standards generally accepted in Israel, including those prescribed by the Israeli Auditors (Mode of Performance) Regulations, 1973. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by the board of directors and management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position - of the Company and consolidated - as of December 31, 2003 and 2002 and the results of operations, changes in capital deficiency and cash flows - of the Company and consolidated - for each of the two years ended on those dates, and cumulatively, for the period from inception to December 31, 2003, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in Israel.

Accounting principles generally accepted in Israel vary in certain significant respects from accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Information relating to the nature and effect of such differences is presented in note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern. As discussed in note 1a to the financial statements, the Company has suffered recurring losses from operations and has a net capital deficiency that raise substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern. The financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.

/s/ Kesselman & Kesselman Certified Public Accountants (Isr.) A member of PricewaterhouseCoopers International Limited

Tel-Aviv, Israel February 23, 2004

ELBIT SYSTEMS LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS <u>as of December 31, 2003</u> (In U.S. dollars)

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS as of December 31, 2003 In U.S. dollars

CONTENTS

	Page
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS	2 - 4
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	
Consolidated Balance Sheets	5 – 6
Consolidated Statements of Income	7
Statements of Changes in Shareholders' Equity	8 - 9
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows	10 - 11
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements	12 - 58

#

IERNST& YOUNG

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

To the Shareholders of Elbit Systems Ltd.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Elbit Systems Ltd. (the "Company") and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2003, and the related consolidated statements of income, changes in shareholders' equity and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2003. Our audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 19a. These financial statements and schedule are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and schedule based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above, present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Company and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2003, and the consolidated results of their operations and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2003, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, effective January 1, 2002, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, "Goodwill and Other Intangible assets".

Kost Forer Gabbay & Kasierer A member of Ernst & Young Global

Haifa, Israel March 9, 2004

15212030-EY

IERNST& YOUNG

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

To the Shareholders of Elbit Systems Ltd.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Elbit Systems Ltd. (the "Company") and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2002, and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in shareholders' equity and cash flows for the year then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. The financial statements of Elbit Systems Ltd. As of December 31, 2001 and for the year then ended were audited by other auditors who have ceased operations as a foreign associated firm of the Securities and Exchange Commission Practice Section of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and whose report dated March 24, 2002, expressed an unqualified opinion on those statements.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above, present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Company and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2002 and the consolidated results of their operations and cash flows fro the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company adopted the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 141, Business Combinations, and No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, effective January 1, 2002.

LUBOSHITZ KASIERER
AN AFFILIATE MEMBER OF ERNST & YOUNG INTERNATIONAL

Haifa, Israel March 10, 2003 This is a copy of the previously issued Independent Public Account's report of Arthur Andersen. The report has not been reissued by Arthur Andersen.

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

To the Shareholders of

ELBIT SYSTEMS LTD.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Elbit Systems Ltd. and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2001 and 2000 and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in shareholders' equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2001. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Elbit Systems Ltd. and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2001, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

Luboshitz Kasierer Arthur Andersen

Haifa, Israel March 24, 2002

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS U. S. dollars (In thousands)

		Decen	ıber 31,
	Note	2003	2002
CURRENT ASSETS:			
Cash and cash equivalents		\$76,156	\$76,280
Short-term bank deposits		690	1,650
Trade receivables, net	(3)	203,281	225,773
Other receivables and prepaid expenses	(4)	48,363	42,698
Inventories, net of advances	(5)	249,225	220,399
Total current assets	()	577,715	566,800
INVESTMENTS AND LONG-TERM			
RECEIVABLES:			
Investments in affiliated companies and			
partnership	(6A)	26,478	21,947
Investments in other companies	(6B)	11,745	11,104
Long-term trade receivables		393	20,859
Long-term bank deposits and loan	(7)	1,954	3,686
Severance pay fund	(2N)	76,218	67,024
		116,788	124,620
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT,			
NET	(8)	229,221	202,961
OTHER ASSETS, NET:	(9)		
Goodwill		32,576	32,162
Know-how and other intangible assets, net		67,436	73,607
		100,012	105,769
		\$1,023,736	\$1,000,150

U. S. dollars (In thousands, except per share data)

		December 31,	
	Note	2003	2002
CURRENT LIABILITIES:			
Short-term bank credit and loans	(10)	\$8,509	\$24,302
Current maturities of long-term loans	(13)	6,818	6,613
Trade payables	(13)	107,545	82,094
Other payables and accrued expenses	(11)	156,527	141,304
Customers advances and amounts in excess of	()	, :	- 1-,- 0 1
costs incurred on contracts in progress	(12)	99,618	106,467
Total current liabilities	` '	379,017	360,780
LONG-TERM LIABILITIES:			
Long-term loans	(13)	62,038	73,173
Advances from customers	(12)	7,592	40,411
Deferred income taxes	(15E)	24,916	24,735
Accrued severance pay	(14,2N)	93,979	84,973
• •		188,525	223,292
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT			•
LIABILITIES	(16)		
MINORITY INTERESTS		4,115	4,717
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY	(17)		
Share capital			
Ordinary shares of New Israeli Shekels (NIS) 1 par value;			
Authorized – 80,000,000 shares as of			
December 31, 2003 and 2002;			
Issued – 39,746,125 and 39,212,328 shares as			
of December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively;			
Outstanding – 39,337,304 and 38,803,507			
shares as of December 31, 2003 and 2002,			
respectively		11,273	11,154
Additional paid-in capital		259,033	248,387
Accumulated other comprehensive loss		(3,992)	(2,882)
Retained earnings		190,086	159,023
Treasury shares - 408,821 shares as of		(4.221)	(4.221)
December 31, 2003 and 2002		(4,321)	(4,321)
		452,079	411,361
		\$1,023,736	\$1,000,150

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME U. S. dollars (In thousands, except per share data)

		Year ended December 31,			
	Note	2003	2002	2001	
Revenues	(18)	\$897,980	\$827,456	\$764,501	
Cost of revenues	, ,	673,561	605,313	553,957	
Gross profit		224,419	222,143	210,544	
Research and development costs, net	(19)	54,919	57,010	58,759	
Marketing and selling expenses		69,943	65,691	54,876	
General and administrative expenses		46,077	41,651	43,216	
		170,939	164,352	156,851	
Operating income		53,480	57,791	53,693	
Financial expenses, net	(20)	(4,870)	(3,035)	(2,617)	
Other income (expenses), net	(21)	903	(462)	774	
Income before taxes on income		49,513	54,294	51,850	
Taxes on income	(15)	11,334	9,348	11,003	
		38,179	44,946	40,847	
Equity in net earnings (losses) of affiliated					
companies and partnership		7,209	675	(598)	
Minority interests in losses (earnings) of					
subsidiaries		557	(508)	547	
Net income		\$45,945	\$45,113	\$40,796	
Earnings per share	(17G)				
Basic net earnings per share	(1,0)	\$1.18	\$1.17	\$ 1.07	
Diluted net earnings per share		\$1.14	\$1.13	\$ 1.04	

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

U. S. dollars (In thousands, except per share data)

	Number of outstanding shares	Share capital	Additional paid-in capital	Accumulated other comprehensive loss	Retained earnings	Treasury shares	Total shareholders' equity	Total other comprehensive income
Balance as of January 1, 2001	37,811,398	\$ 10,916	\$ 235,462	\$ -	\$ 97,963	\$ (3,613)	\$ 340,728	
Exercise of options	585,860	138	3,162	-	-	-	3,300	
Tax benefit in respect of options								
exercised	-	-	1,363	-	-	-	1,363	
Adjustment to capital reserve	=	-	(3,874)	-	-	-	(3,874)	
Amortization of stock based								
compensation	-	-	8,512	-	-	-	8,512	
Purchase of treasury shares	(66,986)	-	-	-	-	(708)	(708)	
Dividends paid	-	-	-	-	(12,132)	-	(12,132)	
Net income					40,796		40,796	\$ 40,796
Total comprehensive income								\$40,796
Balance as of December 31, 2001	38,330,272	11,054	244,625	-	126,627	(4,321)	377,985	
Exercise of options	473,235	100	4,040	-	-	-	4,140	
Tax benefit in respect of options								
exercised	-	-	648	-	_	-	648	
Amortization of stock based								
compensation	-	-	(926)	-	_	-	(926)	
Dividends paid	-	-	-	-	(12,717)	-	(12,717)	
Comprehensive income (loss):								
Minimum pension liability	=	-	=	(2,882)	-	=	(2,882)	\$(2,882)
Net income			<u> </u>		45,113		45,113	45,113
Total comprehensive income					_			\$42,231
Balance as of December 31, 2002	38,803,507	\$11,154	\$248,387	\$(2,882)	\$159,023	\$(4,321)	\$411,361	

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (CONT.)

U. S. dollars (In thousands, except per share data)

	Number of outstanding shares	Share capital	Additional paid-in capital	Accumulated other comprehensive loss	Retained earnings	Treasury shares	Total shareholders' equity	Total other comprehensive income
Balance as of December 31, 2002	38,803,507	\$11,154	\$248,387	\$(2,882)	\$159,023	\$(4,321)	\$411,361	
Exercise of options	533,797	119	5,147	-	-	-	5,266	
Tax benefit in respect of								
options exercised	-	-	758	-	-	-	758	
Amortization of stock based								
compensation	=	-	4,741	=	=	-	4,741	
Dividends paid	-	-	-	-	(14,882)	-	(14,882)	
Comprehensive income (loss):								
Unrealized gains on derivative								
instruments	-	-	-	(578)	-	-	(578)	\$(578)
Foreign currency translation differences	-	-	-	340	-	-	340	340
Minimum pension liability	-	-	-	(872)	-	-	(872)	(872)
Net income					45,945		45,945	45,945
Total comprehensive income								\$44,835
Balance as of December 31, 2003	39,337,304	\$11,273	\$259,033	\$(3,992)	\$190,086	\$(4,321)	\$452,079	
Accumulated other comprehensive	loss_							
Accumulated gains on derivative instrur	ments			\$ (578)				
Accumulated foreign currency translation	on differences			340				
Accumulated minimum pension liability	I			(3,754)				
Accumulated other comprehensive loss								
as of December 31, 2003				\$(3,992)				

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS U. S. dollars (In thousands)

	Year ended December 31		
	2003	2002	2001
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES			
Net income	\$45,945	\$45,113	\$40,796
Adjustments required to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:			
Depreciation and amortization	37,890	32,937	32,865
Amortization of deferred stock based compensation	4,741	(926)	8,512
Deferred income taxes, net	35	(5,620)	(2,694)
Accrued severance pay, net	(1,240)	6,260	(633)
Gain (loss) on sale of property, plant and equipment	(915)	743	(327)
Tax benefit in respect of options exercised	758	648	1,363
Minority interests in earnings (losses) of subsidiaries	(557)	508	(547)
Equity in net losses (earnings) of affiliated companies and partnership, net of			
dividend received (*)	(4,995)	(675)	598
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:			
Decrease (increase) in short and long-term receivables and prepaid expenses	45,297	58,554	(9,963)
Increase in inventories	(38,651)	(55,106)	(72,165)
Increase (decrease) in trade payable, other payables and accrued expenses	32,147	(19,321)	37,004
Increase (decrease) in advances received from customers	(27,855)	42,999	6,489
Settlement of royalties with the Office of the Chief Scientist	(1,581)	9,197	_
Other adjustments	337	683	(117)
Net cash provided by operating activities	91,356	115,994	41,181
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES			
Purchase of property, plant and equipment	(61,287)	(46,003)	(45,244)
Investment grants received for property, plant and equipment	-	119	1,334
Acquisition of subsidiaries and businesses (Schedule A)	(2,458)	(5,280)	(3,344)
Investments in affiliated companies and subsidiaries	(1,049)	(1,681)	(801)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment	5,815	956	3,010
Grant of long-term loan	-	(714)	-
Repayment of long-term loan	2,400	-	-
Repayment of short-term loan	-	1,371	-
Investment in long-term bank deposits	(1,750)	(1,228)	(1,872)
Proceeds from sale of long-term bank deposits	3,568	1,689	2,322
Short-term bank deposits, net	960	(204)	(57)
Net cash used in investing activities	(53,801)	(50,975)	(44,652)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES			
Proceeds from exercise of options	5,266	4,140	3,300
Repayment of long-term credit for purchase of a building	-	-	(3,000)
Purchase of treasury shares	-	=	(708)
Repayment of long-term bank loans	(27,066)	(3,249)	(13,049)
Proceeds from long-term bank loans	10,000	2,233	25,444
Dividends paid	(14,882)	(12,717)	(12,132)
Change in short-term bank credit and loans, net	(10,997)	(19,729)	(6,517)
Net cash used in financing activities	(37,679)	(29,322)	(6,662)
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS	(124)	35,697	(10,133)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR	76,280	40,583	50,716
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR	\$76,156	\$76,280	\$40,583
(*) Dividend received	\$ 2,214	\$ -	\$ -
		<u> </u>	<u> </u>

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONT.)

U. S. dollars (In thousands)

	Year ended December 31,			
	2003	2002	2001	
SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOWS INFORMATION:				
Cash paid during the year for:				
Income taxes	\$14,666	\$ 21,730	\$ 9,469	
Interest	\$ 4,034	\$ 2,947	\$ 6,649	
SCHEDULE A:				
Subsidiaries and businesses acquired (*)				
Estimated net fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition was as follows:				
Working capital deficiency (excluding cash and cash				
equivalents)	\$ 657	\$ -	\$ 888	
Property, plant and equipment	(249)	(275)	(1,886)	
Goodwill, know-how and other intangible assets	(1,334)	(5,078)	(3,800)	
Deferred income taxes	(1,765)	-	-	
Long-term liabilities	198	-	1,454	
Minority interest	35			
	(2,458)	(5,353)	(3,344)	
Less short-term debt incurred on acquisition		73		
	\$ (2,458)	\$ (5,280)	\$ (3,344)	

AEL in 2001 (see Note 1C). Defense systems division of

(*)
Elron Telesoft in 2002 (see Note 1D). In 2003 OIP (see Note 1E) and AD&D (see Note 1F).

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U. S. dollars (In thousands)

Note 1 - GENERAL

- A. Elbit Systems Ltd. (the "Company") is an Israeli corporation, 30% owned by the Federmann Group and 20% owned by Elron Electronic Industries Ltd. ("Elron"). The Company's shares are traded on the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange and on the Nasdaq National Market in the United States. The Company and its subsidiaries (the "Group") are engaged mainly in the field of defense electronics. The Company's principal wholly owned subsidiaries are EFW Inc. ("EFW") and Elop Electro-Optics Industries Ltd. ("El-Op").
- B. A majority of the Group's revenues were derived in recent years from direct or indirect sales to governments or to government agencies. As a result, a substantial portion of the Group's sales is subject to the special risks associated with sales to governments or to government agencies. These risks include, among others, the dependency on the resources allocated by governments to defense programs, changes in governmental priorities and changes in governmental approvals regarding export licenses required for the Group products and for its suppliers. As for a major customer refer to Note 18C.
- C. In 2001, the Company acquired a 62.5% interest in Aeroeletronica Industria de Componentes Avionicos S.A. ("AEL"), a Brazilian company located in Porto Alegre, for approximately \$3,450 in cash. In July 2002, the Company acquired the remaining 37.5% interest for an additional \$900 in cash. The consideration paid included approximately \$1,200 held in escrow, pending final resolution of certain liabilities and contingencies of AEL to be resolved over a period of five years following the acquisition. The excess of cost over the fair value of net liabilities acquired of approximately \$6,700 was allocated to land (\$1,200) and identifiable intangible assets (\$5,500), to be amortized over a period of 8 years.

AEL serves as a center for the production and logistics support of defense electronics for programs in Brazil.

The results of AEL's operations have been included in the consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition.

Pro forma information in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 141 "Business Combinations" ("SFAS No. 141") has not been provided, since the revenues and net income of AEL were not material in relation to total consolidated revenues and net income for the year 2001.

ELBIT SYSTEMS LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)

U. S. dollars (In thousands)

Note 1 - GENERAL (Cont.)

D. In January 2002, the Company acquired from Elron Telesoft Inc. and its subsidiaries ("Elron Telesoft") the assets and the business of the Defense Systems Division of Elron Telesoft ("the Government Division") in consideration for \$5,700 in cash. The excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net tangible assets acquired in the amount of approximately \$5,100 was allocated to technology and other intangible assets to be amortized over a weighted average period of 3 years.

The Government Division is engaged mainly in the development of communication systems, information technology and image intelligence processing for defense and military applications.

The results of the Government Division have been included in the consolidated financial statements from the first quarter of 2002.

Pro forma information in accordance with SFAS No. 141 has not been provided, since the revenues and net income of the Government Division were not material in relation to total consolidated revenues and net income for the years 2001 and 2002.

E. In June 2003, the Company (through El-Op) acquired all of the outstanding Ordinary shares of Optronics Instruments & Products N.V. (O.I.P.), a company registered in Belgium, in consideration for \$1,846 in cash. The acquisition was accounted for by the purchase method of accounting.

O.I.P. develops, manufactures and supports electro-optical products, mainly for the defense and space markets.

The following table summarizes the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition as estimated by the Company:

Current assets	\$6,896
Property and equipment	168
Deferred tax assets	1,700
Total assets acquired	8,764
Current liabilities	(6,918)
Net assets acquired	\$1,846

The results of O.I.P.'s operations have been included in the consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition.

ELBIT SYSTEMS LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)

Note 1 - GENERAL (Cont.)

Pro forma information in accordance with SFAS No. 141 has not been provided, since the revenues and net income of O.I.P. were not material in relation to total consolidated revenues and net income for the years 2001, 2002 and 2003.

F. In July 2003, the Company acquired approximately 54% of the outstanding shares of Aero Design Development Ltd. ("AD&D") an Israeli company in consideration for \$1,406 in cash. The acquisition was accounted for by the purchase method of accounting.

AD&D develops, manufactures and builds airborne models and other engineered products.

The purchase price over the fair value of net tangible assets acquired in the amount of approximately \$1,334 was allocated to know-how (\$1,000) to be amortized by the straight-line method over a period of 10 years and to goodwill (\$334).

The following table summarizes the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition as estimated by the Company:

Current assets	\$604
Property and equipment	81
Know-how and goodwill	1,334
Deferred tax assets	65
Total assets acquired	2,084
Current liabilities	(445)
Long-term liabilities	(198)
Minority interest	(35)
Net assets acquired	\$1,406

The results of AD&D.'s operations have been included in the consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition.

Pro forma information in accordance with SFAS No. 141 has not been provided, since the revenues and net income of AD&D were not material in relation to total consolidated revenues and net income for the years 2001, 2002 and 2003.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)

U. S. dollars (In thousands)

Note 2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States ("U.S. GAAP"). As applicable to the consolidated financial statements of the Group, such principles are substantially identical to accounting principles generally accepted in Israel, except as described in Note 23.

A. USE OF ESTIMATES

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

B. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS IN U.S. DOLLARS

The Company's revenues are generated mainly in U.S. dollars. In addition, most of the Company's costs are incurred in U.S. dollars. The Company's management believes that the U.S. dollar is the primary currency of the economic environment in which the Company operates. Thus, the functional and reporting currency of the Company is the U.S. dollar.

Transactions and balances originally denominated in U.S. dollars are presented at their original amounts. Transaction and balances in other currencies have been remeasured into U.S. dollars in accordance with principles set forth in SFAS No. 52 "Foreign Currency Translation". All exchange gain and losses from the remeasurement mentioned above are reflected in the statement of income in financial income or expenses.

For those foreign subsidiaries whose functional currency has been determined to be other than the U.S. dollar, assets and liabilities are translated at year-end exchange rates and statement of income items are translated at average exchange rates prevailing during the year. Such translation adjustments are recorded as a separate component of accumulated other comprehensive income in shareholders' equity.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)

U. S. dollars (In thousands)

Note 2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.)

C. PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly and majority-owned subsidiaries.

The consolidated subsidiaries include El-Op, EFW and other Israeli and non-Israeli subsidiaries.

Intercompany transactions and balances including profit from intercompany sales not yet realized outside the Group have been eliminated upon consolidation.

D. CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash equivalents, are short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to cash with maturities of three months or less at the date of acquisition.

E. SHORT-TERM BANK DEPOSITS

Short-term bank deposits are deposits with maturities of more than three months but less than one year. The short-term bank deposits are presented at their cost.

F. INVENTORIES

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Inventory write-offs are provided for slow-moving items or technological obsolescence for which recoverability is not probable.

Cost is determined as follows:

- Raw materials using the average cost method.
- Costs incurred on long-term contracts in progress represent recoverable costs incurred for production, allocable operating overhead and, where appropriate, research and development costs (refer to Note 2Q).

Advances from customers are allocated to the applicable contract inventories and are reflected as an offset against the related inventory balances.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)

U. S. dollars (In thousands)

Note 2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.)

G. INVESTMENT IN AFFILIATED COMPANIES, PARTNERSHIP AND OTHER COMPANIES

Investments in non-marketable shares of companies in which the Group holds less than 20% and the Group does not have the ability to exercise significant influence over operating and financial policies of the companies are recorded at the lower of cost or estimated fair value.

Investments in companies and partnership over which the Group can exercise significant influence (generally, entities in which the Group holds between 20% and 50% of voting rights) are presented using the equity method of accounting. Profits on intercompany sales, not realized outside the Group, were eliminated. The Group discontinues applying the equity method when its investment (including advances and loans) is reduced to zero and it has not guaranteed obligations of the affiliate or otherwise committed to provide further financial support to the affiliate.

Certain investments are accounted for under the hypothetical liquidation method. For these investments, the Group applies Emerging Issues Task Force ("EITF 99-10"), "Percentage Used to Determine the Amount of Equity Method Losses", according to which the Group recognizes equity method losses based on the ownership level of the particular investee security or loan held by the Group to which the equity method losses are being applied.

The Group's investments in affiliates are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an investment may not be recoverable. As of December 31, 2003, based on management's most recent analyses, no impairment losses have been identified.

H. LONG-TERM TRADE RECEIVABLES

Long-term trade receivables from extended payment agreements are recorded at their estimated present values (determined based on the original rates of interest).

I. LONG-TERM BANK DEPOSITS

Bank deposits with maturities of more than one year are presented at cost including accumulated interest.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)

U. S. dollars (In thousands)

Note 2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.)

J. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and investment grants. For equipment produced for the Group's own use, cost includes materials, labor and overhead, but not in excess of the fair value of the equipment. Depreciation is calculated by the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the assets at the following annual rates:

	%	
Buildings	2-4	(mainly 4%)
Instruments, machinery and equipment	10-33	
Office furniture and other	6-33	
Motor vehicles	15-20	(mainly 15%)

Land rights and leasehold improvements - over the term of the lease.

K. IMPAIRMENT OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS

The Group's long-lived assets and certain identifiable intangible assets are reviewed for impairment in accordance with SFAS No. 144 "Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets" whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to the future undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If an asset is determined to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its fair value. As of December 31, 2003, no impairment losses have been identified.

L. OTHER ASSETS

Intangible assets subject to amortization arose from acquisitions prior to July 1, 2001, are being amortized on a straight-line basis over their useful life in accordance with APB Opinion No. 17, "Intangible Assets" ("APB No. 17").

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)

U. S. dollars (In thousands)

Note 2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.)

L. OTHER ASSETS (CONT.)

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination for which date is on or after July 1, 2001, are being amortized over their useful life using a method of amortization that reflects the pattern in which the economic benefits of the intangible assets are consumed or otherwise used up, in accordance with Statements of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142 "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets", ("SFAS No. 142").

M. GOODWILL

Goodwill represents excess of the cost of acquired entities over the net fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed. Goodwill that arose from acquisitions prior to July 1, 2001, was amortized until December 31, 2001, on a straight-line basis over 10 - 20 years. Under SFAS No. 142, such goodwill shall no longer be amortized effective as of January 1, 2002. Goodwill acquired in a business combination on or after July 1, 2001 is not amortized.

SFAS No. 142 requires goodwill to be tested for impairment on adoption and at least annually thereafter or between annual tests in certain circumstances, and written down when impaired, rather than being amortized as previous accounting standards required. Goodwill attributable to each of the reporting units is tested for impairment by comparing the fair value of each reporting unit with its carrying value. If the carrying value exceeds the fair value, impairment is measured by comparing the implied fair value of goodwill to its carrying value. Fair value of a reporting unit is determined using discounted cash flows. Significant estimates used in the methodology include estimates of future cash flows, future short-term and long-term growth rates and weighted average cost of capital for each of the reporting units. As of December 31, 2003, no impairment losses have been identified.

The adoption of SFAS 142 did not affect the financial position and results of operations of the Group as of January 1, 2002.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)

U. S. dollars (In thousands)

Note 2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.)

N. SEVERANCE PAY

Under Israeli law and employment agreements, the Group's companies in Israel are required to make severance payments and, in certain situations, pay pensions to terminated employees. The calculation is based on the employee's latest salary and the period of his employment. The companies' obligation for severance pay and pension is provided by monthly deposits with insurance companies, pension funds and by an accrual.

The value of severance pay funds is presented in the balance sheet and includes profits accumulated to balance sheet date. The amounts deposited may be withdrawn only after fulfillment of the obligations pursuant to Israeli severance pay law or labor agreements. The value of the deposited funds are based on the cash surrendered value of these funds and include immaterial profits.

Severance pay expenses for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, amounted to approximately \$11,491, \$10,138 and \$8,097, respectively.

O. REVENUE RECOGNITION

The Group generates revenues from long-term contracts involving the design, development, manufacture and integration of defense systems and products and providing support and services for such systems and products. Revenues from long-term contracts are recognized based on Statement of Position 81-1 "Accounting for Performance of Construction-Type and Certain Production - Type Contracts" ("SOP 81-1") on the percentage of completion method.

Sales and anticipated profit under long-term fixed-price production type contracts are recorded on a percentage of completion basis, generally using units of delivery as the measurement basis for effort accomplished. Estimated contract profit is included in earnings in proportion to recorded sales.

Sales under certain long-term fixed-price contracts which, among other things require a significant amount of development effort in relation to total contract value, are recorded using the cost-to-cost method of accounting where sales and profit are recorded based on the ratio of costs incurred to estimated total costs at completion but not before the Group achieves certain milestones. As for research and development costs accounted for as contract costs refer to Note 2Q.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)

U. S. dollars (In thousands)

Note 2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.)

O. REVENUE RECOGNITION (CONT.)

Sales under long-term fixed-price development and production type contracts are recorded on a percentage of completion basis using cost-to-cost method and units of delivery method, as applicable.

Estimated gross profit or loss from long-term contracts may change due to changes in estimates resulting from differences between actual performance and original forecasts. Such changes in estimated gross profit are recorded in results of operations when they are reasonably determinable by management, on a cumulative catch-up basis.

Amounts representing contract change orders, claims or other items are included in sales only when they can be reliably estimated and realization is probable. Penalties and awards applicable to performance on contracts are considered in estimating sales and profit rates, and are recorded when there is sufficient information to assess anticipated contract performance.

The Group believes that the use of the percentage of completion method is appropriate as the Group has the ability to make reasonably dependable estimates of the extent of progress towards completion, contract revenues and contract costs. In addition, contracts executed include provisions that clearly specify the enforceable rights regarding services to be provided and received by the parties to the contracts, the consideration to be exchanged and the manner and terms of settlement. In all cases the Group expects to perform its contractual obligations and its customers are expected to satisfy their obligations under the contract. Anticipated losses on contracts are charged to earnings when identified.

Sales under cost-reimbursement-type contracts are recorded as costs are incurred. Applicable estimated profits are included in earnings in the proportion that incurred costs bear to total estimated costs.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)

U. S. dollars (In thousands)

Note 2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.)

P. WARRANTY

The Group estimates the costs that may be incurred under its basic warranty and records a liability in the amount of such costs at the time revenue is recognized. The specific terms and conditions of those warranties vary depending upon the product sold and the country in which the Group does business. Factors that affect the Group's warranty liability include the number of delivered units, engineering estimates and anticipated rates of warranty claims. The Group periodically assesses the adequacy of its recorded warranty liability and adjusts the amount as necessary.

Changes in the Group's provision for warranty during the year are as follows:

Balance, at January 1, 2003	\$ 8,541
Warranties issued during the year	4,491
Warranties forfeited or exercised during the year	(3,340)
	_
Balance, at December 31, 2003	\$ 9,692

Q. RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT COSTS

Research and development costs, net of participations, are charged to operations as incurred.

Group sponsored research and development costs primarily include independent research and development and bid and proposal efforts.

Under certain arrangements in which a customer shares in product development costs, the Group's portion of such unreimbursed costs is expensed as incurred. Customer-sponsored research and development costs incurred pursuant to contracts are accounted for as contract costs.

Certain Group companies in Israel receive grants (mainly royalty-bearing) from the Government of Israel and from other sources for the purpose of funding approved research and development projects. These grants are recognized at the time the applicable company is entitled to such grants on the basis of the costs incurred and are presented as a deduction from research and development costs.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)

U. S. dollars (In thousands)

Note 2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.)

R. INCOME TAXES

The Group accounts for income taxes in accordance with SFAS No. 109, "Accounting for Income Taxes". This Statement prescribes the use of the liability method whereby deferred tax assets and liability account balances are determined based on differences between financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse. The Group provides a valuation allowance, if necessary, to reduce deferred tax assets to their estimated realizable value.

S. CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISKS

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Group to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents and trade receivables.

The majority of the Group's cash and cash equivalents and deposits are invested in dollar instruments with major banks in Israel and in the U.S. Management believes that the financial institutions that hold the Group investments are financially sound and accordingly, minimal credit risk exists with respect to these investments.

The Group's trade receivables are derived primarily from sales to large and solid customers and governments located mainly in Israel, the United States and Europe. The Group performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers and to date, has not experienced any unexpected material losses except for a one time loss in 2002 of approximately \$4,600 due to the insolvency of one of the Group's customers. An allowance for doubtful accounts is determined with respect to those amounts that the Group has determined to be doubtful of collection.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)

U. S. dollars (In thousands)

Note 2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.)

T. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities ("SFAS No. 133"), requires companies to recognize all of its derivative instruments as either assets or liabilities in the statement of financial position at fair value. The accounting for changes in the fair value (i.e. gains or losses) of a derivative instrument depends on whether it has been designated and qualifies as part of a hedging relationship and further, on the type of hedging relationship. For those derivative instruments that are designated and qualify as hedging instruments, a company must designate the hedging instrument, based upon the exposure being hedged, as a fair value hedge, cash flow hedge or a hedge of a net investment in a foreign operations.

For derivative instruments that are designated and qualify as a fair value hedge (i.e., hedging the exposure to changes in the fair value of an asset or a liability or an identified portion thereof that is attributable to a particular risk), the gain and loss on the derivative instrument as well as the offsetting loss or gain on the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk are recognized in the same line item associated with the hedged item in current earnings during the period of the change in fair values. For derivative instruments that are designated and qualify as a cash flow hedge (i.e. hedging the exposure to variability in expected future cash flows that is attributable to a particular risk), the effective portion of the gain or loss on the derivative instrument is reported as a component of other comprehensive income and reclassified into earnings in the same line item associated with the forecasted transaction in the same period or periods during which the hedged transaction affects earnings.

The remaining gain or loss on the derivative instrument in excess of the cumulative change in the present value of future cash flows of the hedged item, if any, is recognized in other income/expense in current earnings during the period of change.

For derivative instruments not designated as hedging instruments, the gain or loss is recognized in other income/expense in current earnings during the period of change.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)

U. S. dollars (In thousands)

Note 2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.)

T. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT.)

As part of its fair value hedging strategy the Group enters into forward exchange contracts to hedge certain firm commitments denominated in foreign currencies. The purpose of the Group's foreign currency hedging activities is to protect the Group from risk that the eventual dollar cash flows from the sale of products to international customers will be adversely affected by changes in the exchange rates.

In addition, in order to ensure the dollar value of certain assets and liabilities, the Group has enters into forward exchange contracts.

As part of its cash flows hedging strategy the Group enters into forward exchange contracts to hedge forecasted salary expenses denominated in currency other than the U.S. dollar.

As of December 31, 2003, the Group had forward contracts with notional value of approximately \$27,500 to purchase and sell foreign currencies. The Group also had options to hedge future cash flow in the amount of \$24,000. The forward contracts and the options mature in 2004.

The fair value of the foreign exchange contracts as of December 31, 2003 amounted to \$1,113. The fair value of the options as of December 31, 2003 is minimal.

U. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

The Company has elected to follow Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25 ("APB No. 25") "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees" and FASB Interpretation No. 44 ("FIN No. 44") "Accounting for Certain Transactions Involving Stock Compensation" in accounting for its employee stock option plans. Under APB No. 25, compensation expense is recognized based on the intrinsic value method where by compensation expense is equal to the excess if any of the quoted market price of the stock at the grant date of the award or other measurement date, over the amount an employee must pay to acquire the stock. The Company recognizes the expense over the vesting period of the award.

In respect of phantom share options, the Company applies variable stock compensation accounting (See Note 17C).

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)

U. S. dollars (In thousands)

Note 2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.)

U. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION (CONT.)

The Company adopted the disclosure provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 148, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation – transition and disclosure" ("SFAS No. 148"), which amended certain provisions of SFAS No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation", to provide alternative methods of transition for an entity that voluntarily changes the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation, effective as of the beginning of the fiscal year. The Company continues to apply the provisions of APB No. 25, in accounting for stock-based compensation.

Pro forma information regarding the Company's net income and net earnings per share is required by SFAS No. 123 and has been determined as if the Company had accounted for its employee stock options under the fair value method prescribed by SFAS No. 123.

The fair value for options granted in 2003, 2002 and 2001 is amortized over their vesting period and estimated at the date of grant using a Black-Scholes options pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions:

	2003	2002	2001
Divided yield	2.19%	1.99%	2.03%
Expected volatility	19.03%	21.9%	33.8%
Risk-free interest	1.20%	1.34%	2%
Expected life of up to	6 years	6 years	6 years

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)

U. S. dollars (In thousands)

Note 2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.)

U. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION (CONT.)

Pro forma information under SFAS No.123 is as follows:

	Year ended December 31,		
	2003	2002	2001
Net income as reported Add - Stock based compensation expense (income), net of related tax effects as reported (intrinsic	\$ 45,945	\$ 45,113	\$ 40,796
method) Deduct - Stock based compensation expense under fair value based method of SFAS 123 net of	3,793	(741)	6,810
related tax effects	(2,956)	(2,956)	(2,932)
Pro forma net income	\$ 46,782	\$ 41,416	\$ 44,674
Net earnings per share: Basic net earnings per share as reported	\$ 1	\$ 1	\$ 1
Diluted net earnings per share as reported	\$ 1	\$ 1	\$ 1
Pro forma basic net earnings per share	\$ 1	\$ 1	\$ 1
Pro forma diluted net earnings per share	\$ 1	\$ 1	\$ 1

V. FAIR VALUE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amount reported in the balance sheet for cash and cash equivalents, short-term bank deposits, trade receivables, short-term bank credit and loans and trade payables approximate their fair values due to the short-term maturities of such instruments.

Long-term loans are estimated by discounting the future cash flows using current interest rates for loans of similar terms and maturities. The carrying amount of the long-term loans approximates their fair value.

The fair value of foreign currency contracts (used for hedging purposes) is estimated by obtaining current quotes from investment bankers.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)

U. S. dollars (In thousands)

Note 2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.)

V. FAIR VALUE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT.)

It was not practicable to estimate the fair value of the Group's investments in shares of non-public companies that are accounted for under the cost method because of the lack of a quoted market price and the inability to obtain valuation of each company without incurring excessive costs. The carrying amounts of these companies were \$11,104 and \$11,745 as of December 31, 2002 and 2003, respectively, and represent the original cost of acquisition.

W. BASIC AND DILUTED NET EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic net earnings per share is computed based on the weighted average number of Ordinary shares outstanding during each year. Diluted net earnings per share is computed based on the weighted average number of Ordinary shares outstanding during each year, plus dilutive potential Ordinary shares considered outstanding during the year in accordance with SFAS No. 128 "Earnings Per Share". Outstanding stock options are excluded from the calculation of the diluted net earnings per Ordinary share when such securities are anti-dilutive. In all the years presented no stock options were excluded.

X. IMPACT OF RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

In November 2002, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 45, "Guarantor's Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others, an interpretation of FASB Statements No. 5, 57, and 107 and Rescission of FASB Interpretation No. 34" ("FIN No. 45"). FIN No. 45 elaborates on the disclosures to be made by a guarantor in its interim and annual financial statements about its obligations under certain guarantees that it has issued. It also clarifies that a guarantor is required to recognize, at the inception of a guarantee, a liability for the fair value of the obligation undertaken in issuing the guarantee.

FIN No. 45 does not prescribe a specific approach for subsequently measuring the guarantor's recognized liability over the term of the related guarantee. It also incorporates, without change, the guidance in FASB Interpretation No.34, "Disclosure of Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others", which is being superseded. The disclosure provisions of FIN No. 45 are effective for financial statements of interim or annual periods that end after December 15, 2002, and the

ELBIT SYSTEMS LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)

U. S. dollars (In thousands)

Note 2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.)

X. IMPACT OF RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

provisions for initial recognition and measurement are effective on a prospective basis for guarantees that are issued or modified after December 31, 2002, irrespective of a guarantor's year-end. The adoption of FIN No. 45 did not have a material impact on the Group's results of operations or financial position.

In November 2002, the EITF reached a consensus on Issue No. 00-21, "Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables." EITF Issue No. 00-21 provides guidance on how to account for arrangements that involve the delivery or performance of multiple products, services and/or rights to use assets. The provisions of EITF Issue No. 00-21 applied to revenue arrangements entered into in fiscal periods beginning after June 15, 2003. Additionally, companies will be permitted to apply the consensus guidance in this issue to all existing arrangements as the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle in accordance with APB Opinion No. 20, "Accounting Changes". The adoption of EITF Issue No. 00-21 did not have a material impact upon the Company's consolidated financial position, cash flows or results of operations.

In December 2003, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin ("SAB") No. 104, "Revenue Recognition." ("SAB No. 104") which revises or rescinds certain sections of SAB No. 101, "Revenue Recognition", in order to make this interpretive guidance consistent with current authoritative accounting and auditing guidance and SEC rules and regulations. The changes noted in SAB NO. 104 did not have a material effect on the Company's consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In 2003, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an interpretation of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51 ("FIN 46"). In December 2003, the FASB revised FIN 46 to make certain technical corrections and address certain implementation issues that had arisen. FIN 46 provides a new framework for identifying Variable Interest Entities ("VIE's") and determining when a company should include the assets, liabilities, non-controlling interests and results of activities of a VIE in its consolidated financial statements.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)

U. S. dollars (In thousands)

Note 2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.)

X. IMPACT OF RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (CONT.)

In general, a VIE is an entity that either (1) has an insufficient amount of equity to carry out its principal activities, without additional subordinated financial support, (2) has a group of equity owners that are unable to make significant decisions about the entity's activities, or (3) has a group of equity owners that do not have the obligation to absorb the entity's losses or the right to receive returns generated by its operations. FIN 46 requires the consolidation of a VIE by the primary beneficiary. The primary beneficiary is the entity that absorbs a majority of the entity's expected losses, receives a majority of the entity's expected residual returns, or both, as a result of ownership, contractual or other financial interests in the entity.

The Group is currently evaluating the effects of this interpretation in respect of its investments. It is possible that some of its unconsolidated investees may be considered as VIEs in accordance with the interpretation. Accordingly, if it is determined that the Group is the primary beneficiary of a VIE, the Group will be required to consolidate the financial statements of such VIE with its own financial statements commencing in the first quarter of 2004.

Y. RECLASSIFICATIONS

Certain financial statement data for prior years has been reclassified to conform with current year financial statement presentation.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.) U. S. dollars (In thousands)

Note 3 - TRADE RECEIVABLES, NET

Trade receivables

	December 31,		
	2003	2002	
Open accounts (*)	\$170,287	\$185,997	
Unbilled receivables	36,855	43,187	
Less - allowance for doubtful accounts	(3,861)	(3,411)	
	\$203,281	\$225,773	
(*) Includes affiliated companies	\$6,668	\$9,647	

Note 4 - OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAID EXPENSES

	December 31,	
	2003	2002
Prepaid expenses	\$14,310	\$12,244
Government departments	5,826	5,915
Employees	513	1,029
Deferred income taxes	21,908	19,997
Others	5,806	3,513
	\$48,363	\$ 42,698

Note 5 - INVENTORIES, NET OF ADVANCES

	December 31,	
	2003	2002
Cost incurred on long-term contracts in progress	\$253,663	\$ 210,418
Raw materials	78,504	75,579
Advances to suppliers and subcontractors	20,137	25,047
	352,304	311,044
Less -		
Cost incurred on contracts in progress deducted		
from customer advances	14,581	10,658
	337,723	300,386
Less -		
Advances received from customers	77,482	67,624
Provision for losses	11,016	12,363
	\$249,225	\$ 220,399

The Company has transferred legal title of inventories to certain customers as collateral for advances received.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)

U. S. dollars (In thousands)

Note 6 - INVESTMENTS IN AFFILIATED COMPANIES, PARTNERSHIP AND OTHER COMPANIES

A. Investments in companies accounted for under the equity method:

	Decemb	December 31,	
	2003	2002	
SCD (1)	\$ 17,347	\$ 15,713	
VSI (2)	6,149	3,893	
Opgal (3)	2,390	2,028	
Others (4)	592	313	
	\$ 26,478	\$ 21,947	

- (1) Semi Conductor Devices ("SCD"), an Israeli partnership, held 50% by the Company and 50% by Rafael Armaments Development Authority Ltd. ("Rafael"). SCD is engaged in the development and production of various thermal detectors and laser diodes. SCD is jointly controlled and therefore is not consolidated in the Company's financial statements.
 - (2) Vision Systems International LLC ("VSI") based in San Jose, is a California limited liability company that is held 50% by EFW. VSI is jointly controlled and therefore is not consolidated in the Company's financial statements. VSI operates in the area of helmet mounted display systems for fixed wing military and paramilitary aircraft. VSI is jointly controlled and therefore is not consolidated in the Company's financial statements.
- (3) Opgal Optronics Industries Ltd. ("Opgal") is an Israeli company owned 50.1% by the Company and 49.9% by a subsidiary of Rafael. Opgal focuses mainly on commercial applications of thermal imaging and electro-optic technologies. The Company jointly controls Opgal with Rafael, and therefore Opgal is not consolidated in the Company's financial statements.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)

U. S. dollars (In thousands)

Note 6 - INVESTMENTS IN AFFILIATED COMPANIES, PARTNERSHIP AND OTHER COMPANIES (CONT.)

A. Investments in companies accounted for under the equity method (cont.)

(4) Mediguide Inc. ("Mediguide") and its Israeli subsidiary, Mediguide Ltd., were established in 2000 as a spin-off from the Company, which holds the majority of Mediguide's Ordinary shares. In 2001-2003, Mediguide issued Preferred shares to other investors in consideration for approximately \$16,000. The Preferred shares entitle the other investors to preference rights in any liquidation event. Therefore, the Company did not record any gain as a result of the above transaction. In addition the Preferred shares entitle their holders to certain participating rights. Accordingly, based on the guidance in EITF 96-16, the Company does not consolidate Mediguide. The carrying value of the investment in Mediguide is zero.

RedC Optical Networks Inc. ("RedC") is engaged in the multifocal optic communications sector and is held 36.5% by El-Op. RedC designs, develops and manufacture optical amplifiers for dense wave-length multiplexing (DWDM) optical networks for telecommunication renders. Based on analysis performed, the Company recorded a provision for loss on its investment in RedC of \$2,500 during the year ended December 31, 2002. This provision has been presented under "Equity in net earnings of affiliated companies and partnership".

(5) See Note 16(E) for guarantees.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)

U. S. dollars (In thousands)

Note 6 - INVESTMENTS IN AFFILIATED COMPANIES, PARTNERSHIP AND OTHER COMPANIES (CONT.)

B. Investments in companies accounted for under the cost method

	December 31	
	2003	2002
Sultam (1)	\$ 3,500	\$ 3,500
ISI (2)	7,230	7,230
Aero Astro (3)	1,000	-
Others	15	374
	\$ 11,745	\$ 11,104

- (1) Sultam Systems Ltd. ("Sultam"), held 10%, is an Israeli company engaged in the development and manufacturing of military systems in the artillery sector.
- (2) ImageSat International N.V. ("ISI"), held 14% (10% on a fully diluted basis), is engaged in the operation of satellite photography formations and commercial delivery of satellite photography for civil purposes.
- (3) AeroAstro Inc. In October 2003, the Company purchased Common stock of AeroAstro Inc., ("AAI") a Delaware corporation, representing 8.33% of the total outstanding Common stock of AAI on a fully diluted basis, in consideration for \$1,000. AAI is engaged in innovative micro and nanospacecraft applications. AAI manufactures low-cost satellite systems and components, used in its own spacecraft and for spacecraft development in and outside the U.S.

Note 7 - LONG -TERM BANK DEPOSITS AND LOAN

	December 31,	
	2003 2002	
Deposits with bank for loans granted to employees (*)	\$ 1,901	\$2,037
Other deposits with bank	53	935
Long-term loan	-	714
	\$ 1,954	\$3,686

(*) The deposits are linked to the Israeli CPI, bear annual interest of 4% and are presented net of current maturities of \$633 (2002 - \$680).

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)

U. S. dollars (In thousands)

Note 8 - PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, NET

	December 31,	
	2003	2002
Cost (1):		
Land, buildings and leasehold improvements (2)	\$ 143,223	\$128,456
Instruments, machinery and equipment (3)	194,129	169,467
Office furniture and other	24,943	21,904
Motor vehicles	29,776	24,393
	392,071	344,220
Accumulated depreciation	(162,850)	(141,259)
Depreciated cost	\$ 229,221	\$ 202,961

Depreciation expenses for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 amounted to \$30,775, \$26,525 and \$24,517, respectively.

- (1) (1) Net of investment grants received (mainly for instruments, machinery and equipment) in the amounts of approximately \$30,700 and \$30,800 as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
- (2) Includes, rights in approximately 9,225 square meters of land in, Tirat Hacarmel, Israel. The land is leased from the Israel Land Administration until the years 2014 to 2024 with a renewal option for additional periods of up to 49 years. The Company's rights in the land have not yet been registered in its name.
 - Includes, rights in approximately 10,633 square meters of land in Rehovot, Israel. The land is leased from the Israel Land Administration until the year of 2043 with a renewal option for additional periods of up to 49 years. The Company's rights in the land have not yet been registered in its name.
- (3) Includes equipment produced by the Group for its own use in the amount of \$10,498 and \$5,517 as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
- (4) As for pledges of assets see Note 16(H).

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)

U. S. dollars (In thousands)

Note 9 - OTHER ASSETS, NET

A.

	Weighted -average number	Dogom	show 21
	of years	-	ber 31,
		2003	2002
Original cost:			
Know-how and technology (1)	12.5	\$ 82,449	\$ 81,398
Trade marks (2)	17	8,000	8,000
Goodwill (3)		37,613	37,199
		128,062	126,597
Accumulated amortization:			
Know-how and technology		21,555	14,666
Trade marks		1,458	1,125
Goodwill		5,037	5,037
		28,050	20,828
Amortized cost		\$ 100,012	\$105,769

- (1) Includes mainly know-how acquired in the merger with El-Op (\$45,000), know-how acquired in the acquisition of AEL and the Government Division (\$10,600) and intangible assets acquired from Honeywell Inc. (\$9,300).
- (2) Includes trade marks acquired in the merger with El-Op.
- (3) Includes mainly goodwill acquired in the merger with El-Op (\$34,200) and goodwill acquired from Honeywell Inc. (\$1,800). Until January 1, 2002, goodwill was amortized at an annual rate of 5% 10%.
- B. Amortization expenses amounted to \$7,222, \$6,412 and \$8,348 for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
- C. The annual amortization expense relating to intangible assets existing as of December 31, 2003 for each of the five years in the period ending December 31, 2008 is estimated to be approximately \$6,000.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)

U. S. dollars (In thousands)

Note 9 - OTHER ASSETS, NET (CONT.)

The following information is presented to reflect net income and net earnings per share for all prior periods adjusted to exclude amortization of goodwill.

	Year ended
	December 31,
	2001
Reported net income	\$ 40,796
Goodwill amortization	2,760
Adjusted net income	\$ 43,556
Net earnings per share	
Reported basic net earnings per share	\$ 1.07
Goodwill amortization	0.08
Adjusted basic net earnings per share	\$ 1.15
Reported diluted net earnings per share	\$ 1.04
Goodwill amortization	0.07
Adjusted diluted net earnings per share	\$ 1.11

Note 10 - SHORT-TERM BANK CREDIT AND LOANS

	Decemb	oer 31,	
2003	2002	2003	2002
Interest	rate %		
3	3.	\$ 53	\$ 13,51
3	3.	1,92	
		2,46	13,51
	7.	4,68	5,24
2	2.	1,3€	5,54
		6,04	10,79
		\$8,5(\$24,30
	Interest		7. 4,68 2. 1,36 6,04

The subsidiary in the U.S. maintains standby lines of credit with various banks. The sum of the lines equals \$66,000 of which \$15,900 was available as of December 31, 2003.

As for liens – see Note 16F.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.) U. S. dollars (In thousands)

Note 11 - OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED EXEPNSES

	December 31,		
		2003	2002
Payroll and related expenses	\$	33,382	\$ 27,912
Provision for vacation pay		25,280	20,492
Government departments		25,243	22,443
Provision for warranty		9,692	8,541
Cost provisions and others		62,930	61,916
	\$	156,527	\$ 141,304

Note 12 - CUSTOMERS ADVANCES AND AMOUNTS IN EXCESS OF COSTS INCURRED ON CONTRACTS IN PROGRESS

	December 31,	
	2003	2002
Advances received	\$ 199,273	\$ 225,160
Less -		
Advances presented under long-term		
liabilities	7,592	40,411
Advances deducted from inventories	77,482	67,624
	114,199	117,125
Less -		
Costs incurred on contracts in progress	14,581	10,658
	\$99,618	\$ 106,467
As for guarantees see Note 16G.		

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)

U. S. dollars (In thousands)

Note 13 - LONG-TERM LOANS

		Interest	Years of	Decemb	er 31,
	Linkage	<u>%</u>	maturity	2003	2002
Banks	U.S. dollars	Libor +			
		0.75%-1.85%	2004 -	\$57,57	\$67,206
Banks	NIS-unlinked	Israeli			
		Prime	2004 - 2022	3,59	3,383
Office of chief scientist	NIS-linked to the Israeli-				
	CPI	5.2%	2004 - 2008	7,68	9,197
			•	68,85	79,786
Less-current matu	rities			6,81	6,613
				\$62,03	\$73,173
			_	φυ2,03	\$13,173

The Libor rate as of December 31, 2003 was 1.12%.

The Israeli Prime rate as of December 31, 2003 was 6.3%.

The maturities of these loans after December 31, 2003 are as follows:

2004 – current maturities	\$ 6,818
2005	56,136
2006	2,693
2007	139
2008	148
2009 and thereafter	 2,922
	\$ 68,856

In connection with bank credits and loans, including performance guarantees issued by banks and bank guarantees securing certain advances from customers, the Company and certain subsidiaries are obligated to meet certain loan covenants. Management believes that the Company and the subsidiaries meet the conditions of these covenants as of balance sheet date.

As for charges see Note 16H.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)

U. S. dollars (In thousands)

Note 14 - BENEFIT PLANS

The subsidiary in the U.S. has adopted for its employees in the U.S. benefits plans as follows:

Defined Benefit Retirement Plan

The subsidiary in the U.S. has two defined benefit pension plans (the Plans) covering substantially its employees in the U.S. Monthly benefits are based on years of benefit service and annual compensation. Annual contributions to the Plans are determined using the unit credit actuarial cost method and are equal to or exceed the minimum required by law. Pension fund assets of the Plans are invested primarily in stock, bonds and cash by a financial institution, as the investment manager of the Plans' assets.

The following table reconciles the benefit obligations, Plans assets, funded status and net asset (liability) information of the Plans:

	December 31,	
	2003	2002
Benefit obligation at beginning of year	\$ 28,439	\$22,358
Service cost	2,480	2,067
Interest cost	1,921	1,678
Actuarial losses	2,825	2,955
Benefits repaid	(700)	(619)
Benefit obligation at end of year	34,965	28,439
Plans assets at beginning of year	15,558	16,167
Actual return on Plan assets	2,689	(1,560)
Contributions by employer	3,649	1,571
Benefits repaid	(700)	(619)
Plans assets at end of year	21,196	15,559
Funded status of Plans (underfunded)	(13,769)	(12,880)
Unrecognized prior service cost	(195)	234
Unrecognized net actuarial loss	9,395	7,582
Net amount recognized	(4,569)	(5,064)
Net asset (liability) consists of:		
Accrued benefit liability	(11,011)	(10,298)
Intangible asset	51	234
Accumulated other comprehensive income	6,391	5,000
Net amount recognized	(4,569)	\$(5,064)
Weighted average assumptions:		
Discount rate as of December 31,	6.25%	6.75%
Expected long-term rate of return on		
Plans assets	9.00%	9.00%
Rate of compensation increase	3.00%	3.00%

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)

U. S. dollars (In thousands)

Note 14 - BENEFIT PLANS (Cont.)

	Year ended December 31,		
	2003	2002	2001
Components of net periodic pension			
cost:			
Service cost	\$ 2,48	\$ 2,0	\$ 1,7
Interest cost	1,92	1,6	1,4
Expected return on Plan assets	(1,57	(1,5	(1,6
Amortization of prior service cost	(1		
Recognized of net actuarial gain	33		(
One-time FAS 88 charge for 2001 SRP			1
Net periodic pension cost	\$ 3,15	\$ 2,1	\$ 1,7

Defined Contribution Plan

The 401(k) savings plan ("401(k) plan") is a defined contribution retirement plan that covers all eligible employees, as defined in section 401(k) of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code. Subsidiary's employees may elect to contribute a percentage of their annual gross compensation to the 401(k) plan. The U.S. subsidiary may make discretionary matching contributions as determined by the subsidiary. Total expense under the 401(k) plan amounted to \$1,629 for the year ended December 31, 2003 (2002 - \$1,369).

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)

U. S. dollars (In thousands)

Note 15 - TAXES ON INCOME

A. APPLICABLE TAX LAWS

(1) Measurement of taxable income under Israel's Income Tax (Inflationary Adjustments) Law, 1985:

Results for tax purposes for the Company and certain of its Israeli subsidiaries are measured and reflected in accordance with the change in the Israeli Consumer Price Index ("CPI"). As explained above in Note 2B, the consolidated financial statements are presented in U.S. dollars. The differences between the change in the Israeli CPI and in the NIS/U.S. dollar exchange rate cause a difference between taxable income and the income before taxes reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

In accordance with paragraph 9(f) of SFAS No. 109, the Company has not provided deferred income taxes on the above difference between the reporting currency and the tax basis of assets and liabilities.

(2) Tax benefits under Israel's Law for the Encouragement of Industry (Taxes), 1969:

The Company and certain subsidiaries in Israel (mainly El-Op and Cyclone) are "Industrial Companies", as defined by the Law for the Encouragement of Industry (Taxes), 1969, and as such, these companies are entitled to certain tax benefits, mainly amortization of costs relating to know-how and patents over eight years, accelerated depreciation and the right to deduct public issuance expenses for tax purposes.

(3) Tax benefits under Israel's Law for the Encouragement of Capital Investments, 1969:

Several expansion programs of the Company and certain of its Israeli subsidiaries ("the companies") have been granted "Approved Enterprise" status under Israel's Law for the Encouragement of Capital Investments, 1959. For some expansion programs, the companies have elected the grants track and for others they have elected the alternative tax benefits track, waiving grants in return for tax exemptions.

ELBIT SYSTEMS LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)

U. S. dollars (In thousands)

Note 15 - TAXES ON INCOME

A. APPLICABLE TAX LAWS (CONT.)

(3) Tax benefits under Israel's Law for the Encouragement of Capital Investments, 1959 (cont.):

Accordingly, certain income of the companies, derived from the "Approved Enterprise" expansion programs is tax exempt for two-year to ten-year period and subject to reduced tax rates of 25% for a five-year to eight-year period commencing in the year in which the companies had taxable income (limited to twelve years from commencement of production or fourteen years from the date of approval, whichever is earlier). As of December 31, 2003, the tax benefits for these expansion programs will expire between 2004 to 2010.

The entitlement to the above benefits is subject to the companies fulfilling the conditions specified in the above referred law, regulations published there under and the letters of approval for the specific investments in "Approved Enterprises". In the event of failure to comply with these conditions, the benefits may be canceled and the companies may be required to refund the amount of the benefits, in whole or in part, including interest. (For liens – see Note 16F). As of December 31, 2003, Management believes that the companies are meeting all conditions of the approvals.

The tax-exempt income attributable to the "Approved Enterprise" can be distributed to shareholders without imposing tax liability on the companies only upon the complete liquidation of the companies. As of December 31, 2003, retained earnings included approximately \$96,000 in tax-exempt profits earned by the companies' "Approved Enterprise".

If the retained tax-exempt income is distributed in a manner other than on the complete liquidation of the Company, it would be taxed at the corporate tax rate applicable to such profits as if the Company had not elected alternative tax benefits (currently - 25%) and an income tax liability would be incurred of approximately \$23,940 as of December 31, 2003.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)

U. S. dollars (In thousands)

Note 15 - TAXES ON INCOME

A. APPLICABLE TAX LAWS

(3) Tax benefits under Israel's Law for the Encouragement of Capital Investments, 1959:

The Company's Board of Directors has decided that its policy is not to declare dividends out of such tax-exempt income. Accordingly, no deferred income taxes have been provided on income attributable to the Companyies "Approved Enterprise".

In Israel, income from sources other than the "Approved Enterprise" during the benefit period will be subject to tax at the regular corporate tax rate of 36%.

Since the companies are operating under more than one approval, and since part of their taxable income is not entitled to tax benefits under the abovementioned law and is taxed at the regular tax rate of 36%, the effective tax rate is the result of a weighted combination of the various applicable rates and tax exemptions, and the computation is made for income derived from each approval on the basis of formulas specified in the law and in the approvals.

B. NON – ISRAELI SUBSIDIARIES

Non-Israeli subsidiaries are taxed based on tax laws in their countries of residence (mainly in the U.S.).

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.) U. S. dollars (In thousands)

Note 15 - INCOME TAXES (CONT.)

C. INCOME BEFORE TAXES ON INCOME

Year ended December 31,		
2003 200		2001
\$ 38,423	\$ 42,317	\$ 44,212
11,090	11,977	7,638
\$ 49,513	\$ 54,294	\$ 51,850
	\$ 38,423 11,090	2003 2002 \$ 38,423 \$ 42,317 11,090 11,977

TAXES ON INCOME D.

	Year ended December 31,			
			2001	
Taxes on income:				
Current taxes:				
Domestic	\$ 12,346	\$ 11,654	\$ 9,385	
Foreign	718	6,114	3,048	
	\$ 13,064	17,768	12,433	
Deferred income taxes:				
Domestic	(4,672)	(3,561)	(839)	
Foreign	2,942	(2,059)	(591)	
	(1,730)	(5,620)	(1,430)	
Taxes in respect of prior years		(*)(2,800)		
	\$ 11,334	\$ 9,348	\$ 11,003	

A reduction of tax expenses due to adjustments of estimated tax provision pursuant to the completion of prior years' tax assessments in respect of various Group companies.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.) U. S. dollars (In thousands)

Note 15 - INCOME TAXES (CONT.)

DEFERRED INCOME TAXES E.

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effect of temporary differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. Significant components of net deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

naomines are as ronows.		Deferred tax asset (liability)(1)	
	Total	Current	Noncurrent
As of December 31, 2003			
Deferred tax assets:			
Reserve and allowances	\$13,884	\$13,922	\$(38)
Inventory	7,547	7,547	-
Net operating loss carryforwards	6,606	439	6,167
	28,037	21,908	6,129
Valuation allowance (2)	(3,879)	-	(3,879)
Net deferred tax assets	24,158	21,908	2,250
Deferred tax liabilities:			
Property, plant and equipment	(12,769)	-	(12,769)
Other assets	(14,397)	-	(14,397)
	(27,166)		(27,166)
Net deferred tax assets (liabilities)	\$ (3,008)	\$ 21,908	\$ (24,916)
As of December 31, 2002			
Deferred tax assets:			
Reserve and allowances	\$10,510	\$10,859	\$(349)
Inventory	9,138	9,138	-
Net operating loss carryforwards	2,326	_	2,326
1 0	21,974	19,997	1,977
Valuation allowance (2)	(2,326)	-	(2,326)
Net deferred tax assets	19,648	19,997	(349)
Deferred tax liabilities:			
Property, plant and equipment	(9,209)	-	(9,209)
Other assets	(15,177)		(15,177)
	(24,386)		(24,386)
Net deferred tax assets (liabilities)	\$ (4,738)	\$19,997	\$ (24,735)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)

U. S. dollars (In thousands)

Note 15 - INCOME TAXES (CONT.)

- E. DEFERRED INCOME TAXES (CONT.)
 - (1) Current tax asset is included in other receivables. Noncurrent tax liability is included as a long-term liability.
 - (2) During 2003, the Group increased the valuation allowance due to an increase in accumulated operating loss carryforwards that more likely than not, will not be utilized.
- F. The Group's Israeli subsidiaries have estimated total available carryforward tax losses of approximately \$12,000 as of December 31, 2003. The Group's non-Israeli subsidiaries have estimated available carryforward tax losses of approximately \$8,500 as of December 31, 2003 to offset against future taxable profits for an indefinite period. Deferred tax assets in respect of the above carryforward losses amount to approximately \$6,600 in respect of which a valuation allowance has been recorded in the amount of approximately \$3,900.
- G. Reconciliation of the theoretical tax expense, assuming all income is taxed at the statutory rate applicable to income of the Group, and the actual tax expense as reported in the statements of operations, is as follows:

	Year ended December 31,		
	2003	2002	2001
Income before taxes as reported in the			
consolidated statements of operations	\$ 49,513	\$54,294	\$51,850
Statutory tax rate	36	36	36%
Theoretical tax expense	\$ 17,825	\$19,546	\$18,666
Tax benefit arising from reduced rate as an			
"Approved Enterprise" and other tax			
benefits	(8,391	(9,054	(7,697)
Tax adjustment in respect of different tax			
rate for foreign subsidiaries	279	(461	(952)
Operating carryforward losses for which			
valuation allowance was provided	126	2,189	101
Increase (decrease) in taxes resulting from			
nondeductible expenses	993	(263	571
Difference in basis of measurement for			
financial reporting and tax return purposes	846	458	832
Taxes in respect of prior years	-	(2,800)	-
Other differences, net	(344	(267	(518)
Actual tax expenses	\$11,334	\$9,348	\$11,003
Effective tax rate	22	<u></u>	21.2%

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)

U. S. dollars (In thousands)

Note 16 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

A. ROYALTY COMMITMENTS

1. The Company and certain Israeli subsidiaries partially finance their research and development expenditures under programs sponsored by the Office of the Chief Scientist in Israel ("OCS") for the support of research and development activities conducted in Israel. At the time the participations were received, successful development of the related projects was not assured.

In exchange for participation in the programs by the OCS, the Company and the subsidiaries agreed to pay 2% - 5% of total sales of products developed within the framework of these programs. The royalties will be paid up to maximum amount equaling 100% to 150% of the grants provided by the OCS, linked to the dollar and for grants received after January 1, 1999, also bearing annual interest at a rate based on LIBOR and other applicable law. The obligation to pay these royalties is contingent on actual sales of the products and in the absence of such sales, payment of royalties is not required.

In some cases, the Government of Israel participation (through the OCS) is subject to export sales or other conditions. The maximum amount of royalties is increased in the event of production outside of Israel.

The Company and certain of its subsidiaries are also obligated to pay certain amounts to the Israeli Ministry of Defense and others on certain sales including sales resulting from the development of certain technology.

Royalties expensed or accrued amounted to \$7,812, \$14,741 and \$8,252 in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

2. In September 2001, the OCS issued "Regulations for the Encouragement of Research and Development in Industry" (rules for determining the level and payment of royalties) ("the regulations"). The regulations allow large R&D intensive companies to reach certain agreements with the OCS regarding determination of the amount and payment schedule of royalties, subject to certain conditions.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)

U. S. dollars (In thousands)

Note 16 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (CONT.)

A. ROYALTY COMMITMENTS (CONT.)

If the Company elects to adopt the regulations, it will have to record a significant one-time expense resulting from accruing a liability for an absolute amount of royalties.

In May 2002, El-Op's Board of Directors approved an arrangement, proposed by the OCS, according to which El-Op pays commencing in 2002, an agreed amount of \$10,632 in exchange for a release from all obligations to pay royalties in the future. As a result El-Op recorded an expense for the agreed amount net of the accrual for royalties previously recorded by El-Op in the amount of \$9,801 included in Cost of Revenues.

B. COMMITMENTS IN RESPECT OF LONG-TERM PROJECTS

In connection with long-term projects in certain countries, the Company and certain subsidiaries undertook to use their respective best efforts to make or facilitate purchases or investments in those countries at certain percentages of the amount of the projects. The companies' obligation to make or facilitate third parties making such investments and purchases is subject to commercial conditions in the local market, typically without a specific financial penalty. The maximum aggregate undertaking as of December 31, 2003 amounted to \$630,100 to be performed over a period of up to 11 years, is typically tied to a percentage (up to 100%) of the amount of the specific contract.

In the opinion of Management, the actual amount of the investments and purchases is anticipated to be less than that mentioned above, since certain investments and purchases can result in reducing the overall undertaking on more than a one to one basis.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)

U. S. dollars (In thousands)

Note 16 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (CONT.)

C. LEGAL CLAIMS

The Company and its subsidiaries are involved in legal claims arising in the ordinary course of business, including claims by employees, consultants and others. Company's Management, based on the opinion of its legal counsel, believes that the financial impact for the settlement of such claims in excess of the accruals recorded in the financial statements will not have a material adverse effect on the financial position or results of operations of the Group.

D. LEASE COMMITMENTS

The future minimum lease commitments of the Group under various non-cancelable operating lease agreements in respect of premises, motor vehicles and office equipment are as of December 31, 2003:

2004	\$8,520
2005	6,145
2006	5,557
2007	5,453
2008 and there after	5,451
	\$ 31,126

Rent expenses for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 amounted to \$9,177, \$9,215, and \$7,978, respectively.

- E. The Company has provided, on a proportional basis to its ownership interest, guarantees for two of its investees in respect of credit lines from banks amounting to \$13,900 (2002- \$10,600), of which \$13,400 (2002 \$10,200) relates to a owned 50% foreign investee. The guarantees will exist as long as the credit lines are in effect. The Company would be liable to perform under the guarantee for any debt the investee would be in default under the terms of the credit line.
- F. A lien on the Group's Approved Enterprises has been registered in favor of the State of Israel. Grants received in respect of projects which have not yet been approved amount to approximately \$800 (see Note 15 A (3) above).

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)

U. S. dollars (In thousands)

Note 16 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (CONT.)

- G. Guarantees in the amount of approximately \$399,200 were issued by banks securing certain advances from customers and performance bonds on behalf of Group companies.
- H. Certain Group companies recorded fixed charges on most of their machinery and equipment, mortgages on most of their real estate and floating charges on most of their assets.

Note 17 - SHAREHOLDER'S EQUITY

A. SHARE CAPITAL

Ordinary shares confer upon their holders voting rights, the right to receive dividends and the right to share in equity upon liquidation of the Company.

B. 2000 EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTION PLAN

In 2000, the Company adopted an employee stock option plan for employees comprising options to purchase up to 2,500,000 Ordinary shares. The exercise price approximates market price of the shares at the grant date. The plan includes an additional 2,500,000 options to be issued as "phantom" shares options that grant the option holders a number of shares reflecting the benefit component of the options exercised, as calculated at the exercise date, in consideration for their par value only. Options vest over a period of one to four years from the date of grant and expire no later than six years from the date of grant.

Any options, which are canceled or forfeited before expiration, become available for future grants. As of December 31, 2003, 479,217 options of the Company were still available for future grants.

C. "PHANTOM" SHARE OPTIONS

The phantom share options are considered as part of a variable plan as defined in APB No. 25, and accordingly the compensation cost of the options is measured by the difference between the market price of the Company's shares and the exercise price of the options at the end of every reporting period and amortized by the accelerated method over the remaining vesting period.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.) U. S. dollars (In thousands)

Note 17 - SHAREHOLDER'S EQUITY (CONT.)

A summary of the Company's share option activity under the plans is as follows:

			Decemb	er 31,		
	200	3	200)2	2001	
	Number of options	Weighted average exercise price	Number of options	Weighted average exercise price	Number of options	Weighted average exercise price
Outstanding-beginning of						
the year	4,511,724	\$ 12.	5,107,634	\$ 11.93	5,671,918	\$ 11.26
Granted	13,000	14.	27,000	14.92	98,840	12.91
Exercised	(757,947)	12.	(558,901)	9.45	(598,348)	11.93
Forfeited	(31,175)	12.	(64,009)	11.33	(64,776)	12.50
Outstanding - end of the	<u> </u>		<u> </u>	·	<u></u>	
year	3,735,602	\$ 12.3	4,511,724	\$ 12.26	5,107,634	\$ 11.93
Options exercisable at the end of the year	2,547,196	\$ 12.2	2,287,790	\$ 12.18	373,138	\$7.56

E. The options outstanding as of December 31, 2003, have been separated into ranges of exercise price, as follows:

	Op	tions outstand	Options ex	ercisable	
	Number outstanding as of December	Weighted average remaining contractual	Weighted average exercise price per	Number outstanding as of December	Weighted average exercise price per
Exercise price	31, 2003	life (years)	share	31, 2003	share
\$10.61-\$12.16	158,9.	0.42	\$10.69	158,935	\$10.69
\$12.18-\$15.64	1,786,19	2.93	12.37	1,190,240	12.34
\$12.18-\$15.64(*)	1,790,4	2.94	12.37	1,198,021	12.33
	3,735,60	2.83	\$12.30	2,547,196	\$12.23

(*) Phantom share options.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)

U. S. dollars (In thousands)

Note 17 - SHAREHOLDER'S EQUITY (CONT.)

E. (Cont.)

Year ended

Where the Company has recorded deferred stock compensation for options issued with an exercise price below the fair value of the Ordinary shares, the deferred stock compensation is amortized and recorded as compensation expense ratably over the vesting period of the options. Compensation expense (income) of \$4,741, \$(926) and \$8,512 were recognized during the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

F. The weighted average exercise price and fair value of options granted during the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 were:

	Less than market price					
_	Year e	nded December	31,			
	2003	2002	2001			
Weighted-average exercise price Weighted-average	\$ 14.91	\$ 14.92	\$ 12.91			
fair values on grant date	\$ 4.63	\$ 4.31	\$ 5.14			

Year ended

Year ended

G. Computation of basic and diluted net earnings per share:

	Dece	mber 31, 200	3	December 31, 2002		December 31, 2001			
	Net income to shareholders of Ordinary shares	Weighted averaged number of shares (*)	Per share amount	Net income to shareholders of Ordinary shares	Weighted averaged number of shares (*)	Per share amount	Net income to shareholders of Ordinary shares	Weighted averaged number of shares (*)	Per share amount
Basic net earnings	\$ 45,945	39,061	\$1.18	\$45,113	38,489	\$1.17	\$40,796	37,975	\$1.07
Effect of dilutive securities: Employee stock options	.	1,169		-	1,374			1,384	
Diluted net earnings	\$ 45,945	40,230	\$1.14	\$45,113	39,863	\$1.13	\$40,796	39,359	\$1.04

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)

U. S. dollars (In thousands)

Note 17 - SHAREHOLDER'S EQUITY (CONT.)

H. TREASURY SHARES

The Company's shares held by the Company are presented at cost and deducted from shareholder's equity.

I. DIVIDEND POLICY

Dividends declared by the Company are paid in NIS or in foreign currency subject to any statutory limitations. The Company has decided not to declare dividends out of tax exempt earnings.

Note 18 - MAJOR CUSTOMER AND GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION

The Group adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 131, "Disclosures About Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information", ("SFAS No. 131"). The Group operates in one reportable segment (see Note 1 for a brief description of the Group's business).

A. Revenues are attributed to geographic areas based on location of the end customers as follows:

	1 ear en	1 ear ended December 31,			
	2003	2003 2002			
Europe	\$109,409	\$144,862	\$179,560		
U.S.	332,323	267,686	206,627		
Israel	255,742	225,674	226,650		
Others	200,506	189,234	151,664		
	\$897,980	\$827,456	\$764,501		

Voor anded December 31

B. Revenues are generated by the following product lines:

	Year ended December 31,			
	2003	2002	2001	
Airborne systems	\$373,580	\$372,756	\$334,201	
Armored vehicles systems	199,800	135,700	126,300	
Command, control, communications,				
computers and intelligence systems (C ⁴ I)	133,900	122,700	105,800	
Electro-optical systems	140,500	148,200	162,700	
Others	50,200	48,100	35,500	
	\$897,980	\$827,456	\$764,501	

C. Revenues from single customer, which exceed 10% of total revenues in the reported years:

Year en	Year ended December 31,			
2003	2002	2001		
21%	18%	20%		

Year ended December 31.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.) U. S. dollars (In thousands)

Note 18 - MAJOR CUSTOMER AND GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION (CONT.)

D. Long-lived assets by geographic areas:

J	Jecember 31	,
2003	2002	2001
\$229,396	\$211,256	\$84,864
81,261	83,814	194,690
18,093	13,660	10,451
\$328,750	\$308,730	\$290,005
	2003 \$229,396 81,261 18,093	\$229,396 \$211,256 81,261 83,814 18,093 13,660

Note 19 - RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT COSTS, NET

Year ended December 31,			
2003	2002	2001	
\$65,487	\$62,560	\$67,871	
(10,568)	(5,550)	(9,112)	
\$54,919	\$57,010	\$58,759	
	2003 \$65,487 (10,568)	2003 2002 \$65,487 \$62,560 (10,568) (5,550)	

Note 20 - FINANCIAL EXPENSES, NET

	Tour onaca Becomsor or,			
	2003	2002	2001	
Expenses:				
On long-term bank debt	\$2,719	\$2,026	\$3,033	
On short-term bank credit and loans	2,838	3,415	3,806	
Others	5,600	1,214	798	
	11,157	6,655	7,637	
Income:				
Interest on cash, cash equivalents and				
bank deposits	309	1,547	2,179	
Others	5,978	2,073	2,841	
	6,287	3,620	5,020	
	\$4,870	\$3,035	\$2,617	

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)

U. S. dollars (In thousands)

Note 21 - OTHER INCOME (EXPENSES), NET

	Year ended December 31,			
	2003	2002	2001	
Gain (loss) on sale of property, plant and equipment	\$ 915	\$(743)	\$327	
Others, net	(12)	281	447	
	\$903	\$(462)	\$774	

Note 22 - RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

	Year ended December 31,			
	2003	2002	2001	
Income -				
Sales (*)	\$ 34,674	\$37,924	\$28,675	
Expenses charged	\$ 1,773	\$ 902	\$ 633	
Cost and expenses -				
Supplies and services	\$ 21,606	\$10,457	\$11,125	
Participation in expenses (*)	\$ 1,751	\$ 1,498	\$1,632	
Financial expenses	\$ 23	\$ 110	\$ 193	
	December 31,			
	2003	2002		
Trade receivables (*)	\$ 6,668	\$ 9,647	•	
Trade payables	\$ 4,975	\$ 4,006		

^(*) The amounts relate mainly to transactions with VSI.

Note 23 - RECONCILIATION TO ISRAELI GAAP

As described in Note 2, the Company prepares its financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The effects of the differences between U.S. GAAP and Israeli GAAP on the Company's financial statements are detailed below.

Differences between U.S. GAAP and Israeli GAAP:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)

U. S. dollars (In thousands)

Note 23 - RECONCILIATION TO ISRAELI GAAP (CONT.)

A building purchased from Elbit Ltd.

According to generally accepted accounting principles in Israel ("Israeli GAAP"), the Company charged to capital reserves the excess of the amount paid over net book value of a building acquired from Elbit Ltd in 1999.

According to U.S. GAAP, the entire amount paid is considered as the cost of the building acquired.

Proportional consolidation method

According to Israeli GAAP, a jointly controlled company should be included according to the proportional consolidation method. According to U.S. GAAP, the investment in such a company is recorded according to the equity method.

Tax benefit in respect of options exercised

According to Israeli GAAP, tax benefits from employee options exercised are recorded as a reduction of tax expense. According to U.S. GAAP, the difference between the above mentioned tax benefits and the benefits recorded in respect of compensation expense in the financial statements is credited to capital reserves.

Goodwill

Effective January 1, 2002, the Company adopted SFAS 142, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets" according to which goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives are no longer amortized periodically but are reviewed annually for impairment (or more frequently if impairment indicators arise). According to Israeli GAAP, all intangibles, including goodwill should be amortized.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)

U. S. dollars (In thousands)

Note 23 - RECONCILIATION TO ISRAELI GAAP

1. Effect on net income and earnings per share

	Year ended December 31			
	2003	2002	2001	
Net income as reported according to				
U.S. GAAP	\$ 45,945	\$ 45,113	\$ 40,796	
Adjustments to Israeli GAAP	595	(4,227)	1,767	
Net income according to Israeli GAAP	\$ 46,540	\$ 40,886	\$ 42,563	

2. Effect on shareholders' equity

	As reported	Adjustments	As per Israeli GAAP
As of December 31, 2003 Shareholders' equity	\$452,079	\$(10,367)	\$441,712
As of December 31, 2002 Shareholders' equity	\$ 411,361	\$ (11,076)	\$400,285

#

L:\data\Shaul\1521\mazkirut\M\2003\MESR 1203 - ELBIT - 20F.doc

ELBIT SYSTEMS LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES **Schedule II - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts** (In thousands of U.S. dollars)

	Column A	Column B Additions	Column C	Column D	Column E
Description	Balance at Beginning of Period	Charged to Costs and Expenses	Charged to Other Accounts (Describe)	Deductions (Describe)	Balance at End of <u>Period</u>
Year Ended December 31, 2003:					
Deducted from Assets Accounts:					
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts Provisions for Additional Work	3,411	908		458	3,861
on Systems and Products Delivered, Warranties and Expected Losses	57,395	20,361		24,452	53,304
Year Ended December 31, 2002:					
Deducted from Assets Accounts:					
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts Provisions for Additional Work	3,200	459		248	3,411
on Systems and Products Delivered, Warranties and Expected Losses	51,132	34,541		28,278	57,395
Year Ended December 31, 2001:					
Deducted from Assets Accounts:					
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts Provisions for Additional Work	2,957	270		27	3,200
on Systems and Products Delivered, Warranties and Expected Losses	44,019	31,345	345 ⁽¹⁾	24,577	51,132

PLEDGE

THIS PLEDGE is made on the 29th day of June, 2003, between the following parties:

- (1) <u>ELBIT LTD.</u>, a company incorporated under the laws of Israel (company registration number 52-002750-9), having its registered office at 3 Azrieli Centre, Triangle Building, Tel-Aviv 67023, Israel ("Elbit")
- (2) <u>BANK LEUMI LE-ISRAEL B.M.</u>, as trustee for the benefit of the Secured Creditors ("the Trustee")

WHEREAS:

- (A) the Participating Banks made certain loan facilities available to Partner on the terms and subject to the conditions set out in the Facility Agreement. One of those conditions was that Matbit Telecommunications Systems Ltd. ("Matbit"), being, as at the date of the execution of the Original Facility Agreement, a shareholder of Partner, grant to the Trustee for the benefit of the Secured Creditors (including the Trustee) a first-ranking pledge with respect, *inter alia*, to the Shares and the other Pledged Assets, as security for the Secured Obligations, such pledge to be held by the Trustee on trust for the Secured Creditors; and
- (B) in connection therewith, Matbit created in favour of the Trustee (as trustee for the benefit of the Secured Creditors (including the Trustee)), certain first-ranking fixed pledges, including pledges ("the Matbit Share Pledges") over, *inter alia*, the Shares, as security for the Secured Obligations; and
- on July 17, 2002, Matbit resolved, in general meeting, pursuant to Section 319(2) of the Companies Ordinance [New Version], 1983, that Matbit be voluntary wound-up and in connection with the winding-up of Matbit, there was distributed to Elbit.Com ("Elbit.Com") (a shareholder of Matbit), *inter alia*, the Shares pursuant to a share transfer dated December 2, 2002 (such distribution being made subject to and in accordance with the Matbit Share Pledges); and
- (D) pursuant to those terms of the Matbit Share Pledges that permit the transfer of, *inter alia*, the Shares, Elbit.Com entered into a Share Pledge dated

December 2, 2002, a copy of which Share Pledge is annexed hereto as Schedule A ("the Elbit.Com Share Pledge"), pursuant to which Elbit.Com created in favour of the Trustee (as trustee for the benefit of the Secured Creditors (including the Trustee)) first-ranking fixed pledges over, *inter alia*, the Shares and Elbit.Com undertook thereunder, *inter alia*, not to sell, assign or otherwise transfer all or any of the Shares or other assets pledged under the Elbit.Com Share Pledge unless: (a) such Shares and other assets were sold, assigned or transferred subject to the first-ranking pledges created pursuant to the Elbit.Com Share Pledge; and (b) the transferee of such shares and other assets is duly and validly bound by, *inter alia*, a pledge, *mutatis mutandis*, in the same form as the Elbit.Com Share Pledge and subject to compliance with the other conditions for such sale, assignment and transfer as set out in the Elbit.Com Share Pledge; and

- the issued share capital of Elbit.Com consists of 99 ordinary shares of nominal value NIS 1.00 each ("the Elbit.Com Ordinary Shares") and one deferred share of a nominal value of NIS 1.00. Elbit is the holder of all the Elbit.Com Ordinary Shares and is the only shareholder of Elbit.Com that has the right and entitlement, upon the winding-up or liquidation of Elbit.Com, to have distributed to it the assets of Elbit.Com and, accordingly, Elbit is also the only shareholder of Elbit.Com that has the right and entitlement, upon Elbit.Com's liquidation or winding-up, to have transferred or distributed to it, *inter alia*, the Shares and other Pledged Assets; and
- (F) pursuant to a resolution of Elbit.Com in general meeting adopted on May 11, 2003 and passed in accordance with Section 319(2) of the Companies Ordinance [New Version], 1983, it was resolved that Elbit.Com be voluntarily wound-up and, in connection with such winding-up, the liquidator of Elbit.Com has subsequently decided to distribute to Elbit (such distribution being subject to the Elbit.Com Share Pledge as aforesaid), *inter alia*, the Shares; and
- (G) the Shares are subject to the pledges and charges created by Elbit.Com in favour of the Trustee under the Elbit.Com Share Pledge, as aforesaid; and
- (H) Elbit acknowledges that the Shares and other Pledged Assets have been distributed to it subject to the first-ranking fixed pledges and charges in favour of the Trustee (as trustee for the benefit of the Secured Creditors (including the Trustee)) in accordance with the provisions of the Elbit.Com Share Pledge and Elbit confirms and agrees that such Shares and other Pledged Assets shall remain so pledged, as security for the Secured Obligations, and Elbit.Com is willing to reaffirm such security and to grant in favour of the Trustee (as trustee for the benefit of the Secured Creditors (including the Trustee)) a first-

- ranking fixed pledge over the Pledged Assets as security for the Secured Obligations, all in accordance with the terms of this Pledge below; and
- (I) the Trustee is holding the benefit of this Pledge on trust for the Secured Creditors in accordance with the terms of the Security Trust Deed; and
- (J) the Trustee acknowledges that realisation of the pledge under this Pledge is subject to the restrictions in relation to such realisation imposed under the Licence, namely, that the prior written consent of the Minister of Communications may be required prior to any such realisation.

1. <u>INTERPRETATION</u>

1.1. In this Pledge, the following terms have the meanings given to them in this clause 1.1:

1.1.1.	"Account Bank"	- means the Trustee or such other Israeli bank as the Trustee shall direct from time to time in accordance with clause 1.2.4 below;
1.1.2.	"Business Day"	 means a day on which banks are generally open for business in Tel- Aviv;
1.1.3.	"Default Rate"	- means the default rate of interest as determined in clause 8.3 of the Facility Agreement;
1.1.4.	"Elbit.Com Share Pledge"	- shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in paragraph (D) of the recitals to this Pledge;
1.1.5.	"Elbit Unutilised Cash Account"	- means the Unutilised Cash Account (as defined in the Facility Agreement) relevant to Elbit;
1.1.6.	"Encumbrance"	- means: (a) a mortgage, charge, pledge, lien or other security interest securing any obligation of any person, (b) any arrangement under which money or claims to, or the benefit of, a bank or other

account may be set-off or made subject to a combination of

accounts so as to effect payment of sums owed or payable to any person, or (c) any other type of preferential arrangement (including title transfer and retention arrangements) having a similar effect;

1.1.7. "Enforcement Event"

- means the occurrence of any Event of Default (as described in clause 17 of the Facility Agreement, a copy of which clause is annexed hereto as **Schedule B**);

1.1.8. "Facility Agreement"

the Facility Agreement August 13, 1998 made dated between (1) Partner as the Borrower; (2) ABN AMRO Bank N.V., Bank Hapoalim B.M., the Trustee, Chase Manhattan plc, and Citibank, N.A. as the Arrangers; (3) Chase Manhattan International Limited and Bank Hapoalim B.M., as the Facility Agents; (4) the Security Trustee Trustee; (5) Chase Manhattan International Limited as Co-ordinating Agent; (6) the Banks; as such agreement has been amended and restated, inter alia, bv an Amending Agreement the to Agreement Facility dated December 31, 2002, the banks parties to the Facility Agreement as at the date hereof being Bank Leumi Le-Israel B.M., Israel Discount Bank Ltd.. Bank Hapoalim B.M.. The First International Bank of Israel Ltd., United Mizrahi Bank Ltd.. Mercantile Discount Bank Ltd. and Citibank N.A.;

1.1.9. **"Obligor"**

 means Partner and each Guarantor (as such terms are defined in the Facility Agreement);

1.1.10. "Optional Israeli Banks"

means Bank Hapoalim B.M., Israel Discount Bank Ltd., the First International Bank of Israel Ltd. and United Mizrahi Bank Ltd.;

1.1.11. **"Partner"**

- means Partner Communications Company Ltd., a company incorporated in Israel (registered number 52–004431–4);

1.1.12. "Pledged Assets"

 means the Shares, Related Rights in respect thereof, the Realisation Account and the Shareholder Loans;

1.1.13. "Realisation Account"

 means each account maintained from time to time by Elbit for the purposes of clause 7 at the main branch of the Account Bank or such other branch of the Account Bank as the Trustee may from time to time approve;

1.1.14. **"Receiver"**

- means a receiver, receiver and administrator, an administrator or similar such officer (whether appointed provisionally, temporarily, or otherwise and whether appointed pursuant to this Pledge, pursuant to any law, by a court or otherwise);

1.1.15. "Related Rights"

- means in relation to the Shares, all dividends or other moneys paid or payable in relation thereto and all shares, warrants, securities, rights, moneys or property accruing or offered at any time in relation to the Shares by way of redemption, substitution, exchange, bonus, pursuant to option rights or otherwise; excluding all dividends or other moneys received by Elbit by way of Permitted Distributions;

1.1.16. "Reservations"

- means the reservations listed in **Schedule C** hereto;

1.1.17. "Secured Creditors"

- means the Trustee, the Facility Agent, the Arranger, the Participating Banks, the Secured Interest Rate Hedge Providers, Israel Discount Bank Ltd., in its capacity as issuer of the IDB Performance Bond and any

other persons who shall have acceded to the Security Trust Deed (other than a party which has ceased to be a party thereto);

1.1.18. "Secured Obligations"

means all present and future obligations and liabilities (whether actual or contingent, whether owed jointly or severally, or in any other capacity whatsoever), of Partner and any other Obligor to the Secured Creditors (or any of them) of under each the Facility Documents as well as all amounts owed by Elbit under this Pledge, together with all costs, charges and expenses (including legal fees) incurred by any Secured Creditor in connection with the protection, preservation or enforcement of its respective rights under the Facility Documents:

1.1.19. "Security Period"

means the period beginning on the date hereof and ending on the date upon which the Trustee reasonably satisfied that: (a) none of the Secured Creditors is under any commitment, obligation or liability (whether actual contingent) to make advances or provide other financial accommodation to Partner or any other Borrower under the Facility Documents; and (b) all the Secured Obligations which have arisen have been unconditionally and irrevocably paid and discharged in full or the security hereby created has been unconditionally and irrevocably released and discharged by the Trustee;

1.1.20. "Shareholder Loans"

- means all rights of whatsoever nature of Elbit under or in connection with any Shareholder Loan Agreement, excluding: (i) amounts of Shareholder Loans given pursuant to the 2.7 Letter by way of deposit in the Elbit Unutilised Cash Account, so long

as such amounts are so deposited in such account; and (ii) all moneys received by Elbit with respect to such Shareholder Loans by way of a Permitted Distribution (as defined in clause 16.14 of the Facility Agreement);

1.1.21. "Shareholders' Agreement"

means the relationship agreement between the shareholders Partner dated October 10, 1999, or any other agreement between the shareholders of Partner replacing such agreement and falling within the definition of "Shareholders' Agreement" within the meaning of such term in the **Facility** Agreement;

1.1.22. "Shares"

- means 15,856,551 ordinary shares, nominal value NIS 0.01 each in the share capital of Partner, numbered 2,550,001–4,069,200; 7,117,401–8,904,800; 57,249,626–59,986,052; and 97,430,140–107,243,663 (inclusive), all registered in the name of Elbit.

- 1.2.1. Unless otherwise defined in this Pledge, terms defined and references construed in the Facility Agreement shall have the same meaning and construction in this Pledge. References herein to clauses of the Facility Agreement are references to clauses in the Amended and Restated Facility Agreement (as may be amended, varied or supplemented from time to time) attached as Exhibit 1 to the Amending Agreement to the Facility Agreement dated December 31, 2002.
- 1.2.2. Any payment made under any Facility Document which is capable of being avoided or otherwise set aside on liquidation or otherwise, shall, for as long as such payment is capable of being avoided or set aside, not be considered to have been irrevocably paid for the purposes of this Pledge.
- 1.2.3. Unless otherwise stated, all references in this Pledge to this Pledge or to any other agreement or document shall be construed as a reference to this Pledge or such agreement or document as amended, varied, assigned, novated or supplemented from time to time and any reference to this Pledge or such other agreement or document shall,

unless otherwise stated, include any agreement or document affecting such amendment, variation, assignment, novation or supplementation. References to this Pledge shall include any agreement or document entered into pursuant to or in accordance with the provisions hereof.

- 1.2.4. The Trustee shall be entitled to direct that any bank or financial institution, other than itself, be the Account Bank; provided that, such bank or financial institution is: (i) one of the Optional Israeli Banks, or (ii) another Israeli bank or financial institution approved by Elbit, which approval may not be unreasonably withheld, and further provided that there shall not be more than one Account Bank at any time. In the event of a direction by the Trustee as aforesaid, the amount (if any) standing to the credit of the Realisation Account maintained with the Trustee or, if applicable, a previous Realisation Account shall be transferred to the corresponding Realisation Account maintained with the new Account Bank forthwith upon such direction taking effect. Elbit hereby irrevocably gives all authorisations and instructions necessary for any such transfer to be made and shall do all such things as the Trustee may reasonably request in order to facilitate any change of Account Bank as may be directed by the Trustee, from time to time, or any transfer of credit balances (including the execution of such bank's or financial institution's standard terms of operation of account forms, bank mandate forms and other standard forms necessary to open an account) and the Trustee is hereby irrevocably constituted Elbit's attorney to do any such things should Elbit fail to do so within 10 Business Days of being requested to do so by the Trustee.
- 1.2.5. The recitals and Schedules hereto form an integral part hereof.
- 1.2.6. Except as expressly provided, references to clauses, paragraphs and Schedules shall be construed as references to clauses and paragraphs of, and Schedules to, this Pledge.
- 1.2.7. References to any statutory provision or regulation shall be deemed to include references to such statutory provision and/or regulation as reenacted, amended, supplemented, extended or replaced from time to time (whether before or after the date of this Pledge) and are to include any order, regulation or other subordinate legislation made under or deriving validity from such statutory provision and/or regulation.
- 1.2.8. Headings are inserted for convenience only and shall be ignored in construing this Pledge.

- 1.2.9. References to "including" and "in particular" shall not be construed restrictively but shall mean, "including, without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing", "including, without limitation" and "in particular, but without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing", respectively.
- 1.2.10. References to "writing" include facsimile transmission legibly received, except in relation to any certificate, notice, resolution or other document which is expressly required by this Pledge to be signed in the original, and "written" has corresponding meaning.
- 1.2.11. Any consent, agreement or approval required from the Trustee under this Pledge must be obtained in writing and shall be of no effect if it is not in writing.
- 1.2.12. References to "this Pledge" shall, unless the context otherwise requires, include also all other pledges and charges in favour of the Trustee made pursuant to this Pledge.

2. PLEDGE AND CONFIRMATION

- 2.1. Elbit hereby acknowledges, confirms and agrees to the grants to and settlement upon, and hereby reaffirms the grant and settlement to and hereby grants to and settles upon, the Trustee, to hold same on trust for the benefit of the Secured Creditors (including the Trustee), the terms of such trust being as specified in the Security Trust Deed (an agreement binding the Trustee and the Secured Creditors only), the security interests and rights, including the pledges, assignments by way of charge, other charges or other security interests or rights created or to be created pursuant to, and in accordance with, the provisions of this Pledge.
- 2.2.1. Elbit hereby acknowledges, confirms and agrees that the Pledged Assets were acquired by it subject to the first-ranking fixed pledges and charges under the Matbit Share Pledges and the Elbit.Com Share Pledge as a continuing security for the full and punctual payment, discharge and performance of all the Secured Obligations in accordance with the Facility Documents and in accordance with Section 12 of the Pledges Law, 1967 ("the Pledges Law") and Elbit hereby confirms, acknowledges and agrees to the pledge and hereby reaffirms the pledge (to the extent applicable to the Shares) and hereby confirms, acknowledges and agrees to the pledge and assignment, reaffirms the pledge and assignment and hereby pledges and assigns,

by way of charge as a first-ranking fixed pledge and charge (to the extent applicable to all Related Rights other than the Shares), in favour of the Trustee (as trustee for the Secured Creditors) of the Shares and all Related Rights in respect thereof and all right, title and interest of Elbit in connection therewith, as a continuing security for the full and punctual payment, discharge and performance of all the Secured Obligations in accordance with the Facility Documents and in accordance with Section 12 of the Pledges Law. For the removal of doubt, the Pledged Assets include also all rights of Elbit (as a shareholder of Partner), whether under law and/or under the Memorandum and Articles of Association of Partner, which derive from the Shares or any Related Rights in respect thereof.

2.2.2. As a continuing security for the full and punctual payment, discharge and performance of all the Secured Obligations in accordance with the Facility Documents and in accordance with Section 12 of the Pledges Law, Elbit hereby pledges and assigns, by way of charge, as a first-ranking fixed pledge and charge, in favour of the Trustee (as trustee for the Secured Creditors), all right, title and interest of Elbit in connection with the Shareholder Loans.

For the avoidance of any doubt:

- (A) Subject to (B) below, the Trustee and the Secured Creditors shall not be entitled to claim or receive payment from Elbit in respect of the Secured Obligations, or to have recourse to any of its assets pursuant to this Pledge, except, solely and exclusively, by way of realisation of the Pledged Assets pursuant to the Pledges Law and to the extent only of the amounts, if any, received from such realisation; provided that the Trustee and the Secured Creditors shall be entitled to bring an application for realisation or other relief under Section 21 of the Pledges Law, only if such claim is not based on: (i) an alleged reduction or loss in the value of the Shares or other Pledged Assets; or (ii) an allegation of the existence of circumstances which constitute an Enforcement Event (without reference to any cure period or notice period); and
- (B) nothing in this Pledge (including, without limitation, in (A) above) shall derogate from the rights of the Trustee and the Secured Creditors under any other Share Pledge which has been or may be executed by Elbit from time to time.

- 2.3. In order to secure the rights of the Trustee in respect of the Pledged Assets, Elbit hereby undertakes as follows:
- 2.3.1. to deposit with the Trustee, upon the date of signature of this Pledge:
 - (i) original share certificates in the name of Elbit in respect of the Shares;
 - (ii) share transfer forms in respect of all the Shares, in the form required under the Articles of Association of Partner, duly executed by Elbit as transferor, and with the transferee, the date and the consideration left blank;
- 2.3.2. to sign and deliver to the Trustee on the date of signature hereof all documents as are necessary in the reasonable opinion of the Trustee, for the purposes of registering the pledges hereby created with the Registrar of Pledges and/or the Registrar of Companies, as applicable;
- 2.3.3. to procure that Partner sign on the date of signature hereof the acknowledgment of the pledge and pledge and assignment by way of charge (as the case may be) of the Pledged Assets pursuant to this Pledge, appearing on the signature page of this Pledge;
- 2.3.4. promptly following the first request of the Trustee, to take all steps as the Trustee may reasonably require so that the pledge or pledges created hereunder or pursuant hereto shall be valid and binding against other creditors of Elbit and to execute and/or deliver to the Trustee any additional and/or new pledge or amendment of this Pledge and any other documents as the Trustee shall reasonably require for this purpose, including, to the extent reasonably required by the Trustee, pledges with respect to any shares constituting Related Rights in respect of the Shares, share certificates in respect of such shares or other securities and share transfer forms, *mutatis mutandis*, as referred to in clauses 2.3.1(i) and (ii) in respect of such shares or other securities and notices of pledge and other documents required to be deposited with the Registrar of Companies and Registrar of Pledges in order to register any such other pledges.

- 2.4. Without derogating from clause 2.3 above, Elbit hereby undertakes:
- 2.4.1. to execute promptly following the making by it of any Shareholder Loans (to the extent the Trustee reasonably believes that the same is not effectively pledged hereunder), a pledge in the same form, *mutatis mutandis*, as this Pledge, in respect of such Shareholder Loans; and
- 2.4.2. to take all the same steps, *mutatis mutandis*, to perfect the aforesaid pledges as set out in clause 2.3 above.
- 2.5. Elbit shall not be entitled, and hereby waives any right pursuant to Section 13(b) of the Pledges Law to redeem any pledge given hereunder, provided that Elbit shall be entitled to redeem its pledges hereunder only: (i) in the event that all the Secured Obligations are paid and discharged in full in accordance with all the terms and conditions of the Facility Agreement which would be applicable were the Obligors to voluntarily prepay all the Secured Obligations in accordance with the applicable provisions of the Facility Agreement and otherwise in accordance with all the relevant Facility Documents, and (ii) if at such time none of the Participating Banks is under any commitment, obligation or liability (whether actual or contingent) under any of the Facility Documents to make advances or provide other financial accommodation to Partner or any other Obligor.
- 2.6. For the removal of doubt, nothing in this Pledge shall be construed as prohibiting any amendment of the terms of any Shareholder Loan, provided that following such amendment, such Shareholder Loan complies with all applicable provisions of the Facility Documents.

3. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

Elbit, as at the date of the entering into of this Pledge, makes the representations and warranties set out in clauses 3.1 to 3.11 below and acknowledges that the Secured Creditors have entered into the Facility Documents in reliance on those representations and warranties (in addition to any other warranties and representations as set out in the Facility Documents):

3.1. Elbit is a company limited by shares, duly incorporated under the laws of Israel with power to enter into this Pledge and to exercise its rights and perform its obligations hereunder and all corporate and other action required to authorise its execution of this Pledge and the performance by it of its obligations hereunder have duly been taken.

- 3.2. The obligations expressed to be assumed by Elbit in this Pledge are legal and valid obligations binding on Elbit and enforceable in accordance with the terms hereof, subject to the Reservations.
- 3.3. All the Shares are validly issued and fully paid-up.
- 3.4. No Receiver, liquidator or similar officer has been appointed with respect to Elbit or any material part of its assets nor is it aware of any petition or proceedings for such appointment pending.
- 3.5. The entering into of this Pledge (after its execution by all the parties hereto) by Elbit and the exercise of Elbit's rights and performance of Elbit's obligations hereunder do not and will not: (a) (in circumstances or to an extent which will have a material adverse effect on its ability to comply with its obligations under this Pledge) conflict with any agreement, charge or other instrument or document to which it is a party or which is binding upon it or any of its assets, (b) conflict with its documents of incorporation or constitutive documents, or (c) conflict with any applicable law, regulation or official judicial order.
- 3.6. This Pledge confirms and creates those first-ranking pledges and charges as set forth herein.
- 3.7. Elbit is the legal and beneficial owner of the Shares and any Related Rights in respect thereof, free and clear of any Encumbrance (save for the pledges confirmed and created pursuant to this Pledge) or other rights of third parties of whatsoever nature (save for rights of Shareholders pursuant to the Shareholders' Agreement or the Articles of Association of Partner). Elbit is the legal and beneficial owner of the Shareholder Loans, free and clear of any Encumbrance or other rights of third parties of whatsoever nature, save for the pledges created pursuant to this Pledge and the Share Pledges.
- 3.8. No person has any right or option to purchase the Shares or any of them or any Related Rights in respect thereof or the Shareholder Loans, except and to the extent set forth in the Shareholders' Agreement.
- 3.9. There is no restriction or limit (whether under the Shareholders' Agreement, Memorandum and Articles of Association of Partner or otherwise) on the transfer or pledge of the Shares or the Shareholder Loans pursuant to this Pledge or upon realisation of the pledges and charges hereunder, except as may be applicable under the Licence or under applicable law.
- 3.10. No consent, approval, authorisation or other action by any party is required to be obtained by or with respect to Elbit which has not been obtained

either: (i) for the pledges confirmed and created pursuant to this Pledge or for the execution, delivery or performance of this Pledge by Elbit, or (ii) for the realisation by the Trustee of the rights or remedies provided in this Pledge, save for consents which may be required under the Licence, save for the provisions of the Pledges Law prescribing methods of realisation of pledges and save for payment of stamp duty and registration requirements.

- 3.11. The copies of the Memorandum and Articles of Association of Partner and of the Shareholders' Agreement delivered to the Facility Agent pursuant to clause 3.1 of the Amending Agreement to the Facility Agreement dated December 31, 2002 (in the case of the Memorandum and Articles of Association of Partner) or pursuant to paragraph 18 of Schedule 7 of the Amending and Rescheduling Agreement (in the case of the Shareholders' Agreement) are, complete, accurate and updated in all respects.
- 3.12. The representations and warranties set out in this clause 3 above are made only on the date hereof.

4. **CONTINUING SECURITY**

- 4.1. The security over the Pledged Assets constituted by, and the obligations of Elbit contained in, this Pledge shall constitute and be continuing security and obligations notwithstanding any settlement of account or other matter or thing whatsoever and shall not be considered satisfied by any intermediate payment of all or any of the obligations of Partner or any other Obligor under the Facility Documents (or any of them) and shall continue in full force and effect until the end of the Security Period.
- 4.2. Where any discharge (whether in respect of the obligations of Partner or any other Obligor or of any security for any of the aforegoing obligations or otherwise) is made in whole or in part or any arrangement is made on the faith of any payment, security or other disposition which is avoided, reduced or must be restored on insolvency, liquidation or otherwise, the liability of Elbit under this

Pledge shall continue as if the discharge or arrangement had not occurred.

- 4.3.1. No concession or compromise of any claim that any payment, security or other disposition is liable to avoidance or restoration shall in any way affect the security granted hereunder or Elbit's obligations hereunder.
- 4.3.2. Neither the liability of Elbit under this Pledge nor the rights, powers and remedies conferred on the Trustee in respect of Elbit under this Pledge will be affected or waived by any of the acts, omissions, circumstances, matters or things listed below, whether or not known to Elbit or the Secured Creditors or the Trustee (or any of them), which, but for this provision, would release or prejudice any of such liability, rights, powers and remedies or prejudice or diminish such liability, rights, powers and remedies in whole or in part:
 - (i) any time, waiver or other indulgence granted to, or composition with, Partner, any Obligor or any other person;
 - (ii) any failure to exercise any right or remedy under any Facility Document;
 - (iii) the single or partial exercise of any right under any Facility Documents or of any other right or remedy;
 - (iv) the taking, variation, compromise, exchange, renewal or release of, refusal or neglect to perfect, take up or enforce, any rights against, or security over, assets of Partner or any other person or any failure to realise the full value of any other security;
 - (v) any incapacity or lack of powers, authority or legal personality of or dissolution or change in the members or status of, Partner or any other person;
 - (vi) any variation (however fundamental) or replacement of a Facility Document or any other relevant document or security or any variation, waiver or release of any Secured Obligation;
 - (vii) any unenforceability, illegality or invalidity of any obligation of Partner or any other person under any Facility Document or any other relevant document or security, to the intent that Elbit's obligations under this Pledge shall remain in full force, and this Pledge shall be construed accordingly, as if there were no unenforceability, illegality or invalidity;

- (viii) the winding-up, dissolution, administration or reorganisation of Partner, any other Obligor or any other person or any change in its status, function, control or ownership.
- 4.4. Elbit waives any right it may have of first requiring any Secured Creditor and/or the Trustee to proceed against or enforce any other rights or security or claim payment from Partner or any other person before the enforcement by the Trustee of the security constituted hereby.
- 4.5. Elbit shall not, and hereby waives any right to, by virtue of any payment made, security realised or moneys received hereunder for or on account of the liability of any other person:
- 4.5.1. be subrogated to or otherwise take the benefit of (whether in whole or in part) any rights, security or moneys held, received or receivable by the Trustee pursuant to this Pledge or be entitled to any right of contribution or indemnity;
- 4.5.2. claim, rank, prove or vote as a creditor of any other person or its estate; or
- 4.5.3. receive, claim or have the benefit of any payment, distribution or security from or on account of any other person or exercise any right of set-off as against any other person.

Elbit will hold in trust for and forthwith pay or transfer to the Trustee any payment or distribution or benefit of security received by it contrary to the above. If Elbit exercises any right of set-off contrary to the above, it will forthwith pay an amount equal to the amount set-off to the Trustee.

The foregoing in this clause 4.5 shall not prevent Elbit from: (i) bringing a claim against Partner or any other Obligor, provided that: (a) such a claim may be brought only after all the Secured Obligations have been unconditionally and irrevocably paid and discharged in full, and (b) there has been no realisation of all or any part of the Pledged Assets or of all or any of the pledged assets under any other Share Pledges; or (ii) bringing a claim against any Shareholder.

4.6. This Pledge is in addition to, independent of, and is not in any way prejudiced by, any other guarantee or security now or hereafter held by the Trustee or any of the Secured Creditors in respect of any of the Secured Obligations.

- 4.7. The rights and remedies provided by this Pledge are cumulative and are not exclusive of any rights or remedies provided by law.
- 4.8. The obligations, warranties, representations, undertakings, agreements and covenants of Elbit under this Pledge are in addition to, and shall not be prejudiced or restricted by, nor shall they prejudice or restrict, any obligations, warranties, representations, undertakings, agreements or covenants in any other Facility Document. Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent any provision of any Facility Document (other than this Pledge) conflicts with the terms hereof, the provisions of this Pledge shall prevail.

5. <u>UNDERTAKINGS BY ELBIT</u>

Elbit hereby undertakes to the Trustee:

5.1. not to sell, assign or otherwise transfer all or any of the Pledged Assets unless: (i) such Pledged Assets are sold, assigned or transferred subject to the first-ranking pledges confirmed and created pursuant to this Pledge and in accordance with the provisions hereof; (ii) such pledges over the aforesaid sold, assigned or transferred Pledged Assets are duly registered and valid and have the same priority as they would have had, had such transferee been the original signatory of this Pledge and owner of the Pledged Assets, in place of Elbit; (iii) all registrations or amendments to registrations and all filings (including, of amended deeds of pledge) have been made which are in the reasonable opinion of the Trustee required for the purposes of (i) and (ii) above; (iv) the transferee of such Pledged Assets is duly and validly bound by this Pledge or by another pledge, mutatis mutandis, in the same form as this Pledge in respect of such Pledged Assets as if the original signatory thereof in the place of Elbit and such transferee is not an individual guarantor ("Arev Yachid") within the meaning of the Guarantee Law, 1967 ("the Guarantee Law"); (v) any such sale, assignment or transfer is permitted pursuant to the Licence, or permission as required under the Licence has been granted in relation thereto, and (vi) such sale, assignment or transfer is permitted under the Facility Documents and all provisions of the Facility Documents applicable in the case of such sale, assignment or transfer of such Pledged Assets have been complied with. At the request of Elbit, the Trustee undertakes promptly to carry out all actions reasonably required to be carried out by it as the holder of the pledges and charges created under this Pledge in order to facilitate a sale, assignment or transfer permitted by, and made in accordance with this clause 5.1 above;

- 5.2. not to pledge, charge or grant any other Encumbrances (of whatsoever nature and howsoever ranking) in respect of or any other right or interest in favour of any third party in relation to any of the Pledged Assets (save for any transfer permitted by, and made in accordance with, the provisions of this Pledge);
- 5.3. at any time and from time to time upon the written request of the Trustee, promptly to execute and deliver to the Trustee any and all such further notices, instruments and documents as the Trustee may deem reasonably necessary for it to obtain valid and enforceable first-ranking pledges as contemplated under this Pledge and to obtain the full benefit of the rights and powers herein granted;
- 5.4. to notify the Trustee promptly in any case where attachment is levied, or execution proceedings are instituted against, or a Receiver is appointed over, or any similar act occurs or any similar proceedings are instituted in respect of, the Pledged Assets or any part thereof and to notify the third party who initiated or requested the same or any Receiver appointed of the existence of the pledges herein contained in favour of the Trustee, and to take, within 10 days of such attachment, execution proceedings, appointment of Receiver or similar act or proceedings as aforesaid, all necessary measures at the expense of Elbit for the discharge or cancellation of the same as soon as practicable;
- 5.5. to pledge in favour of the Trustee all Related Rights of whatsoever nature and whenever acquired by it, all in accordance with the provisions of clause 2 above;
- 5.6. not, after the date hereof, to acquire any Related Rights nor to make any Shareholder Loans, unless Elbit is the legal and beneficial owner of such Related Rights or Shareholder Loans free and clear of any Encumbrance (save for the pledges confirmed and created pursuant to this Pledge);
- 5.7. to oppose any change in the Memorandum and/or Articles of Association of Partner which will amend or derogate from the provisions of Article 10.13 of the Articles of Association in force as at the date of this Pledge or in any way lead to any restrictions whatsoever on the ability of the Trustee to realise its rights under this Pledge;
- 5.8. to procure that no Affiliate of Elbit shall grant to Partner any Shareholder Loan, unless such Affiliate shall prior thereto have taken all steps as reasonably required by the Trustee to pledge its rights in respect thereof in favour of the Trustee (for the benefit of the Secured Creditors) in accordance with a pledge, in *mutatis mutandis*, the same form as this Pledge

(to the extent relating to Shareholder Loans) and such Affiliate shall have taken all steps reasonably required by the Trustee to perfect such pledge.

6. **DEFAULT AND REALISATION**

- 6.1. Upon, and only upon, the occurrence of an Enforcement Event which is continuing and a declaration in accordance with clause 17.25(c) or (d) of the Facility Agreement that all the Advances are payable on demand or immediately due and payable, the Trustee shall, provided that the Trustee shall have given Elbit the Required Prior Notice (as defined below), be entitled to realise its rights under this Pledge, including the realisation and sale of the Pledged Assets, in whole or in part, whether by the appointment of a Receiver and/or by the Israeli Execution office and/or by order of court and/or whether by any other method permitted under the Pledges Law, as the Trustee shall see fit and to apply the proceeds thereof on account of the Secured Obligations, all without the Trustee first being required to realise any other guarantee or collateral or other securities, if such be held by the Trustee. For the purposes of this clause 6.1, "the Required Prior Notice" shall mean: (i) 20 Business Days' prior notice, in the event that all the Advances have been declared payable on demand pursuant clause 17.25(c) of the Facility Agreement, or (ii) 10 Business Days' prior notice, in the event that the Advances have been declared immediately due and payable, whether, for the removal of doubt, pursuant to clause 17.25(c) or (d) of the Facility Agreement; provided that (for the removal of doubt), if, prior to the expiry of 20 Business Days following the date of a notice as referred to in (i) above (an "On Demand Notice"), a notice is given as referred to in (ii) above (an "Immediately Due Notice"), then: (a) in the event that more than 10 Business Days has elapsed between the date of the On Demand Notice and the date of the Immediately Due Notice, the Required Prior Notice shall be 20 Business Days from the date of the On Demand Notice, and (b) in the event that less than 10 Business Days has elapsed between the date of the On Demand Notice and the date of the Immediately Due Notice, the Required Prior Notice shall be 10 Business Days from the date of the Immediately Due Notice. In realising its rights as aforesaid, the Trustee shall be required to observe all the requirements of the Licence in relation to such realisation, including the requirements of clause 22 of the Licence that if any such realisation shall cause a variation in the ownership of 10% or more of any means of control (as defined in the Licence) of Partner, such realisation may not be effected unless the prior written consent of the Minister of Communications has been obtained.
- 6.2. Any and all sums to be received from the realisation of the Pledged Assets or any part thereof, shall be applied in the following order of priority:

- 6.2.1. firstly, to the discharge of all the costs, fees and expenses incurred and which may be incurred in connection with the collection of the Secured Obligations, including the costs, fees and expenses referred to in clause 7.2 below and the costs and remuneration of a Receiver, if applicable, in such amount as shall be reasonably prescribed by the Trustee or approved by the court or the Israeli Execution Office or any other competent authority;
- 6.2.2. secondly, in or towards payment of the Secured Obligations, or such part of them as is then due and payable, all in accordance with clause 23 of the Facility Agreement;
- 6.2.3. thirdly, subject to clause 7, in payment of the surplus (if any) to Elbit, or in such other order as the Trustee shall determine among the paragraphs of clause 6.2.
- 6.3. The Trustee shall be exempt from taking any action whatsoever in connection with any Pledged Assets. The Trustee shall not be liable for any loss or damage which may be caused as a result of the exercise or purported exercise of the powers, authorities, rights or discretions vested in the Trustee in accordance with this Pledge or otherwise caused in connection herewith (other than, and to the extent of, any such loss or damage which resulted from the gross negligence or wilful misconduct (including wilful omission) of the Trustee) and Elbit undertakes to indemnify the Trustee in any event that the Trustee is sued for any such loss or damage by others or in respect of any other matter or thing done or omitted to be done by the Trustee (in each such case, other than, and to the extent of, any such loss or damage which resulted from the gross negligence or wilful misconduct (including wilful omission) of the Trustee).

7. **CONTINGENCIES**

7.1. If the Trustee realises the security constituted by this Pledge (whether by the appointment of a Receiver or otherwise) at a time when the Secured Obligations (or any part thereof) shall not have fallen due under the Facility Documents (but at a time when amounts may become so due or are contingently due), the Trustee shall pay the proceeds of any recoveries if, to the extent applicable, not otherwise applied under clauses 6.2.1 and 6.2.2, into a Realisation Account or Realisation Accounts with the Account Bank in the name of Elbit, which Realisation Accounts shall be charged by way of a first-ranking fixed charge in favour of the Trustee (for the benefit of the Secured Creditors) as security for the full discharge of the Secured Obligations. Elbit hereby undertakes to execute all such documents as the

Trustee shall reasonably require in order to create and perfect such charges over the Realisation Accounts as aforesaid.

- 7.2. The Trustee may withdraw amounts standing to the credit of the Realisation Accounts to:
- 7.2.1. meet all costs, fees, charges and expenses incurred and payments made by the Trustee (or any Receiver) in the course of the enforcement of this Pledge;
- 7.2.2. pay remuneration to any Receiver in respect of the realisation of this Pledge as and when the same becomes due and payable; and
- 7.2.3. meet amounts due and payable by Partner or any other Obligor under the Facility Documents as and when the same become due and payable,

in each case, together with interest thereon at the Default Rate from the date the same become due and payable until the date the same are unconditionally and irrevocably paid and discharged in full.

- 7.3. Amounts standing to the credit of each Realisation Account shall bear interest at the Account Bank's rate of interest for similar (if any) deposits in the relevant currency from time to time.
- 7.4. Elbit will not be entitled to withdraw any moneys (including interest) standing to the credit of any Realisation Account until the expiry of the Security Period.

8. **BOOKS OF ACCOUNTS**

- 8.1. Elbit confirms that the respective books, accounts and entries of the Trustee and of the Facility Agent shall be deemed to be correct and shall, in the absence of manifest or proven error, be *prima facie* evidence for or against Elbit in all their particulars.
- 8.2. A certificate by the Trustee or any Facility Agent setting out the amount of any Secured Obligation shall, in the absence of manifest or proven error, be *prima facie* evidence of such amount for or against Elbit.

9. COSTS, EXPENSES AND INTEREST

9.1. Elbit shall cooperate with the other shareholders of Partner to procure, in its capacity as a Shareholder, that Partner shall, from time to time, on the

demand of the Trustee, reimburse the Trustee for all reasonable costs and expenses submitted to Partner supported by appropriate evidence thereof (including legal fees but excluding any charges for management time) together with any VAT thereon incurred by the Trustee in connection with the negotiation, preparation and execution of this Pledge (and any amendments thereto) and the completion of the transactions herein contemplated, including the registration of each pledge herein created or contemplated hereby, subject to any limits agreed from time to time between Partner and the Trustee, as well as all costs of stamping and registering this Pledge and/or any other document ancillary hereto and/or to be entered into hereunder.

- 9.2. Elbit shall (in its capacity as a shareholder) cooperate with the other shareholders of Partner to procure that Partner shall, from time to time on demand of the Trustee, reimburse the Trustee for all costs and expenses (including legal fees) together with any VAT thereon incurred in or in connection with the preservation and/or enforcement of any of the rights of the Trustee under this Pledge or otherwise in connection with any claims or proceedings in relation to this Pledge.
- 9.3. The Trustee and every Receiver and any attorney, agent or other person appointed by the Trustee, any such Receiver or the court in connection with this Pledge shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the Pledged Assets in respect of all liabilities and expenses properly incurred by them in the execution of any of the powers, authorities or discretions vested in them pursuant hereto and/or by law and against all actions, proceedings, costs, claims and demands in respect of any matter or thing done or omitted pursuant to this Pledge in any way relating to the Pledged Assets (except that resulting from gross negligence or wilful misconduct (including wilful omission) by the Trustee, Receiver or any such other person) and the Trustee may retain and pay all sums in respect of the same out of any moneys received under the powers hereby conferred.
- 9.4. In the event that the Trustee issues proceedings against Elbit for the payment of any amount due or to become due to the Trustee pursuant to this Pledge, the Trustee shall be entitled to claim in respect of the period from the issue of the proceedings until full payment thereof, interest at the Default Rate.

10. FURTHER ASSURANCES

Elbit shall at its own expense execute and do all such acts and things as the Trustee may from time to time reasonably require in order to perfect or protect the security intended to be created hereby over the Pledged Assets or any part thereof

or facilitate the realisation of the Pledged Assets or any part thereof or exercise of all powers, authorities and discretions vested in the Trustee or any Receiver of the Pledged Assets or any part thereof, all in accordance with this Pledge and applicable law. To that intent, Elbit shall in particular execute all pledges, share transfer forms, other transfers and assignments of the Shares, Related Rights or other rights as may, in each such case, be reasonably required by the Trustee and give all notices (including notices of all assignments made by Elbit hereunder), orders and directions and make all registrations which may be reasonably required by the Trustee.

11. **DELEGATION BY TRUSTEE**

The Trustee may at any time and from time to time delegate by power of attorney or in any other manner to any person or persons all or any of the powers, authorities and discretions exercisable by the Trustee under this Pledge. Any such delegation may be made upon such terms and subject to such regulations as the Trustee may think fit, provided that nothing in this clause 11 shall confer upon the Trustee the power to allow any delegate to sub-delegate any such rights, powers, authorities and discretions. The Trustee shall not be in any way liable or responsible to Elbit, any Secured Creditor or any other person for any loss or damage arising from any default, omission, misconduct or negligent act on the part of any such delegate, save where such loss or damage arises due to the wilful misconduct (including wilful omission) or wilful default or gross negligence of such delegate and the Trustee is considered by a final decision of a court to have been grossly negligent in its delegation to the delegate concerned.

12. **POWER OF ATTORNEY**

Solely for the purposes of securing the due performance of Elbit's obligations under or pursuant to this Pledge, Elbit hereby irrevocably appoints the Trustee and every delegate, as referred to in clause 11, to be its attorney acting severally, and on its behalf and in its name or otherwise to execute and do all such acts and things which Elbit expressly ought to do under the covenants and provisions contained in this Pledge (including to make any demand upon, or to give any notice or receipt in connection with, any Shareholder Loan and/or to execute, deliver and register any pledges, charges, assignments or other security) and, generally, in its name and on its behalf to exercise all or any of the powers, authorities and discretions expressly conferred by or pursuant to this Pledge or by law on the Trustee or any such delegate and (without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing) to perfect any security granted hereunder or pursuant hereto. The Trustee or any delegate as aforesaid shall only exercise such power of attorney if Elbit fails to perform all or any of the acts or obligations which are expressly required to be performed by it under this Pledge within 3 Business Days of being required to so perform any such act or obligation, or earlier in the event that in the reasonable opinion of the Trustee the rights of the Trustee under this Pledge may be prejudiced by the delay.

13. WAIVER BY ELBIT

Subject to and without derogating from any other provisions of this Pledge which exclude the application of, or constitute a waiver by Elbit of, certain defences or rights under the Guarantee Law (which defences or rights would, but for such provisions, have been available to Elbit):

- 13.1. Elbit hereby waives all rights and defences under Sections 2, 4–6 inclusive, 8–11 inclusive and 13–17 inclusive of the Guarantee Law and confirms that such provisions of the Guarantee Law shall not apply to this Pledge;
- 13.2. Elbit shall be entitled to rely on Section 7 of the Guarantee Law, to the extent applicable; and
- 13.3. Elbit shall be entitled to rely on Section 12 of the Guarantee Law, to the extent applicable, but only in the event that: (i) all the Secured Obligations have been unconditionally and irrevocably paid and discharged in full; (ii) there has been no realisation of all or any part of the Pledged Assets or of all or any of the pledged assets under any other Share Pledge; (iii) the Trustee shall have received written instructions and undertakings executed by all the Shareholders who have paid amounts on account of the Secured Obligations and are entitled to rely on Section 12, detailing the names of the Shareholders to whom the relevant security interests should be transferred and undertaking to indemnify the Trustee and the Secured Creditors against any claims, losses, damages, expenses, costs, charges, liability or proceedings which may be brought, made or preferred against, or suffered, incurred or sustained by, the Trustee or any Secured Creditor in relation to, in connection with, or arising out of, the transfer of security interests as aforesaid; and (iv) all consents, approvals, authorisations and permits necessary under the Licence, under law or under contract in order to perform such transfer have been obtained and there is no impediment under the Licence, law or contract to such transfer.

14. **REMEDIES AND WAIVERS**

No failure to exercise, nor any delay in exercising, on the part of the Trustee or Elbit of any right or remedy hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any right of remedy prevent any further or other exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right or remedy.

15. PARTIAL INVALIDITY

If, at any time, any provision hereof is or becomes illegal, invalid or unenforceable in any respect or any of the security intended to be created by or

pursuant to this Pledge is ineffective, neither the legality, validity or enforceability of the remaining provisions hereof or the effectiveness of any of the remaining such security, shall in any way be affected or impaired thereby.

16. **COUNTERPARTS**

This Pledge may be executed in any number of counterparts and all of such counterparts taken together shall be deemed to constitute one and the same instrument.

17. **NOTICES**

- 17.1. Each communication to be made hereunder shall be made in writing and, unless otherwise stated, shall be made by facsimile, telex or letter.
- 17.2. Any communication or document to be made or delivered by one person to another pursuant to this Pledge shall (unless that other person has by 15 Business Days' written notice to the other specified another address) be made or delivered to that other person at the address identified with its signature below and shall be deemed to have been made or delivered when despatched and confirmation of receipt by the intended recipient has been received (in the case of any communication made by telex or fax) or (in the case of any communication made by letter) when left at that address or (as the case may be) 5 Business Days after being deposited in the postage prepaid in an envelope addressed to it at that address provided that any communication or document to be made or delivered to the Trustee shall be effective only when received by the Trustee and then only if the same is expressly marked for the attention of the department or officer identified with the Trustee's signature below (or such other department or officer as the Trustee shall from time to time specify for this purpose):

17.2.1. to Elbit: 3 Azrieli Centre

Triangle Building Tel-Aviv 67023

Israel

Facsimile: 03 607 5556 Attention: Tal Raz

17.2.2. to the Trustee: 5th Floor

32 Yehuda Halevi Street

Tel-Aviv Israel

Facsimile: 03 514 9017

Attention: Corporate Division, Head of Communications Sector

with a copy to: Stuart Gnessen, Adv.

13 Ahad Ha'am Street

Tel-Aviv Israel

Facsimile: 03 514 9433

18. **ASSIGNMENT**

Elbit hereby irrevocably and unconditionally consents to the Trustee being able, at any time, without any further consent being required from Elbit, to assign this Pledge and its rights and/or obligations arising thereunder in whole to any Optional Israeli Bank or other Israeli bank approved by Partner (which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld) which is appointed in accordance with the provisions of the Security Trust Deed, to act, in place of the Trustee, as trustee for the benefit of the Secured Creditors and any such assignee may also reassign the said rights as aforesaid to an Optional Israeli Bank or any other Israeli bank approved as aforesaid without any further consent being required from Elbit. Such assignment may be effected by endorsement on this Pledge or in any other way the Trustee or any subsequent assignor deems fit.

19. **GOVERNING LAW**

This Pledge shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of Israel.

20. **JURISDICTION**

Elbit hereby irrevocably nominates the courts of Tel-Aviv as the place of jurisdiction for all purposes connected with this Pledge, but without prejudice to the right of the Trustee to institute proceedings against Elbit in connection with this Pledge in any other competent court in Israel or (in the event that Elbit or any successor becomes incorporated outside of Israel or any of the Pledged Assets are situated outside of Israel) outside of Israel.

- 28 -

21. **TERMINATION**

For the removal of doubt, this Pledge shall terminate upon the expiry of the

Security Period.

22. **NO AMENDMENT**

This Pledge shall not be amended, modified or altered unless the written consent

of all parties hereto to such amendment, modification or alteration has been

obtained.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties have signed this Pledge on the date written

at the beginning of this document.

for: **ELBIT LTD.** for: **BANK LEUMI LE-ISRAEL B.M.**

By: <u>/s/ Tal Raz</u> By: <u>/s/ Stuart Gnessen</u>

Title: <u>Director</u> Title: <u>Legal Advisor</u>

By: /s/ Paul Weinberg By: /s/ Iris Rapoport

Title: <u>Director</u> Title: <u>CRM</u>

We, the undersigned, <u>Partner Communications Company Ltd.</u>, acknowledge the pledges created pursuant to the above pledge of the Pledged Assets (as such term is

defined in the above Pledge).

for: **PARTNER COMMUNICATIONS**

COMPANY LTD.

By: /s/ Amikam Cohen

Title: CEO

By: <u>/s/ Alan Gelman</u>

Title: CFO

Exhibit 8.1

The following table sets forth a list of our subsidiaries. Omitted from the table are those subsidiaries which are not significant subsidiaries (as defined in rule 1-02(w) of Regulation S-X of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended).

Name Of Subsidiary	Jurisdiction of Incorporation
Elbit Systems Ltd.	Israel
Given Imaging Ltd.	Israel
Galil Medical Ltd.	Israel
Mediagate N.V.	The Netherlands
ChipX Incorporated	Delaware, U.S.A
A.M.T. Advanced Metal Technologies Ltd.	Israel

ELRON ELECTRONIC INDUSTRIES LTD.

Code of Ethics and Business Conduct

INTRODUCTION
HOW TO REPORT YOUR CONCERNS
OUR COMMITMENT TO STOCKHOLDERS
OUR COMMITMENT TO CUSTOMERS AND BUSINESS PARTNERS
OUR COMMITMENT TO EACH OTHER
COMPETITION
CONFLICT OF INTERESTS
LEGAL COMPLIANCE GENERALLY
OUR COMMUNITIES
WAIVERS REQUESTED BY OUR OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS

Introduction

This Code of Ethics & Business Conduct applies to Elron Electronic Industries Ltd. and its consolidated substantially wholly owned- subsidiaries, together referred to below as "our company" and sets forth our company's policies regarding ethical business conduct and principles guiding the activities of our employees and representatives.

We all have important roles to play in maintaining high levels of legal and ethical compliance and the long term viability of our company. The purpose of this code of conduct is to promote a culture of honesty, integrity, respect for Law and the people with whom we work.

We expect each employee to use sound judgment to help us maintain appropriate compliance procedures and to carry out our business in compliance with laws and high ethical standards. Each employee of our company is expected to read this code and demonstrate personal commitment to the standards set forth in this code of conduct.

Our officers and other supervising employees are expected to be leaders in demonstrating this personal commitment to the standards outlined in this code and recognizing indications of illegal or improper conduct.

All employees are expected to report appropriately any indications of illegal or improper conduct.

An employee who does not comply with the standards set forth in this code may be subject to discipline in light of the nature of the violation, including termination of employment.

The Code of Ethics & Business Conduct is not a contract and is not intended as a detailed guide for all situations you may face or to detract from the importance of applicable laws and regulations not detailed herein.

How to Report Your Concerns

- Where to Direct Questions. If you have questions about this code or concerns about any of the matters listed here, please first consider speaking with your immediate manager or supervisor if that person was not involved in the matter giving rise to your questions. If you do not wish to communicate with that person on the matter, please feel free to contact any member of our management or legal departments.
- ➤ Good Faith Concerns Are Protected. We encourage each of our employees to report any concerns that others in our company may have engaged in illegal or unethical conduct relating to our business. We do not discriminate against employees who report their good faith concerns to us. In addition, our company may not discharge or otherwise discriminate in any manner against, or threaten or harass, an employee for any lawful act by the employee to provide information or assist in an investigation by us or any other governmental authority or agency, of violations of applicable securities laws or any applicable law relating to fraud against shareholders.
- False Claims Are Prohibited. However, it is a violation of our standards for any employee to communicate a report claiming illegal or unethical conduct which the employee knows to be false.
- Where to Report Your Concerns. If you wish to report or discuss any problem concerning our company or the matters outlined below, please promptly inform your supervising manager, or report the matter to our General Counsel. If you wish to communicate any matter anonymously, you are free to do so, and we will maintain the confidentiality of your communication to the extent possible under applicable laws. Communications intended to be confidential should be mailed in writing without indicating your name or address to the Chairman of the Audit Committee whose contact information can be found on our web site.
- Audit Committee Available to Hear About Accounting Matters. In addition to the above, if you have concerns about accounting, internal accounting controls, or auditing matters relating to our company, you are also free to contact the audit committee of our board of directors directly. Inquiries or communications intended to be anonymous should be mailed in writing without indicating your name or address to the Chairman of the audit committee, whose contact information can be found on our web site. Also, If you wish to speak to the Chairman of our Audit Committee, in person, please see the contact information posted on our web site.

Our Commitment to Stockholders

We expect our employees to share a commitment to protect our assets and manage our business in the best interests of our stockholders.

- Accuracy of our records and reporting: All financial and other business information pertaining to our company must be accurately recorded, all financial records and transactions must adhere to our system of internal controls and accounting requirements, and no one shall enter any false or artificial information in our records or reporting systems. All company information must be reported honestly and accurately, whether in internal personnel, safety, or other records or in information we release to the public or file with government agencies.
- Disclosure Controls and Procedures. We are required by SEC rules to maintain effective "disclosure controls and procedures" so that financial and non-financial information we are required to report in our SEC filings is timely and accurately reported both to our senior management and in the filings we make. All employees are expected, within the scope of their

- employment duties, to support the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures and to comply with disclosure requirements in accordance with local and foreign applicable laws.
- ➤ Stock Trading and Confidential Information Policy. The company's stock trading policy prohibits any employee who is aware of material nonpublic information concerning the company, its affiliates or concerning third parties with whom the company does business, from buying or selling securities of our company, its affiliates or of those third parties (until after the material information has been fully disclosed to the public). Employees must not disclose or "tip" any of this material nonpublic information to family, friends or others outside the company. (However, the trading restriction on our company securities or those of its affiliates or such third parties would not apply to sales or purchases in accordance with a "trading plan" validly adopted in compliance with applicable SEC rules.)
 - ♦ No Selective Disclosure. In addition, applicable securities rules also prohibit selective disclosure of material nonpublic information to those outside the company in most circumstances. Therefore, all employees are expected to assist the company in keeping all material nonpublic information about the company strictly confidential unless and until the company makes an authorized press release or other authorized public communication or filing.
 - ◆ <u>Information to the Public</u>. Our policy is to provide public dissemination of material information about our business only through our employees authorized for this purpose. Employees are not under any circumstance to discuss the company's financial, business or other information with the press (except for those employees expressly authorized for this purpose) or on any internet or other "discussion board," "chat room," or similar forum. Requests from the media, analysts or stockholders about our company must be forwarded to our Chief Executive Officer or Chief Financial Officer or General Counsel for review by our professional staff having responsibility for these matters.
- Protection of Company Assets. Each employee is personally responsible to use our company's assets only for our lawful, corporate purposes approved by management. All employees should help our company protect its assets from misuse, theft, damage or other loss. Improper or unauthorized personal use of company assets is prohibited.
- ➤ Intellectual Property. Employees should help our company maintain the value of its intellectual property by using care to keep our trade secrets and other nonpublic information confidential, and limit access to nonpublic information to those authorized to use it in their duties for the company. If customers or suppliers provide nonpublic information to us in their dealings with us, our employees are expected to protect that information in the same manner as our company's property.
- Communications. Employees are expected to use appropriate judgment and discretion in their email, memos, notes, and other formal and informal communications relating to our business. Communications relating to our business must avoid inappropriate or derogatory comments about other individuals or companies, unprofessional language, and unauthorized financial, legal or business statements.
- ➤ Retention of Records. Employees are expected to follow the records retention and destruction policies that we implement and communicate from time to time. Our company's records shall be properly preserved for at least 7 years. It is our company's policy not to destroy or alter our records or documents (whether in paper form, emails, or otherwise) in response to or in

anticipation of any legal proceeding or government inquiry or investigation. Criminal liability may be imposed on any person who:

- corruptly alters, destroys, mutilates or conceals a record, document or other object, or attempts to do so, with the intent to impair its availability for use in an official proceeding, or
- ♦ knowingly alters, covers up, falsifies or makes a false entry in any record, document or tangible object with the intent to impede or obstruct the investigation or administration of any matter by a federal government agency or bankruptcy court.

Our Commitment to Customers and Business Partners

We are committed to excellence in service and performance for our customers, and building mutually advantageous alliances with our business partners.

- <u>Customer Relationships</u>. Our policy is to build lasting relationships with our customers through superior delivery and execution, and honest sales and marketing. We will comply with applicable advertising laws and standards. Our policy also prohibits making false or deceptive statements about our competitors, and giving or accepting kickbacks, bribes, inappropriate gifts and other matters prohibited under the conflict of interest topic in this code.
- ➤ Protecting Information about Others. We are committed to treating confidential information of our customers and business partners with at least the care we use to protect our own proprietary or confidential information. All employees are expected to use sound judgment in limiting access to confidential information about our customers and business partners to those individuals in our company who need to know this information to carry out their jobs.
- Commitment to Quality. Our long term reputation and business viability depend upon our continued maintenance of high quality in the products and services we provide. We are committed to deliver our products and services only in accordance with the documentation, safety, quality control, and other procedures we maintain from time to time.
- Special Concerns with Government Customers. Special legal and contracting rules usually apply to the dealings of our company with domestic and foreign government agencies. Many national, state or other local government agencies impose bidding or procurement requirements, special billing and accounting rules, and restrictions on subcontractors or agents we may engage. Domestic or foreign laws or regulations may also impose strict limits on any kind of benefits or gifts offered to officials, including limitations on hiring former government officials or their family members. Our employees who deal with domestic or foreign government agencies are expected to know the laws applicable to these business activities, and to use sound judgment to avoid any violations of the letter or spirit of the laws prohibiting corrupt practices in connection with government contracting.
- Suppliers. Our contracts with suppliers of products and services to us are to be based exclusively on the best interests of our company and its business, reflect a fair price for the deliverables provided to us, and documented in accordance with appropriate approval, contracting and internal control procedures.
- ➤ <u>Business with Third Parties</u>. We expect that our consultants, agents, resellers, distributors, subcontractors, and other business partners will adhere to lawful and ethical business

practices. It is important to our company's reputation that we avoid doing business with companies which violate applicable laws or have reputations which could harm our business. Our policy prohibits engaging agents or other third parties to do indirectly what we as a company should not do under our own policies outlined in this code.

Our Commitment to Each Other

We expect each employee to promote a positive working environment for all.

- Respect for Our Employees. Our company's employment decisions will be based on reasons related to our business, such as job performance, individual skills and talents, and other business-related factors. Our company policy requires adherence to all national, state or other local employment laws. Our company policy prohibits discrimination in any aspect of employment based on race, color, religion, sex, sexual preference, marital status, national origin, disability or age, within the meaning of applicable laws.
- Abusive or Harassing Conduct Prohibited. Our company policy prohibits abusive or harassing conduct by our employees toward others, such as unwelcome sexual advances, comments based on ethnic, religious or racial aspects, or other non-business, personal comments or conduct which make others uncomfortable in their employment with us. Our company's policy is to provide to its employees of both genders with a protective and pleasant work environment free from harassment, sexual or otherwise and to prevent harmful exploitation of authority and to promote gender equality at work. We encourage employees to report harassment or other inappropriate conduct as soon as it occurs. Sexual Harassment impinges upon a person's dignity, privacy, equality between the sexes, the work relationship and its environment and contradicts our company's policy. In addition to harm caused to the work environment, sexual harassment is a criminal offense. Employees are required to adhere to our company's policy in this matter as prescribed by the prevailing laws and regulations.
- ➤ Health and Safety. We expect all employees to help us to maintain a healthy, hygienic and safe working environment and to report promptly any unsafe or hazardous conditions or materials, injuries, and accidents connected with our business. Our company is committed to adhering to safety laws and regulations including fire protection and laws and regulations which promote cleanliness and hygiene in the workplace. Employees must not work under the influence of any substances that would impair the safety of others. All threats or acts of physical violence or intimidation are prohibited.

Competition

We are committed to compete effectively, but lawfully, in our business markets.

Compliance with Antitrust Laws. Our company and its employees must comply with the antitrust and unfair competition laws of the countries in which our company engages in business. These laws vary by country and can be complex. Employees having roles which may implicate antitrust laws are responsible for knowing the laws that apply to their business activities, and should speak to our General Counsel if any questions arise. Generally, these laws prohibit or regulate merger and acquisitions, attempts to monopolize or otherwise restrain trade, selling products below cost, price fixing or other agreements with competitors that would divide or allocate customers or otherwise harm customers, "tying" arrangements that require a customer who wishes to buy a

given product to buy other products or services, artificially maintaining prices, and certain other restrictive agreements or arrangements. Our employees must not exchange nonpublic sales information with competitors.

Fair Methods of Competition. Our company is committed to competition on a lawful and ethical basis. Our employees must not use improper or illegal means of gaining competitive information that is confidential or proprietary information owned by others. Our employees must not use or disclose confidential or proprietary information which they may have from past employment with other employers.

Conflicts of Interest

We expect all of our employees to avoid allowing their private interests to interfere, or appear to interfere, with the interests of our company as a whole.

- ➤ Generally. Employees are expected to make or participate in business decisions and actions in the course of their employment with us based on the best interests of our company as a whole, and not based on personal relationships or benefits. Although some general guidelines are provided in this code, our employees are expected to apply sound judgment to avoid conflicts of interest that could negatively affect our company or its business, whether or not we have specific rules for that particular situation. Employees are expected to disclose to us any situations that may involve inappropriate or improper conflicts of interests affecting them personally or affecting other employees or those with whom we do business, as described under "How to Report Your Concerns."
- ➤ <u>Business Referrals</u>. No employee of our company may personally attempt to give or steer our company's business transactions to companies in which a family relative or personal friend has a financial or other interest unless such transaction has been disclosed to our General Counsel and the appropriate approvals of our company have been obtained.
- Personal Investments. Generally, our employees must avoid investments in our company's affiliates or other companies with which our company does business if these investments could create the fact or appearance of a conflict of interest unless such investments received the appropriate approvals of our company. Investing in relatively small positions of publicly traded securities of other companies is generally not prohibited so long as there is no violation of our company policy relating to trading while in possession of material nonpublic information about other companies. Any proposed personal investments by employees in our company's affiliates or other companies with which our company does business should be notified in advance to our General Counsel who shall advise on the appropriate approvals, if any, required in such circumstances.
- ➤ <u>Corporate Opportunities</u>. Employees must also refrain from purchasing property or otherwise taking for themselves personally a business opportunity that they learn about through their employment with us or use of our company's information.
- Prohibited Competition. Employees may not compete with us during the term of their employment, and may not initiate any steps to compete with us while still employed by our company.
- Outside Compensation and Activities. While employed by us, our employees must not work for or seek or accept personal payments from any customer, supplier, competitor, distributor, reseller,

or other business partner of our company, except as approved in writing by an authorized officer or manager of our company. Trade secrets and other nonpublic know-how and information learned at our company must not be used in activities outside our company or in other ways that could harm our business.

- Outside Board Service. Employees are required to obtain prior written authorization from our company for service as a director, general partner, manager, officer or similar position with any privately-held or public business entity or as an appointee to any kind of governmental or quasi-governmental agency or body. Service solely as a director or trustee of nonprofit corporations engaged in charitable activities does not require approval unless that activity could involve improper conflicts of interest.
- ➤ <u>Gifts and Gratuities</u>. Our employees must not seek or accept gifts or gratuities in the form of services or other items of value from our customers, other business partners or other parties with whom our company contracts. Our employees must not offer or give anything of value that could be or appear to be a bribe or otherwise illegal payment. These prohibitions do not apply to items of truly nominal value such as generally free promotional items, assuming these items are not otherwise prohibited by applicable law or custom. Employees should never accept anything that would appear to create a conflict of interest. In the unusual situation where refusal to accept a true gift might hurt our business, be sure to consult the appropriate officer or manager of our company concerning the proper means of resolving the situation.
- <u>Business Entertainment</u>. Employees shall adhere to our company's policies with respect to costs of entertainment issued from time to time. Extending or accepting invitations to reasonable meal, public event and similar business activities incurred for bona fide business purposes is generally acceptable, assuming the costs are not disproportionate to the business purpose and otherwise do not create the fact or appearance of a conflict of interest. Attending entertainment events which may appear contrary to professional standards of conduct should be avoided.
- Fravel. Employees are expected to comply with our company's travel policies in effect from time to time. We expect that all travel-related expenses must be used, accurately reported and recorded in compliance with these policies. If these expenses are to be paid by a customer or other business partner of ours, or if you wish to pay the expenses of your customer or other business contact, or any representative of a government agency, travelling to our location, your manager or a company officer must approve these in advance.
- ➤ Other Corporate Policies. In addition to the above, employees are expected to comply with our company's other corporate policies in effect from time.

Legal Compliance Generally

We expect our employees to be committed to pro-active compliance with all applicable laws and regulations affecting our company and its business. In addition to the laws referred to elsewhere in this code:

➤ General Standard of Compliance. Our employees must comply with all applicable laws and regulations and national and local governmental authority rules and procedures in every location in which we conduct our business. Competitive factors, personal goals, and pressure from supervisors, customers or others shall never be an acceptable excuse for violating applicable laws.

- ➤ <u>Prohibited Corrupt Practices</u>. Our company must comply with anti-corruption laws that apply wherever we do business. Our employees and agents must not directly or indirectly offer or make a corrupt payment to any domestic or foreign government officials or employees of enterprises owned or controlled by a government agency. Our employees must not engage in any form of fraud, including but not limited to embezzlement, theft, hiding or misuse of company assets, or falsification of records.
- ➤ Prohibited Political Contributions. None of our employees shall contribute in our company's name or on our company's behalf, any cash, services or property of any kind for or in support of any political candidate, committee, initiative, or activity. No lobbying efforts or contracts shall be undertaken in our company's name or on our company's behalf without the prior approval of our Board of Directors.
- Prohibited Loans to Executive Officers and Directors. It is unlawful for our company, directly or indirectly, to extend or maintain credit, to arrange for the extension of credit, or to renew an extension of credit, in the form of a personal loan to or for any director or executive officer of our company. However, an extension of credit maintained by us on July 30, 2002, is not prohibited provided that there is no material modification, or any renewal, of the extension of credit after that date.
- ➤ Import and Export Restrictions. Our company and its employees must comply with applicable restrictions under domestic and foreign laws relating to importing or exporting technology, products, services, or regulated information. Employees who travel on company business to foreign countries are expected to know and abide by applicable import/export and similar restrictions.
- Environmental Laws. Our company is committed to protect the quality of the environment. We respect the policies and requirements of domestic and foreign laws aimed at protecting the environment. We expect a commitment from our employees to report appropriately any violations of environmental laws and any exposure to hazardous materials or substances which are not being handled or disposed of properly.
- ➤ <u>Intellectual Property Laws</u>. Our company is committed to protect rights to intellectual property, Our company is further committed to preventing unlicensed copying of software and to honor and protect copyrights. We expect our employees to conduct our business and use our business systems and facilities in ways which avoid any violations of copyright, trademark, service mark, patent, trade secret or other intellectual property rights held by third parties.

Our Communities

We respect our employees' involvement in the community, charity and political activities and causes they may choose, so long as these activities do not interfere with job responsibilities to us. No employee may represent that the employee's views or activities represent our company. Our employees must not engage in any unwanted solicitations or pressure toward other employees relating to charitable, religious or political causes.

Waivers Requested by Our Officers and Directors

This code applies to our officers as well as to our employees generally. Our directors are also expected to abide by the principles of this code, within the scope of their duties as directors, as if they were employees of our company provided that the subsections entitled "Outside Compensation and

Activities" and "Outside Board Service" under the section "Conflicts of Interest" shall not apply to directors who are not employees of our company. Any waiver of this code of conduct for any individual officer or director of our company must be approved, if at all, in advance by a majority of the independent directors serving on our board of directors. Any such waivers granted which are required to be disclosed by applicable law will be publicly disclosed by appropriate means.

CERTIFICATIONS

- I, Doron Birger, certify that:
- 1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 20-F of Elron Electronic Industries Ltd.;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the company as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The company's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the company and have:
 - a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 - b. Evaluated the effectiveness of the company's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 - c. Disclosed in this report any change in the company's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the period covered by the annual report that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the company's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The company's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the company's auditors and the audit committee of company's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 - a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the company's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 - b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the company's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: June 28, 2004	
/s/ Doron Birger	
Doron Birger	
President and Chief Executive Officer	

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Tal Raz, certify that:

- 1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 20-F of Elron Electronic Industries Ltd.;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the company as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The company's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the company and have:
 - a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 - b. Evaluated the effectiveness of the company's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 - c. Disclosed in this report any change in the company's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the period covered by the annual report that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the company's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The company's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the company's auditors and the audit committee of company's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 - a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the company's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 - b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the company's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: June 28, 2004	
/s/ Tal Raz	
Tal Raz	
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer	

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 20-F of Elron Electronic Industries Ltd. (the "Company") for the year ended December 31, 2003 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), the undersigned, Doron Birger, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. sec. 1350, as adopted pursuant to sec. 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of my knowledge:

- (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
- (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the Company.

Date: June 28, 2004

/s/ Doron Birger

Doron Birger

President and Chief Executive Officer

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 20-F of Elron Electronic Industries Ltd. (the "Company") for the year ended December 31, 2003 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), the undersigned, Tal Raz, Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. sec. 1350, as adopted pursuant to sec. 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of my knowledge:

- (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
- (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the Company.

Date: June 28, 2004

/s/<u>Tal Raz</u>

Tal Raz Chief Financial Officer

Exhibit 15.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements of Elron Electronic industries Ltd. on Form S-8 (File Nos. 333-10570, 333-111310) of our report dated March 10, 2004, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of Elron Electronic Industries Ltd. included in this Annual Report (Form 20-F) for the year ended December 31, 2003.

Tel-Aviv, Israel June 22, 2004 / s / KOST FORER GABBAY & KASIERER A Member of Ernst & Young Global

Exhibit 15.2

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements of Elron Electronic Industries Ltd. on Form S-8 (File Nos. 333-10570, 333-111310) of our report dated March 12, 2003, except as to note 7(d)7 which is dated March 10, 2004, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of Elron Electronic Industries Ltd. included in this Annual Report (Form 20-F) for the year ended December 31, 2003.

Tel-Aviv, Israel June 22, 2004 / s / Luboshitz Kasierer An affiliate member of Ernst & Young International

Haifa, Israel, June 21, 2004

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-8 (File No.333-10570 and File No. 333-111310) of Elron Electronic Industries Ltd. of our report dated March 9, 2004, with respect to the consolidated financial statements and financial statements schedule of Elbit Systems Ltd. and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2003, and for the year then ended, which are included in the Elron Electronic Industries Ltd. Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2003.

/s/ Kost Forer Gabbay & Kasierer A member of Ernst & young Global

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-8 (File No.333-10570 and File No. 333-111310) of Elron Electronic Industries Ltd. of our report dated March 10, 2003, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of Elbit Systems Ltd. and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2002, and for the year then ended, which are included in the Elron Electronic Industries Ltd. Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2003.

/s/ Luboshitz Kasierer An affiliated member of Ernst & Young International

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements of Elron Electronic Industries Ltd. on Form S-8 (File No. 333-111310 and File No. 333-10570) of our report dated March 1, 2004, on the consolidated financial statements of A.M.T. Advanced Metal Technologies Ltd. appearing in the Annual Report on Form 20-F of Elron Electronic Industries Ltd. for the year ended December 31, 2003.

/s/Brightman Almagor & Co.

Brightman Almagor & Co.

Certified Public Accountants

A member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

Tel Aviv, Israel June 21, 2004

Exhibit 15.6

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form

S-8 (File No. 333-111310 and 333-10570) of Elron Electronic Industries Ltd. of our

report dated February 10, 2004, with respect to the consolidated balance sheets of the

Given Imaging Ltd. as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the related consolidated

statements of operations, shareholders' equity and cash flows for each of the years in

the three year period ended December 31, 2003, which report appears in the Annual

Report on Form 20-F of Elron Electronic Industries Ltd. for the year ended December

31, 2003.

/s/ Somekh Chaikin

Certified Public Accountants (Isr.)

A member of KPMG International

Tel-Aviv, Israel

June 21, 2004

Exhibit 15.7

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form

S-8 (File No. 333-111310 and 333-10570) of Elron Electronic Industries Ltd. of our

report dated March 10, 2003, with respect to the consolidated balance sheet of DEP

Technology Holdings Ltd. as of December 31, 2002, and the related consolidated

statements of operations, shareholders' equity and cash flows for each of the years in

the two year period ended December 31, 2002, which report appears in the Annual

Report on Form 20-F of Elron Electronic Industries Ltd. for the year ended December

31, 2003.

/s/ Somekh Chaikin

Certified Public Accountants (Isr.)

A member of KPMG International

Tel-Aviv, Israel

June 21, 2004

Consents - Final

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-8 (No. 333-10570 and 333-111310) of Elron Electronic Industries Ltd., of our report dated February 20, 2004, except for Note 9, as to which the date is March 5, 2004 relating to the financial statements of Chip Express Corporation of which our report (excluding the related financial statements) is included in the Elron Electronic Industries Ltd. Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2003.

/s/PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP San Jose, California USA June 21, 2004

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements of Elron Electronic Industries Ltd. on Form S-8 (File No. 333-111310 and File No. 333-10570) of our report dated January 29, 2004, on our audit of the consolidated financial statements of Chipx (Israel) Ltd. (former name: Chip Express (Israel) Ltd.) as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, and for the years then ended, which is included in the Elron Electronic Industries Ltd. Annual Report on Form 20F for the year ended December 31, 2003.

/s/ KOST FORER GABBAY & KASIERER A member of Ernst & Young Global

June 21, 2004 Haifa, Israel

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements of Elron Electronic Industries Ltd. On form S-8 (File No. 333-111310 and 333-10570) of our report dated February 17, 2004 on our audit of the consolidated financial statements of Notal Vision Inc. as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, and for the years then ended, which is included in the Elron Electronic Industries Ltd. Annual report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2003.

/s/ Kesselman & Kesselman
Certified Public Accountants (Isr.)
A member of PricewaterhouseCoopers International
Limited
Tel-Aviv, Israel
June 21, 2004

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-8 (File No.333-111310 and File No. 333-10570) of Elron Electronic Industries Ltd. of our report dated February 19, 2004 relating to the financial statements of Oncura Inc, of which our report (excluding the related financial statements) is included in the Elron Electronic Industries Ltd. Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2003.

/ s / PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP Philadelphia, Pennsylvania June 21, 2004

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements of Elron Electronic Industries Ltd. on Form S-8 (File No. 333-111310 and 333-10570) of our report dated February 25, 2004 on our audit of the financial statements of Pulsicom Israel Technologies Ltd. as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, and for the years then ended, which is included in the Elron Electronic Industries Ltd. annual report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2003.

/s/ Kesselman & Kesselman Certified Public Accountants (Isr.) A member of PricewaterhouseCoopers International Limited

Tel-Aviv, Israel June 21, 2004

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements of Elron Electronic Industries Ltd. on Form S-8 (File No. 333-111310 and 333-10570) of our report dated February 23, 2004 on our audit of the consolidated financial statements of Ingeneo Technologies LTD. as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, and for the years then ended, which is included in the Elron Electronic Industries Ltd. annual report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2003.

Tel-Aviv, Israel June 21, 2004 /s/ Kesselman & Kesselman Certified Public Accountants (Isr.) A member of PricewaterhouseCoopers International Limited